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EXPLANATORY NOTE

This Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-244353) (the “Registration Statement”) of
Compass Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”) is being filed (i) pursuant to the undertakings in Item 17 of the Registration Statement to update and
supplement the information contained in the Registration Statement, as originally declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC”) on September 25, 2020, to include the information contained in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December
31, 2020 that was filed with the SEC on March 5, 2021 and (ii) to update certain other information in the Registration Statement.

The information included in this filing updates and supplements the Registration Statement and the prospectus contained therein. No additional
securities are being registered under this Post-Effective Amendment No. 1. All applicable registration fees were paid at the time of the original filing of the
Registration Statement.

 
 

 

 

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001738021/000156459021011110/cmpx-10k_20201231.htm


 
 
 
The information in this preliminary prospectus is not complete and may be changed. The selling stockholders named in this preliminary prospectus may not
sell these securities until the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This preliminary prospectus is not an
offer to sell and the selling stockholders named in this prospectus are not soliciting offers to buy these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale
is not permitted.

Filed Pursuant to Rule 424(b)(2)
File No. 333-244353

PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT (Subject to Completion)
ISSUED MARCH 5, 2021
 

52,112,143 Shares of Common Stock
 

This prospectus relates to the offering and resale by the selling stockholders identified herein of up to 52,112,143 shares of common stock, par value
$0.0001 per share, of Compass Therapeutics, Inc., which include (i) 39,015,701 shares of common stock privately issued to the selling stockholders on
June 17, 2020 in exchange for common membership interests of Compass Therapeutics LLC, a privately held Delaware limited liability company, in
connection with the closing of the merger between us and Compass Therapeutics LLC, (ii) 1,000,000 shares of common stock held by pre-merger
stockholders of Olivia Ventures, Inc., our predecessor, and (iii) an aggregate of 12,096,442 shares of common stock issued in the initial closing of the
offering on June 19, 2020.

We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of the shares of common stock by the selling stockholders. The selling stockholders may sell the shares of
common stock offered by this prospectus from time to time through the means described in this prospectus under the caption “Plan of Distribution”. For a
list of the selling stockholders, see the section entitled “Selling Stockholders” on page 115 of this prospectus. We have borne and will continue to bear the
costs relating to the registration of these shares.

On March 4, 2021, shares of our common stock were cleared for trading on the OTCQB Venture Market in the United States under the symbol “CMPX”
and began trading on March 5, 2021. We urge prospective purchasers of our common stock to obtain current information about the market prices of our
common stock. The prices at which the selling stockholders may sell their shares of common stock will be determined by the prevailing market price for
the shares of common stock or in negotiated transactions.

We may amend or supplement this prospectus from time to time by filing amendments or supplements as required. You should read the entire prospectus
and any amendments or supplements carefully before you make your investment decision.

We are an “emerging growth company” as defined under the federal securities laws and, as such, are eligible for reduced public company
reporting requirements. See “Prospectus Summary—Emerging Growth Company”.

 

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. Before making an investment decision, please read “Risk Factors” on page 10 of this
prospectus.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or
determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The date of this prospectus is                       , 2021.

 

 



 
 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS
 
  
ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS ii
  

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS iii
  

PROSPECTUS SUMMARY 1
  

THE OFFERING 7
  

SUMMARY FINANCIAL DATA 8
  

RISK FACTORS 10
  

DESCRIPTION OF THE MERGER, THE PRIVATE PLACEMENT AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS 55
  

DESCRIPTION OF OUR BUSINESS 57
  

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 87
  

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, PROMOTERS AND CONTROL PERSONS 99
  

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 106
  

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 111
  

USE OF PROCEEDS 112
  

DIVIDEND POLICY 112
  

DETERMINATION OF OFFERING PRICE 113
  

MARKET INFORMATION FOR OUR COMMON STOCK 113
  

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT 114
  

SELLING STOCKHOLDERS 116
  

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION 122
  

DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK 123
  

SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE 126
  

LEGAL MATTERS 128
  

EXPERTS 128
  

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION 128
  

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS F-1
 
 

i



 
ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS

We have not, and the selling stockholders have not, authorized anyone to give you any information other than the information contained in this prospectus,
the information incorporated by reference herein, any applicable prospectus supplement or any free writing prospectus filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, or the SEC. We and the selling stockholders take no responsibility for, and can provide no assurances as to the reliability of, any
other information that others may give you. Neither we nor the selling stockholders have authorized anyone to provide you with additional information or
information different from that contained in this prospectus filed with the SEC. The selling stockholders are offering to sell, and seeking offers to buy,
shares of our common stock only in jurisdictions where offers and sales are permitted. You should assume that the information appearing in this prospectus,
the applicable prospectus supplement and any related free writing prospectus is accurate only as of the respective dates of those documents. Our business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed since those dates.

For Non-U.S. investors

Neither we nor the selling stockholders have done anything that would permit this offering or possession or distribution of this prospectus, any prospectus
supplement or free writing prospectus filed with the SEC, in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required, other than in the United States.
Persons outside the United States who come into possession of this prospectus, any prospectus supplement or free writing prospectus must inform
themselves about, and observe any restrictions relating to, the offering of the shares of common stock and the distribution of this prospectus, any prospectus
supplement or free writing prospectus outside the United States.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus, including the sections entitled “Risk Factors”, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
and “Description of our Business”, includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or
the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. Forward-looking statements relate to,
among others, our plans, objectives and expectations for our business, operations and financial performance and condition, and can be identified by
terminology such as “may”, “should”, “expect”, “intend”, “plan”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “estimate”, “predict”, “potential”, “continue” and similar
expressions that do not relate solely to historical matters. Forward-looking statements are based on management’s belief and assumptions and on
information currently available to management. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in forward-looking statements are reasonable, such
statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be
materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements about:

 • our expectations regarding the timing, progress and results of preclinical studies and clinical trials for CTX-471, CTX-8371 and any other
product candidates we develop, including statements regarding the timing of initiation and completion of studies or trials and related
preparatory work, the period during which the results of the trials will become available and our research and development programs;

 • the sufficiency of our existing cash and cash equivalents to fund our future operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements;

 • the timing or likelihood of regulatory filings for CTX-471, CTX-8371 and any other product candidates we develop and our ability to
obtain and maintain regulatory approvals for such product candidates for any indication;

 • our expectations regarding the potential benefits, activity, effectiveness and safety of CTX-471, CTX-8371 and any other product
candidates we develop;

 • our intentions and ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates;

 • our expectations regarding the nature of the biological pathways we are targeting;

 • our estimates regarding the use of proceeds from this offering, expenses, future revenues, capital requirements and our need for or ability to
obtain additional financing, together with our current cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities, to fund our operations;

 • our intended reliance on and the performance of third parties, including collaborators, contract research organizations and third-party
manufacturers;

 • our ability to protect and enforce our intellectual property protection and the scope and duration of such protection;

 • developments and projections relating to our competitors and our industry, including competing therapies;

 • the impact of current and future laws and regulations;

 • the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business, results of operations and future growth prospects; and

 • other risks and uncertainties, including those listed under the caption “Risk Factors”.

These statements relate to future events or our future operational or financial performance, and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other
factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements
expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Factors that may cause actual results to differ materially from current expectations include,
among other things, those listed under the section titled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this prospectus, in any applicable prospectus supplement and in
any related free writing prospectus.

Any forward-looking statement in this prospectus, in any applicable prospectus supplement and in any related free writing prospectus reflects our current
view with respect to future events and is subject to these and other risks, uncertainties and assumptions relating to our business, results of operations,
industry and future growth. Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. No forward-looking
statement is a guarantee of future performance. You should read this prospectus, any applicable prospectus supplement and any related free writing
prospectus and the documents that we reference therein and have filed with the SEC as exhibits thereto completely and with the understanding that our
actual future results may be materially different from any future results expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Except as required by
law, we assume no obligation to update or revise these forward-looking statements for any reason, even if new information becomes available in the future.
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This prospectus contains, any applicable prospectus supplement and any related free writing prospectus may contain, estimates, projections and other
information concerning our industry, our business and the markets for certain therapeutics. Information that is based on estimates, forecasts, projections or
similar methodologies is inherently subject to uncertainties and actual events or circumstances may differ materially from events and circumstances
reflected in this information. Unless otherwise expressly stated, we obtained these industry, business, market and other data from reports, research surveys,
studies and similar data prepared by third parties, industry, medical and general publications, government data and similar sources that we believe to be
reliable. In some cases, we do not expressly refer to the sources from which such data are derived.
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

This summary highlights certain information about us, this offering and selected information contained elsewhere in this prospectus. This summary is not
complete and does not contain all of the information that you should consider before deciding whether to invest in the securities covered by this prospectus.
For a more complete understanding of the Company and this offering, we encourage you to read and consider carefully the more detailed information in
this prospectus, any related prospectus supplement and any related free writing prospectus, including the information set forth in the section titled “Risk
Factors” in this prospectus, any related prospectus supplement and any related free writing prospectus in their entirety before making an investment
decision.

All references to “Compass Therapeutics” refer to Compass Therapeutics LLC, a privately held Delaware limited liability company and our direct, wholly
owned subsidiary. Unless otherwise stated or the context otherwise indicates, references to the “Company”, “we”, “our”, “us” or similar terms refer to
Compass Therapeutics, Inc. (formerly named Olivia Ventures, Inc.) together with its wholly-owned subsidiaries, including Compass Therapeutics.

Overview

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company developing proprietary antibody therapeutics intended to engage the immune system to treat
both solid tumors and hematological malignancies. Our immuno-oncology product candidates include a clinical-stage monoclonal antibody targeting solid
tumors, a novel bispecific targeting PD-1 and PD-L1, and a portfolio of bispecific and monoclonal antibodies at various stages of pre-clinical development.
These product candidates are designed to address three critical components required for an effective immune response to cancer: induction of a potent
innate immune response; activation of the adaptive immune system; and alleviation of immunosuppressive mechanisms used by tumors to evade immune
surveillance and activation. We plan to advance our product candidates through clinical development either as standalone therapies or in combination with
existing therapies as long as their continued development is supported by clinical and nonclinical data.

Our lead product candidate, CTX-471, is a monoclonal antibody agonist of CD137, a key co-stimulatory receptor on immune cells. In preclinical
studies, we observed that CTX-471 led to complete eradication of large tumors in mice when dosed as a monotherapy. In treated mice, dosing with CTX-
471 was associated with extensive reprogramming of the tumor microenvironment, resulting in increased survival and long-term immune protection. Long
after therapy had been completed, after more than eight half-lives of the antibody, treated mice exhibited immune memory that prevented reestablishment
of the same tumor. Based on these and other preclinical results, in July 2019 we initiated a Phase 1 trial evaluating the safety and tolerability of CTX-471 as
a monotherapy in oncology patients who were previously treated with PD-1 or PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitors and subsequently relapsed or
progressed after a period of stable disease. The design of this trial includes a dose escalation stage (Phase 1a) followed by a dose expansion stage (Phase
1b). The dose escalation stage of the Phase 1 trial has been completed and CTX-471 was observed to be generally well-tolerated. The dose expansion stage
of the trial is currently ongoing and, as of February 28, 2021, 11 patients have received at least one dose of CTX-471. Of the 11 patients treated so far, six
patients have reached their first tumor evaluation at week 9, of which five had stable disease. Subsequently, one of those patients who has advanced small
cell lung cancer had a partial response at Week 17. As of February 28, 2021, there have been no treatment-related serious adverse events, or SAEs, in the
Phase 1b dose expansion stage of the trial. We expect to complete the Phase 1b stage of the trial during the second half of 2021 and to initiate a Phase 2/3
trial of CTX-471 in the second half of 2022.

Pending the results of our Phase 1 monotherapy trial of CTX-471, we plan to initiate a second Phase 1 trial of CTX-471 in combination with
trastuzumab, marketed as Herceptin® by Genentech, in selected human epidermal growth factor receptor 2, or Her2, positive tumors and with cetuximab,
marketed as Erbitux® by Eli Lilly, in epidermal growth factor receptor, or EGFR, positive tumors. We could submit an IND application for this
combination in the second half of 2021.

Our second product candidate, CTX-8371, is a bispecific antibody that simultaneously targets both PD-1 and PD-L1, the targets of well-known and
widely used checkpoint inhibitor antibodies. Single inhibitors of PD-1 or PD-L1 include some of the highest-revenue-generating therapeutics in history and
have been approved for the treatment of a wide range of tumors. There is no marketed therapy that combines inhibition of both PD-1 and PD-L1 in the
same molecule and, in CTX-8371, we are developing one. We discovered CTX-8371 using our StitchMabsTM technology when we screened for the best
antibody to pair with our proprietary PD-1 blocker. Additional studies demonstrated that CTX-8371 works via a novel mechanism of action not shared by
single PD-1 or single PD-L1 blockers. We have shown in animal models that CTX-8371 was associated with greater antitumor activity than a single PD-1
inhibitor, a single PD-L1 inhibitor or a combination of the two. IND-enabling studies with CTX-8371 were initiated in August 2020. We are targeting an
IND submission for CTX-8371 in early 2022 and we could deliver early safety and top-line data later in 2022.
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In addition to CTX-471 and CTX-8371, we are also developing a portfolio of bispecific and monoclonal antibody product candidates, which
are currently in preclinical development. These programs all derive from our in-house antibody discovery and development platforms.

Our approach is based on the observation that traditional methods of antibody discovery are slow, inefficient, and are limited by lack of
diversity of antigenic sites, or epitopes, that are recognized using these methods. We believe these limitations impair drug developers’ ability to
identify the best product candidates. We have created several technological solutions that are designed to address the key challenges in antibody
development with the goal of incorporating our solutions into bispecific product candidates. First, we developed and acquired several complementary
platforms that enable us to generate antibodies with a high level of epitope diversity and excellent physical and biochemical properties. Second, we
have developed sophisticated technologies to screen our antibody sets in functional biological assays designed to prioritize antibodies with desirable
biological activities. Third, we have developed our proprietary StitchMabsTM technology that allows us to rapidly evaluate the potential of the
antibodies we discover in a bispecific antibody format.

We have also developed a proprietary transgenic mouse line that produces antibodies with the differentiated property that they all share a
human common light chain. We imposed this restriction at the earliest stage of our bispecific antibody discovery process in anticipation of the need to
simplify the manufacturing of our bispecific product candidates. Sharing a common light chain enables our bispecific antibodies to be manufactured
using a well-established process that has been successfully used by the biopharmaceutical industry to produce monoclonal antibodies at commercial
scale, thereby avoiding the complexities associated with the manufacture of bispecific products that lack this property. We found that imposing this
restriction on the construction of the antibody pool did not hinder our ability to obtain highly potent and selective antibodies.

In addition to our development of antibody product candidates for immuno-oncology, we have also leveraged our proprietary platform
technologies to generate and identify monoclonal antibodies and bispecifics that suppress immune response, which we are evaluating as therapies for
autoimmune indications. Several of these programs are currently undergoing characterization and in vitro and in vivo testing.

We have recently conducted a review of our pipeline and have made the strategic decision to deprioritize the development of our NKp30
innate cell engager platform. Along with this decision, we have discontinued the efforts to advance CTX-8573 to IND-enabling studies.

Our management team has a successful record of building and growing biotechnology companies. Our Chief Executive Officer and co-
founder, Thomas J. Schuetz, M.D., Ph.D., has over 20 years of experience in oncology, biopharmaceutical drug development and life science venture
investing. Prior to co-founding Compass Therapeutics, Dr. Schuetz was a venture partner with OrbiMed Advisors LLC where he participated in
OrbiMed’s investments in Enobia Pharma (sold to Alexion), Relypsa (sold to Galenica), Arteaus Therapeutics (sold to Eli Lilly), and Audentes (sold
to Astellas) and served on the board of each of these companies. Dr. Schuetz was also the chief medical officer of Therion Biologic Corporation and
was vice president of clinical affairs at Transkaryotic Therapies, a company acquired by Shire.

Our President and Chief Operating Officer, Vered Bisker-Leib, Ph.D., M.B.A., has over 18 years of experience in strategy, business
development, finance and operations of biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies. Prior to joining Compass Therapeutics, she served as an
entrepreneur-in-residence with Atlas Venture. Previously, Dr. Bisker-Leib was chief business officer of Cydan, a biotech accelerator, where she co-
founded IMARA, Inc. and other biotech companies focused on therapies addressing rare diseases and served as an executive director and global head
of business development for the cardiovascular and metabolic franchises of Bristol-Myers Squibb.

Our investors include leading life science venture and institutional funds led by OrbiMed, F-Prime Capital, Cowen Healthcare Investments,
Biomatics Capital, Consonance Capital and Borealis Ventures.

2



 

Pipeline
The figure below details our pipeline of product candidates, including our lead product candidate, CTX-471, our bispecific product candidate,

CTX-8371, and our other discovery stage programs.
 

 
Our Strategy

Our goal is to expand and extend the role of the immune system in fighting cancer with antibody-based therapies. We believe our approach can
be applied both to solid tumors as well as to hematologic malignancies. Our strategy to achieve this goal includes:

 • Advance our lead product candidate, CTX-471, through clinical development to evaluate its therapeutic potential alone and in
combination with other therapies. We seek to translate the antitumor activity of CTX-471 observed in preclinical testing into
meaningful clinical results in patients with immunogenic tumors, such as non-small cell lung cancer, or NSCLC, and melanoma. Our
ongoing Phase 1 clinical trial is being conducted in patients who relapse or progress after at least 3 months of stable disease on prior
checkpoint therapies. We expect to complete the Phase 1b dose expansion stage of the Phase 1 trial during the second half of 2021 and
to initiate a Phase 2/3 trial of CTX-471 in the second half of 2022. Pending the results of our Phase 1 monotherapy trial of CTX-471,
we plan to initiate a second Phase 1 trial of CTX-471 in combination with trastuzumab or cetuximab, and we could submit an IND
application for this combination in the second half of 2021.

 • Advance CTX-8371 into clinical development as a next generation checkpoint inhibitor. Our bispecific inhibitor that targets PD-1
and PD-L1 has demonstrated higher antitumor activity in preclinical experiments than single PD-1, a single PD-L1, or combinations of
PD-1 and PD-L1 inhibitors. IND-enabling studies with CTX-8371 were initiated in August 2020 with the goal of submitting an IND in
in early 2022 and we could deliver early safety and top-line data later in 2022.

 • Advance our pre-clinical programs for autoimmune indications. In addition to our development of antibody product candidates for
immuno-oncology, we have also leveraged our proprietary platform technologies to generate and identify monoclonal antibodies and
bispecifics that suppress immune response. We are in the process of advancing our proprietary monoclonal antibodies and bispecifics
through in vitro and in vivo testing and characterization with the goal of identifying at least one clinical candidate that can be advanced
into IND-enabling studies in the first half of 2022.

 • Leverage our proprietary platforms to generate novel bispecific product candidates. Our platform technologies, including our
antibody generation process, our common light chain approach and StitchMabsTM, are focused on the discovery and development of
bispecific products. We continue to use these technologies to generate a broad portfolio of early-stage bispecific assets that we then
evaluate in preclinical experiments with the intent of advancing the most promising candidates into clinical development.

 • Seek strategic partnerships for select product candidates. Our technology platform is designed to generate a broad pipeline of
product candidates with high potential for clinical application. We intend to assess on a case-by-case basis the opportunities for
accelerating the preclinical and clinical development of these candidates in a capital-efficient manner, including selectively pursuing
strategic partnerships with leading biopharmaceutical companies with domain-specific clinical development expertise to maximize the
value of our pipeline.

3



 

Risks Related to Our Business

Our ability to implement our current business strategy is subject to numerous risks, as more fully described in the section titled “Risk Factors”. These
risks include, among others, the following:

 • We have a limited operating history and no products approved for commercial sale. We have a history of significant losses, expect to
continue to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future and may never achieve or maintain profitability.

 • We will require substantial additional financing to pursue our business objectives, which may not be available on acceptable terms, or
at all. A failure to obtain this necessary capital when needed could force us to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product
development, commercialization efforts or other operations.

 • The regulatory approval processes of the FDA and comparable foreign authorities are lengthy, time-consuming and inherently
unpredictable, and if we are ultimately unable to obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates, our business will be materially
harmed.

 

 • Clinical development involves a lengthy and expensive process with uncertain outcomes. We may incur additional costs and
experience delays in developing and commercializing or be unable to develop or commercialize our current and future product
candidates.

 • Positive results from preclinical studies and early-stage clinical trials may not be predictive of future results. Initial positive results in
any of our clinical trials may not be indicative of results obtained when the trial is completed or in later stage trials.

 • As an organization, we have limited experience designing and implementing clinical trials and we have never conducted pivotal
clinical trials. Failure to adequately design a trial, or incorrect assumptions about the design of the trial, could adversely affect the
ability to initiate the trial, enroll patients, complete the trial, or obtain regulatory approval on the basis of the trial results, as well as
lead to increased or unexpected costs and delayed timelines.

 • The successful commercialization of our product candidates will depend in part on the extent to which third-party payors, including
governmental authorities and private health insurers, provide coverage and adequate reimbursement levels, as well as implement
pricing policies favorable for our product candidates. Failure to obtain or maintain coverage and adequate reimbursement for our
product candidates, if approved, could limit our ability to market those products and decrease our ability to generate revenue.

 • The loss of our third-party manufacturing partners or our partners’ failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements or to
supply sufficient quantities at acceptable quality levels or prices, or at all, would materially and adversely affect our business.

 • If we are unable to obtain and maintain patent protection for our product candidates, or if the scope of the patent protection obtained is
not sufficiently broad or robust, our competitors could develop and commercialize products similar or identical to ours, and our ability
to successfully commercialize our product candidates may be adversely affected.

 • Issued patents covering our product candidates could be found invalid or unenforceable if challenged in court. We may not be able to
protect our trade secrets in court.

 • Our intellectual property agreements with third parties may be subject to disagreements over contract interpretation, which could
narrow the scope of our rights to the relevant intellectual property or technology, resulting in termination of our access to such
intellectual property or increases in our financial or other obligations to our licensors.

 • We rely or will rely on third parties to help conduct our ongoing and planned preclinical studies and clinical trials for CTX-471, CTX-
8371 and any future product candidates we develop. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties, comply
with regulatory requirements or meet expected deadlines, we may not be able to obtain marketing approval for or commercialize
CTX-471, CTX-8371 and any current or future product candidates we develop, and our business could be materially harmed.

 • We are highly dependent on our key personnel and if we are not successful in attracting, motivating and retaining highly qualified
personnel, we may not be able to successfully implement our business strategy.

 • We will need to grow the size of our organization, and we may experience difficulties in managing this growth.

 • We depend on our information technology systems, and any failure of these systems could harm our business. Security breaches, loss
of data, and other disruptions could compromise sensitive information related to our business or prevent us from accessing critical
information and expose us to liability, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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 • We are an emerging growth company, and we cannot be certain if the reduced reporting requirements applicable to emerging growth
companies will make our common stock less attractive to investors.

 • Because our shares of common stock are quoted on the OTCQB instead of a national exchange, our investors may experience
significant volatility in the market price of our common stock and may have difficulty selling their shares.

 • The market price of our common stock may be highly volatile and may be influenced by numerous factors, some of which are beyond
our control.

 • Because we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our capital stock in the foreseeable future, capital appreciation, if any, will
be your sole source of gain.

 • Our business, results of operations and future growth prospects could be materially and adversely affected by the COVID-19
pandemic.

Emerging Growth Company

We are an “emerging growth company” as defined in the JOBS Act. We could be an emerging growth company for up to five years, although
circumstances could cause us to lose that status earlier, including if the market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates exceeds $700.0
million as of the prior June 30, if we have total annual gross revenue of approximately $1.1 billion or more during any fiscal year, or if we issue more
than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt during any three-year period.

As an emerging growth company, we may take advantage of specified reduced disclosure and other requirements that are otherwise generally
applicable to public companies. These provisions include:

 • only two years of audited financial statements in addition to any required unaudited interim financial statements with correspondingly
reduced “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” disclosure;

 • reduced disclosure about our executive compensation arrangements;

 • no requirement that we hold non-binding advisory votes on executive compensation or golden parachute arrangements; and
 

 • exemption from the auditor attestation requirement in the assessment of our internal control over financial reporting.

We have taken advantage of some of these reduced disclosure and other requirements, and thus the information we provide stockholders may be
different than you might receive or obtain from other public companies in which you hold shares.

In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth company can use the extended transition period provided in Section 7(a)
(2)(B) of the Securities Act for complying with new or revised accounting standards. This permits an emerging growth company to delay the
adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. We have irrevocably elected not to avail
ourselves of this extended transition period and, as a result, we will adopt new or revised accounting standards on the relevant dates on which
adoption of such standards is required for other companies. Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that our decision to opt out of the extended
transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards is irrevocable.
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Corporate Information

We were originally incorporated in the State of Delaware on March 20, 2018 under the name Olivia Ventures, Inc. Prior to the Merger, Olivia
Ventures, Inc. was a “shell” company registered under the Exchange Act, with no specific business plan or purpose until it began operating the
business of Compass Therapeutics following the closing of the Merger on June 17, 2020. Compass Therapeutics, a clinical-stage biotechnology
company developing proprietary antibody therapeutics intended to engage the immune system to treat both solid tumors and hematological
malignancies, was originally formed as a private limited liability company under the name Compass Therapeutics, LLC in the State of Delaware on
January 29, 2014. As a result of the Merger, we acquired the business of Compass Therapeutics, and we will continue the existing business
operations of Compass Therapeutics as a public reporting company under the name Compass Therapeutics, Inc.

Our corporate headquarters are located at 80 Guest Street, Suite 601, Boston, MA 02135, and our telephone number is (617) 500-8099. We maintain
a website at www.compasstherapeutics.com, where we regularly post copies of our press releases as well as additional information about our
company. Our filings with the SEC are available free of charge through the website as soon as reasonably practicable after being electronically filed
with or furnished to the SEC. Information contained in our website is not a part of, nor incorporated by reference into, this prospectus or our other
filings with the SEC, and should not be relied upon.

All trademarks, service marks and trade names appearing in this prospectus are the property of their respective holders. Use or display by us of other
parties’ trademarks, trade dress, or products in this prospectus is not intended to, and does not, imply a relationship with, or endorsements or
sponsorship of, us by the trademark or trade dress owners.
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THE OFFERING

 
Common stock offered by selling stockholders 52,112,143 shares
 
Common stock outstanding 52,112,143 shares
 
Use of proceeds We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of the shares of common stock

offered by the selling stockholders.
 
Offering price The selling stockholders may sell all or a portion of their shares through public or

private transactions at prevailing market prices or at privately negotiated prices.
 
Risk factors You should read the “Risk Factors” section of this prospectus for a discussion of

factors to consider carefully before deciding to invest in shares of our common
stock.

 
Market for our shares On March 4, 2021, shares of our common stock were cleared for trading on the

OTCQB Venture Market in the United States under the symbol “CMPX” and began
trading on March 5, 2021. We urge prospective purchasers of our common stock to
obtain current information about the market prices of our common stock.

The number of shares of common stock outstanding is based on an aggregate of 52,112,143 shares outstanding as of February 28, 2021, and excludes
5,015,523 shares of common stock reserved under the 2020 Incentive Plan, from which options to purchase an aggregate of 3,251,386 shares of
common stock, at an exercise price of $5.00 per share, have been granted and remain unexercised.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL DATA

The following tables set forth summary financial data as of, and for the years ended, December 31, 2020 and 2019, and should be read together with
our consolidated financial statements and the related notes, as well as the sections titled “Risk Factors” and “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” appearing elsewhere in this prospectus. The summary financial data in this section is not
intended to replace our financial statements and related notes. The summary financial data as of, and for the years ended, December 31, 2020 and
2019 are derived from our audited financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of
our future results.

 
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2020   2019  

Operating expenses:         
Research and development  $ 14,904  $ 22,449 
General and administrative   12,908   11,603 

Total operating expenses   27,812   34,052 
Loss from operations   (27,812)   (34,052)

Other income (expense):         
Interest expense   (908)   (1,228)
Other income (expense), net   (748)   627 

Total other expense   (1,656)   (601)
Loss before income tax expense   (29,468)   (34,653)

Income tax expense   (32)   (91)
Net loss  $ (29,500)  $ (34,744)

Net loss per share - basic and diluted  $ (0.96)  $ (5.19)
Basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding   30,776   6,691
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  December 31,  
  2020   2019  
         

Assets         
Current assets:         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 47,076  $ 25,303 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   3,126   935 

Total current assets   50,202   26,238 
Property and equipment, net   1,126   3,751 
Restricted cash   263   263 
Other assets   320   129 

Total assets  $ 51,911  $ 30,381 
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)         
Current liabilities:         

Accounts payable  $ 1,061  $ 629 
Accrued expenses   1,571   3,122 
Current portion of long-term debt   7,467   5,576 
Derivative liability related to loan   —   494 

Total current liabilities   10,099   9,821 
Long-term debt, net of current portion   1,867   9,293 

Total liabilities   11,966   19,114 
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 11)         
Convertible preferred stock - 207,164 authorized, issued, and outstanding
    as of December 31, 2019.  No shares authorized, issued, and outstanding
    as of December 31, 2020.   —   129,870 
Stockholders' equity (deficit):         

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value: 10,000 shares authorized;
no shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.   —   — 
Common stock, $0.0001 par value:  300,000 shares authorized; 52,117 and 9,073 shares issued
at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively; 51,221 and 7,034 shares outstanding at December
31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.  5  1 

Additional paid-in-capital   191,348   3,304 
Accumulated deficit   (151,408)   (121,908)

Total stockholders' equity (deficit)   39,945   (118,603)
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity (deficit)  $ 51,911  $ 30,381

 

 
 
 

9



 
 

RISK FACTORS

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. In addition to the other information set forth in this prospectus, you should carefully
consider the risk factors discussed below when considering an investment in our common stock and any risk factors that may be set forth in the
applicable prospectus supplement, any related free writing prospectus, as well as the other information contained in this prospectus, any applicable
prospectus supplement and any related free writing prospectus. If any of the following risks occur, our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects could be materially and adversely affected. In that case, the market price of our common stock could decline and you could
lose some or all of your investment. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial also may
impair our business operations.

Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need for Additional Capital

We have a limited operating history and no products approved for commercial sale. We have a history of significant losses, expect to continue to
incur significant losses for the foreseeable future and may never achieve or maintain profitability.

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company with a limited operating history. Since our founding in 2014, we have incurred significant net
losses. Our net losses were $29.5 million and $34.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and as of December 31,
2020, we had an accumulated deficit of $151.4 million. In addition, as of December 31, 2020, we had stockholders’ equity of $39.9 million. We have
funded our operations to date primarily with proceeds from private placements of preferred and common equity and borrowings under the 2018 loan
and security agreement with Pacific Western Bank, or the 2018 Credit Facility. Since commencing operations, we have devoted substantially all of
our efforts and financial resources to organizing and staffing our company, identifying business development opportunities, raising capital, securing
intellectual property rights related to our product candidates, conducting discovery, and research and development activities for our product
candidates.

We expect that it will be several years, if ever, before we have a commercialized product. We expect to continue to incur significant expenses and
operating losses for the foreseeable future. The net losses we incur may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter. We anticipate that our
expenses will increase substantially if, and as, we:

 • continue to advance the preclinical and clinical development of our existing product candidates and our research programs;

 • leverage our research and development capabilities, including our proprietary StitchMabsTM technology, to advance additional product
candidates into preclinical and clinical development;

 • seek regulatory approvals for any product candidates that successfully complete clinical trials;

 • hire additional clinical, quality control, regulatory, scientific and administrative personnel;

 • expand our operational, financial and management systems and increase personnel, including to support our clinical development and
our operations as a public company;

 • maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio;

 • establish a marketing, sales, distribution and medical affairs infrastructure to commercialize any products for which we may obtain
marketing approval and commercialize, whether on our own or jointly with a partner;

 • acquire or in-license other technologies or engage in strategic partnerships; and

 • incur additional legal, accounting or other expenses in operating our business, including the additional costs associated with operating
as a public company.

To become and remain profitable, we must develop and eventually commercialize products with significant market potential. This will require us to
be successful in a range of challenging activities, including completing preclinical studies and clinical trials, obtaining marketing approval for
product candidates, manufacturing, marketing and selling products and satisfying any post-marketing requirements. We may never succeed in any or
all of these activities and, even if we do, we may never generate revenue that is significant or large enough to achieve profitability. If we do achieve
profitability, we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. Our failure to become and remain profitable would
decrease the value of our company and
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could impair our ability to raise capital, maintain our research and development efforts, expand our business or continue our operations. A decline in the
value of our company could also cause you to lose all or part of your investment.

We have never generated revenue from product sales and may never be profitable.

Our ability to generate revenue from product sales and achieve profitability depends on our ability, alone or with our collaboration partners, to successfully
complete the development of, and obtain the regulatory approvals necessary to commercialize, our product candidates. We do not anticipate generating
revenue from product sales for the next several years, if ever. Our ability to generate future revenue from product sales depends heavily on our, or our
existing or future collaborators’, success in:

 • completing preclinical studies and clinical trials of our product candidates, including our ongoing Phase 1 clinical trial of CTX-471 as a
monotherapy and other clinical trials for CTX-471 and CTX-8371;

 • seeking and obtaining marketing approvals for any product candidates that we or our collaborators develop;

 • identifying and developing new product candidates;

 • launching and commercializing product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval by establishing a marketing, sales, distribution
and medical affairs infrastructure or, alternatively, collaborating with a commercialization partner;

 • achieving coverage and adequate reimbursement by hospitals and third-party payors, including governmental authorities, such as Medicare
and Medicaid, private insurers and managed care organizations, for product candidates, if approved, that we or our collaborators develop;

 • obtaining market acceptance of product candidates, if approved, that we develop as viable treatment options;

 • addressing any competing technological and market developments;

 • negotiating favorable terms in any collaboration, licensing or other arrangements into which we may enter and performing our obligations
under such arrangements;

 • maintaining, protecting and expanding our portfolio of intellectual property rights, including patents, trade secrets and know-how;

 • defending against third-party interference or infringement claims, if any; and

 • attracting, hiring and retaining qualified personnel.

We anticipate incurring significant costs associated with commercializing any product candidate that is approved for commercial sale. Our expenses could
increase beyond expectations if we are required by the FDA or other regulatory agencies to perform clinical trials or studies in addition to those that we
currently anticipate, or if there are any delays in establishing appropriate manufacturing arrangements for or in completing our clinical trials for the
development of any of our product candidates, for example, as a result of any setbacks or delays due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Even if we are able to
generate revenue from the sale of any approved products, we may not become profitable and may need to obtain additional funding to continue operations.

We will require substantial additional financing to pursue our business objectives, which may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all. A failure
to obtain this necessary capital when needed could force us to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development, commercialization efforts or
other operations.

Our operations have consumed substantial amounts of cash since inception. We expect to continue to spend substantial amounts to continue the preclinical
and clinical development of our current and future programs. If we receive marketing approval for any product candidates, including CTX-471 and CTX-
8371, we will require significant additional amounts of cash in order to launch and commercialize such product candidates. In addition, other unanticipated
costs may arise. Because the designs and outcomes of our planned and anticipated clinical trials are highly uncertain, we cannot reasonably estimate the
actual amounts necessary to successfully complete the development of and commercialize any product candidate we develop. Additionally, any COVID-19
related program setbacks or delays due to changes in federal, state, or local laws and regulations or clinical site policies could impact our programs and
increase our expenditures.
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Our future capital requirements depend on many factors, including:

 • the scope, progress, timing, results and costs of researching and developing CTX-471, CTX-8371 and our other product candidates, and of
conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials;

 • the timing of, and the costs involved in, obtaining marketing approval for CTX-471, CTX-8371 and any future product candidates we
develop, if clinical trials are successful;

 • the costs of manufacturing CTX-471, CTX-8371 and any future product candidates for preclinical studies and clinical trials and in
preparation for marketing approval and commercialization;

 • the impact of COVID-19 on the initiation or completion of preclinical studies or clinical trials, the third-parties on whom we rely, and the
supply of our product candidates;

 • the costs of commercialization activities, including marketing, sales and distribution costs, for CTX-471, CTX-8371 and any future product
candidates we develop, whether alone or with a collaborator, if any of these product candidates are approved for sale;

 • our ability to establish and maintain strategic collaborations, licensing or other arrangements on favorable terms, if at all;

 • the costs involved in preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining, expanding, defending and enforcing patent claims, including litigation costs
and the outcome of any such litigation;

 • our current collaboration and license agreements remaining in effect and our achievement of milestones and the timing and amount of
milestone payments we are required to make, or that we may be eligible to receive, under those agreements;

 • the timing, receipt and amount of sales of, on our future products, if any; and

 • the emergence of competing therapies and other adverse developments in the oncology and immunology market.

Until we can generate sufficient product revenue to finance our cash requirements, which we may never do, we expect to finance our future cash needs
through a combination of public or private equity and debt financings, marketing and distribution arrangements, other collaborations, strategic alliances and
licensing arrangements. As of December 31, 2020, we had $47.1 million in cash and cash equivalents. Based on our research and development plans, we
expect that these cash resources will enable us to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements into the second quarter of 2022. This
estimate is based on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could use our available capital resources sooner than we expect. Changes may occur
beyond our control that would cause us to consume our available capital before that time, including changes in, and progress of, our development activities,
acquisitions of additional product candidates and changes in regulation.

If we raise additional capital through marketing, sales and distribution arrangements or other collaborations, strategic alliances or licensing arrangements
with third parties, we may have to relinquish certain valuable rights to our product candidates, future revenue streams or research programs, technologies or
grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us. If we raise additional capital through public or private equity offerings, the terms of these securities
may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect our stockholders’ rights. Further, to the extent that we raise additional capital through
additional sales of common stock or securities convertible or exchangeable into common stock, investors’ ownership interest will be diluted. If we raise
additional capital through debt financing, we would be subject to fixed payment obligations and may be subject to covenants limiting or restricting our
ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends.

Adequate additional financing may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If we are unable to obtain additional financing on favorable terms
when needed, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate preclinical studies, clinical trials, or other research and development activities or one
or more of our development programs.
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Risks Related to the Discovery and Development of Our Product Candidates

Our business is dependent on our ability to advance our current and future product candidates through clinical trials, obtain marketing approval and
ultimately commercialize them.

We are early in our development efforts. We are conducting our first clinical trial for CTX-471, our lead product candidate. Our ability to generate product
revenues, which we do not expect will occur for several years, if ever, will depend heavily on the successful development and eventual commercialization
of CTX-471, CTX-8371 and any other current or future product candidates we develop, which may never occur. Our current product candidates, including
CTX-471, CTX-8371 and any future product candidates we develop will require additional preclinical or clinical development, management of clinical,
preclinical and manufacturing activities, marketing approval in the United States and other jurisdictions, demonstration of effectiveness to pricing and
reimbursement authorities, sufficient cGMP manufacturing supply for both preclinical and clinical development and commercial production, building of a
commercial organization and substantial investment and significant marketing efforts before we generate any revenues from product sales.

The clinical and commercial success of our current and future product candidates will depend on several factors, including the following:

 • timely and successful completion of preclinical studies and our clinical trials;

 • sufficiency of our financial and other resources to complete the necessary preclinical studies and clinical trials;

 • our plans to successfully submit investigational new drug, or IND, applications with the FDA for CTX-471, CTX-8371 and/or other current
and future product candidates;

 • our ability to complete preclinical studies for current or future product candidates;

 • successful enrollment in, including maintaining or reaching target enrollment levels during the COVID-19 pandemic, and completion of
clinical trials;

 • successful data from our clinical program that supports an acceptable risk-benefit profile of our product candidates in the intended patient
populations;

 • our ability to establish agreements with third-party manufacturers on a timely and cost-efficient manner;

 • whether we are required by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities to conduct additional clinical trials or other studies beyond
those planned or anticipated to support approval of our product candidates;

 • acceptance of our proposed indications and the primary endpoint assessments evaluated in the clinical trials of our product candidates by the
FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities;

 • receipt and maintenance of timely marketing approvals from applicable regulatory authorities;

 • successfully launching commercial sales of our product candidates, if approved;

 • the prevalence, duration and severity of potential side effects or other safety issues experienced with our product candidates, if approved;

 • entry into collaborations to further the development of our product candidates;

 • obtaining and maintaining patent and trade secret protection or regulatory exclusivity for our product candidates;

 • acceptance of the benefits and uses of our product candidates, if approved, by patients, the medical community and third-party payors;

 • maintaining a continued acceptable safety, tolerability and efficacy profile of the product candidates following approval;
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 • our compliance with any post-approval requirements imposed on our products, such as post-marketing studies, a Risk Evaluation and
Mitigation Strategy, or REMS, or additional requirements that might limit the promotion, advertising, distribution or sales of our products or
make the products cost prohibitive;

 • competing effectively with other therapies;

 • obtaining and maintaining healthcare coverage and adequate reimbursement from third-party payors;

 • our ability to identify bispecifics; and

 • enforcing and defending intellectual property rights and claims.

These factors, many of which are beyond our control, could cause us to experience significant delays or an inability to obtain regulatory approvals or
commercialize our current or future product candidates, and could otherwise materially harm our business. Successful completion of preclinical studies and
clinical trials does not mean that CTX-471, CTX-8371 or any other current or future product candidates we develop will receive regulatory approval. Even
if regulatory approvals are obtained, we could experience significant delays or an inability to successfully commercialize our current and any future product
candidates we develop, which would materially harm our business. If we are not able to generate sufficient revenue through the sale of any current or future
product candidate, we may not be able to continue our business operations or achieve profitability.

Clinical development involves a lengthy and expensive process with uncertain outcomes. We may incur additional costs and experience delays in
developing and commercializing or be unable to develop or commercialize our current and future product candidates.

To obtain the requisite regulatory approvals to commercialize any of our product candidates, we must demonstrate through extensive preclinical studies and
clinical trials that our product candidates are safe, pure and potent in humans. Clinical testing is expensive and can take many years to complete, and its
outcome is highly uncertain. Failure can occur at any time during the clinical trial process and our future clinical trial results may not be successful. We
may experience delays in completing our clinical trials or preclinical studies and initiating or completing additional clinical trials. Although we have
completed the Phase 1a stage of our clinical trial of CTX-471 and are in the process of conducting the Phase 1b stage of the trial, we may experience delays
in completing this trial or in initiating any planned clinical trials and development efforts. Additionally, we cannot be certain the ongoing and planned
preclinical studies or clinical trials for CTX-471, CTX-8371 or any other future product candidates will begin on time, not require redesign, enroll an
adequate number of subjects on time or be completed on schedule, if at all. We may also experience numerous unforeseen events during our clinical trials
that could delay or prevent our ability to receive marketing approval or commercialize the product candidates we develop, including:

 • results from preclinical studies or clinical trials may not be predictive of results from later clinical trials of any product candidate;

 • the FDA or other regulatory authorities, Institutional Review Boards, or IRBs, or independent ethics committees may not authorize us or our
investigators to commence a clinical trial or conduct a clinical trial at a prospective trial site;

 • the FDA or other regulatory authorities may require us to submit additional data such as long-term toxicology studies, or impose other
requirements on us, before permitting us to initiate a clinical trial;

 • we may experience delays in reaching, or fail to reach, agreement on acceptable terms with prospective trial sites and prospective contract
research organizations, or CROs, as the terms of these agreements can be subject to extensive negotiation and vary significantly among
different CROs and trial sites;

 • clinical trials of any product candidate may fail to show safety, purity or potency, or may produce negative or inconclusive results, which may
cause us to decide, or regulators to require us, to conduct additional nonclinical studies or clinical trials or which may cause us to decide to
abandon product candidate development programs;

 • the number of patients required for clinical trials may be larger than we anticipate, or we may have difficulty in recruiting and enrolling
patients to participate in clinical trials, including as a result of the size and nature of the patient population, the proximity of patients to
clinical trial sites, eligibility criteria for the clinical trial, the nature of the clinical trial protocol, the availability of approved effective
treatments for the relevant disease and competition from other clinical trial programs for similar indications and clinical trial subjects;
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 • even though, as of February 28, 2021, we have not experienced challenges in enrolling patients into our ongoing Phase 1 clinical trial of
CTX-471, there can be no assurance that we will not encounter such challenges in the future for this trial or other trials;

 • enrollment in these clinical trials may be slower than we anticipate or participants may drop out of these clinical trials or may fail to return for
post-treatment follow-up at a higher rate than we anticipate;

 • our CROs and other third-party contractors may fail to comply with regulatory requirements or meet their contractual obligations to us in a
timely manner, or at all, or may deviate from the clinical trial protocol or drop out of the trial, which may require that we add new clinical
trial sites or investigators;

 • we may elect to, or regulators, IRBs or ethics committees may require that we or our investigators, suspend or terminate clinical research or
trials for various reasons, including noncompliance with regulatory requirements or a finding that participants are being exposed to
unacceptable health risks;

 • any of our product candidates could cause undesirable side effects that could result in significant negative consequences, including the
inability to enter clinical development or receive regulatory approval;

 • the cost of preclinical or nonclinical testing and studies and clinical trials of any product candidates may be greater than we anticipate;

 • we may face hurdles in addressing subject safety concerns that arise during the course of a trial, causing us or our investigators, regulators,
IRBs or ethics committees to suspend or terminate trials, or reports may arise from nonclinical or clinical testing of other cancer therapies that
raise safety or efficacy concerns about our product candidates;

 • the supply, quality or timeliness of delivery of materials for product candidates we develop or other materials necessary to conduct clinical
trials may be insufficient or inadequate; and

 • we may need to change the manufacturing site and potentially the CMO for our product candidates from those that are able to produce
clinical supply for our Phase 1 clinical trials to those with the capacity and ability to perform commercial manufacturing and/or the
production of clinical material for our later stage clinical trials.

We could encounter delays if a clinical trial is suspended or terminated by us, or by the IRBs of the institutions in which such trials are being conducted,
ethics committees or the Data Safety Monitoring Board, or DSMB, for such trial or by the FDA or other regulatory authorities. Such authorities may
impose such a suspension or termination due to a number of factors, including failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordance with regulatory
requirements or our clinical protocols, inspection of the clinical trial operations or trial site by the FDA or other regulatory authorities resulting in the
imposition of a clinical hold, unforeseen safety issues or adverse side effects, failure to demonstrate a benefit from using a product candidate, changes in
governmental regulations or administrative actions or lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical trial. Many of the factors that cause, or lead to, a
delay in the commencement or completion of clinical trials may also ultimately lead to the denial of marketing approval of our product candidates. The
FDA or other regulatory authorities may change the requirements for approval even after they have reviewed and commented on the design for our clinical
trials. Further, the FDA or other regulatory authorities may disagree with our clinical trial design and our interpretation of data from clinical trials. For
example, we are conducting and may in the future conduct additional “open-label” clinical trials. An “open-label” clinical trial is one where both the patient
and investigator know whether the patient is receiving the investigational product candidate or either an existing approved drug or placebo. Most typically,
open-label clinical trials test only the investigational product candidate and sometimes may do so at different dose levels. Open-label clinical trials are
subject to various limitations that may exaggerate any therapeutic effect as patients may be subject to a “patient bias” where patients perceive their
symptoms to have improved merely due to their awareness of receiving an experimental treatment. Moreover, patients selected for early clinical studies
often include the most severe sufferers and their symptoms may have been bound to improve notwithstanding the new treatment. In addition, open-label
clinical trials may be subject to an “investigator bias” where those assessing and reviewing the physiological outcomes of the clinical trials are aware of
which patients have received treatment and may interpret the information of the treated group more favorably given this knowledge.

Principal investigators for our clinical trials may serve as scientific advisors or consultants to us from time to time and may receive cash or equity
compensation in connection with such services. If these relationships and any related compensation result in perceived or actual conflicts of interest, or a
regulatory authority concludes that the financial relationship may have affected the interpretation of the trial, the integrity of the data generated at the
applicable clinical trial site may be questioned and the utility of the clinical trial itself
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may be jeopardized, which could result in the delay or rejection of the marketing application we submit. Any such delay or rejection could prevent or delay
us from commercializing our current or future product candidates.

If we experience delays in the completion, or termination, of any clinical trial of our product candidates, including as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic,
the commercial prospects of our product candidates will be harmed and our ability to generate product revenues from any of these product candidates will
be delayed. In addition, any delays in completing our clinical trials will increase our costs, slow down the development and approval process for our
product candidates and jeopardize our ability to commence product sales and generate revenues. Significant clinical trial delays could also allow our
competitors to bring products to market before we do or shorten any periods during which we have the exclusive right to commercialize our product
candidates.

Any such events would impair our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates and may harm our business and results of operations.

Any of these occurrences may significantly harm our business, financial condition and prospects. In addition, many of the factors that cause, or lead to, a
delay in the commencement or completion of clinical trials may also ultimately lead to the denial of regulatory approval of our product candidates or result
in the development of our product candidates stopping early.

Preclinical development is uncertain. Our preclinical programs may experience delays or may never advance to clinical trials, which would adversely
affect our ability to obtain regulatory approvals or commercialize these programs on a timely basis or at all.

With the exception of CTX-471, which is currently being tested in a Phase 1 clinical trial, all of our product candidates are still in the discovery or
preclinical stage, and the risk of failure for such product candidates is high. In addition, any one or more of our product candidates that have not yet entered
the clinic may never advance into clinical development. For instance, in early 2021, we conducted a review of our pipeline and made the strategic decision
to deprioritize the development efforts for our NKp30 innate cell engager platform and to refrain from advancing CTX-8573 to IND-enabling studies. In
order to obtain FDA approval to market a new biologic we must demonstrate proof of safety, purity and potency, including efficacy, in humans. To meet
these requirements we will have to conduct adequate and well-controlled clinical trials. Before we can commence clinical trials for a product candidate, we
must complete extensive preclinical testing and studies that support our planned clinical trials in humans. We cannot be certain of the timely completion or
outcome of our preclinical testing and studies and cannot predict if the FDA will accept our proposed clinical programs or if the outcome of our preclinical
testing and studies will ultimately support the further development of our current or future product candidates. As a result, we cannot be sure that we will
be able to submit INDs or similar applications for our preclinical programs on the timelines we expect, if at all, and we cannot be sure that submission of
INDs or similar applications will result in the FDA or other regulatory authorities allowing clinical trials to begin.

Conducting preclinical testing is a lengthy, time-consuming and expensive process. The length of time of such testing may vary substantially according to
the type, complexity and novelty of the program, and often can be several years or more per program. Delays associated with programs for which we are
conducting preclinical testing and studies may cause us to incur additional operating expenses. The commencement and rate of completion of preclinical
studies and clinical trials for a product candidate may be delayed by many factors, including but not limited to:

 • an inability to generate sufficient preclinical or other in vivo or in vitro data to support the initiation of clinical studies;

 • delays in reaching a consensus with regulatory agencies on study design;

 • any setbacks or delays on account of the COVID-19 pandemic; and

 • the FDA or foreign regulatory authorities not permitting the reliance on preclinical or other data from published scientific literature.

Positive results from preclinical studies and early-stage clinical trials may not be predictive of future results. Initial positive results in any of our
clinical trials may not be indicative of results obtained when the trial is completed or in later stage trials.

The results of preclinical studies may not be predictive of the results of clinical trials. Preclinical studies and early-stage clinical trials are primarily
designed to test safety, to study pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics and to understand the side effects of product candidates at various doses and
schedules, and the results of any early-stage clinical trials may not be predictive of the results of later-stage, large-scale efficacy clinical trials. In addition,
initial success in clinical trials may not be indicative of results obtained when such trials are completed. There can be no assurance that any of our current
or future clinical trials will ultimately be successful or support further clinical development of any of our product candidates. There is a high failure rate for
drugs and biological products proceeding through clinical trials. A number of companies in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries have suffered
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significant setbacks in clinical development even after achieving promising results in earlier studies, and any such setbacks in our clinical development
could have a material adverse effect on our business and operating results.

Even if our clinical trials are completed, the results may not be sufficient to obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates. Data obtained from
preclinical and clinical activities are subject to varying interpretations, which may delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval. In addition, the results of our
preclinical studies may not be predictive of the results of outcomes in human clinical trials. For example, our current or future product candidates may
demonstrate different chemical, biological and pharmacological properties in patients than they do in laboratory studies or may interact with human
biological systems in unforeseen or harmful ways. Product candidates in later stages of clinical trials may fail to show desired pharmacological properties
or produce the necessary safety and efficacy results despite having progressed through preclinical studies and initial clinical trials. Even if we are able to
initiate and complete clinical trials, the results may not be sufficient to obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates. In addition, we may
experience regulatory delays or rejections as a result of many factors, including changes in regulatory policy during the period of our product candidate
development. Any such delays could negatively impact our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Interim and preliminary results from our clinical trials that we announce or publish from time to time may change as more patient data become
available and are subject to audit, validation and verification procedures that could result in material changes in the final data.

From time to time, we may publish interim data, including interim top-line results or preliminary results from our clinical trials. Interim data and results
from our clinical trials are subject to the risk that one or more of the clinical outcomes may materially change as patient enrollment continues and more
patient data become available. Preliminary or top-line results also remain subject to audit, validation and verification procedures that may result in the final
data being materially different from the interim and preliminary data we previously published. As a result, interim and preliminary data may not be
predictive of final results and should be viewed with caution until the final data are available. Differences between preliminary or interim data and final
data could significantly harm our business prospects and may cause the trading price of our common stock to fluctuate significantly.

Our agonist monoclonal antibody product candidates are a new potential class of therapeutics, which makes it difficult to predict the time and cost of
development and of subsequently obtaining regulatory approval, if at all.

Our agonist monoclonal antibody technology is relatively new and no agonist monoclonal antibodies to any target have been approved to date. As such it is
difficult to accurately predict the developmental challenges we may incur for our product candidates as they proceed through product discovery or
identification, preclinical studies and clinical trials. In addition, because we have not completed clinical trials, we have not yet been able to meaningfully
assess safety in humans, and there may be short-term or long-term effects from treatment with any product candidates that we develop that we cannot
predict at this time. Also, animal models may not exist for some of the diseases we choose to pursue in our programs. Furthermore, agonist antibodies have
demonstrated substantial toxicity in humans and there is no assurance that our product candidates will not have the same adverse side effects. As a result of
these factors, it is more difficult for us to predict the time and cost of product candidate development, and we cannot predict whether the application of our
antibody therapeutics and our bispecifics, or any similar or competitive technologies, will result in the identification, development, and regulatory approval
of any products. There can be no assurance that any development problems we experience in the future related to our agonist antibodies or any of our
research programs will not cause significant delays or unanticipated costs, or that such development problems can be solved. Any of these factors may
prevent us from completing our preclinical studies or any clinical trials that we may initiate or commercializing any product candidates we may develop on
a timely or profitable basis, if at all.

The clinical trial requirements of the FDA, the EMA and other regulatory authorities and the criteria these regulators use to determine the safety and
efficacy of a product candidate vary substantially according to the type, complexity, novelty and intended use and market of the product candidate. No
products based on agonist antibodies have been approved to date by regulators. As a result, the regulatory approval process for product candidates such as
ours is uncertain and may be more expensive and take longer than the approval process for product candidates based on other, better known or more
extensively studied technologies. It is difficult to determine how long it will take or how much it will cost to obtain regulatory approvals for our product
candidates in either the United States or the European Union or other regions of the world or how long it will take to commercialize our product candidates.
Delay or failure to obtain, or unexpected costs in obtaining, the regulatory approval necessary to bring a potential product candidate to market could
decrease our ability to generate sufficient product revenue, and our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may be harmed.
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Our current or future product candidates may cause undesirable side effects or have other properties when used alone or in combination with other
approved products or investigational new drugs that could halt their clinical development, delay or prevent their regulatory approval, limit their
commercial potential or result in significant negative consequences.

Before obtaining regulatory approvals for the commercial sale of our product candidates, we must demonstrate through lengthy, complex and expensive
preclinical testing and clinical trials that our product candidates are safe, pure and potent for use in each target indication, and failures can occur at any
stage of testing. As with most biological products, use of our current or future product candidates could be associated with side effects or adverse events
which can vary in severity from minor reactions to death and in frequency from infrequent to prevalent. There have been serious adverse side effects
reported in response to antibody therapeutics and bispecifics in oncology.

Immuno-oncology drugs have been observed to cause side effects, generally related to over activation of the immune system. These include colitis,
diabetes, pituitary inflammation, thyroiditis, myocarditis, liver inflammation, thrombocytopenia, among others. Our immuno-oncology product candidates,
including our lead candidate, CTX-471, may have similar or additional side effects. We completed the Phase 1a stage of the clinical trial evaluating the
safety and tolerability of CTX-471 in mid-2020. In this study, all of the 19 patients enrolled received at least one dose of CTX-471. There were two
treatment-related serious adverse events reported that included hypoxia, which resolved, and thrombocytopenia purpura, which also resolved. Two dose-
limiting toxicities of immune-related thrombocytopenia were also reported. The second stage (Phase 1b) of our CTX-471 Phase 1 trial is currently ongoing.
As of February 28, 2021, 11 patients in the Phase 1b stage had received at least one dose of CTX-471. As of February 28, 2021, no treatment-related side
effects have been reported in the Phase 1b stage; however, treatment related side effects may emerge at a later time in the study. In addition to any potential
side effects caused by the product or product candidate, the administration process or related procedures also can cause adverse side effects. If unacceptable
adverse events occur, our clinical trials or any future marketing authorization could be suspended or terminated.

We are developing CTX-8371 as a potential bispecific antibody that simultaneously targets both PD-1 and PD-L1, the targets of well-known and widely
used checkpoint inhibitor antibodies. While we have observed so far in preclinical testing that simultaneous targeting of both PD-1 and PD-L1 has been
associated with less toxicity than targeting either PD-1 alone or PD-L1 alone, there can be no assurance that CTX-8371 will not demonstrate unacceptable
toxicities in later testing that may render it unsafe or intolerable.

If unacceptable side effects arise in the development of our product candidates, we, the FDA, the IRBs at the institutions in which our studies are conducted
or the DSMB could suspend or terminate our clinical trials or the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities could order us to cease clinical trials or
deny approval of our product candidates for any or all targeted indications. Treatment-related side effects could also affect patient recruitment or the ability
of enrolled patients to complete any of our clinical trials or result in potential product liability claims. In addition, these side effects may not be
appropriately recognized or managed by the treating medical staff. We expect to have to train medical personnel using our product candidates to understand
the side effect profiles for our clinical trials and upon any commercialization of any of our product candidates. Inadequate training in recognizing or
managing the potential side effects of our product candidates could result in patient injury or death. Any of these occurrences may harm our business,
financial condition and prospects significantly.

Although our current and future product candidates have undergone and will undergo safety testing to the extent possible and, where applicable, under such
conditions discussed with regulatory authorities, not all adverse effects of drugs can be predicted or anticipated. Antibody therapeutics and bispecifics and
their method of action of harnessing the body’s immune system are powerful and could lead to serious side effects that we only discover in clinical trials or
during commercial marketing. Unforeseen side effects could arise either during clinical development or after our product candidates have been approved by
regulatory authorities and the approved product has been marketed, resulting in the exposure of additional patients. So far, we have not demonstrated that
CTX-471, CTX-8371 or any other product candidate is safe in humans, and we cannot predict if ongoing or future clinical trials will do so. If any of our
current or future product candidates fail to demonstrate safety and efficacy in clinical trials or do not gain marketing approval, we will not be able to
generate revenue and our business will be harmed.

In addition, we intend to pursue CTX-471 in part in combination with other therapies and may develop CTX-8371 and future product candidates in
combination with other therapies, which exposes us to additional risks relating to undesirable side effects or other properties. For example, the other
therapies may lead to toxicities that are improperly attributed to our product candidates or the combination of our product candidates with other therapies
may result in toxicities that the product candidate or other therapy does not produce when used alone. The other therapies we are using in combination may
be removed from the market, or we may not be able to secure adequate quantities of such materials for which we have no guaranteed supply contract, and
thus be unavailable for testing or commercial use with any of our approved products. The other therapies we may use in combination with our product
candidates may also be supplanted in the market by newer, safer or more efficacious products or combinations of products.
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Even if we successfully advance one of our product candidates through clinical trials, such trials will likely only include a limited number of subjects and
limited duration of exposure to our product candidates. As a result, we cannot be assured that adverse effects of our product candidates will not be
uncovered when a significantly larger number of patients are exposed to the product candidate. Further, any clinical trial may not be sufficient to determine
the effect and safety consequences of taking our product candidates over a multi-year period.

If any of our product candidates receives marketing approval, and we or others later identify undesirable side effects caused by such products, a number of
potentially significant negative consequences could result, including:

 • regulatory authorities may withdraw their approval of the product;

 • we may be required to recall a product or change the way such product is administered to patients;

 • additional restrictions may be imposed on the marketing of the particular product or the manufacturing processes for the product or any
component thereof;

 • regulatory authorities may require the addition of labeling statements, such as a “black box” warning or a contraindication;

 • we may be required to implement a REMS or create a medication guide outlining the risks of such side effects for distribution to patients;

 • we could be sued and held liable for harm caused to patients;

 • the product may become less competitive; and

 • our reputation may suffer.

Any of the foregoing events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the particular product candidate, if approved, and result
in the loss of significant revenues, which would materially harm our business. In addition, if one or more of our product candidates or our antibody
therapeutic development approach generally prove to be unsafe, our entire technology platform and pipeline could be affected, which would also materially
harm our business.

As an organization, we have limited experience designing and implementing clinical trials and we have never conducted pivotal clinical trials. Failure
to adequately design a trial, or incorrect assumptions about the design of the trial, could adversely affect the ability to initiate the trial, enroll patients,
complete the trial, or obtain regulatory approval on the basis of the trial results, as well as lead to increased or unexpected costs and in delayed
timelines.

The design and implementation of clinical trials is a complex process. We have limited experience designing and implementing clinical trials, and we may
not successfully or cost-effectively design and implement clinical trials that achieve our desired clinical endpoints efficiently, or at all. A clinical trial that is
not well designed may delay or even prevent initiation of the trial, can lead to increased difficulty in enrolling patients, may make it more difficult to obtain
regulatory approval for the product candidate on the basis of the study results, or, even if a product candidate is approved, could make it more difficult to
commercialize the product successfully or obtain reimbursement from third-party payors. Additionally, a trial that is not well-designed could be inefficient
or more expensive than it otherwise would have been, or we may incorrectly estimate the costs to implement the clinical trial, which could lead to a
shortfall in funding. We also expect to continue to rely on third parties to conduct our clinical trials. See “—Risks Related to Reliance on Third Parties—We
rely or will rely on third parties to help conduct our ongoing and planned preclinical studies and clinical trials for CTX-471, CTX-8371 and any future
product candidates we develop. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties, comply with regulatory requirements or meet
expected deadlines, we may not be able to obtain marketing approval for or commercialize CTX-471, CTX-8371 and any current or future product
candidates we develop and our business could be materially harmed.” Consequently, we may be unable to successfully and efficiently execute and
complete clinical trials that are required for BLA submission and FDA approval of CTX-471, CTX-8371 or current or future product candidates. We may
require more time and incur greater costs than our competitors and may not succeed in obtaining regulatory approvals of product candidates that we
develop.
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If we or our collaborators encounter difficulties enrolling patients in our clinical trials, our clinical development activities could be delayed or
otherwise be adversely affected.

The successful and timely completion of clinical trials in accordance with their protocols depends on, among other things, our ability to enroll a sufficient
number of patients who remain in the trial until the trial’s conclusion, including any follow-up period. We may experience difficulties in patient enrollment
in our clinical trials for a variety of reasons. The enrollment of patients depends on many factors, including:

 • the patient eligibility criteria defined in the protocol;

 • the nature and size of the patient population required for analysis of the trial’s primary endpoints and the process for identifying patients;

 • the number and location of participating clinical sites or patients;

 • the design of the trial;

 • our ability to recruit clinical trial investigators with the appropriate competencies and experience;

 • clinicians’ and patients’ perceptions as to the potential advantages and risks of the product candidate being studied in relation to other
available therapies, including any new products that may be approved for the indications we are investigating;

 • the availability of competing commercially available therapies and other competing drug candidates’ clinical trials;

 • our ability to obtain and maintain patient informed consents for participation in our clinical trials;

 • the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic or future pandemics or similar events on patients’ willingness and ability to participate in clinical
trials or on study site policies; and

 • the risk that patients enrolled in clinical trials will drop out of the trials before completion or, because they may be late-stage cancer patients,
will not survive the full terms of the clinical trials.

In addition, our clinical trials will compete with other clinical trials for product candidates that are in the same therapeutic areas as our current and potential
future product candidates. This competition will reduce the number and types of patients available to us, because some patients who might have opted to
enroll in our trials may instead opt to enroll in a trial conducted by one of our competitors. Since the number of qualified clinical investigators is limited,
we expect to conduct some of our clinical trials at the same clinical trial sites that some of our competitors use, which will reduce the number of patients
who are available for our clinical trials at such sites. Moreover, because our current and potential future product candidates may represent a departure from
more commonly used methods for cancer treatment, potential patients and their doctors may be inclined to use conventional therapies, such as
chemotherapy, rather than enroll patients in our ongoing or any future clinical trial. Additionally, the recent COVID-19 pandemic may have an impact on
our ability to recruit and follow-up with patients either due to continued or renewed restrictions on travel or shelter-in-place orders or policies, or due to
changes in patient willingness to participate in trials or travel to study sites in the wake of the pandemic. Additionally, COVID-19 related study site policies
may create delays or setbacks in our ability to continue to enroll or to dose patients.

Delays of difficulties in patient enrollment may result in increased costs or may affect the timing, outcome or completion of clinical trials, which would
adversely affect our ability to advance the development of the product candidates we develop.

Because the number of subjects in our Phase 1 clinical trial of CTX-471 is small, the results from this trial, once completed, may be less reliable than
results achieved in larger clinical trials.

Nineteen patients were enrolled in our Phase 1a dose escalation stage of the trial and as of February 28, 2021, 11 patients have received at least one dose of
CTX-471 in the Phase 1b dose expansion stage of the trial. A study design that is considered appropriate includes a sufficiently large sample size with
appropriate statistical power, as well as proper control of bias, to allow a meaningful interpretation of the results. The preliminary results of studies with
smaller sample sizes and heterogeneous patient populations, such as our ongoing Phase 1 clinical trial of CTX-471, can be disproportionately influenced by
the impact the treatment had on a few individuals, which limits the ability to generalize the results across a broader community, thus making the study
results less reliable
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than studies with a larger number of subjects and with more homogeneous patient populations. As a result, there may be less certainty that CTX-471 would
achieve a statistically significant effect in any future clinical trials. If we conduct any future clinical trials of CTX-471, we may not achieve a statistically
significant result or the same level of statistical significance seen, if any, in our Phase 1 clinical trial. Similarly, if we conduct a clinical trial of any other
product candidate we develop, including CTX-471, with a smaller sample size, the results of any such trial may be less reliable than results achieved in
larger clinical trials and may provide less certainty of achieving statistically significant effects in any future clinical trials.

We have chosen to prioritize development of CTX-471 and CTX-8371. We may expend our limited resources on product candidates or indications that
do not yield a successful product and fail to capitalize on other candidates or indications for which there may be a greater likelihood of success or may
be more profitable.

Because we have limited resources, we have strategically determined to prioritize development of CTX-471 and CTX-8371 rather than other product
candidates. This decision is based, in part, on the significant resources required for developing and manufacturing antibody therapeutics and bispecifics. To
date, no regulatory authority has granted approval for an antibody therapeutic targeting CD137, also known as 4-1BB, as well as the target of CTX-471. Of
note, several drugs targeting CD137 have been tested in early-stage clinical trials, and at least one of these drugs had severe side effects. It is possible that
CTX-471 may have similar adverse effects, including toxicity, in humans. As a result, we may be foregoing other potentially more profitable antibody
therapies or drugs with a greater likelihood of success. Our decisions concerning the allocation of research, development, collaboration, management and
financial resources toward particular product candidates or therapeutic areas may not lead to the development of any viable commercial product and may
divert resources away from better opportunities. Similarly, our potential decisions to delay, terminate or collaborate with third parties with respect to certain
programs may subsequently also prove to be suboptimal and could cause us to miss valuable opportunities. If we make incorrect determinations regarding
the viability or market potential of any of our current or future product candidates or misread trends in the oncology, autoimmunology or biopharmaceutical
industry, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected. As a result, we may fail to capitalize on viable
commercial products or profitable market opportunities, be required to forego or delay pursuit of opportunities with other product candidates or other
diseases and disease pathways that may later prove to have greater commercial potential than those we choose to pursue, or relinquish valuable rights to
such product candidates through collaboration, licensing or other royalty arrangements in cases in which it would have been advantageous for us to invest
additional resources to retain development and commercialization rights.

Risks Related to Regulatory Approval of Our Product Candidates

The regulatory approval processes of the FDA and comparable foreign authorities are lengthy, time-consuming and inherently unpredictable, and if we
are ultimately unable to obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates, our business will be materially harmed.

The time required to obtain approval by the FDA and comparable foreign authorities is unpredictable but typically takes many years following the
commencement of clinical trials and depends upon numerous factors, including the substantial discretion of the regulatory authorities. In addition, approval
policies, regulations or the type and amount of clinical data necessary to gain approval may change during the course of a product candidate’s clinical
development and may vary among jurisdictions. We have not obtained regulatory approval for any product candidate. Neither we nor any future
collaborator is permitted to market any biological product in the United States until we or the future collaborator receives regulatory approval of a biologics
license application, or BLA, from the FDA. It is possible that none of our current or future product candidates will ever obtain regulatory approval from the
FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities.

Our current and future product candidates could fail to receive regulatory approval for many reasons, including the following:

 • the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with the design or implementation of our clinical trials;

 • we may be unable to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities that a product candidate has an
acceptable risk-benefit profile in the proposed indication;

 • we may be unable to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities that the facility in which a
product candidate is manufactured meets standards designed to assure that the product candidate continues to be safe, pure, and potent;

 • the results of clinical trials may not meet the level of statistical significance required by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities
for approval;
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 • we may be unable to demonstrate that a product candidate’s clinical and other benefits outweigh its safety risks;

 • the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with our interpretation of data from clinical trials or preclinical studies;

 • the data collected from clinical trials of our product candidates may not be sufficient to support the submission of a BLA to the FDA or
regulatory submissions to comparable regulatory authorities to obtain regulatory approval in such jurisdiction; and

 • the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may find deficiencies with or fail to approve our manufacturing processes or facility or
the manufacturing processes or facilities of third-party manufacturers with which we contract for clinical and commercial supplies.

This lengthy approval process as well as the unpredictability of clinical trial results may result in our failing to obtain regulatory approval to market any
product candidate we develop, which would significantly harm our business, results of operations and prospects. The FDA and other comparable foreign
authorities have substantial discretion in the approval process and in determining when or whether regulatory approval will be granted for any product
candidate that we develop. Even if we believe the data collected from future clinical trials of our product candidates are promising, such data may not be
sufficient to support approval by the FDA or any other regulatory authority.

In addition, even if we were to obtain approval, the FDA may approve any of our product candidates for fewer or more limited indications, or a more
limited patient population, than we request, may grant approval contingent on the performance of costly clinical trials or other post-marketing
requirements, or may approve a product candidate with a label that does not include the labeling claims we believe are necessary or desirable for the
successful commercialization of such product candidates.

In addition, the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may change their policies, promulgate additional regulations, revise existing regulations
or take other actions that may prevent or delay approval of our future products under development on a timely basis. Such policy or regulatory changes
could impose additional requirements upon us that could delay our ability to obtain approvals, increase the costs of compliance or restrict our ability to
maintain any marketing authorizations we may have obtained. Any of the foregoing scenarios could materially harm the commercial prospects for our
product candidates.

We may be unable to obtain FDA approval of our product candidates under applicable regulatory requirements. The denial or delay of any such
approval would prevent or delay commercialization of our product candidates and adversely impact our potential to generate revenue, our business and
our results of operations.

To gain approval to market our product candidates in the United States, we must provide the FDA with clinical data that adequately demonstrate the safety,
purity and potency, including efficacy, of the product candidate for the proposed indication or indications in a BLA submission. Product development is a
long, expensive and uncertain process, and delay or failure can occur at any stage of any of our clinical development programs. A number of companies in
the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries have suffered significant setbacks in clinical trials, even after promising results in earlier preclinical
studies or clinical trials. These setbacks have been caused by, among other things, preclinical findings made while clinical trials were underway and safety
or efficacy observations made in clinical trials, including previously unreported adverse events. Success in preclinical testing and early clinical trials does
not ensure that later clinical trials will be successful, and the results of clinical trials by other parties may not be indicative of the results in trials we may
conduct.

We have not previously submitted a BLA or any other marketing application to the FDA or similar filings to comparable foreign regulatory authorities. A
BLA or other similar regulatory filing requesting approval to market a product candidate must include extensive preclinical and clinical data and supporting
information to establish that the product candidate is safe, pure and potent for each desired indication. The BLA or other similar regulatory filing must also
include significant information regarding the chemistry, manufacturing and controls for the product.

The research, testing, manufacturing, labeling, approval, marketing, sale and distribution of biological products are subject to extensive regulation by the
FDA and other regulatory authorities in the United States and other countries, and such regulations differ from country to country. We are not permitted to
market our product candidates in the United States or in any foreign countries until they receive the requisite approval from the applicable regulatory
authorities of such jurisdictions.
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The FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities can delay, limit or deny approval of our product candidates for many reasons, including:

 • our inability to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority that our product candidates are safe
and effective for the requested indication;

 • the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority’s disagreement with our trial protocol or the interpretation of data from preclinical
studies or clinical trials;

 • our inability to demonstrate that the clinical and other benefits of our product candidates outweigh any safety or other perceived risks;

 • the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority’s requirement for additional preclinical studies or clinical trials;

 • the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority’s non-approval of the formulation, labeling, or specifications of our product candidates;

 • the FDA or a comparable regulatory authority’s failure to approve our manufacturing processes and facilities or the manufacturing processes
and facilities of third-party manufacturers upon which we rely; or

 • potential for approval policies or regulations of the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority to significantly change in a manner
rendering our clinical data insufficient for approval.

Even if we eventually complete clinical testing and receive approval from the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities for any of our product
candidates, the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may grant approval contingent on the performance of costly additional clinical trials
which may be required after approval. The FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities also may approve any of our product candidates for a more
limited indication or a narrower patient population than we originally requested, and the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may not approve
any of our product candidates with the labeling that we believe is necessary or desirable for the successful commercialization of any such product
candidates.

Of the large number of biopharmaceutical products in development, only a small percentage successfully complete the FDA or other regulatory bodies’
approval processes and are commercialized. Any delay in obtaining, or inability to obtain, applicable regulatory approval would delay or prevent
commercialization of our product candidates and would materially harm our business.

Disruptions at the FDA and other government agencies caused by funding shortages or global health concerns could hinder their ability to hire, retain
or deploy key leadership and other personnel, or otherwise prevent new or modified products from being developed, approved, or commercialized in a
timely manner or at all, which could negatively impact our business.

The ability of the FDA to review and approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, including government budget and funding levels,
statutory, regulatory, and policy changes, the FDA’s ability to hire and retain key personnel and accept the payment of user fees, and other events that may
otherwise affect the FDA’s ability to perform routine functions. Average review times at the agency have fluctuated in recent years as a result. In addition,
government funding of other government agencies that fund research and development activities is subject to the political process, which is inherently fluid
and unpredictable. Disruptions at the FDA and other agencies may also slow the time necessary for biological products or modifications to approved
biological products to be reviewed and/or approved by necessary government agencies, which would adversely affect our business. For example, over the
last several years, including for 35 days beginning on December 22, 2018, the U.S. government has shut down several times and certain regulatory
agencies, such as the FDA, have had to furlough critical FDA employees and stop critical activities.

Separately, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, on March 10, 2020, the FDA announced its intention to postpone most foreign inspections of
manufacturing facilities and products, and subsequently, on March 18, 2020, the FDA announced its intention to temporarily postpone routine surveillance
inspections of domestic manufacturing facilities. Regulatory authorities outside the United States may adopt similar restrictions or other policy measures in
response to the COVID-19 pandemic. If a prolonged government shutdown occurs, or if global health concerns prevent the FDA or other regulatory
authorities from conducting their regular inspections, reviews, or other regulatory activities, it could significantly impact the ability of the FDA or other
regulatory authorities to timely review and process our regulatory submissions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. For example,
on April 16, 2020, the FDA announced that it was continuing to meet key review program user fee performance goals, approve applications and
communicate with applicants. However, the FDA noted that it may not be able to sustain its current level of performance indefinitely during the COVID-19
pandemic. If the FDA becomes unable to continue its current level of performance, we could experience delays and setbacks for our product candidates and
for any approvals we may seek which could adversely affect our business.
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We may be required to suspend, repeat or terminate our clinical trials if they are not conducted in accordance with regulatory requirements, the results
are negative or inconclusive or the trials are not well designed.

Clinical trials must be conducted in accordance with the FDA’s current good clinical practices requirements, or cGCP, or analogous requirements of
applicable foreign regulatory authorities. Clinical trials are subject to oversight by the FDA, other foreign governmental agencies and IRBs or ethical
committees at the study sites where the clinical trials are conducted. In addition, clinical trials must be conducted with product candidates manufactured in
accordance with applicable cGMP. Clinical trials may be suspended by the FDA, other foreign regulatory authorities, us, or by an IRB or ethics committee
with respect to a particular clinical trial site, for various reasons, including:

 • deficiencies in the conduct of the clinical trials, including failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordance with regulatory requirements or
study protocols;

 • deficiencies in the clinical trial operations or trial sites;

 • unforeseen adverse side effects or the emergence of undue risks to study subjects;

 • deficiencies in the trial design necessary to demonstrate efficacy;

 • the product candidate may not appear to offer benefits over current therapies; or

 • the quality or stability of the product candidate may fall below acceptable standards.

We intend to develop CTX-471 in part in combination with other therapies and may develop CTX-8371 and future product candidates in combination
with other therapies, which exposes us to additional regulatory risks.

We intend to develop CTX-471 in part in combination with other therapies, such as trastuzumab, and may develop CTX-8371 and future product
candidates in combination with one or more currently approved cancer therapies. These combinations have not been previously tested in the clinic and may,
among other things, fail to demonstrate synergistic activity, may fail to achieve superior outcomes relative to the use of single agents or other combination
therapies, or may fail to demonstrate sufficient safety or efficacy traits in clinical trials to enable us to complete those clinical trials or obtain marketing
approval for the combination therapy.

In addition, we did not develop or obtain regulatory approval for, and we do not manufacture or sell, any of these approved therapeutics. Therefore, even if
any product candidate we develop were to receive marketing approval or be commercialized for use in combination with other existing therapies, we would
continue to be subject to the risk that the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities could revoke approval of the therapy used in combination with
our product candidate or that safety, efficacy, manufacturing or supply issues could arise with these existing therapies. This could result in our own
products being removed from the market or being less successful commercially. Combination therapies are commonly used for the treatment of cancer
diseases, and we would be subject to similar risks if we develop any of our product candidates for use in combination with other drugs or for indications
other than cancer.

We may also evaluate CTX-471, CTX-8371 or any future product candidate in combination with one or more other cancer therapies that have not yet been
approved for marketing by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities. We will not be able to market and sell CTX-471, CTX-8371 or any
product candidate we develop in combination with any such unapproved cancer therapies that do not ultimately obtain marketing approval.

If the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities do not approve these other biological products or revoke their approval of, or if safety, efficacy,
manufacturing or supply issues arise with, the biological products we choose to evaluate in combination with CTX-471, CTX-8371 or any product
candidate we develop, we may be unable to obtain approval of or market any such product candidate.

Even if we receive marketing approval of a product candidate, we will be subject to ongoing regulatory obligations and continued regulatory review,
which may result in significant additional expense. If we fail to comply or experience unanticipated problems with our products, we may be subject to
administrative and judicial enforcement, including monetary penalties, for non-compliance and our approved products, if any, could be deemed
misbranded or adulterated and prohibited from continued distribution.

Any marketing approvals that we receive for any current or future product candidate may be subject to limitations on the approved indicated uses for which
the product may be marketed or the conditions of approval, or contain requirements for potentially costly
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post-market testing and surveillance to monitor the safety and efficacy of the product candidate. The FDA may also require implementation of a REMS as a
condition of approval of any product candidate, which could include requirements for a medication guide, physician communication plans or additional
elements to ensure safe use, such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries and other risk minimization tools. In addition, if the FDA or a
comparable foreign regulatory authority approves a product candidate, the manufacturing processes, labeling, packaging, distribution, adverse event and
deviation reporting, storage, advertising, promotion, import and export and record keeping for the product candidate will be subject to extensive and
ongoing regulatory requirements. These requirements include submissions of safety and other post-marketing information and reports, registration, as well
as continued compliance with cGMP and cGCP, for any clinical trials that we may conduct post-approval. Later discovery of previously unknown problems
with any approved candidate, including adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, or with our or our third-party manufacturers’ manufacturing
processes or facilities, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may result in, among other things:

 • suspension of, or imposition of restrictions on, the marketing or manufacturing of the product, withdrawal of the product from the market, or
product recalls;

 • Warning Letters or Untitled Letters, or holds on clinical trials;

 • refusal by the FDA to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications we file, or suspension or revocation of approved
biologics licenses;

 • product seizure or detention, monetary penalties, refusal to permit the import or export of the product, or placement on Import Alert; and

 • permanent injunctions and consent decrees including the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

Given the nature of biological products manufacturing, there is a risk of contamination. Any contamination could materially adversely affect our ability to
produce product candidates on schedule and could, therefore, harm our results of operations and cause reputational damage. Some of the raw materials and
other components required in our manufacturing process are derived from biologic sources. Such raw materials are difficult to procure and may be subject
to contamination or recall. A material shortage, contamination, recall or restriction on the use of biologically derived substances in the manufacture of our
product or product candidates could adversely impact or disrupt the commercial manufacturing or the production of clinical material, which could
materially and adversely affect our development and commercialization timelines and our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects
and could adversely affect our ability to meet our supply obligations.

Moreover, the FDA strictly regulates the promotional claims that may be made about drug and biological products. In particular, an approved product may
not be promoted for uses that are not approved by the FDA as reflected in the product’s approved labeling, or off-label uses. The FDA and other agencies
actively enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion of off-label uses. The FDA has issued guidance on the factors that it will consider in
determining whether a firm’s product communication is consistent with the FDA-required labeling for that product, and those factors contain complexity
and potential for overlap and misinterpretation. A company that is found to have improperly promoted off-label uses of their products may be subject to
significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties.

The FDA and other regulatory authorities’ policies may change and additional government regulations may be enacted that could prevent, limit or delay
marketing approval of a product. We cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or
administrative action, either in the United States or abroad. If we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new
requirements or policies, or if we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may lose any marketing approval that we may have obtained and we
may not achieve or sustain profitability.

Any government investigation of alleged violations of law could require us to expend significant time and resources in response, and could generate
negative publicity. Any failure to comply with ongoing regulatory requirements may significantly and adversely affect our ability to commercialize and
generate revenue from our products. If regulatory sanctions are applied or if regulatory approval is withdrawn, the value of our company and our operating
results will be adversely affected.

Certain policies of the previous Trump Administration may impact our business and industry. President Trump took several executive actions, including the
issuance of a number of Executive Orders, that could impose significant burdens on, or otherwise materially delay, the FDA’s ability to engage in routine
oversight activities such as implementing statutes through rulemaking, issuance of guidance, and review and approval of marketing applications. It is
difficult to predict how these orders will be implemented, and the extent to which they will impact the FDA’s ability to exercise its regulatory authority. If
these executive actions impose restrictions on the FDA’s ability to engage in oversight and implementation activities in the normal course, our business
may be negatively impacted.
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In addition, if we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new requirements or policies, or if we are not able to
maintain regulatory compliance, we may lose any marketing approval that we may have obtained and we may not achieve or sustain profitability.

Risks Related to the Commercialization of Our Product Candidates

Even if a current or future product candidate receives marketing approval, it may fail to achieve the degree of market acceptance by physicians,
patients, third-party payors and others in the medical community necessary for commercial success.

If any current or future product candidate we develop receives marketing approval, whether as a single agent or in combination with other therapies, it may
nonetheless fail to gain sufficient market acceptance by physicians, patients, third-party payors, and others in the medical community. For example, current
approved antibody therapeutics, and other cancer treatments like chemotherapy and radiation therapy, are well established in the medical community, and
doctors may continue to rely on these therapies. Our approach to targeting different components of the tumor microenvironment is novel and unproven. In
addition, adverse events in clinical trials testing our product candidates or in clinical trials of others developing similar product candidates and the resulting
publicity, as well as any other adverse events in the field of immuno-oncology that may occur in the future, could result in a decrease in demand for our
current or future product candidates. Furthermore, to date, only a few bispecific products have received marketing approval and only a few have advanced
to late-stage clinical development. Future adverse events in immuno-oncology or the biopharmaceutical industry could also result in greater governmental
regulation, stricter labeling requirements and potential regulatory delays in the testing or approvals of our products. Similarly, the use of agonist antibodies
for the treatment of autoimmune diseases is novel and there can be no assurance that our product candidates for the treatment of autoimmune diseases, if
approved, would gain sufficient market acceptance by physicians, patients, third-party payors, and others in the medical community.

If our current and any future product candidates we develop do not achieve an adequate level of acceptance, we may not generate significant product
revenues and we may not become profitable. The degree of market acceptance of our current and any future product candidates, if approved for commercial
sale, will depend on a number of factors, including:

 • efficacy and potential advantages compared to alternative treatments, including those that are not yet approved;

 • the ability to offer our products, if approved, for sale at competitive prices;

 • convenience and ease of administration compared to alternative treatments;

 • the willingness of the target patient population to try new therapies and of physicians to prescribe these therapies;

 • the strength of marketing, sales and distribution support;

 • the ability to obtain sufficient third-party coverage and adequate reimbursement, including with respect to the use of the approved product as
a combination therapy; and

 • the prevalence and severity of any side effects.

The market opportunities for any current or future product candidate we develop, if approved, may be limited to those patients who are ineligible for
established therapies or for whom prior therapies have failed, and may be small.

Any revenue we are able to generate in the future from product sales will be dependent, in part, upon the size of the market in the United States and any
other jurisdiction for which we gain regulatory approval and have commercial rights. If the markets or patient subsets that we are targeting are not as
significant as we estimate, we may not generate significant revenues from sales of such products, even if approved.

Cancer therapies are sometimes characterized as first-line, second-line or third-line, and the FDA often approves new therapies initially only for third-line
use. When cancer is detected early enough, first-line therapy, usually chemotherapy, hormone therapy, surgery, radiation therapy or a combination of these,
is sometimes adequate to cure the cancer or prolong life without a cure. Second- and third-line therapies are administered to patients when prior therapy is
not effective. The number of patients who receive second- and third-line treatment is significantly smaller than the number of patients who receive first-line
treatment, and the prognosis of patients who receive second- or third-line treatment is often poorer than that of patients who receive first-line treatment.
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We may initially seek approval for CTX-471, CTX-8371 and any other product candidates we develop as second- or third-line therapies. If we do so, for
those products that prove to be sufficiently beneficial, if any, we would expect potentially to seek approval as a first-line therapy, but there is no guarantee
that any product candidate we develop, even if approved, would be approved for first-line therapy, and, prior to any such approvals, we may have to
conduct additional clinical trials.

The number of patients who have the types of cancer or autoimmune diseases we are targeting may turn out to be lower than expected. Additionally, the
potentially addressable patient population for our current or future product candidates may be limited, if and when approved. Even if we obtain significant
market share for any product candidate, if and when approved, if the potential target populations are small, we may never achieve profitability without
obtaining marketing approval for additional indications, including to be used as first- or second-line therapy.

Obtaining and maintaining marketing approval of our current and future product candidates in one jurisdiction does not mean that we will be
successful in obtaining and maintaining marketing approval of our current and future product candidates in other jurisdictions.

Obtaining and maintaining marketing approval of our current and future product candidates in one jurisdiction does not guarantee that we will be able to
obtain or maintain marketing approval in any other jurisdiction, while a failure or delay in obtaining marketing approval in one jurisdiction may have a
negative effect on the marketing approval process in others. For example, even if the FDA grants marketing approval of a product candidate, comparable
regulatory authorities in foreign jurisdictions must also approve the manufacturing, marketing and promotion of the product candidate in those countries.
Approval procedures vary among jurisdictions and can involve requirements and administrative review periods different from, and greater than, those in the
United States, including additional preclinical studies or clinical trials conducted in one jurisdiction may not be accepted by regulatory authorities in other
jurisdictions. In many jurisdictions outside the United States, a product candidate must be approved for reimbursement before it can be approved for sale in
that jurisdiction. In some cases, the price that we intend to charge for our products is also subject to approval.

We may also submit marketing applications in other countries. Regulatory authorities in jurisdictions outside of the United States have requirements for
approval of product candidates with which we must comply prior to marketing in those jurisdictions. Obtaining foreign marketing approvals and
compliance with foreign regulatory requirements could result in significant delays, difficulties and costs for us and could delay or prevent the introduction
of our products in certain countries. If we fail to comply with the regulatory requirements in international markets or fail to receive applicable marketing
approvals, our target market will be reduced and our ability to realize the full market potential of our product candidates will be harmed.

If we are unable to establish marketing, sales and distribution capabilities for CTX-471, CTX-8371 or any other product candidate that may receive
regulatory approval, we may not be successful in commercializing those product candidates if and when they are approved.

We do not have sales or marketing infrastructure. To achieve commercial success for CTX-471, CTX-8371 and any other product candidate for which we
may obtain marketing approval, we will need to establish a sales and marketing organization. In the future, we expect to build a focused sales and
marketing infrastructure to market some of our product candidates in the United States, if and when they are approved. There are risks involved with
establishing our own marketing, sales and distribution capabilities. For example, recruiting and training a sales force is expensive and time consuming and
could delay any product launch. If the commercial launch of a product candidate for which we recruit a sales force and establish marketing capabilities is
delayed or does not occur for any reason, we would have prematurely or unnecessarily incurred these commercialization expenses. This may be costly, and
our investment would be lost if we cannot retain or reposition our sales and marketing personnel.

Factors that may inhibit our efforts to market our products on our own include:

 • our inability to recruit, train and retain adequate numbers of effective sales and marketing personnel;

 • the inability of sales personnel to obtain access to physicians in order to educate physicians about our product candidates, once approved;

 • the lack of complementary products to be offered by sales personnel, which may put us at a competitive disadvantage relative to companies
with more extensive product lines; and

 • unforeseen costs and expenses associated with creating an independent sales and marketing organization.

If we are unable to establish our own marketing, sales and distribution capabilities and are forced to enter into arrangements with, and rely on, third parties
to perform these services, our revenue and our profitability, if any, are likely to be lower than if we had
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developed such capabilities ourselves. In addition, we may not be successful in entering into arrangements with third parties to sell, market and distribute
our product candidates or may be unable to do so on terms that are favorable to us. We likely will have little control over such third parties, and any of them
may fail to devote the necessary resources and attention to sell and market our products effectively. If we do not establish marketing, sales and distribution
capabilities successfully, either on our own or in collaboration with third parties, we will not be successful in commercializing our product candidates.

Risks Related to Healthcare, Insurance and Legal Matters

Product liability lawsuits against us could cause us to incur substantial liabilities and to limit commercialization of our product candidates.

We face an inherent risk of product liability exposure related to the testing of our product candidates in human trials and may face greater risk if we
commercialize any products that we develop. Product liability claims may be brought against us by subjects enrolled in our trials, patients, healthcare
providers or others using, administering or selling our products. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against such claims, we could incur substantial
liabilities. Regardless of merit or eventual outcome, liability claims may result in:

 • decreased demand for any product candidate we may develop;

 • withdrawal of trial participants;

 • termination of clinical trial sites or entire trial programs;

 • injury to our reputation and significant negative media attention;

 • initiation of investigations by regulators;

 • significant time and costs to defend the related litigation;

 • substantial monetary awards to trial subjects or patients;

 • diversion of management and scientific resources from our business operations; and

 • the inability to commercialize any product candidates that we may develop.

While we currently hold trial liability insurance coverage consistent with industry standards, the amount of coverage may not adequately cover all liabilities
that we may incur. We may not be able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in an amount adequate to satisfy any liability that may arise.
We intend to expand our insurance coverage for products to include the sale of commercial products if we obtain marketing approval for our product
candidates, but we may be unable to obtain commercially reasonable product liability insurance. A successful product liability claim or series of claims
brought against us, particularly if judgments exceed our insurance coverage, could decrease our cash and adversely affect our business and financial
condition.

The successful commercialization of our product candidates will depend in part on the extent to which third-party payors, including governmental
authorities and private health insurers, provide coverage and adequate reimbursement levels, as well as implement pricing policies favorable for our
product candidates. Failure to obtain or maintain coverage and adequate reimbursement for our product candidates, if approved, could limit our ability
to market those products and decrease our ability to generate revenue.

In the United States and markets in other countries, patients who are prescribed treatments for their conditions and providers performing the prescribed
services generally rely on third-party payors to reimburse all or part of the associated healthcare costs. The availability of coverage and adequacy of
reimbursement by third-party payors, including government healthcare programs (e.g., Medicare, Medicaid), managed care providers, private health
insurers, health maintenance organizations, and other organizations is essential for most patients to be able to afford medical services and pharmaceutical
products such as our product candidates. Third-party payors decide which medications they will pay for and establish reimbursement levels. The
availability of coverage and extent of reimbursement by governmental and other third-party payors is essential for most patients to be able to afford
treatments such as antibody-based therapies. In the United States, the principal decisions about reimbursement for new medicines are typically made by the
Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, or CMS, an agency within the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, or
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HHS. CMS decides whether and to what extent our products will be covered and reimbursed under Medicare and private payors tend to follow CMS to a
substantial degree. Factors payors consider in determining reimbursement are based on whether the product is:

 • a covered benefit under its health plan;

 • safe, effective and medically necessary;

 • appropriate for the specific patient;

 • cost-effective; and

 • neither experimental nor investigational.

Our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates, whether as a single agent or combination therapy, will depend in part on the extent to
which coverage and adequate reimbursement for our products and related treatments will be available from third-party payors, including government
healthcare programs (e.g., Medicare, Medicaid), managed care providers, private health insurers, health maintenance organizations, and other
organizations. Moreover, a payor’s decision to provide coverage for a drug product does not imply that an adequate reimbursement rate will be approved. If
coverage and adequate reimbursement is not available, or is available only to limited levels, we may not be able to successfully commercialize our product
candidates. Even if coverage is provided, the approved reimbursement amount may not be high enough to allow us to establish or maintain pricing
sufficient to realize a sufficient return on our investment. Further, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, millions of individuals have lost/will be losing
employer-based insurance coverage, which may adversely affect our ability to commercialize our products.

No uniform policy for coverage and reimbursement for products exist among third-party payors in the United States. Therefore, coverage and
reimbursement for drug products can differ significantly from payor to payor. The process for determining whether a payor will provide coverage for a
product may be separate from the process for setting the reimbursement rate that the payor will pay for the product. One payor’s determination to provide
coverage for a product does not assure that other payors will also provide coverage and reimbursement for the product, and the level of coverage and
reimbursement can differ significantly from payor to payor. Third-party payors may also limit coverage to specific products on an approved list, or
formulary, which might not include all of the FDA-approved products for a particular indication.

A decision by a third-party payor not to cover or not to separately reimburse for our products or procedures using our products could reduce physician
utilization of our products once approved. Assuming there is coverage for our product candidates, or procedures using our product candidates by a third-
party payor, the resulting reimbursement payment rates may not be adequate or may require co-payments that patients find unacceptably high. We cannot
be sure that coverage and reimbursement in the United States, will be available for our current or future product candidates, or for any procedures using
such product candidates, and any reimbursement that may become available may not be adequate or may be decreased or eliminated in the future. Further,
if we or our collaborators develop companion diagnostic tests for use with our product candidates, we, or our collaborators, will be required to obtain
coverage and reimbursement for these tests separate and apart from the coverage and reimbursement we seek for our product candidates, once approved.

Further, increasing efforts by third-party payors in the United States and abroad to cap or reduce healthcare costs may cause such organizations to limit
both coverage and the level of reimbursement for newly approved products and, as a result, they may not cover or provide adequate payment for our
product candidates. In order to secure coverage and reimbursement for any product that might be approved for sale, we may need to conduct expensive
pharmacoeconomic studies in order to demonstrate the medical necessity and cost-effectiveness of our products, in addition to the costs required to obtain
FDA or comparable regulatory approvals. Additionally, we may also need to provide discounts to purchasers, private health plans or government healthcare
programs. Our product candidates may nonetheless not be considered medically necessary or cost-effective. If third-party payors do not consider a product
to be cost-effective compared to other available therapies, they may not cover the product after approval as a benefit under their plans or, if they do, the
level of payment may not be sufficient to allow a company to sell its products at a profit. A decision by a third-party payor not to cover a product could
reduce physician utilization once the product is approved and have a material adverse effect on sales, our operations and financial condition. We expect to
experience pricing pressures from third-party payors in connection with the potential sale of any of our product candidates.

Lastly, in some foreign countries, the proposed pricing for a drug must be approved before it may be lawfully marketed. The requirements governing drug
pricing vary widely from country to country. For example, in the European Union Member States can restrict the range of medicinal products for which
their national health insurance systems provide reimbursement and they can control the prices of medicinal products for human use. To obtain
reimbursement or pricing approval, some of these countries may require the completion of clinical trials that compare the cost effectiveness of a particular
product candidate to currently available therapies. A
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Member State may approve a specific price for the medicinal product or it may instead adopt a system of direct or indirect controls on the profitability of
the Company placing the medicinal product on the market. Approaches between Member States are diverging. For example, in France, effective market
access will be supported by agreements with hospitals and products may be reimbursed by the Social Security Fund. The price of medicines is negotiated
with the Economic Committee for Health Products, or CEPS. There can be no assurance that any country that has price controls or reimbursement
limitations for pharmaceutical products will allow favorable reimbursement and pricing arrangements for any of our product candidates. Historically,
products launched in the European Union do not follow price structures of the United States and generally prices tend to be significantly lower.

Therefore, coverage and reimbursement for products can differ significantly from payor to payor.

Enacted healthcare legislation, changes in healthcare law and implementation of regulations, as well as changes in healthcare policy, may increase the
difficulty and cost for us to commercialize our product candidates, may impact our business in ways that we cannot currently predict, could affect the
prices we may set, and could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.

In the United States and in some foreign jurisdictions, there have been and likely will continue to be a number of legislative and regulatory changes
regarding the healthcare system directed at broadening the availability of healthcare, improving the quality of healthcare, and containing or lowering the
cost of healthcare. For example, in March 2010, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education
Reconciliation Act of 2010, or, collectively, the ACA, was passed, which substantially changes the way healthcare is financed by both governmental and
private insurers, and significantly impacts the U.S. pharmaceutical industry. The ACA, among other things, subjects biological products to potential
competition by lower-cost biosimilars, expands the types of entities eligible for the 340B drug discount program, addresses a new methodology by which
rebates owed by manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program are calculated for drugs that are inhaled, infused, instilled, implanted or injected,
increases the minimum Medicaid rebates owed by manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program, extends the rebate program to individuals
enrolled in Medicaid managed care organizations, establishes annual fees and taxes on manufacturers of certain branded prescription drugs, and creates a
new Medicare Part D coverage gap discount program in which, as a condition of coverage of its products under Medicare Part D, manufacturers must now
agree to offer 50% (increased to 70% pursuant to the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018, or BBA, effective as of 2019) point-of-sale discounts off negotiated
prices of applicable brand drugs to eligible beneficiaries during their coverage gap period.

Since its enactment, there have been numerous judicial, administrative, executive, and legislative challenges to certain aspects of the ACA, and we expect
there will be additional challenges and amendments to the ACA in the future. Various portions of the ACA are currently undergoing legal and constitutional
challenges in the United States Supreme Court; the previous Trump Administration issued various Executive Orders which eliminated cost sharing
subsidies and various provisions that would impose a fiscal burden on states or a cost, fee, tax, penalty or regulatory burden on individuals, healthcare
providers, health insurers, or manufacturers of pharmaceuticals or medical devices; and Congress has introduced several pieces of legislation aimed at
significantly revising or repealing the ACA. Also, in December 2018, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CMS, issued a final rule
permitting further collections and payments to and from certain ACA qualified health plans and health insurance issuers under the ACA risk adjustment
program. It is unclear whether the ACA will be overturned, repealed, replaced, or further amended. We cannot predict what affect further changes to the
ACA would have on our business.

In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted in the United States since the ACA was enacted. For example, on August 2, 2011,
the Budget Control Act of 2011, among other things, created measures for spending reductions by Congress. A Joint Select Committee on Deficit
Reduction, tasked with recommending a targeted deficit reduction of at least $1.2 trillion for the years 2013 through 2021, was unable to reach required
goals, thereby triggering the legislation’s automatic reduction to several government programs. This includes aggregate reductions of Medicare payments to
providers of 2% per fiscal year. These reductions went into effect on April 1, 2013 and, due to subsequent legislative amendments to the statute, will
remain in effect through 2030 unless additional congressional action is taken. However, the Medicare sequester reductions under the BCA will be
suspended from May 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. On January 2, 2013, the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012
was signed into law, which, among other things, further reduced Medicare payments to several types of providers, including hospitals and cancer treatment
centers, and increased the statute of limitations period for the government to recover overpayments to providers from three to five years. Additionally, the
BBA, among other things, amended the ACA, effective January 1, 2019, to increase the point-of-sale discount (from 50% under the ACA to 70%) that is
owed by pharmaceutical manufacturers who participate in Medicare Part D and, closed the coverage gap in most Medicare drug plans, commonly referred
to as the “donut hole”.

Moreover, payment methodologies may be subject to changes in healthcare legislation and regulatory initiatives. For example, CMS may develop new
payment and delivery models, such as bundled payment models. Recently, there has been heightened governmental scrutiny over the manner in which
manufacturers set prices for their marketed products. Such scrutiny has resulted in several recent U.S. Congressional inquiries and proposed and enacted
federal and state legislation designed to, among other things, bring more transparency to drug pricing, review the relationship between pricing and
manufacturer patient programs, reduce the cost of drugs
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under Medicare and reform government program reimbursement methodologies for drug products. For example, at the federal level, the previous Trump
administration’s budget proposal for fiscal year 2021 includes a $135 billion allowance to support legislative proposals seeking to reduce drug prices,
increase competition, lower out-of-pocket drug costs for patients, and increase patient access to lower-cost generic and biosimilar drugs. On March 10,
2020, the previous Trump administration sent “principles” for drug pricing to Congress, calling for legislation that would, among other things, cap
Medicare Part D beneficiary out-of-pocket pharmacy expenses, provide an option to cap Medicare Part D beneficiary monthly out-of-pocket expenses, and
place limits on pharmaceutical price increases. Additionally, the previous Trump Administration previously released a “Blueprint” to lower drug prices and
reduce out of pocket costs of drugs that contains additional proposals to increase manufacturer competition, increase the negotiating power of certain
federal healthcare programs, incentivize manufacturers to lower the list price of their products and reduce the out-of-pocket costs of drug products paid by
consumers. HHS has started soliciting feedback on some of these measures and, at the same, is implementing others under its existing authority. For
example, in May 2019, CMS issued a final rule to allow Medicare Advantage Plans the option of using step therapy, a type of prior authorization, for Part
B drugs beginning January 1, 2020. This final rule codified CMS’s policy change that was effective January 1, 2019. Although a number of these and other
proposed measures may require additional authorization to become effective, Congress has indicated that they will continue to seek new legislative and/or
administrative measures to control drug costs.

On July 24, 2020 and September 13, 2020, then-President Trump announced several executive orders related to prescription drug pricing that seek to
implement several of the administration's proposals. In response, the FDA released a final rule on September 24, 2020, which went into effect on
November 30, 2020, providing guidance for states to build and submit importation plans for drugs from Canada. Further, on November 20, 2020, CMS
issued an Interim Final Rule implementing the Most Favored Nation (“MFN”) Model under which Medicare Part B reimbursement rates will be calculated
for certain drugs and biologicals based on the lowest price drug manufacturers receive in Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development
countries with a similar gross domestic product per capita. The MFN Model regulations mandate participation by identified Part B providers and will apply
in all U.S. states and territories for a seven-year period beginning January 1, 2021 and ending December 31, 2027. On December 28, 2020, a judge in the
U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California granted a preliminary injunction prohibiting CMS from implementing the MFN rule.

At the state level, legislatures are increasingly passing legislation and implementing regulations designed to control pharmaceutical product pricing,
including price or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts, restrictions on certain product access and marketing cost disclosure and transparency
measures, and, in some cases, designed to encourage importation from other countries and bulk purchasing. Legally mandated price controls on payment
amounts by third-party payors or other restrictions on coverage or access could harm our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.
In addition, regional healthcare authorities and individual hospitals are increasingly using bidding procedures to determine what pharmaceutical products
and which suppliers will be included in their prescription drug and other healthcare programs. This could reduce the ultimate demand for our product
candidates that we successfully commercialize or put pressure on our product pricing.

We expect that additional state and federal healthcare reform measures will be adopted in the future, any of which could limit the extent to which state and
federal governments cover particular healthcare products and services and could limit the amounts that the federal and state governments will pay for
healthcare products and services. This could result in reduced demand for any product candidate or complementary or companion diagnostics we develop
or could result in additional pricing pressures.

We cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative action in the United
States. If we or any third parties we may engage are slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new requirements or
policies, or if we or such third parties are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, our product candidates may lose any regulatory approval that may
have been obtained and we may not achieve or sustain profitability.

Our relationships with customers, third-party payors and others may be subject to applicable anti-kickback, fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws
and regulations, which could expose us to criminal sanctions, civil penalties, contractual damages, reputational harm, administrative burdens and
diminished profits and future earnings.

Healthcare providers, physicians and third-party payors in the United States and elsewhere will play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription
of any product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval. Our current and future arrangements with healthcare providers, third-party payors,
customers, and others may expose us to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations, which may constrain the business or
financial arrangements and relationships through which we research, as well as, sell, market and distribute any products for which we obtain marketing
approval.

The applicable federal and state healthcare laws and regulations that may affect our ability to operate include, but are not limited to:

 • The federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, persons and entities from knowingly and willfully soliciting,
receiving, offering or paying any remuneration (including any kickback, bribe, or rebate), directly or
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 indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind, to induce or reward either the referral of an individual for, or the purchase, lease, order or
recommendation of, any good, facility, item or service for which payment may be made, in whole or in part, under the Medicare and
Medicaid programs or other federal healthcare programs. A person or entity can be found guilty of violating the statute without actual
knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it. The term remuneration has been interpreted broadly to include anything of value. The
federal Anti-Kickback Statute has been interpreted to apply to arrangements between pharmaceutical manufacturers on the one hand and
prescribers, purchasers and formulary managers, among others, on the other. A person or entity need not have actual knowledge of the federal
Anti-Kickback Statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation. Violations are subject to significant civil and
criminal fines and penalties for each violation, plus up to three times the remuneration involved, imprisonment, and exclusion from
government healthcare programs. In addition, a violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for
purposes of the civil False Claims Act, or FCA;

 • The federal civil and criminal false claims laws and civil monetary penalty laws, including the FCA, which prohibits, among other things,
individuals or entities from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, claims for payment of government funds that are false or
fraudulent, or knowingly making, or using or causing to be made or used, a false record or statement material to a false, fictitious, or
fraudulent claim or obligation to pay or transmit money or property to the federal government, or to knowingly avoid, decrease, or conceal an
obligation to pay money to the federal government. Manufacturers can be held liable under the FCA even when they do not submit claims
directly to government payors if they are deemed to “cause” the submission of false or fraudulent claims. Private individuals, commonly
known as “whistleblowers”, can bring FCA qui tam actions, on behalf of the federal government and such individuals and may share in
amounts paid by the entity to the government in recovery or settlement;

 • The federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which prohibits knowingly and willfully executing a
scheme, or attempting to execute a scheme, to defraud any healthcare benefit program, including private third-party payors by means of false
or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, any of the money or property owned by, or under the custody or control of, any
healthcare benefit program, regardless of the payor, and further prohibits knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up by
any trick or device a material fact or making any materially false, fictitious or fraudulent statement or representation, or making or using any
false writing or document knowing the same to contain any materially false fictitious or fraudulent statement or entry in connection with the
delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items or services. Similar to the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, a person or entity can be found
guilty of violating the HIPAA fraud provisions without actual knowledge of the statutes or specific intent to violate them;

 • HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of 2009, or HITECH, and their respective
implementing regulations, imposes, among other things, certain requirements relating to the privacy, security and transmission of individually
identifiable health information on covered entities and their business associates, those independent contractors or agents of covered entities
that create, receive, maintain, transmit or obtain protected health information in connection with providing a service on behalf of a covered
entity. HITECH also created new tiers of civil monetary penalties, amended HIPAA to make civil and criminal penalties directly applicable to
business associates and gave state attorneys general new authority to file civil actions for damages or injunctions in federal courts to enforce
HIPAA and seek attorneys’ fees and costs associated with pursuing federal civil actions. In addition, there may be additional federal, state and
non-U.S. laws which govern the privacy and security of health and other personal information in certain circumstances, many of which differ
from each other in significant ways and may not have the same effect, thus complicating compliance efforts;

 • The federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act, being implemented as the Open Payments Program, which requires manufacturers of drugs,
devices, biologics and medical supplies for which payment is available under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance
Program (with certain exceptions) to report annually to CMS information related to direct or indirect payments and other transfers of value to
physicians (defined to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors) and teaching hospitals, as well as ownership and
investment interests held in a company by physicians and their immediate family members. Effective January 1, 2022, these reporting
obligations will extend to include transfers of value made to certain non-physician providers such as physician assistants and nurse
practitioners; and

 • Analogous U.S. state and local laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws, which may apply to sales or marketing
arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by any third-party payors, including private insurers; state and
local marketing and/or transparency laws applicable to manufacturers that may be broader in scope than the federal requirements; state laws
that require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant
compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government or otherwise restrict payments that may be made to healthcare providers and
other potential referral
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 sources; state laws that restrict the ability of manufacturers to offer co-pay support to patients for certain prescription drugs; state laws that
require drug manufacturers to report information related to clinical trials, or information related to payments and other transfers of value to
physicians and other healthcare providers or marketing expenditures; state laws that require drug manufacturers to report information on the
pricing of certain drugs; state laws and local ordinances that require identification or licensing of sales representatives; and state laws
governing the privacy and security of health information in certain circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways
and often are not preempted by HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts.

It is possible that governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices may not comply with current or future statutes, regulations or case law
involving applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. If our operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described
above or any other government regulations that apply to us, we may be subject to significant sanctions, including civil, criminal and administrative
penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, individual imprisonment, reputational harm, exclusion from participation in federal and state funded healthcare
programs, contractual damages and the curtailment or restricting of our operations, as well as additional reporting obligations and oversight if we become
subject to a corporate integrity agreement or other agreement to resolve allegations of non-compliance with these laws. Further, if the physicians or other
providers or entities with whom we expect to do business are found not to be in compliance with applicable laws, they may be subject to similar penalties.
In addition, the approval and commercialization of any product candidate we develop outside the United States will also likely subject us to foreign
equivalents of the healthcare laws mentioned above, among other foreign laws. All of these could harm our ability to operate our business and our financial
results.

Efforts to ensure that our business arrangements with third parties will comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations will involve substantial
costs. Any action against us for violation of these laws, even if we successfully defend against it, could cause us to incur significant legal expenses and
divert our management’s attention from the operation of our business. The shifting compliance environment and the need to build and maintain robust and
expandable systems to comply with multiple jurisdictions with different compliance or reporting requirements increases the possibility that a healthcare
company may run afoul of one or more of the requirements.

We are subject to certain U.S. and foreign anti-corruption, anti-money laundering, export control, sanctions and other trade laws and regulations. We
can face serious consequences for violations.

Among other matters, U.S. and foreign anti-corruption, anti-money laundering, export control, sanctions and other trade laws and regulations, or,
collectively, Trade Laws, prohibit companies and their employees, agents, clinical research organizations, legal counsel, accountants, consultants,
contractors and other partners from authorizing, promising, offering, providing, soliciting, or receiving directly or indirectly, corrupt or improper payments
or anything else of value to or from recipients in the public or private sector. Violations of Trade Laws can result in substantial criminal fines and civil
penalties, imprisonment, the loss of trade privileges, debarment, tax reassessments, breach of contract and fraud litigation, reputational harm and other
consequences.

Our business is heavily regulated and therefore involves significant interaction with public officials. We have direct or indirect interactions with officials
and employees of government agencies or government-affiliated hospitals, universities and other organizations. We also expect our non-U.S. activities to
increase in time. Additionally, in many other countries, the healthcare providers who prescribe pharmaceuticals are employed by their government, and the
purchasers of pharmaceuticals are government entities; therefore, our dealings with these prescribers and purchasers are subject to regulation under the U.S.
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, or FCPA. We plan to engage third parties for clinical trials and/or to obtain necessary permits, licenses,
patent registrations, and other regulatory approvals and we can be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of our personnel, agents, or partners,
even if we do not explicitly authorize or have prior knowledge of such activities. In particular, our operations will be subject to FCPA, which prohibits,
among other things, U.S. companies and their employees and agents from authorizing, promising, offering, or providing, directly or indirectly, corrupt or
improper payments or anything else of value to foreign government officials, employees of public international organizations and foreign government-
owned or affiliated entities, candidates for foreign political office, and foreign political parties or officials thereof. Recently, the SEC and Department of
Justice have increased their FCPA enforcement activities with respect to biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies. There is no certainty that all of our
employees, agents, suppliers, manufacturers, contractors, or collaborators, or those of our affiliates, will comply with all applicable laws and regulations,
particularly given the high level of complexity of these laws. Violations of these laws and regulations could result in fines, criminal sanctions against us,
our officers, or our employees, the closing down of facilities, including those of our suppliers and manufacturers, requirements to obtain export licenses,
cessation of business activities in sanctioned countries, implementation of compliance programs and prohibitions on the conduct of our business. Any such
violations could also result in prohibitions on our ability to offer our products in one or more countries as well as difficulties in manufacturing or continuing
to develop our products, and could materially damage our reputation, our brand, our international expansion efforts, our ability to attract and retain
employees and our business, prospects, operating results and financial condition.
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If we fail to comply with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, we could become subject to fines or penalties or incur costs that could
have a material adverse effect on the success of our business.

We are subject to numerous environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, including those governing laboratory procedures and the handling, use,
storage, treatment and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes. Our operations involve the use of hazardous and flammable materials, including
chemicals and biological materials. Our operations also produce hazardous waste products. We generally contract with third parties for the disposal of these
materials and wastes. We cannot eliminate the risk of contamination or injury from these materials. In the event of contamination or injury resulting from
our use of hazardous materials, we could be held liable for any resulting damages, and any liability could exceed our resources. We also could incur
significant costs associated with civil or criminal fines and penalties.

Although we maintain workers’ compensation insurance to cover us for costs and expenses we may incur due to injuries to our employees resulting from
the use of hazardous materials, this insurance may not provide adequate coverage against potential liabilities. We do not maintain insurance for
environmental liability or toxic tort claims that may be asserted against us in connection with our storage or disposal of biological or hazardous materials.

Risks Related to Manufacturing of Our Product Candidates

The loss of our third-party manufacturing partners or our, or our partners’, failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements or to supply
sufficient quantities at acceptable quality levels or prices, or at all, would materially and adversely affect our business.

We have contracted with qualified third-party contract manufacturing organizations, or CMOs, to manufacture our product candidates for preclinical and
clinical trials. If approved, commercial supply of CTX-471, CTX-8371 and any future product candidates may also be manufactured at one or more CMOs.

The facilities used by our CMOs to manufacture our product candidates are subject to various regulatory requirements and may be subject to the inspection
of the FDA or other regulatory authorities. We do not control the manufacturing process at our CMOs, and are completely dependent on them for
compliance with current regulatory requirements. If we or our CMOs cannot successfully manufacture material that conforms to our specifications and the
strict regulatory requirements of the FDA or comparable regulatory authorities in foreign jurisdictions, we may not be able to rely on their manufacturing
facilities for the manufacture of elements of our product candidates. In addition, we have limited control over the ability of our CMOs to maintain adequate
quality control, quality assurance and qualified personnel. If the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority finds our facilities or those of our CMOs
inadequate for the manufacture of our product candidates or if such facilities are subject to enforcement action in the future or are otherwise inadequate, we
may need to find alternative manufacturing facilities, which would significantly impact our ability to develop, obtain regulatory approval for or market our
product candidates.

Additionally, our CMOs may experience manufacturing difficulties due to resource constraints or as a result of labor disputes or unstable political
environments or on account of global pandemics or similar events, including the COVID-19 pandemic. If our CMOs were to encounter any of these
difficulties, our ability to provide our product candidate to patients in clinical trials, or to provide product for the treatment of patients once approved,
would be jeopardized.

Changes in methods of product candidate manufacturing or formulation may result in additional costs or delay.

As product candidates proceed through preclinical studies to late-stage clinical trials towards potential approval and commercialization, it is common that
various aspects of the development program, such as manufacturing methods and formulation, are altered along the way in an effort to optimize processes
and results. In addition, we will likely need to change our CMO for CTX-471 manufacturing to one that can support commercial-scale manufacturing. Such
changes carry the risk that they will not achieve these intended objectives. Any of these changes could cause our product candidates to perform differently
and affect the results of planned clinical trials or other future clinical trials conducted with the materials manufactured using altered processes. Such
changes may also require additional testing, FDA notification or FDA approval. This could delay completion of clinical trials, require the conduct of
bridging clinical trials or the repetition of one or more clinical trials, increase clinical trial costs, delay approval of our product candidates and jeopardize
our ability to commence sales and generate revenue.
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We are subject to multiple manufacturing risks, any of which could substantially increase our costs and limit supply of our product candidates.

The process of manufacturing antibody therapeutics and bispecifics, including our product candidates, is complex, time-consuming, highly regulated and
subject to several risks, including:

 • product loss during the manufacturing process, including loss caused by contamination, equipment failure or improper installation or
operation of equipment, or operator error. Even minor deviations from normal manufacturing processes could result in reduced production
yields, product defects and other supply disruptions. If microbial, viral or other contaminations are discovered in our products or in the
manufacturing facilities in which our products are made, such manufacturing facilities may need to be closed for an extended period of time
to investigate and remedy the contamination;

 • we will likely need to change our CMO for CTX-471 manufacturing to one that can support large-scale manufacturing for later stage clinical
trials as well as commercial supply needs;

 • the manufacturing facilities in which our products are made could be adversely affected by equipment failures, labor and raw material
shortages, natural disasters, power failures and numerous other factors; and

 • any adverse developments affecting manufacturing operations for our products may result in shipment delays, inventory shortages, lot
failures, product withdrawals or recalls, or other interruptions in the supply of our products. We may also have to take inventory write-offs
and incur other charges and expenses for products that fail to meet specifications, undertake costly remediation efforts or seek more costly
manufacturing alternatives.

We may also make changes to our manufacturing processes at various points during development, for a number of reasons, such as controlling costs,
achieving scale, decreasing processing time, increasing manufacturing success rate or other reasons. Such changes carry the risk that they will not achieve
their intended objectives, and any of these changes could cause our product candidates to perform differently and affect the results of our ongoing or future
clinical trials. In some circumstances, changes in the manufacturing process may require us to perform ex vivo comparability studies and to collect
additional data from patients prior to undertaking more advanced clinical trials. For instance, changes in our process during the course of clinical
development may require us to show the comparability of the product used in earlier clinical phases or at earlier portions of a trial to the product used in
later clinical phases or later portions of the trial.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property

If we are unable to obtain and maintain patent protection for our product candidates, or if the scope of the patent protection obtained is not sufficiently
broad or robust, our competitors could develop and commercialize products similar or identical to ours, and our ability to successfully commercialize
our product candidates may be adversely affected.

Our success depends, in large part, on our and in a few cases, our licensors’ ability to obtain and maintain patent protection in the United States and other
countries with respect to our product candidates and platform. We and our licensors have sought, and intend to seek, to protect our proprietary position by
filing patent applications in the United States and abroad related to our product candidates and technology that are important to our business. No patent has
yet issued from our patent applications.

The patent position of biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies generally is highly uncertain, involves complex legal and factual questions and has, in
recent years, been the subject of much litigation.

As a result, the issuance, scope, validity, enforceability and commercial value of our patent rights are highly uncertain. Our pending and future patent
applications may not result in patents being issued that protect our technology or product candidates or that effectively prevent others from
commercializing competitive technologies and product candidates. In particular, during prosecution of any patent application, the issuance of any patents
based on the application may depend upon our ability to generate additional preclinical or clinical data that support the patentability of our proposed claims.
We may not be able to generate sufficient additional data on a timely basis, or at all. Given the amount of time required for the development, testing and
regulatory review of new product candidates, patents protecting such candidates might expire before or shortly after such candidates are commercialized.
As a result, our intellectual property may not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others from commercializing products similar or identical to ours.

We may not be aware of all third-party intellectual property rights potentially relating to our product candidates. Publications of discoveries in the scientific
literature often lag behind the actual discoveries, and patent applications in the United States and other
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jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months after filing or, in some cases, only upon issuance or not at all. Therefore, we cannot be certain that
we, or a licensor, were the first to make the inventions claimed in any owned or any licensed patents or pending patent applications, respectively, or which
entity was the first to file for patent protection until such patent application publishes or issues as a patent. Databases for patents and publications, and
methods for searching them, are inherently limited, so it is not practical to review and know the full scope of all issued and pending patent applications. As
a result, the issuance, scope, validity, enforceability, and commercial value of our and our licensed patent rights are uncertain. Furthermore, if third parties
have filed such patent applications, we may challenge their ownership, for example in a derivation proceeding before the U.S. Patent and Trademark
Office, or USPTO, to determine who has the right to the claimed subject matter in the applications. Similarly, if our patent applications are challenged in a
derivation proceeding, the USPTO may hold that a third-party is entitled to certain patent ownership rights instead of us. We may then be forced to seek a
license from the third party that may not be available on commercially favorable terms, or at all.

The patent prosecution process is expensive, time consuming and complex, and we may not have and may not in the future be able to file, prosecute,
maintain, enforce, defend or license all necessary or desirable patent applications in some or all relevant jurisdictions at a reasonable cost or in a timely
manner. For example, in some cases, the work of certain academic researchers in the field has entered the public domain, which may compromise our
ability to obtain patent protection for certain inventions related to or building upon such prior work. Consequently, we may not be able to obtain any such
patents to prevent others from using our technology for, and developing and marketing competing products to treat, these indications. It is also possible that
we will fail to identify patentable aspects of our research and development output before it is too late to obtain patent protection. In some cases, we may be
able to obtain patent protection, but such protections may expire before we commercialize the product protected by those rights, leaving us no meaningful
protection for our products. In other cases, where our intellectual property is being managed by a third-party collaborator, licensee or partner, that third
party may fail to act diligently in prosecuting, maintaining, defending or enforcing our patents. Such conduct may result in the failure to maintain or obtain
protections, loss of rights, loss of patent term or, in cases where a third party has acted negligently or inequitably, patents being found unenforceable.

Even if the patent applications we license or own do issue as patents, they may not issue in a form that will provide us with any meaningful protection,
prevent competitors or other third parties from competing with us or otherwise provide us with any competitive advantage. Our competitors or other third
parties may be able to circumvent our patents by developing similar or alternative technologies or products in a non-infringing manner.

In spite of a legal presumption of validity, the issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its inventorship, ownership, scope, validity, or enforceability
which may be challenged in the courts and patent offices in the United States and abroad. Such challenges may result in loss of exclusivity or in patent
claims being narrowed, invalidated or held unenforceable, which could limit our ability to stop others from using or commercializing similar or identical
technology and products, or limit the duration of the patent protection of our technology and product candidates.

Our intellectual property agreements with third parties may be subject to disagreements over contract interpretation, which could narrow the scope of
our rights to the relevant intellectual property or technology, resulting in termination of our access to such intellectual property or increase our
financial or other obligations to our licensors.

The agreements under which we currently license intellectual property or technology from third parties are complex, and certain provisions in our
intellectual property agreements may be susceptible to multiple interpretations. The resolution of any contract interpretation disagreement that may arise
could affect the scope of our rights to the relevant intellectual property or technology, or affect financial or other obligations under the relevant agreement,
either of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Moreover, if disputes over
intellectual property that we have licensed prevent or impair our ability to maintain our current licensing arrangements on commercially acceptable terms,
we may be unable to successfully develop and commercialize the affected product candidates.

Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document submission, fee payment and other
requirements imposed by government patent agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these
requirements.

Periodic maintenance fees, renewal fees, annuity fees and various other government fees on patents and/or applications will be due to be paid to the
USPTO and various government patent agencies outside of the United States over the lifetime of our licensed patents and/or applications and any patent
rights we own or may own in the future. We rely, in part, on our outside counsel or our licensing partners to pay these fees due to the USPTO and to non-
U.S. patent agencies. The USPTO and various non-U.S. government patent agencies require compliance with several procedural, documentary, fee payment
and other similar provisions during the patent application process. We employ reputable law firms and other professionals to help us comply and we are
also dependent on our licensors to take the necessary action to comply with these requirements with respect to our licensed intellectual property. In many
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cases, an inadvertent lapse can be cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in accordance with the applicable rules. There are situations, however,
in which non-compliance can result in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the
relevant jurisdiction and may compromise the strength of other intellectual property in our portfolio. In such an event, potential competitors might be able
to enter the market and this circumstance could have a material adverse effect on our business.

On February 1, 2019, the government of Venezuela, in response to certain U.S. sanctions, began to require that foreign entities pay all official fees,
including patent fees (either for pending matters or new petitions), in PETRO, a “cryptocurrency” created by the Nicolás Maduro administration in
February 2018 as a way to collect U.S. dollars while avoiding American financial sanctions issued under an Executive Order of then-President Trump on
March 19, 2018. The Executive Order banned transactions involving “any digital currency, digital coin, or digital token, that was issued by, for, or on
behalf of the Government of Venezuela on or after January 9, 2018.” The prohibition is applicable to any U.S. entity unless exempted by license. We do not
hold such a license and therefore may not be able to secure patents in Venezuela. A presidential decree dated January 14, 2020 formally established the
PETRO as a mandatory means of payment. In response, the Venezuelan Patent Office established an alternative payment method allowing the receipt of
deposits with the value of corresponding Official fees in U.S. Dollars and Euros in cash at a non-sanctioned governmental bank. While this has been an
adequate course of action to proceed in compliance, there is no guarantee it will remain so.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world.

Filing, prosecuting and enforcing patents on product candidates in all countries throughout the world would be prohibitively expensive, and our intellectual
property rights in some countries outside the United States are and could remain less extensive than those in the United States. In addition, the laws of
some foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as federal and state laws in the United States. Consequently, we may be
less likely to be able to prevent third parties from infringing our patents in all countries outside the United States, or from selling or importing products that
infringe our patents in and into the United States or other jurisdictions. Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not obtained
patent protection to develop their own products and, further, may export otherwise infringing products to territories where we have patent protection, but
enforcement is not as strong as that in the United States. These products may compete with our products and our patents or other intellectual property rights
may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from competing.

Many companies have encountered significant problems protecting and defending intellectual property rights in foreign jurisdictions. The legal systems of
certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents, trade secrets and other intellectual property protection,
particularly those relating to biotechnology products or methods of treatment, which could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents or
marketing of competing products in violation of our proprietary rights generally. For example, with “Brexit”, there is uncertainty associated with obtaining,
defending, and enforcing intellectual property rights in the United Kingdom. International treaties and regulations promulgated as a result of this transition
could impede or eliminate our ability to obtain or maintain meaningful intellectual property rights in the United Kingdom. Proceedings to enforce our
patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial costs and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business, could put our
patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and our patent applications at risk of not issuing and could provoke third parties to assert claims
against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits that we initiate, and the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially meaningful.
Accordingly, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights around the world may be inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from
the intellectual property that we develop or license.

Many countries have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner may be compelled to grant licenses to third parties. In addition, many
countries limit the enforceability of patents against government agencies or government contractors. In these countries, the patent owner may have limited
remedies, which could materially diminish the value of such patent. If we or any of our licensors is forced to grant a license to third parties with respect to
any patents relevant to our business, our competitive position may be impaired and our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects
may be adversely affected.

Patent terms may be inadequate to protect our competitive position on our product candidates for an adequate amount of time.

Patents have a limited lifespan. In most countries, if all maintenance fees are timely paid, the natural expiration of a patent is generally 20 years from its
earliest national filing date. Various extensions may be available, but the life of a patent, and the protection it affords, is limited. Even if patents covering
our product candidates are obtained, once the patent life has expired, we may be open to competition from competitive products. Given the amount of time
required for the development, testing and regulatory review of new product candidates, it is possible that patents protecting our product candidates might
expire before or shortly after we commercialize those candidates. Further, if we encounter delays in our clinical trials, the period of time during which we
could market our product candidates under patent protection would be reduced. As a result, our owned and licensed patent portfolio may not provide us
with sufficient rights to exclude others from commercializing products similar or identical to ours.
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If we do not obtain patent term extension and data exclusivity for our product candidates, our business may be harmed.

Depending upon the timing, duration and specifics of any FDA marketing approval of our product candidates, one or more of our U.S. patents may be
eligible for limited patent term extension under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, or the Hatch Waxman Act. The
Hatch Waxman Act permits a patent extension term of up to five years as compensation for patent term lost during the FDA regulatory review process. A
patent term extension cannot extend the remaining term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years from the date of product approval, only one patent may be
extended per FDA-approved product, and only those claims covering the approved drug, a method for using it or a method for manufacturing it may be
extended. Further, certain of our licenses currently or in the future may not provide us with the right to control decisions the licensor or its other licensees
on Orange Book listings or patent term extension decisions under the Hatch-Waxman Act. Thus, if one of our important licensed patents is eligible for a
patent term extension under the Hatch-Waxman Act, and it covers a product of another licensee in addition to our own product candidate, we may not be
able to obtain that extension if the other licensee seeks and obtains that extension first. However, we may not be granted an extension because of, for
example, failing to exercise due diligence during the testing phase or regulatory review process, failing to apply within applicable deadlines, failing to
apply prior to expiration of relevant patents or otherwise failing to satisfy applicable requirements.

The Biologics Price Competition and Innovation Act of 2009 provides up to 12 years of market exclusivity for a reference biological product. We may not
be able to obtain such exclusivity for our products. Moreover, the applicable time-period or the scope of patent protection afforded during any such
extension could be less than we request. If we are unable to obtain patent term extension or the scope of term of any such extension is less than we request,
the period during which we will have the right to exclusively market our product may be shortened and our competitors may obtain approval of competing
products following our patent expiration, and our revenue could be materially reduced.

Changes in U.S. patent law could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect our product candidates.

Changes in either the patent laws or interpretation of the patent laws in the United States could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the
prosecution of patent applications and the enforcement or defense of issued patents. Assuming that other requirements for patentability are met, prior to
March 2013, in the United States, the first to invent the claimed invention was entitled to the patent, while outside the United States, the first to file a patent
application was entitled to the patent. After March 2013, under the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, enacted in September 2011, or the America Invents
Act, the United States transitioned to a first inventor to file system in which, assuming that other requirements for patentability are met, the first inventor to
file a patent application will be entitled to the patent on an invention regardless of whether a third party was the first to invent the claimed invention.

The America Invents Act also includes several significant changes that affect the way patent applications are prosecuted and also may affect patent
litigation. These include allowing third-party submission of prior art to the USPTO during patent prosecution and additional procedures to attack the
validity or ownership of a patent by USPTO administered post-grant proceedings, including post-grant review, inter partes review and derivation
proceedings. The America Invents Act and its implementation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent
applications and the enforcement or defense of our issued patents, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects.

We may be subject to such third-party pre-issuance submission of prior art to the USPTO or become involved in other contested proceedings such as
opposition, derivation, reexamination, inter partes review, or post-grant review proceedings challenging our patent rights or the patent rights of others. An
adverse determination in any such submission, proceeding or litigation could reduce the scope of, or invalidate, our patent rights, allow third parties to
commercialize our technology or products and compete directly with us, without payment to us, or result in our inability to manufacture or commercialize
products without infringing third-party patent rights. In addition, if the breadth or strength of protection provided by our patents and patent applications is
threatened, it could dissuade companies from collaborating with us to license, develop or commercialize current or future products.

In addition, the patent positions of companies in the development and commercialization of biological products and pharmaceuticals are particularly
uncertain. Recent rulings from the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit and the U.S. Supreme Court have narrowed the scope of patent protection
available in certain circumstances and weakened the rights of patent owners in certain situations. This combination of events has created uncertainty with
respect to the validity and enforceability of patents. Depending on future actions by the U.S. Congress, the federal courts and the USPTO, the laws and
regulations governing patents could change in unpredictable ways that could have a material adverse effect on our existing patent portfolio and our ability
to protect and enforce our intellectual property in the future.
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Intellectual property litigation could cause us to spend substantial resources and distract our personnel from their normal responsibilities.

Competitors may infringe our patents or the patents of our licensors, or we may be required to defend against claims of infringement. Countering
infringement or unauthorized use claims or defending against claims of infringement can be expensive and time-consuming. Even if resolved in our favor,
litigation or other legal proceedings relating to intellectual property claims may cause us to incur significant expenses and could distract our technical and
management personnel from their normal responsibilities. In addition, there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other
interim proceedings or developments, and if securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a substantial adverse effect
on the price of our common stock. Such litigation or proceedings could substantially increase our operating losses and reduce the resources available for
development activities or any future marketing, sales or distribution activities. We may not have sufficient financial or other resources to adequately
conduct such litigation or proceedings. Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of such litigation or proceedings more effectively than we
can because of their greater financial resources and more mature and developed intellectual property portfolios. Uncertainties resulting from the initiation
and continuation of patent litigation or other proceedings could have a material adverse effect on our ability to compete in the marketplace.

In addition, many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in foreign jurisdictions. The
legal systems of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents, trade secrets and other intellectual
property, particularly those relating to biotechnology products, which could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents or marketing of
competing products in violation of our proprietary rights generally. Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in
substantial costs and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business, could put our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted
narrowly and our patent applications at risk of not issuing and could provoke third parties to assert claims against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits
that we initiate and the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially meaningful. Accordingly, our efforts to enforce our
intellectual property rights around the world may be inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the intellectual property that we own,
develop or license.

Issued patents covering our product candidates could be found invalid or unenforceable if challenged in court. We may not be able to protect our trade
secrets in court.

If we or one of our licensing partners initiate legal proceedings against a third party to enforce any patent that is issued covering one of our product
candidates, the defendant could counterclaim that the patent covering our product candidate is invalid or unenforceable. In patent litigation in the United
States, defendant counterclaims alleging invalidity or unenforceability are commonplace. Grounds for a validity challenge could be an alleged failure to
meet any of several statutory requirements, including lack of novelty, obviousness, written description or non-enablement. In addition, patent validity
challenges may, under certain circumstances, be based upon non-statutory obviousness-type double patenting, which, if successful, could result in a finding
that the claims are invalid for obviousness-type double patenting or the loss of patent term, including a patent term adjustment granted by the USPTO, if a
terminal disclaimer is filed to obviate a finding of obviousness-type double patenting. Grounds for an unenforceability assertion could be an allegation that
someone connected with prosecution of the patent withheld information material to patentability from the USPTO, or made a misleading statement, during
prosecution. Third parties also may raise similar claims before administrative bodies in the United States or abroad, even outside the context of litigation.
Such mechanisms include re-examination, post grant review, inter partes review and equivalent proceedings in foreign jurisdictions. Such proceedings
could result in the revocation or cancellation of or amendment to our patents in such a way that they no longer cover our product candidates. The outcome
following legal assertions of invalidity and unenforceability is unpredictable. We cannot be certain that there is no invalidating prior art of which the patent
examiner and we or our licensing partners were unaware during prosecution. If a defendant were to prevail on a legal assertion of invalidity or
unenforceability, we could lose part, and perhaps all, of the patent protection on one or more of our product candidates. Such a loss of patent protection
could have a material adverse impact on our business.

In addition to the protection afforded by patents, we rely on trade secret protection and confidentiality agreements to protect proprietary know-how that is
not patentable or that we elect not to patent, processes for which patents are difficult to enforce and any other elements of our product candidate discovery
and development processes that involve proprietary know-how, information or technology that is not covered by patents. However, trade secrets can be
difficult to protect, and some courts inside and outside the United States are less willing or unwilling to protect trade secrets.

Patent terms may be inadequate to protect our competitive position on our product candidates for an adequate amount of time.

Patents have a limited lifespan. In most countries, if all maintenance fees are timely paid, the natural expiration of a patent is generally 20 years from its
earliest national filing date. Various extensions may be available, but the life of a patent, and the protection it affords, is limited. Even if patents covering
our product candidates are obtained, once the patent life has expired, we may be open to
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competition from competitive products. Given the amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of new product candidates, it
is possible that patents protecting our product candidates might expire before or shortly after we commercialize those candidates. Further, if we encounter
delays in our clinical trials, the period of time during which we could market our product candidates under patent protection would be reduced. As a result,
our owned and licensed patent portfolio may not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others from commercializing products similar or identical to
ours.

If we do not obtain patent term extension for any product candidates we may develop, our business may be materially harmed.

Depending upon the timing, duration and specifics of any FDA marketing approval of any product candidates we may develop, one or more U.S. patents
that we license or may own in the future may be eligible for limited patent term extension under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration
Action of 1984, or the Hatch-Waxman Amendments. The Hatch-Waxman Amendments permit a patent extension term of up to five years as compensation
for patent term lost during the FDA regulatory review process. A patent term extension cannot extend the remaining term of a patent beyond a total of 14
years from the date of product approval, only one patent per product may be extended and only those claims covering the approved drug, a method for
using it, or a method for manufacturing it may be extended. However, even if we were to seek a patent term extension, it may not be granted because of, for
example, the failure to exercise due diligence during the testing phase or regulatory review process, the failure to apply within applicable deadlines, the
failure to apply prior to expiration of relevant patents, or the failure to otherwise satisfy applicable requirements. Moreover, the applicable time period or
the scope of patent protection afforded under an extension request could be less than we request. In addition, to the extent we wish to pursue patent term
extension based on a patent that we in-license from a third party, we would need the cooperation of that third party. If we are unable to obtain patent term
extension or if the term of any requested extension is less than we request, our competitors may obtain approval of competing products following our patent
expiration, be able to enter the market sooner, and our revenue could be reduced, and our business, financial condition, prospects and results of operations
could be materially harmed.

Third parties may initiate legal proceedings alleging that we are infringing their intellectual property rights, the outcome of which would be uncertain
and could have a material adverse effect on the success of our business and financial condition.

Our commercial success depends upon our ability and the ability of any collaborators to develop, manufacture, market and sell our product candidates and
use our proprietary technologies without infringing the proprietary rights and intellectual property of third parties. We cannot provide any assurances that
third-party patents do not exist which might be enforced against our current manufacturing methods, product candidates or future methods or products,
resulting in either an injunction prohibiting our manufacture or sales, or, with respect to our sales, an obligation on our part to pay royalties and/or other
forms of compensation to third parties.

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are characterized by extensive and complex litigation regarding patents and other intellectual property
rights. We may in the future become party to, or be threatened with, adversarial proceedings or litigation regarding intellectual property rights with respect
to our product candidates and technology, including post grant review and inter partes review before the USPTO. The risks of being involved in such
litigation and proceedings may also increase as our product candidates approach commercialization and as we gain greater visibility as a public company.
Third parties may assert infringement claims against us based on existing patents or patents that may be granted in the future, regardless of their merit.
There is a risk that third parties may choose to engage in litigation with us to enforce or to otherwise assert their patent rights against us. Even if we believe
such claims are without merit, a court of competent jurisdiction could hold that these third-party patents are valid, enforceable and infringed, which could
materially and adversely affect our ability to commercialize any of our product candidates or technologies covered by the asserted third-party patents.

If we are found to infringe a third party’s valid and enforceable intellectual property rights, we could be required to obtain a license from such third party to
continue developing, manufacturing and marketing our product candidates and technology. However, we may not be able to obtain any required license on
commercially reasonable terms or at all. Even if we were able to obtain a license, it could be non-exclusive, thereby giving our competitors and other third
parties access to the same technologies licensed to us, and it could require us to make substantial licensing and royalty payments. We could be forced,
including by court order, to cease developing, manufacturing and commercializing the infringing technology or product candidates. In addition, we could
be found liable for monetary damages, including treble damages and attorneys’ fees, if we are found to have willfully infringed a patent or other intellectual
property right. A finding of infringement could prevent us from manufacturing and commercializing our product candidates or force us to cease some of
our business operations, which could materially harm our business. Claims that we have misappropriated the confidential information or trade secrets of
third parties could have a similar negative impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
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Others may claim an ownership interest in our intellectual property and our product candidates, which could expose us to litigation and have a
significant adverse effect on our prospects.

While we are presently unaware of any claims or assertions by third parties with respect to our patents or other intellectual property, we cannot guarantee
that a third party will not assert a claim or an interest in any of such patents or intellectual property. For example, a third party may claim an ownership
interest in one or more of our, or our licensors’, patents or other proprietary or intellectual property rights. A third party could bring legal actions against us
to seek monetary damages or enjoin clinical testing, manufacturing or marketing of the affected product candidate or product. If we become involved in
any litigation, it could consume a substantial portion of our resources and cause a significant diversion of effort by our technical and management
personnel. If any such action is successful, in addition to any potential liability for damages, we could be required to obtain a license to continue to
manufacture or market the affected product candidate or product, in which case we could be required to pay substantial royalties or grant cross-licenses to
patents. We cannot, however, assure you that any such license would be available on acceptable terms, if at all. Ultimately, we could be prevented from
commercializing a product, or forced to cease some aspect of our business operations as a result of claims of patent infringement or violation of other
intellectual property rights. Further, the outcome of intellectual property litigation is subject to uncertainties that cannot be adequately quantified in
advance, including the demeanor and credibility of witnesses and the identity of any adverse party. This is especially true in intellectual property cases,
which may turn on the testimony of experts as to technical facts upon which experts may reasonably disagree. Any of the foregoing could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects.

If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our proprietary information, the value of our technology and products could be adversely affected.

Trade secrets and know-how can be difficult to protect. To maintain the confidentiality of trade secrets and proprietary information, we enter into
confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants, collaborators and others upon the commencement of their relationships with us. These
agreements require that all confidential information developed by the individual or made known to the individual by us during the course of the individual’s
relationship with us be kept confidential and not disclosed to third parties. Our agreements with employees and our personnel policies also provide that any
inventions conceived by the individual in the course of rendering services to us shall be our exclusive property. However, we cannot guarantee that we have
entered into such agreements with each party that may have or have had access to our trade secrets or proprietary technology and processes, and individuals
with whom we have these agreements may not comply with their terms. Thus, despite such agreement, there can be no assurance that such inventions will
not be assigned to third parties. In the event of unauthorized use or disclosure of our trade secrets or proprietary information, these agreements, even if
obtained, may not provide meaningful protection, particularly for our trade secrets or other confidential information. To the extent that our employees,
consultants or contractors use technology or know-how owned by third parties in their work for us, disputes may arise between us and those third parties as
to the rights in related inventions. To the extent that an individual who is not obligated to assign rights in intellectual property to us is rightfully an inventor
of intellectual property, we may need to obtain an assignment or a license to that intellectual property from that individual, or a third party or from that
individual’s assignee. Such assignment or license may not be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all. We also seek to preserve the integrity
and confidentiality of our trade secrets by other means, including maintaining physical security of our premises and physical and electronic security of our
information technology systems. However, these security measures may be breached, and we may be forced to bring claims against third parties, or defend
claims that they may bring against us, to determine the ownership of what we regard as our intellectual property.

Adequate remedies may not exist in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure of our proprietary information. The disclosure of our trade secrets would
impair our competitive position and may materially harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. Costly and time-consuming litigation
could be necessary to enforce and determine the scope of our proprietary rights, and failure to maintain trade secret protection could adversely affect our
competitive business position. In addition, others may independently discover or develop our trade secrets and proprietary information, and the existence of
our own trade secrets affords no protection against such independent discovery. For example, a public presentation in the scientific or popular press on the
properties of our product candidates could motivate a third party, despite any perceived difficulty, to assemble a team of scientists having backgrounds
similar to those of our employees to attempt to independently reverse engineer or otherwise duplicate our antibody technologies to replicate our success.

We may be subject to claims asserting that our employees, consultants or advisors have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of their
current or former employers or claims asserting ownership of what we regard as our own intellectual property.

Many of our directors, employees, consultants, and advisors are currently, or were previously, employed at universities or other biotechnology or
pharmaceutical companies, including our competitors or potential competitors. Although we try to ensure that our employees, consultants and advisors do
not use the proprietary information or know-how of others in their work for us, we may be subject to claims that these individuals, or we, have used or
disclosed intellectual property, including trade secrets or other proprietary
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information, of any such individual’s current or former employer, or that patents and applications we have filed to protect inventions of these employees,
even those related to one or more of our product candidates, are rightfully owned by their former or current employer. Litigation may be necessary to
defend against these claims. If we fail in defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property
rights or personnel. Even if we are successful in defending against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to
management.

In addition, while it is our policy to require our employees, consultants, advisors and contractors who may be involved in the conception or development of
intellectual property to execute agreements assigning such intellectual property to us, we may be unsuccessful in executing such an agreement with each
party who, in fact, conceives or develops intellectual property that we regard as our own. The assignment of intellectual property rights may not be self-
executing or the assignment agreements may be breached, and we may be forced to bring claims against third parties, or defend claims that they may bring
against us, to determine the ownership of what we regard as our intellectual property. If we fail in prosecuting or defending any such claims, in addition to
paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel. Even if we are successful in prosecuting or defending against
such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management.

If our trademarks and trade names are not adequately protected, then we may not be able to build name recognition in our markets of interest and our
business may be adversely affected.

Any registered trademarks or trade names may be challenged, circumvented or declared generic or determined to be infringing on other marks. We may not
be able to protect our rights to these trademarks and trade names, which we need to build name recognition among potential partners or customers in our
markets of interest. At times, competitors may adopt trade names or trademarks similar to ours, thereby impeding our ability to build brand identity and
possibly leading to market confusion. In addition, there could be potential trade name or trademark infringement claims brought by owners of other
registered trademarks or trademarks that incorporate variations of our registered or unregistered trademarks or trade names. Over the long term, if we are
unable to establish name recognition based on our trademarks and trade names, then we may not be able to compete effectively and our business may be
adversely affected. Our efforts to enforce or protect our proprietary rights related to trademarks, trade secrets, domain names, copyrights or other
intellectual property may be ineffective and could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could adversely impact our financial condition
or results of operations.

Collaborations with third parties, including academic collaborations, may limit our ability to obtain, maintain, enforce or defend intellectual property
necessary to conduct our business.

We may sometimes collaborate with non-profit and academic institutions to accelerate our preclinical research or development under written agreements
with these institutions. Typically, these institutions provide us with an option to negotiate a license to any of the institution’s rights in technology resulting
from the collaboration. Regardless of such option, we may be unable to negotiate a license within the specified timeframe or under terms that are
acceptable to us. If we are unable to do so, the institution may offer the intellectual property rights to other parties, potentially blocking our ability to
develop our program.

In some circumstances, particularly in-licenses with academic institutions, we may not have the right to control the preparation, filing and prosecution of
patent applications, or to maintain, enforce or defend the patents, covering technology that we license from third parties. Therefore, we cannot be certain
that these patents and applications will be prosecuted, maintained and enforced in a manner consistent with the best interests of our business. If our
licensors fail to maintain such patents, or lose rights to those patents or patent applications, the rights we have licensed may be reduced or eliminated and
our right to develop and commercialize any of our products that are the subject of such licensed rights could be adversely affected. In certain
circumstances, we have or may license technology from third parties on a non-exclusive basis. In such instances, other licensees may have the right to
enforce our licensed patents in their respective fields, without our oversight or control. Those other licensees may choose to enforce our licensed patents in
a way that harms our interest, for example, by advocating for claim interpretations or agreeing on invalidity positions that conflict with our positions or our
interest. In addition to the foregoing, the risks associated with patent rights that we license from third parties will also apply to patent rights we own or may
own in the future.

42



 

Intellectual property rights do not necessarily address all potential threats.

The degree of future protection afforded by our intellectual property rights is uncertain because intellectual property rights have limitations and may not
adequately protect our business or permit us to maintain our competitive advantage. For example:

 • others may be able to make products that are similar to our product candidates but that are not covered by the claims of the patents that we
own or license or may own in the future;

 • we, or any partners or collaborators, might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by the issued patent or pending patent
application that we license or may own in the future;

 • we, or any partners or collaborators, might not have been the first to file patent applications covering certain of our or their inventions;

 • others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our technologies without infringing our owned or
licensed intellectual property rights;

 • it is possible that our pending licensed patent applications or those that we may own in the future will not lead to issued patents;

 • issued patents that we hold rights to may be held invalid or unenforceable, including as a result of legal challenges by our competitors;

 • our competitors might conduct research and development activities in countries where we do not have patent rights and then use the
information learned from such activities to develop competitive products for sale in our major commercial markets;

 • we may not develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable;

 • the patents of others may have an adverse effect on our business; and

 • we may choose not to file a patent for certain trade secrets or know-how, and a third party may subsequently file a patent covering such
intellectual property.

Should any of these events occur, they could significantly harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Changes to national patent laws and diminished or limited access to U.S. and/or foreign patent counsel and the courts in response to the ongoing
SARS-CoV-2 coronavirus pandemic may compromise our ability to pursue, obtain, enforce or defend our intellectual property patent protections
throughout the world.

Following the discovery of a novel strain of coronavirus in Wuhan, China in December 2019, and the subsequent spread of the virus around the world,
including the declaration of a public health emergency in January 2020 by the World Health Organization, many national patent offices promulgated
emergency measures and alternative procedures for filing, prosecuting and adjudicating disputes regarding intellectual property. While some of these new
rules involve the provision of extensions for certain filing deadlines, none of these emergency-situation rules have been tested in a litigation setting or for
their harmonization with the laws of other countries.

Access to the USPTO and other patent offices has been restricted by government mandated shelter-in-place or stay-home orders thereby limiting our ability
to appear before any tribunal in support of our intellectual property. Should the remaining electronic access to these tribunals be interrupted or non-existent,
we may not be able to secure, defend or enforce patent protections in all jurisdictions.

We also rely on U.S. and foreign patent counsel in the management of our intellectual property. Should our access to counsel be diminished or lost due to
effects of COVID-19 on these service providers and their organizations, we may not be able to manage, maintain or secure our intellectual property
position.
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Risks Related to Information Technology and Data Privacy

We depend on our information technology systems, and any failure of these systems could harm our business. Security breaches, loss of data, and other
disruptions could compromise sensitive information related to our business or prevent us from accessing critical information and expose us to liability,
which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We collect and maintain information in digital form that is necessary to conduct our business, and we are dependent on our information technology systems
and those of third parties to operate our business. In the ordinary course of our business, we collect, store and transmit large amounts of confidential
information, including intellectual property, proprietary business information and personal information, and data to comply with cGMP and data integrity
requirements. It is critical that we do so in a secure manner to maintain data security and data integrity of such information. We have established physical,
electronic and organizational measures to safeguard and secure our systems to prevent a data compromise. We have also outsourced elements of our
information technology infrastructure, and as a result a number of third-party vendors may or could have access to our confidential information. Our
internal information technology systems and infrastructure, and those of our current and any future collaborators, contractors and consultants and other
third parties on which we rely, are vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, malware, natural disasters, terrorism, war, telecommunication and
electrical failures, cyber-attacks or cyber-intrusions, phishing, persons inside our organization or persons with access to systems inside our organization.

The risk of a security breach or disruption or data loss, including by computer hackers, foreign governments and cyber terrorists, has generally increased as
the number, intensity and sophistication of attempted attacks and intrusions from around the world have increased. In addition, the prevalent use of mobile
devices that access confidential information increases the risk of data security breaches, which could lead to the loss of confidential information or other
intellectual property. The costs to us to mitigate network security problems, bugs, viruses, worms, malicious software programs and security vulnerabilities
could be significant, and while we have implemented security measures to protect our data security and information technology systems, our efforts to
address these problems may not be successful, and these problems could result in unexpected interruptions, delays, cessation of service and other harm to
our business and our competitive position. If such an event were to occur and cause interruptions in our operations, it could result in a material disruption
of our product development programs. For example, the loss of clinical trial data from completed or ongoing or planned clinical trials could result in delays
in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data. Likewise, we rely on third parties to conduct clinical
trials, and similar events relating to their computer systems could also have a material adverse effect on our business. Moreover, if a computer security
breach affects our systems or results in the unauthorized release of personally identifiable information, our reputation could be materially damaged. In
addition, such a breach may require notification to governmental agencies, the media or individuals pursuant to various federal and state privacy and
security laws, if applicable, including the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, as amended, or HIPAA, and its implementing rules
and regulations, as well as regulations promulgated by the Federal Trade Commission and state breach notification laws. We would also be exposed to a
risk of loss or litigation and potential liability, which could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

European data collection is governed by restrictive regulations governing the use, processing and cross-border transfer of personal information.

In the event we decide to conduct clinical trials or enroll subjects in our future clinical trials, we may be subject to additional privacy restrictions. The
collection, use, storage, disclosure, transfer, or other processing of personal data regarding individuals in the European Economic Area, or EEA, including
personal health data, is subject to the EU General Data Protection Regulation, or GDPR, which became effective on May 25, 2018. The GDPR is wide-
ranging in scope and imposes numerous requirements on companies that process personal data, including requirements relating to processing health and
other sensitive data, obtaining consent of the individuals to whom the personal data relates, providing information to individuals regarding data processing
activities, implementing safeguards to protect the security and confidentiality of personal data, providing notification of data breaches, and taking certain
measures when engaging third-party processors. The GDPR also imposes strict rules on the transfer of personal data to countries outside the EEA,
including the United States, and permits data protection authorities to impose large penalties for violations of the GDPR, including potential fines of up to
€20 million or 4% of annual global revenues, whichever is greater. The GDPR also confers a private right of action on data subjects and consumer
associations to lodge complaints with supervisory authorities, seek judicial remedies, and obtain compensation for damages resulting from violations of the
GDPR. In addition, the GDPR includes restrictions on cross-border data transfers. The GDPR may increase our responsibility and liability in relation to
personal data that we process where such processing is subject to the GDPR, and we may be required to put in place additional mechanisms to ensure
compliance with the GDPR, including as implemented by individual countries. Compliance with the GDPR will be a rigorous and time-intensive process
that may increase our cost of doing business or require us to change our business practices, and despite those efforts, there is a risk that we may be subject
to fines and penalties, litigation, and reputational harm in connection with our European activities. Further, the United Kingdom’s decision to leave the EU,
often referred to as Brexit, has created uncertainty with regard to data protection
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regulation in the United Kingdom. In particular, it is unclear how data transfers to and from the United Kingdom will be regulated now that the United
Kingdom has left the EU.

Risks Related to Our Work with Third Parties

We rely or will rely on third parties to help conduct our ongoing and planned preclinical studies and clinical trials for CTX-471, CTX-8371 and any
future product candidates we develop. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties, comply with regulatory requirements
or meet expected deadlines, we may not be able to obtain marketing approval for or commercialize CTX-471, CTX-8371 and any current or future
product candidates we develop and our business could be materially harmed.

We currently do not have the ability to independently conduct preclinical studies that comply with the regulatory requirements known as current good
laboratory practice, or GLP, requirements. We also do not currently have the ability to independently conduct any clinical trials. The FDA and regulatory
authorities in other jurisdictions require us to comply with regulations and standards, including cGCP, or requirements for conducting, monitoring,
recording and reporting the results of clinical trials, in order to ensure that the data and results are scientifically credible and accurate and that the trial
subjects are adequately informed of the potential risks of participating in clinical trials. We rely on medical institutions, clinical investigators, contract
laboratories and other third parties, such as CROs, to conduct GLP-compliant preclinical studies and cGCP-compliant clinical trials on our product
candidates properly and on time. While we have agreements governing their activities, we control only certain aspects of their activities and have limited
influence over their actual performance. The third parties with whom we contract for execution of our GLP-compliant preclinical studies and our cGCP-
compliant clinical trials play a significant role in the conduct of these studies and trials and the subsequent collection and analysis of data. These third
parties are not our employees and, except for restrictions imposed by our contracts with such third parties, we have limited ability to control the amount or
timing of resources that they devote to our current or future product candidates. Although we rely on these third parties to conduct our GLP-compliant
preclinical studies and cGCP-compliant clinical trials, we remain responsible for ensuring that each of our preclinical studies and clinical trials is conducted
in accordance with its investigational plan and protocol and applicable laws and regulations, and our reliance on the CROs does not relieve us of our
regulatory responsibilities.

Many of the third parties with whom we contract may also have relationships with other commercial entities, including our competitors, for whom they
may also be conducting clinical trials or other drug development activities that could harm our competitive position. Further, under certain circumstances,
these third parties may unilaterally terminate their agreements with us. If the third parties conducting our preclinical studies or our clinical trials do not
adequately perform their contractual duties or obligations, experience significant business challenges, disruptions or failures, do not meet expected
deadlines, including on account of the COVID-19 pandemic, terminate their agreements with us or need to be replaced, or if the quality or accuracy of the
data they obtain is compromised due to their failure to adhere to our protocols or to GLP and cGCP, or for any other reason, we may need to enter into new
arrangements with alternative third parties. This could be difficult, costly or impossible, and our preclinical studies or clinical trials may need to be
extended, delayed, terminated or repeated. As a result, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval in a timely fashion, or at all, for the applicable
product candidate, our financial results and the commercial prospects for our product candidates would be harmed, our costs could increase and our ability
to generate revenues could be delayed.

We may depend on other third-party collaborators for the discovery, development and commercialization of certain of our current and future product
candidates. If our collaborations are not successful, we may not be able to capitalize on the market potential of these product candidates.

In the future, we may form or seek other strategic alliances, joint ventures or collaborations, or enter into licensing arrangements with third parties that we
believe will complement or augment our development and commercialization efforts with respect to product candidates we develop. Such potential future
collaborations involving our product candidates may pose various risks to us, including:

 • collaborators may have significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources that they will apply to these collaborations;

 • collaborators could independently develop, or develop with third parties, products that compete directly or indirectly with our products or
product candidates;

 • collaborators may not properly enforce, maintain or defend our intellectual property rights or may use our proprietary information in a way
that gives rise to actual or threatened litigation or that could jeopardize or invalidate our intellectual property or proprietary information,
exposing us to potential litigation or other intellectual property proceedings;
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 • collaborators may infringe the intellectual property rights of third parties, which may expose us to litigation and potential liability;

 • disputes may arise between a collaborator and us that cause the delay or termination of the research, development or commercialization of the
product candidate, or that result in costly litigation or arbitration that diverts management attention and resources;

 • a collaborator with marketing and distribution rights to one or more of our product candidates that achieve regulatory approval may not
commit sufficient resources to the marketing and distribution of such products;

 • if a present or future collaborator of ours were to be involved in a business combination, the continued pursuit and emphasis on our product
development or commercialization program under such collaboration could be delayed, diminished or terminated; and

 • collaboration agreements may restrict our right to independently pursue new product candidates.

If we enter into collaboration agreements and strategic partnerships or license our intellectual property, products or businesses, we may not be able to
realize the benefit of such transactions if we are unable to successfully integrate them with our existing operations, which could delay our timelines or
otherwise adversely affect our business. We also cannot be certain that, following a strategic transaction or license, we will achieve the revenue or net
income that justifies such transaction. Any of the factors set forth above, among others, could delay the development and commercialization of our product
candidates, which would harm our business prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

We may seek to establish collaborations, and, if we are not able to establish them on commercially reasonable terms, we may have to alter our
development and commercialization plans.

The advancement of our product candidates and development programs and the potential commercialization of our current and future product candidates
will require substantial additional cash to fund expenses. For some of our current or future product candidates, we may decide to collaborate with
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies with respect to development and potential commercialization. Any of these relationships may require us to
incur non-recurring and other charges, increase our near- and long-term expenditures, issue securities that dilute our existing stockholders, or disrupt our
management and business.

We face significant competition in seeking appropriate strategic partners and the negotiation process is time-consuming and complex. Whether we reach a
definitive agreement for other collaborations will depend, among other things, upon our assessment of the collaborator’s resources and expertise, the terms
and conditions of the proposed collaboration and the collaborator’s evaluation of a number of factors. Those factors may include the design or results of
clinical trials, the progress of our clinical trials, the likelihood of approval by the FDA or similar regulatory authorities outside the United States, the
potential market for the subject product candidate, the costs and complexities of manufacturing and delivering such product candidate to patients, the
potential of competing products, the existence of uncertainty with respect to our ownership of technology, which can exist if there is a challenge to such
ownership without regard to the merits of the challenge and industry and market conditions generally. The collaborator may also consider alternative
product candidates or technologies for similar indications that may be available to collaborate on and whether such a collaboration could be more attractive
than the one with us for our product candidate.

Further, we may not be successful in our efforts to establish a strategic partnership or other alternative arrangements for future product candidates because
they may be deemed to be at too early of a stage of development for collaborative effort and third parties may not view them as having the requisite
potential to demonstrate safety and efficacy.

We may also be restricted under existing collaboration agreements from entering into future agreements on certain terms with potential collaborators. Such
exclusivity could limit our ability to enter into strategic collaborations with future collaborators. In addition, there have been a significant number of recent
business combinations among large pharmaceutical companies that have resulted in a reduced number of potential future collaborators.

We may not be able to negotiate collaborations on a timely basis, on acceptable terms, or at all. If we are unable to do so, we may have to curtail the
development of the product candidate for which we are seeking to collaborate, reduce or delay its development program or one or more of our other
development programs, delay its potential commercialization or reduce the scope of any marketing or sales activities, or increase our expenditures and
undertake development or commercialization activities at our own expense. If we elect to increase our expenditures to fund development or
commercialization activities on our own, we may need to obtain additional capital, which may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. If we do
not have sufficient funds, we may not be able to further develop our product candidates or bring them to market and generate product revenue.
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Risks Related to Our Business

We face significant competition from other biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies, and our operating results will suffer if we fail to compete
effectively.

The biotechnology industry is intensely competitive and subject to rapid and significant technological change. Our current or future product candidates may
face competition from major pharmaceutical companies, specialty pharmaceutical companies, universities and other research institutions and from products
and therapies that currently exist or are being developed, some of which products and therapies we may not currently know about. Many of our competitors
have significantly greater financial, manufacturing, marketing, product development, technical and human resources than we do. Large pharmaceutical
companies, in particular, have extensive experience in clinical testing, obtaining marketing approvals, recruiting patients and manufacturing pharmaceutical
products, and they may also have products that have been approved or are in late stages of development, and collaborative arrangements in our target
markets with leading companies and research institutions. Established pharmaceutical companies may also invest heavily to accelerate discovery and
development of novel compounds or to in-license novel compounds that could make the product candidates that we develop obsolete. Mergers and
acquisitions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries may result in even more resources being concentrated among a smaller number of our
competitors. As a result of all of these factors, our competitors may succeed in obtaining patent protection and/or FDA or other regulatory approval or
discovering, developing and commercializing products in our field before we do, which could result in our competitors establishing a strong market
position before we are able to enter the market.

Our competitors may obtain FDA or other regulatory approval of their product candidates more rapidly than we may or may obtain patent protection or
other intellectual property rights that limit our ability to develop or commercialize our product candidates or platform technologies. Our competitors may
also develop drugs or discovery platforms that are more effective, more convenient, more widely used or less costly than our product candidates or, in the
case of drugs, have a better safety profile than our product candidates. These competitors may also be more successful than us in manufacturing and
marketing their products, and have significantly greater financial resources and expertise in research and development.

There are a large number of companies developing or marketing treatments for cancer, including many major pharmaceutical and biotechnology
companies. Currently marketed oncology drugs and therapeutics range from traditional cancer therapies, including chemotherapy, to antibody-drug
conjugates, such as Genentech’s Kadcyla, to immune checkpoint inhibitors targeting CTLA-4, such as BMS’ Yervoy, and PD-1/PD-L1, such as BMS’
Opdivo, Merck & Co.’s Keytruda and Genentech’s Tecentriq, to T cell-engager antibody therapeutics, such as Amgen’s Blincyto. In addition, numerous
compounds are in clinical development for cancer treatment. Many of these companies are well-capitalized and have significant clinical experience.

Smaller and other early-stage companies may also prove to be significant competitors. These third parties compete with us in recruiting and retaining
qualified scientific and management personnel, establishing clinical trial sites and patient registration for clinical trials, as well as in acquiring technologies
complementary to, or necessary for, our current and future product candidates. In addition, the biopharmaceutical industry is characterized by rapid
technological change. If we fail to stay at the forefront of technological change, we may be unable to compete effectively. Technological advances or
products developed by our competitors may render our product candidates obsolete, less competitive or not economical.

Our commercial opportunity could be reduced or eliminated if our competitors develop and commercialize products that are safer, more effective, have
fewer or less severe side effects, are more convenient, have a broader label, are marketed more effectively, are reimbursed or are less expensive than any
products that we may develop. Our competitors may also obtain patent protection or other intellectual property rights that limit our ability to develop or
commercialize our product candidates or platform technologies. Even if our product candidates achieve marketing approval, they may be priced at a
significant premium over competitive products if any have been approved by then, resulting in reduced competitiveness. If we do not compete successfully,
we may not generate or derive sufficient revenue from any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval and may not become or remain
profitable.

We will need to grow the size of our organization, and we may experience difficulties in managing this growth.

As our development plans and strategies develop, and as we transition into operating as a public company, we expect to need additional managerial,
operational, marketing, sales, financial and other personnel. Future growth would impose significant added responsibilities on members of management,
including:

 • identifying, recruiting, integrating, maintaining and motivating additional employees;
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 • managing our internal development efforts effectively, including the clinical and FDA review process for CTX-471, CTX-8371 and any other
current or future product candidates we develop, while complying with our contractual obligations to contractors and other third parties; and

 • improving our operational, financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures.

Our future financial performance and our ability to advance development of and, if approved, commercialize CTX-471, CTX-8371 and any current or
future product candidates we develop will depend, in part, on our ability to effectively manage any future growth, and our management may have to divert
a disproportionate amount of its attention away from day-to-day activities in order to devote a substantial amount of time to managing these growth
activities.

We currently rely, and for the foreseeable future will continue to rely, in substantial part on certain independent organizations, advisors and consultants to
provide certain services. We cannot assure you that the services of independent organizations, advisors and consultants will continue to be available to us
on a timely basis when needed, or that we can find qualified replacements. In addition, if we are unable to effectively manage our outsourced activities or if
the quality or accuracy of the services provided by consultants is compromised for any reason, our clinical trials may be extended, delayed or terminated,
and we may not be able to obtain marketing approval of any current or future product candidates or otherwise advance our business. We cannot assure you
that we will be able to manage our existing consultants or find other competent outside contractors and consultants on economically reasonable terms, or at
all.

If we are not able to effectively expand our organization by hiring new employees and expanding our groups of consultants and contractors, we may not be
able to successfully implement the tasks necessary to further develop and commercialize CTX-471, CTX-8371 and any current or future product candidates
we develop and, accordingly, may not achieve our research, development and commercialization goals.

We have broad discretion in the use of our cash resources and may not use them effectively.

We currently intend to use our cash resources for continuing clinical development of CTX-471, including the continuation of our ongoing Phase 1 clinical
trial and the preparation for and initiation of the Phase 2 trials, the advancement of our second product candidate, CTX-8371, through IND-enabling
studies, the advancement of our pre-clinical and discovery programs in development, and for working capital and other general corporate purposes.
Although we currently intend to use our cash resources in such a manner, we will have broad discretion in their application. Our failure to apply these funds
effectively could affect our ability to continue to develop and commercialize our product candidates. Pending their use, we may invest our cash resources in
a manner that does not produce income or loses value.

We are highly dependent on our key personnel, and if we are not successful in attracting, motivating and retaining highly qualified personnel, we may
not be able to successfully implement our business strategy.

We are highly dependent on members of our executive team. The loss of the services of any of them may adversely impact the achievement of our
objectives. Any of our executive officers—Thomas J. Schuetz, our co-founder and Chief Executive Officer, and Vered Bisker-Leib, our President and Chief
Operating Officer—could leave our employment at any time, as all of our employees are “at-will” employees. The loss of the services of Dr. Schuetz or Dr.
Bisker-Leib could impede the achievement of our research, development and commercialization objectives.

Historically, we have experienced significant turnover in our research and development workforce and have operated with a limited team of scientific and
technical personnel. We have had difficulty attracting and retaining qualified personnel for certain positions in our research and development groups and
we may not be able to attract and retain such personnel on acceptable terms given the competition among numerous pharmaceutical and biotechnology
companies and academic institutions for skilled individuals. Recruiting and retaining qualified employees for our business, including scientific and
technical personnel, will also be critical to our success. In addition, failure to succeed in preclinical studies, clinical trials or applications for marketing
approval may make it more challenging to recruit and retain qualified scientific and technical personnel. The inability to recruit, or the loss of services of
certain executives, key employees, consultants or advisors, may impede the progress of our research, development and commercialization objectives and
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.

Our disclosure controls and procedures may not prevent or detect all errors or acts of fraud.

We are subject to the periodic reporting requirements of the Exchange Act. We designed our disclosure controls and procedures to reasonably assure that
information we must disclose in reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, and recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and
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forms of the SEC. We believe that any disclosure controls and procedures or internal controls and procedures, no matter how well-conceived and operated,
can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met.

These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple errors or
mistakes. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by an unauthorized
override of the controls. Accordingly, because of the inherent limitations in our control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be
detected.

If we fail to maintain proper and effective internal control over financial reporting, our ability to produce accurate and timely financial statements
could be impaired, investors may lose confidence in our financial reporting and the trading price of our common stock may decline.

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, our management is required to annually report upon the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting. When we lose our status as an “emerging growth company” and reach an accelerated filer threshold, our independent registered public
accounting firm will be required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. The rules governing the standards that must be
met for management to assess our internal control over financial reporting are complex and require significant documentation, testing and possible
remediation. As we grow, we expect to hire additional personnel and may utilize external temporary resources to implement, document and modify policies
and procedures to maintain effective internal controls. However, it is possible that we may identify significant deficiencies and/or material weaknesses in
our internal controls. If we or, if required, our auditors are unable to conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, investors may
lose confidence in our financial reporting and the trading price of our common stock may decline.

Although we have determined that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2020, we cannot assure you that there will
not be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting in the future. Any failure to maintain internal control
over financial reporting could severely inhibit our ability to accurately report our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. If we are unable to
conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our independent registered public accounting firm determines we have a
material weakness or significant deficiency in our internal control over financial reporting once that firm begin its Section 404 reviews, investors may lose
confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, the market price of our common stock could decline, and we could be subject to
sanctions or investigations by the SEC or other regulatory authorities. Failure to remedy any material weakness in our internal control over financial
reporting, or to implement or maintain other effective control systems required of public companies, could also restrict our future access to the capital
markets.

We will continue to incur increased costs as a result of being a public company and our management will be required to devote substantial time to new
compliance initiatives and corporate governance practices.

As a public company, we will continue to incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. We will be
subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, which will require, among other things, that we file with the SEC, annual, quarterly and current
reports with respect to our business and financial condition. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as well as rules subsequently adopted by the SEC to
implement provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, impose significant requirements on public companies, including requiring establishment and maintenance
of effective disclosure and financial controls and changes in corporate governance practices. Further, in July 2010, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act, or the Dodd-Frank Act, was enacted. Stockholder activism, the current political environment and the current high level of
government intervention and regulatory reform may lead to substantial new regulations and disclosure obligations, which may lead to additional
compliance costs and impact the manner in which we operate our business in ways we cannot currently anticipate.

We expect the rules and regulations applicable to public companies to substantially increase our legal and financial compliance costs and to make some
activities more time-consuming and costly. If these requirements divert the attention of our management and personnel from other business concerns, they
could have an adverse effect on our business. The increased costs will decrease our net income or increase our net loss, and may require us to reduce costs
in other areas of our business. For example, we expect that these rules and regulations may make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain
director and officer liability insurance and we may be required to accept reduced coverage or incur substantially higher costs to maintain sufficient
coverage. We cannot predict or estimate the amount or timing of additional costs we may incur to respond to these requirements. The impact of these
requirements could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors, our board committees or as
executive officers. Moreover, these rules and regulations are often subject to varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of specificity, and, as a
result, their application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies. This could result in continuing
uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices.
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Our business, results of operations and future growth prospects could be materially and adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic.

Due to the evolving and uncertain global impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, we cannot precisely determine or quantify the impact this pandemic will
have on our business operations in the future. The extent to which COVID-19 may impact our business, results of operations and future growth prospects
will depend on a variety of factors and future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, including the ultimate
geographic spread of the disease, the duration, scope and severity of the pandemic, the duration and extent of travel restrictions and social distancing in the
U.S. and other countries, business closures or business disruptions and the effectiveness of actions taken in the U.S. and other countries to contain and treat
COVID-19.

For example, public health actions being undertaken globally in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, including quarantines, stay-at-home, executive and
similar government orders and the prioritization of healthcare resources, could adversely impact our business, results of operations and future growth
prospects. For ongoing and planned clinical trials, we anticipate and have experienced some temporary delays or disruptions due to the COVID-19
pandemic, including limited or reduced patient access to trial investigators, hospitals and trial sites, delayed initiation of new clinical trial sites and limited
on-site personnel support at various trial sites, which could adversely impact our development plans, including the initiation of planned clinical trials and
our ability to conduct ongoing clinical trials. There may also be local orders affecting one or more trial sites, which may trigger mandated changes to our
clinical trial protocols or temporary suspensions in the affected trial sites. In addition, quarantines, stay-at-home, executive and similar government orders,
or the perception that such orders, shutdowns or other restrictions on the conduct of business operations have occurred and could continue to occur or be
expanded in scope or duration, which could adversely impact ongoing and planned clinical trials, our employees and business operations, personnel at our
third-party suppliers and other vendors in the U.S. and other countries, the availability, cost or supply of materials, which may cause delays or disruptions
to development plans for our product candidates, and sales and marketing activities for any product candidates for which we may receive marketing
approval in the U.S. or other geographies in the future.

To the extent the COVID-19 pandemic adversely affects our business, results of operations and future growth prospects, it may also have the effect of
heightening many of the other risks described in this “Risk Factors” section.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

We are an emerging growth company, and we cannot be certain if the reduced reporting requirements applicable to emerging growth companies will
make our common stock less attractive to investors.

We are an emerging growth company, as defined in the JOBS Act. For as long as we continue to be an emerging growth company, we may take advantage
of exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies, including not
being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, or the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our registration statements, if applicable, and our periodic reports and proxy
statements and exemptions from the requirements of holding nonbinding advisory votes on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden
parachute payments not previously approved. We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of (i) the last day of the fiscal year following
the fifth anniversary of the date of the first sale of our common stock pursuant to an effective registration statement, (ii) the last day of the first fiscal year
in which we have total annual gross revenues of at least $1.07 billion, (iii) the last day of the first fiscal year in which the market value of our common
stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700.0 million, and (iv) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt
securities during the prior three-year period. We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive because we may rely on these
exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and our
stock price may be more volatile.

Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can also delay adopting new or revised accounting standards until such time as those standards apply to
private companies. We have elected to take advantage of this extended transition period to enable us to comply with new or revised accounting standards
that have different effective dates for public and private companies until the earlier of the date we (i) are no longer an emerging growth company or (ii)
affirmatively and irrevocably opt out of the extended transition period provided in the JOBS Act. As a result, our financial statements may not be
comparable to companies that comply with new or revised accounting pronouncements as of public company effective dates.
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Because we are quoted on the OTCQB instead of a national exchange or quotation system, our investors may experience significant volatility in the
market price of our stock and have difficulty selling their shares.

Our common stock is currently quoted on the OTC Market Group’s OTCQB Venture Market quotation system under the ticker symbol “CMPX.” The
OTCQB are regulated quotation services that display real-time quotes, last sale prices and volume limitations in over-the-counter securities. Trading in
shares quoted on the OTCQB is often thin and characterized by volatility in trading prices. This volatility may be caused by a variety of factors, including
the lack of readily available price quotations, the absence of consistent administrative supervision of bid and ask quotations, lower trading volume and
market conditions. As a result, there may be wide fluctuations in the market price of the shares of our common stock for reasons unrelated to operating
performance, and this volatility, when it occurs, may have a negative effect on the market price for our securities. Moreover, the OTCQB is not a stock
exchange, and trading of securities on them is often more sporadic than the trading of securities listed on a national quotation system or stock exchange.
Accordingly, our stockholders may not be able to realize a fair price from their shares when they determine to sell them or may have to hold them for a
substantial period of time until the market for our common stock improves.

The designation of our common stock as “penny stock” would limit the liquidity of our common stock.

Our common stock may be deemed a “penny stock” (as that term is defined under Rule 3a51-1 of the Exchange Act) in any market that may develop in the
future. Generally, a “penny stock” is a common stock that is not listed on a securities exchange and trades for less than $5.00 a share. Prices often are not
available to buyers and sellers and the market may be very limited. Penny stock in start-up companies is among the riskiest equity investments. Broker-
dealers who sell penny stock must provide purchasers with a standardized risk-disclosure document prepared by the SEC. The document provides
information about penny stock and the nature and level of risks involved in investing in the penny stock market. A broker must also provide purchasers
with bid and offer quotations and information regarding broker and salesperson compensation and make a written determination that the penny stock is a
suitable investment for the purchaser and obtain the purchaser’s written agreement to the purchase. Many brokers choose not to participate in penny stock
transactions. If our common stock is deemed “penny stock”, because of penny stock rules, there may be less trading activity in any market that develops for
our common stock in the future and stockholders are likely to have difficulty selling their shares.

FINRA sales practice requirements may limit a stockholder’s ability to buy and sell our common stock.

The Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, or FINRA, has adopted rules requiring that, in recommending an investment to a customer, a broker-dealer
must have reasonable grounds for believing that the investment is suitable for that customer. Prior to recommending speculative or low-priced securities to
their non-institutional customers, broker-dealers must make reasonable efforts to obtain information about the customer’s financial status, tax status,
investment objectives and other information. Under interpretations of these rules, FINRA has indicated its belief that there is a high probability that
speculative or low-priced securities will not be suitable for at least some customers. If these FINRA requirements are applicable to us or our securities, they
may make it more difficult for broker-dealers to recommend that at least some of their customers buy our common stock, which may limit the ability of our
stockholders to buy and sell our common stock and could have an adverse effect on the market for and price of our common stock.

The market price of our common stock may be highly volatile, and may be influenced by numerous factors, some of which are beyond our control.

If a market for our common stock develops, its market price could fluctuate substantially due to a variety of factors, including market perception of our
ability to meet our growth projections and expectations, quarterly operating results of other companies in the same industry, trading volume in our common
stock, changes in general conditions in the economy and the financial markets or other developments affecting our business and the business of others in
our industry. In addition, the stock market itself is subject to extreme price and volume fluctuations. This volatility has had a significant effect on the
market price of securities issued by many companies for reasons related and unrelated to their operating performance and could have the same effect on our
common stock. The market price of shares of our common stock could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to many risk factors listed in this section,
and others beyond our control, including:

 • results of clinical trials of our product candidates;

 • the timing of the release of results of our clinical trials;

 • results of clinical trials of our competitors’ products;

 • safety issues with respect to our products or our competitors’ products;
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 • regulatory actions with respect to our products or our competitors’ products;

 • actual or anticipated fluctuations in our financial condition and operating results;

 • publication of research reports by securities analysts about us or our competitors or our industry;

 • our failure or the failure of our competitors to meet analysts’ projections or guidance that we or our competitors may give to the market;

 • additions and departures of key personnel;

 • strategic decisions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions, divestitures, spin-offs, joint ventures, strategic investments or changes in
business strategy;

 • the passage of legislation or other regulatory developments affecting us or our industry;

 • fluctuations in the valuation of companies perceived by investors to be comparable to us;

 • sales of our common stock by us, our insiders or our other stockholders;

 • speculation in the press or investment community;

 • announcement or expectation of additional financing efforts;

 • changes in accounting principles;

 • terrorist acts, acts of war or periods of widespread civil unrest;

 • natural disasters and other calamities;

 • changes in market conditions for biopharmaceutical stocks; and

 • changes in general market and economic conditions.

In addition, the stock market has recently experienced significant volatility, including as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and particularly with respect
to pharmaceutical, biotechnology and other life sciences company stocks. The volatility of pharmaceutical, biotechnology and other life sciences company
stocks often does not relate to the operating performance of the companies represented by the stock. As we operate in a single industry, we are especially
vulnerable to these factors to the extent that they affect our industry or our products, or to a lesser extent our markets. In the past, securities class action
litigation has often been initiated against companies following periods of volatility in their stock price. This type of litigation could result in substantial
costs and divert our management’s attention and resources, and could also require us to make substantial payments to satisfy judgments or to settle
litigation.

Our principal stockholders and management own a significant percentage of our stock and will be able to exercise significant influence over matters
subject to stockholder approval.

As of December 31, 2020, our executive officers, directors and principal stockholders, together with their respective affiliates, beneficially owned
approximately 74% of our common stock. Accordingly, these stockholders will be able to exert a significant degree of influence over our management and
affairs and over matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of our board of directors and approval of significant corporate transactions.
This concentration of ownership could have the effect of entrenching our management and/or the board of directors, delaying or preventing a change in our
control or otherwise discouraging a potential acquirer from attempting to obtain control of us, which in turn could have a material and adverse effect on the
fair market value of our common stock.
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Because we became a reporting company under the Exchange Act by means other than a traditional underwritten initial public offering, we may not be
able to attract the attention of research analysts at major brokerage firms.

Because we did not become a reporting company by conducting an underwritten initial public offering of our common stock, and because we will not be
listed on a national securities exchange, security analysts of brokerage firms may not provide coverage of our company. In addition, investment banks may
be less likely to agree to underwrite secondary offerings on our behalf than they might if we became a public reporting company by means of an
underwritten initial public offering, because they may be less familiar with our company as a result of more limited coverage by analysts and the media,
and because we became public at an early stage in our development. The failure to receive research coverage or support in the market for our shares will
have an adverse effect on our ability to develop a liquid market for our common stock.

The resale of shares covered by this prospectus could adversely affect the market price of our common stock in the public market, should one develop,
which result would in turn negatively affect our ability to raise additional equity capital.

The sale, or availability for sale, of our common stock in the public market may adversely affect the prevailing market price of our common stock and may
impair our ability to raise additional capital by selling equity or equity-linked securities. Once effective, this registration statement will permit the resale of
these shares at any time. The resale of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could adversely affect the market price for
our common stock and make it more difficult for you to sell shares of our common stock at times and prices that you feel are appropriate. Furthermore, we
expect that, because there will be a large number of shares registered pursuant to a registration statement, selling stockholders will continue to offer shares
covered by such registration statement for a significant period of time, the precise duration of which cannot be predicted. Accordingly, the adverse market
and price pressures resulting from an offering pursuant to this registration statement may continue for an extended period of time and continued negative
pressure on the market price of our common stock could have a material adverse effect on our ability to raise additional equity capital.

Future issuances of common or preferred stock to fund our operations may substantially dilute your investment and reduce your equity interest in our
company.

We may need to raise capital in the future through issuances of common or preferred stock to fund the development of our drug candidates or for other
purposes. At its sole discretion, our board of directors may issue additional securities without seeking stockholder approval. Any future issuances of
common or preferred stock to fund our operations may substantially dilute your investment and reduce your equity interest in our company.

Provisions in our charter documents and Delaware law may have anti-takeover effects that could discourage an acquisition of us by others, even if an
acquisition would be beneficial to our stockholders, and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management.

Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws that we have adopted in connection with the reverse
contain provisions that may have the effect of discouraging, delaying or preventing a change in control of us or changes in our management. These
provisions could also limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock, thereby depressing the market price
of our common stock. In addition, because our board of directors is responsible for appointing the members of our management team, these provisions may
frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for stockholders to replace
members of our board of directors. Some of these provisions include:

 • a board of directors divided into three classes serving staggered three-year terms, such that not all members of the board will be elected at one
time;

 • a prohibition on stockholder action through written consent, which requires that all stockholder actions be taken at a meeting of our
stockholders;

 • a requirement that special meetings of stockholders be called only by the board of directors acting pursuant to a resolution approved by the
affirmative vote of a majority of the directors then in office;

 • advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals and nominations for election to our board of directors;

 • a requirement that no member of our board of directors may be removed from office by our stockholders except for cause and, in addition to
any other vote required by law, upon the approval of not less than two-thirds of all outstanding shares of our voting stock then entitled to vote
in the election of directors;
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 • a requirement of approval of not less than two-thirds of all outstanding shares of our voting stock to amend any bylaws by stockholder action
or to amend specific provisions of our certificate of incorporation; and

 • the authority of the board of directors to issue preferred stock on terms determined by the board of directors without stockholder approval and
which preferred stock may include rights superior to the rights of the holders of common stock.

In addition, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporate Law, or
DGCL, which may prohibit certain business combinations with stockholders owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock. These antitakeover
provisions and other provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws could make it more difficult for
stockholders or potential acquirers to obtain control of our board of directors or initiate actions that are opposed by the then-current board of directors and
could also delay or impede a merger, tender offer or proxy contest involving our company. These provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make
it more difficult for you and other stockholders to elect directors of your choosing or cause us to take other corporate actions you desire. Any delay or
prevention of a change of control transaction or changes in our board of directors could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.

Any provision of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, our amended and restated bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect of delaying or
deterring a change in control could limit the opportunity for our stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of our common stock, and could also
affect the price that some investors are willing to pay for our common stock.

Our amended and restated bylaws designate certain courts as the sole and exclusive forum for certain types of actions and proceedings that may be
initiated by our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors,
officers, or employees.

Our amended and restated bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be
the sole and exclusive forum for any state law claims for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (ii) any action asserting a claim of
breach of fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers and employees to us or our stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to
any provision of the DGCL, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or our bylaws (in each case, as they may be amended form time to time)
or (iv) any action asserting a claim that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine, in each case subject to the Court of Chancery having personal
jurisdiction over the indispensable parties named as defendants therein; provided, however, that this exclusive forum provision will not apply to any causes
of action arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, or the Exchange Act. Our bylaws further provide that, unless we
consent in writing to an alternative forum, the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts will be the exclusive forum for resolving any
complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. We have chosen the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts as
the exclusive forum for such Securities Act causes of action because our principal executive offices are located in Boston, Massachusetts. In addition, our
amended and restated bylaws will provide that any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our common stock is
deemed to have notice of and consented to the foregoing provisions. We recognize that the forum selection clause in our bylaws may impose additional
litigation costs on stockholders in pursuing any such claims, particularly if the stockholders do not reside in or near the State of Delaware or the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts, as applicable. Additionally, the forum selection clause in our bylaws may limit our stockholders’ ability to bring a claim
in a forum that they find favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our
directors, officers and employees even though an action, if successful, might benefit our stockholders. The Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or
the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts may also reach different judgments or results than would other courts, including courts
where a stockholder considering an action may be located or would otherwise choose to bring the action, and such judgments may be more or less
favorable to us than our stockholders.

Because we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our capital stock in the foreseeable future, capital appreciation, if any, will be your sole
source of gain.

You should not rely on an investment in our common stock to provide dividend income. We do not anticipate that we will pay any cash dividends to holders
of our common stock in the foreseeable future. Instead, we plan to retain any earnings to maintain and expand our operations. In addition, our 2018 Credit
Facility contains, and any future debt financing arrangement we enter into may contain, terms prohibiting or limiting the amount of dividends that may be
declared or paid on our common stock. Accordingly, investors must rely on sales of their common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as
the only way to realize any return on their investment. As a result, investors seeking cash dividends should not purchase our common stock.
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DESCRIPTION OF THE MERGER, THE PRIVATE PLACEMENT AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Reverse Merger

On June 17, 2020, pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, our wholly-owned subsidiary, the Acquisition Sub, merged with and
into Compass Therapeutics, with Compass Therapeutics continuing as the surviving entity and our wholly-owned subsidiary, in the Merger. Additionally,
certain of our wholly-owned subsidiaries merged with and into the applicable Blocker, with each Blocker continuing as the surviving entity and our wholly-
owned subsidiary, in the Blocker Mergers. As a result of the Merger and the Blocker Mergers, we acquired the business of Compass Therapeutics, a
clinical-stage biotechnology company developing proprietary antibody therapeutics intended to engage the immune system to treat both solid tumors and
hematological malignancies. See “Description of Our Business” for more information.

At the Effective Time, in the Share Conversion: (i) an aggregate of 31,627,139 shares of common stock were issued to holders of common membership
interests of Compass Therapeutics (including common membership interests issued upon the conversion of preferred membership interests), and (ii)
7,428,217 shares of common stock were issued to the holders of equity interests in the Blockers, in each case, after adjustments due to rounding for
fractional shares. With respect to 15 holders of an aggregate of 131,472 Compass Therapeutics common membership interests who were not accredited
investors, we paid an aggregate of approximately $68,000 in cash in consideration for cancelling such membership interests in connection with the Merger.
In addition, 2,930,836 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance under our 2020 Incentive Plan. Immediately prior to the Effective Time, an
aggregate of 4,000,000 of the 5,000,000 shares of common stock held by pre-Merger stockholders of Olivia Ventures, Inc. were forfeited and surrendered
for cancellation. Subsequent to the closing of the Merger, 24,757 shares of common stock were forfeited in connection with employee departures, resulting
in a total amount of 52,127,041 shares of common stock outstanding.

Following the closing of the Merger, Olivia Ventures, Inc. changed its name to Compass Therapeutics, Inc.

The Merger and the Blocker Mergers were treated as a recapitalization and reverse acquisition by us for financial reporting purposes. Compass
Therapeutics is considered the acquirer for accounting purposes, and the historical financial statements of Olivia Ventures, Inc. before the Merger will be
replaced with the historical financial statements of Compass Therapeutics before the Merger in future filings with the SEC. The Merger is intended to be
treated as a tax-free reorganization under Section 368(a) of the Code.

The Merger Agreement contained customary representations and warranties and pre- and post-closing covenants of each party and customary closing
conditions. As a condition to the Merger, we entered into an indemnity agreement with our former officers and directors, or the Pre-Merger Indemnity
Agreement, pursuant to which we agreed to indemnify such former officers and directors for actions taken by them in their official capacities relating to the
consideration, approval and consummation of the Merger and certain related transactions. The form of the Pre-Merger Indemnity Agreement is filed as an
exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part. All descriptions of the Pre-Merger Indemnity Agreement herein are qualified in
their entirety by reference to the text thereof filed as an exhibit hereto, which is incorporated herein by reference.

The issuance of securities pursuant to the Share Conversion was not registered under the Securities Act, in reliance upon the exemption from registration
provided by Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act, which exempts transactions by an issuer not involving any public offering, and Rule 506 of Regulation D
promulgated by the SEC thereunder. These securities may not be offered or sold in the United States absent registration or an applicable exemption from
the registration requirement, and are subject to further contractual restrictions on transfer as described under “Market Price of and Dividends on the
Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters”.

The Private Placement

On June 19, 2020, we sold 12,096,442 shares of common stock pursuant to the initial closing of the a private placement, or the Private Placement, at an
offering price of $5.00 per share, or the Sale Price.
 

The aggregate gross proceeds from the initial closing of the Private Placement were approximately $60.5 million (before deducting placement agent fees
and total expenses in connection with the initial closing of the Private Placement, which were approximately $6.3 million).

The initial closing of the Private Placement was exempt from registration under Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and Rule 506 of Regulation D
promulgated by the SEC thereunder. The common stock in the initial closing of the Private Placement was sold to “accredited investors”, as defined in
Regulation D, and was conducted on a “reasonable best efforts” basis.
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The initial closing of the Private Placement was conditioned on the closing of the Merger and a minimum aggregate purchase price of $50.0 million for the
shares of common stock sold in the Private Placement, including a minimum of $10.0 million purchased by certain insider investors introduced by
Compass Therapeutics.

In connection with the Private Placement, we paid the Placement Agents an aggregate commission of approximately $4.7 million and reimbursed the
Placement Agents for approximately $75 thousand of expenses.

Subject to certain customary exceptions, we have agreed to indemnify the Placement Agents to the fullest extent permitted by law against certain liabilities
that may be incurred in connection with the Private Placement, including certain civil liabilities under the Securities Act, and, where such indemnification
is not available, to contribute to the payments the Placement Agents and their sub-agents may be required to make in respect of such liabilities.

The descriptions of the Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization and the subscription agreements in connection with the Private Placement are
qualified in their entirety by reference to the terms of such agreements, which are filed as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus
forms a part, and are incorporated by reference herein.

Registration Rights

In connection with the Merger and the Private Placement, we entered into a registration rights agreement, pursuant to which we agreed to file, subject to
customary exceptions, the initial registration statement with the SEC, together with additional filings needed to maintain the effectiveness of the initial
registration statement, covering (i) 39,055,356 shares of common stock issued as a result of the Share Conversion, (ii) 12,096,442 shares of common stock
issued in the Private Placement, and (iii) 1,000,000 shares of our common stock held by the stockholders of Olivia Ventures, Inc. prior to the Merger. Such
shares of common stock are referred to collectively as the Registrable Shares. The initial registration statement was declared effective by the SEC on
September 25, 2020.  

Subject to customary exceptions, if (i) we fail to maintain the effectiveness of the registration statement, (ii) the holders of Registrable Shares cannot use
the registration statement to resell the Registrable Shares for a period of more than 15 consecutive trading days (except for suspension of the use of the
Registration Statement during certain blackout periods), or (iii) following the listing or inclusion for quotation on the OTC Markets Group, the Nasdaq
Stock Market, or Nasdaq, the New York Stock Exchange, or the NYSE, or the NYSE American, trading of our common stock is suspended or halted for
more than three full, consecutive trading days, we will make payments to each holder of Registrable Shares as monetary penalties at a rate equal to 12% per
annum of the total value of Registrable Shares held or purchased by such holder and affected during the period, based on the Sale Price, provided that the
maximum amount of monetary penalties paid by us will not exceed 5% of such total value.

We must use commercially reasonable efforts to keep the registration statement or a successor registration statement effective for five years from the date it
is declared effective by the SEC, or until the date on which all Registrable Shares have been transferred other than to certain enumerated permitted
assignees under the Registration Rights Agreement. Subject to certain requirements, holders of Registrable Securities also have the right to demand that we
effect secondary underwritten offerings or block trades.

We will pay all expenses in connection with the registration obligations provided in the Registration Rights Agreement, including, without limitation, all
registration, filing, and stock exchange fees, printing expenses, all fees and expenses of complying with applicable securities laws, the fees and
disbursements of our counsel and of our independent accountants, and the reasonable fees and disbursements of a single counsel to the holders of the
Registrable Securities, not to exceed $35,000. Each holder will be responsible for its own sales commissions, if any, transfer taxes and the expenses of any
other attorney or advisor such holder decides to employ.

All descriptions of the Registration Rights Agreement herein are qualified in their entirety by reference to the text thereof filed as an exhibit hereto.

 
 

56



 
DESCRIPTION OF OUR BUSINESS

Overview

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company developing proprietary antibody therapeutics intended to engage the immune system to treat both solid
tumors and hematological malignancies. Our immuno-oncology product candidates include a clinical-stage monoclonal antibody targeting solid tumors, a
novel bispecific targeting PD-1 and PD-L1, and a portfolio of bispecific and monoclonal antibodies at various stages of pre-clinical development. These
product candidates are designed to address three critical components required for an effective immune response to cancer: induction of a potent innate
immune response; activation of the adaptive immune system; and alleviation of immunosuppressive mechanisms used by tumors to evade immune
surveillance and activation. We plan to advance our product candidates through clinical development either as standalone therapies or in combination with
existing therapies as long as their continued development is supported by clinical and nonclinical data.

Our lead product candidate, CTX-471, is a monoclonal antibody agonist of CD137, a key co-stimulatory receptor on immune cells. In preclinical studies,
we observed that CTX-471 led to complete eradication of large tumors in mice when dosed as a monotherapy. In treated mice, dosing with CTX-471 was
associated with extensive reprogramming of the tumor microenvironment, resulting in increased survival and long-term immune protection. Long after
therapy had been completed, after more than eight half-lives of the antibody, treated mice exhibited immune memory that prevented reestablishment of the
same tumor. Based on these and other preclinical results, in July 2019 we initiated a Phase 1 trial evaluating the safety and tolerability of CTX-471 as a
monotherapy in oncology patients who were previously treated with PD-1 or PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitors and subsequently relapsed or progressed
after a period of stable disease. The design of this trial includes a dose escalation stage (Phase 1a) followed by a dose expansion stage (Phase 1b). The dose
escalation stage of the Phase 1 trial has been completed and CTX-471 was observed to be generally well-tolerated. The dose expansion stage of the trial is
currently ongoing and, as of February 28, 2021, 11 patients have received at least one dose of CTX-471. Of the 11 patients treated so far, six patients have
reached their first tumor evaluation at week 9, of which five had stable disease. Subsequently, one of those patients who has advanced small cell lung
cancer had a partial response at Week 17. As of February 28, 2021, there have been no treatment-related serious adverse events, or SAEs, in the Phase 1b
dose expansion stage of the trial. We expect to complete the Phase 1b stage of the trial during the second half of 2021 and to initiate a Phase 2/3 trial of
CTX-471 in the second half of 2022.

Pending the results of our Phase 1 monotherapy trial of CTX-471, we plan to initiate a second Phase 1 trial of CTX-471 in combination with trastuzumab,
marketed as Herceptin® by Genentech, in selected human epidermal growth factor receptor 2, or Her2, positive tumors and with cetuximab, marketed as
Erbitux® by Eli Lilly, in epidermal growth factor receptor, or EGFR, positive tumors. We could submit an IND application for this combination in the
second half of 2021.

Our second product candidate, CTX-8371, is a bispecific antibody that simultaneously targets both PD-1 and PD-L1, the targets of well-known and widely
used checkpoint inhibitor antibodies. Single inhibitors of PD-1 or PD-L1 include some of the highest-revenue-generating therapeutics in history and have
been approved for the treatment of a wide range of tumors. There is no marketed therapy that combines inhibition of both PD-1 and PD-L1 in the same
molecule and, in CTX-8371, we are developing one. We discovered CTX-8371 using our StitchMabsTM technology when we screened for the best
antibody to pair with our proprietary PD-1 blocker. Additional studies demonstrated that CTX-8371 works via a novel mechanism of action not shared by
single PD-1 or single PD-L1 blockers. We have shown in animal models that CTX-8371 was associated with greater antitumor activity than a single PD-1
inhibitor, a single PD-L1 inhibitor or a combination of the two. IND-enabling studies with CTX-8371 were initiated in August 2020. We are targeting an
IND submission for CTX-8371 in early 2022 and we could deliver early safety and top-line data later in 2022.

In addition to CTX-471 and CTX-8371, we are also developing a portfolio of bispecific and monoclonal antibody product candidates, which are currently
in preclinical development. These programs all derive from our in-house antibody discovery and development platforms.

Our approach is based on the observation that traditional methods of antibody discovery are slow, inefficient, and are limited by lack of diversity of
antigenic sites, or epitopes, that are recognized using these methods. We believe these limitations impair drug developers’ ability to identify the best
product candidates. We have created several technological solutions that are designed to address the key challenges in antibody development with the goal
of incorporating our solutions into bispecific product candidates. First, we developed and acquired several complementary platforms that enable us to
generate antibodies with a high level of epitope diversity and excellent physical and biochemical properties. Second, we have developed sophisticated
technologies to screen our antibody sets in functional biological assays designed to prioritize antibodies with desirable biological activities. Third, we have
developed our proprietary StitchMabsTM technology that allows us to rapidly evaluate the potential of the antibodies we discover in a bispecific antibody
format.

We have also developed a proprietary transgenic mouse line that produces antibodies with the differentiated property that they all share a human common
light chain. We imposed this restriction at the earliest stage of our bispecific antibody discovery process in
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anticipation of the need to simplify the manufacturing of our bispecific product candidates. Sharing a common light chain enables our bispecific antibodies
to be manufactured using a well-established process that has been successfully used by the biopharmaceutical industry to produce monoclonal antibodies at
commercial scale, thereby avoiding the complexities associated with the manufacture of bispecific products that lack this property. We found that imposing
this restriction on the construction of the antibody pool did not hinder our ability to obtain highly potent and selective antibodies.

In addition to our development of antibody product candidates for immuno-oncology, we have also leveraged our proprietary platform technologies to
generate and identify monoclonal antibodies and bispecifics that suppress immune response, which we are evaluating as therapies for autoimmune
indications. Several of these programs are currently undergoing characterization and in vitro and in vivo testing.

We have recently conducted a review of our pipeline and have made the strategic decision to deprioritize the development of our NKp30 innate cell
engager platform. Along with this decision, we have discontinued the efforts to advance CTX-8573 to IND-enabling studies.

Our management team has a successful record of building and growing biotechnology companies. Our Chief Executive Officer and co-founder, Thomas J.
Schuetz, M.D., Ph.D. has over 20 years of experience in oncology, biopharmaceutical drug development and life science venture investing. Prior to co-
founding Compass Therapeutics, Dr. Schuetz was a venture partner with OrbiMed Advisors LLC where he participated in OrbiMed’s investments in
Enobia Pharma (sold to Alexion), Relypsa (sold to Galenica), Arteaus Therapeutics (sold to Eli Lilly), and Audentes (sold to Astellas) and served on the
board of each of these companies. Dr. Schuetz was also the chief medical officer of Therion Biologic Corporation and was vice president of clinical affairs
at Transkaryotic Therapies, a company acquired by Shire.

Our President and Chief Operating Officer, Vered Bisker-Leib, Ph.D., M.B.A., has over 18 years of experience in strategy, business development, finance
and operations of biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies. Prior to joining Compass Therapeutics, she served as an entrepreneur-in-residence with
Atlas Venture. Previously, Dr. Bisker-Leib was chief business officer of Cydan, a biotech accelerator, where she co-founded IMARA, Inc. and other biotech
companies focused on therapies addressing rare diseases and served as an executive director and global head of business development for the
cardiovascular and metabolic franchises of Bristol-Myers Squibb.

Our investors include leading life science venture and institutional funds led by OrbiMed, F-Prime Capital, Cowen Healthcare Investments, Biomatics
Capital, Consonance Capital and Borealis Ventures.

Pipeline
The figure below details our pipeline of product candidates, including our lead product candidate, CTX-471, our bispecific product candidate, CTX-8371,
and our other discovery stage programs.

 

 
Our Strategy

Our goal is to expand and extend the role of the immune system in fighting cancer with antibody-based therapies. We believe our approach can be applied
both to solid tumors as well as to hematologic malignancies. Our strategy to achieve this goal includes:

 • Advance our lead product candidate, CTX-471, through clinical development to evaluate its therapeutic potential alone and in
combination with other therapies. We seek to translate the antitumor activity of CTX-471 observed in
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 preclinical testing into meaningful clinical results in patients with immunogenic tumors, such as non-small cell lung cancer, or NSCLC, and
melanoma. Our ongoing Phase 1 clinical trial is being conducted in patients who relapse or progress after at least 3 months of stable disease
on prior checkpoint therapies. We expect to complete the Phase 1b dose expansion stage of the Phase 1 trial during the second half of 2021
and to initiate a Phase 2/3 trial of CTX-471 in the second half of 2022. Pending the results of our Phase 1 monotherapy trial of CTX-471, we
plan to initiate a second Phase 1 trial of CTX-471 in combination with trastuzumab or cetuximab, and we could submit an IND application
for this combination in the second half of 2021.

 • Advance CTX-8371 into clinical development as a next generation checkpoint inhibitor. Our bispecific inhibitor that targets PD-1 and
PD-L1 has demonstrated higher antitumor activity in preclinical experiments than single PD-1, a single PD-L1, or combinations of PD-1 and
PD-L1 inhibitors. IND-enabling studies with CTX-8371 were initiated in August 2020 with the goal of submitting an IND in early 2022 and
we could deliver early safety and top-line data later in 2022.

 • Advance our pre-clinical programs for autoimmune indications. In addition to our development of antibody product candidates for
immuno-oncology, we have also leveraged our proprietary platform technologies to generate and identify monoclonal antibodies and
bispecifics that suppress immune response. We are in the process of advancing our proprietary monoclonal antibodies and bispecifics through
in vitro and in vivo testing and characterization with the goal of identifying at least one clinical candidate that can be advanced into IND-
enabling studies in the first half of 2022.

 • Leverage our proprietary platforms to generate novel bispecific product candidates. Our platform technologies, including our antibody
generation process, our common light chain approach and StitchMabsTM, are focused on the discovery and development of bispecific
products. We continue to use these technologies to generate a broad portfolio of early-stage bispecific assets that we then evaluate in
preclinical experiments with the intent of advancing the most promising candidates into clinical development.

 • Seek strategic partnerships for select product candidates. Our technology platform is designed to generate a broad pipeline of product
candidates with high potential for clinical application. We intend to assess on a case-by-case basis the opportunities for accelerating the
preclinical and clinical development of these candidates in a capital-efficient manner, including selectively pursuing strategic partnerships
with leading biopharmaceutical companies with domain-specific clinical development expertise to maximize the value of our pipeline.

Our approach

We are focused exclusively on modulation of the immune system through the development of novel antibody therapeutics. Antibodies are structurally
distinct Y-shaped proteins formed through the pairing of two long proteins, called heavy chains, and two short proteins, called light chains. Each heavy and
light chain pair forms a binding site where the antibody specifically binds its target, which is also known as an antigen.

The immune system is capable of not only fighting foreign invaders, but also of recognizing and eliminating a human body’s own cells that have become
pathogenic after transformation, such as in cancer. There are two broad classes of antibodies used in cancer therapy. The majority of antibodies directly
target the tumor or its surroundings. The more recent class consists of antibodies that modulate the immune system leading to immune- mediated killing of
tumors. These antibody drugs mainly exert this effect via a single modulation of the immune system. We believe that modulation of more than one function
of the immune system simultaneously has the potential to improve the therapeutic benefit and utility of immuno-oncology therapies.

Antibodies can be generated in many ways, and multiple companies claim to possess proprietary antibody discovery platforms, each with specific
advantages. Our antibody platform was designed with a broad set of capabilities and resources that we can leverage with the goal of generating a portfolio
of highly distinct bispecific products.

Our approach to bispecific antibody discovery encompasses four principles:

 • antibody diversity is required to generate a representative sample of possible therapies;

 • functional screening is critical to identifying optimal solutions;

 • a combinatorial approach enables parallel assessment of many potential bispecific antibodies; and

 • decisions made at the start of the discovery process have a major impact on successful clinical and commercial-scale manufacturing.
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Antibody diversity

We obtain our initial pools of antibodies from multiple internally-developed platforms, including our custom phage display library and our transgenic
mouse line. We constructed our phage display library based on the peripheral B cell diversity of 70 healthy human donors. This system allows us to
generate large and highly diverse sets of antibodies that are fully human; target multiple epitopes on a target of interest; and possess excellent physical and
biochemical properties. We describe these antibodies as having good ‘drug-like’ properties. To generate additional antibody candidates, we can also
immunize a proprietary line of humanized transgenic mice with antigens of interest to isolate a diverse set of fully human antibodies that share a common
human light chain, but distinct native mouse heavy chains. We estimate that the pool of antibodies from these two platforms represents over 1010 unique
sequences.

We express libraries of antibodies against any particular target using our Human Display technology which streamlines the expression of functional
antibodies such that each cell expresses only one antibody clone. We then further screen our diverse sets of antibodies expressed with our Human Display
technology to fine-tune for specificity. Sequence changes can be readily introduced to further optimize leads from our screens.

Our ability to generate viable antibody candidates, with good drug-like properties and high manufacturability potential in a high-throughput manner has
enabled us to rapidly assemble a portfolio of proprietary antibodies to over 40 key innate and adaptive immune targets and tumor antigens. This portfolio of
antibodies is designed to provide us with a set of well-characterized antibodies that can be incorporated into our combinatorial bispecific antibody
screening platform.
 

 
Figure 1. We have discovered proprietary antibodies that modulate two key components of the immune system: innate immunity and adaptive

immunity as well as antibodies to selected antigens on tumor cells. This expansive collection of antibodies allows us to use our proprietary
technologies to uncover unexpected synergies.

Functional screening

A critical part of our antibody discovery process is our ability to produce sufficient quantities of purified antibodies to assess their biological activities both
in cells and, in some cases, animal models. Our human display technology allows us to efficiently express full-length antibodies on cell surface, thereby
facilitating the high throughput screening of our antibodies across multiple functional screens. While we do assess standard biochemical parameters such as
binding affinity and specificity as part of the initial screening of our candidate sets, we note that activity in a complex biological system cannot be predicted
based on physical and biochemical parameters alone. We have shown with CTX-471, for example, that activity in a complex biological system cannot
necessarily be predicted on strictly biochemical parameters.
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StitchMabsTM technology

A natural antibody recognizes a single target antigen and is therefore monospecific. Because a natural antibody features two identical binding sites, it is
considered bivalent for that target. Although natural antibodies recognize a single target antigen, it is possible to engineer antibodies so that their two
binding sites bind two different targets. The construction of a bispecific antibody typically requires a significant investment in cloning, construct
optimization, protein expression, and protein purification before the therapeutic potential of any particular bispecific antibody can be assessed. In practice,
these requirements mean that the diversity of antigen pairs targeted by bispecific antibodies is limited, and development is oftentimes prioritized for antigen
pairs suggested by existing scientific literature.

Our proprietary StitchMabsTM technology is a novel screening approach which we developed to assess the potential of any pair of antigen-binding sites in
a bispecific antibody format. This combinatorial antibody-linking technology stably and irreversibly attaches a second pair of antigen-binding domains to a
standard antibody during a 15-minute incubation at room temperature. The resulting stitched antibody acts structurally and functionally like a bispecific
antibody.

StitchMabsTM allows us to assess our large library of antigen-binding domains in combinatorial fashion. Once we have generated and purified large
numbers of bispecific candidates, we then assess the potential of these candidates in functional assays and determine whether these bispecifics have
additive, reductive or synergistic activity. Screening of these bispecific molecules in functional assays has led us to discover novel product candidates with
unexpected synergistic activity in cellular and animal models.

Our common light chain platform greatly simplifies manufacturing

The embedded common light chain feature in our antibodies greatly simplifies the manufacture of our bispecific product candidates. Most antigen-binding
domains of antibodies are composed of a heavy chain and a light chain that have been optimized together to recognize a specific antigen. If these two
chains are expressed independently, as is the case with most antibody manufacturing processes, they are often reassembled in various ways, leading to
heterogenous mixture of the desired product along with peptide segments corresponding to two heavy chains and two light chains. Separation of the desired
product from the mixture is a technically challenging and expensive process. We address this challenge by including only common light chain compatible
antibodies as part of our antibody discovery process for potential incorporation into bispecifics. The variability in the antigen-binding domain of our
antibodies in the heavy chain is sufficient to generate a diverse, potent, selective, and functionally active set of antibodies. We further simplified the
manufacturing of our bispecific antibodies by assembling a single heavy chain construct that encodes both antigen-binding domains. As a result, the
manufacturing of our bispecifics closely resembles that of standard monoclonal antibodies, which include—one heavy chain and one light chain. Our focus
on common light chain antibodies simplifies the process of converting our StitchMabsTM screening candidates into bispecific antibody product candidates.
 

 
Figure 2. A common light chain simplifies the production of bispecific antibodies

CTX-471, a monoclonal antibody targeting CD137

CTX-471, our monoclonal antibody product candidate, is an agonist of CD137, a key co-stimulatory receptor on immune cells. Binding of CTX-471 to
CD137 leads to ligand-stimulated activation of T-cells and NK cells. In tumor models, treatment with CTX-

61



 

471 as a monotherapy led to recruitment and activation of immune cells in the tumor microenvironment. In the treated mice, dosing with CTX-471 led to
extensive reprogramming of the tumor microenvironment, including increased recruitment of immune cells, reversion of exhausted cytotoxic CD8+ T-cells,
reductions in immunosuppressive regulatory T-cells, and reductions in immunosuppressive tumor- associated macrophages. Long after the completion of
the treatment with CTX-471, a period described as eight half-lives of the antibody, treated mice exhibited immune memory that prevented reestablishment
of the same tumor.

In July 2019, we initiated a Phase 1 trial evaluating CTX-471 as a monotherapy in oncology patients who were previously treated with a PD-1 or PD-L1
immune checkpoint inhibitor and subsequently relapsed or progressed after a period of stable disease. The design of this trial includes a Phase 1a dose
escalation stage followed by a Phase1b dose expansion stage. The Phase 1a dose escalation stage has been completed and the Phase 1b dose expansion
stage is ongoing.

Overview of NSCLC

According to the World Health Organization, an estimated 1.8 million people worldwide die of lung cancer each year, which accounts for approximately
18% of all cancer deaths, making lung cancer the leading cause of cancer-related death. In the United States, there are an estimated 228,000 newly
diagnosed cases of lung cancer and approximately 137,000 deaths annually. NSCLC accounts for approximately 80%-85% of lung cancer cases. The
treatment paradigm for NSCLC has significantly changed over the past few years. Previously, patients were primarily treated with radiation therapy or
combinations of cytotoxic drugs. Recent advancements have led to the development of targeted therapies based on blockade of alteration in mutated genes,
such as EGFR, anaplastic lymphoma kinase gene, or ALK, ROS1 or BRAF. Up to two thirds of advanced or metastatic NSCLC patients who are ineligible
for or resistant to treatment with targeted therapies have tumors that express PD-L1 and are candidates for checkpoint inhibitor therapies, which lead to
significant improvements in progression free survival and overall survival compared to standard chemotherapy. Despite the availability of these therapies,
the prognosis in NSCLC remains poor, with an overall five-year survival for all patients diagnosed with NSCLC of 19%. In the KEYNOTE-042 trial in
treatment naïve metastatic NSCLC patients, conducted by Merck from December 2014 to March 2017, treatment with pembrolizumab as monotherapy led
to partial responses in 27% of patients and complete responses in 0.5%. The duration of response in the majority of the patients was less than one year. We
believe there remains significant unmet medical need in this patient population that could be addressed with novel antibody therapeutics.

Role of CD137 in immunology

CD137, also known as 4-1BB and TNFRSF9, is an inducible co-stimulatory receptor expressed on T-cells and NK cells. Activation of CD137 triggers a
signaling cascade that results in upregulation of antiapoptotic molecules, cytokine secretion and enhanced cell killing function. On NK cells, CD137
signaling can increase antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity, or ADCC.

When antigen-presenting cells, such as dendritic cells, express CD137L or 4-1BBL, the natural ligand for CD137, they induce increases in the levels of
CD137 on T-cells. Tumors with a high tumor mutation burden are enriched in these antigen-presenting cells and such tumors represent promising
opportunities to improve on standard of care checkpoint inhibitors by adding antibody therapies directed against CD137.

Historically, across preclinical cancer models, agonist antibodies targeting CD137 have been immunotherapeutic agents that showed great promise. In the
clinic, however, these agents have been hampered, in part by dose-limiting toxicities, as seen with urelumab, and, in part by weak agonist activity, as seen
with utomilumab.

Our product candidate, CTX-471

 

CTX-471 is a fully human, IgG4 monoclonal antibody that is an agonist of the CD137 receptor. We selected CTX-471 from among a panel of CD137
antibodies based on multiple preclinical parameters. The CD137 antigenic site recognized by CTX-471 does not block the binding of CD137 ligand and is
differentiated from the site recognized by CD137 antibodies from competitors. We designed and made the antibody using different backbones and chose to
use a human IgG4 backbone for CTX-471 to enable engagement of Fc receptors FcgRI and FcgRIIb to facilitate CD137 cross-linking while avoiding
binding to FcgRIIIa and depletion of immune effector cells through ADCC.

Identification through functional screening

We evaluated a panel of anti-CD137 antibodies as potential candidates for CTX-471 and used a series of in vitro and in vivo functional assays to screen for
the best candidate. One of the most stringent assays was antitumor activity in a CT26 mouse colon carcinoma model in which tumors were allowed to grow
to 500 mm3 before CTX-471 candidates were administered. Tumors of this size are
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generally considered futile to treat and are highly resistant to monotherapy with other immuno-oncology therapies such as checkpoint inhibitors.
 

 
Figure 3. Preclinical antitumor activity evaluation of CTX-471 was conducted in syngeneic mice with 500 mm3 CT26 tumors

We observed that multiple CTX-471 candidates exhibited activity treatments in this model, leading to the complete eradication of these large tumors when
dosed as monotherapy. Certain antibody candidates exhibited greater activity than others and there was not a strict correlation between potency for the
CD137 antigen and antitumor activity. We selected the antibody candidate that became CTX-471 based on a combination of in vivo and in vitro properties.
We also tested antibodies that target PD-1, PD-L1, CTLA-4 and OX-40 in the CT26 model alongside CTX-471 and observed that these antibodies failed to
generate similar responses in this model.
 

 
Figure 4. CTX-471a, CTX-471b and CTX-471c are three CD137 agonistic antibodies with low, intermediate and high affinity to CD137

respectively. Four groups of CT26 syngeneic mice models were dosed with control antibody, CTX-471a, CTX-471b and CTX-471c. Treatment
initiated when tumors reached 500 mm3. CTX-471b exhibited the most activity, eradicating tumors in 6/6 mice, followed by CTX-471a and CTX-

471c, which eradicated tumors in 4/6 mice each, and none in the control group.

Immunoregulatory role

Treatment of mice with CTX-471 stimulated long-term immunological memory. In order to assess the long-term immunological memory, we tested tens of
mice cured of their initial tumors by CTX-471 monotherapy to a re-challenge with the same tumor. Upon a re-challenge, these mice have all demonstrated
resistance to establishment of new tumors. To investigate whether this observed effect may be explained by residual CTX-471, we have conducted some of
these re-challenge experiments 88 days after dosing, or greater than eight half-lives of CTX-471. We believe that, in mice previously cured of CT26 tumors
by CTX-471, the inability to establish
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CT26 tumors is consistent with the ability of CTX-471 to induce long-term immune memory capable of rejecting the reintroduced tumor cells.
 

 
Figure 5. All mice cured by CTX-471 treatment were resistant to re-challenge with the same tumor

Immune cell depletion experiments showed that the activity of CTX-471 required the presence of CD4+ T-cells, CD8+ T-cells, and NK cells, indicating a
coordinated involvement of both innate and adaptive immune cells. Encouragingly, treatment of tumors in mice with CTX-471 led to a marked
reprogramming of the immune component of the tumor microenvironment. CTX-471-treated mice had over three times more tumor infiltrating immune
cells than control mice. Of the CD8+ T-cells in these tumors, there was a reduction of exhausted T-cells, determined by the reduction of CD8+ T-cells that
express both PD-1 and TIGIT, from 43% to 8%. Similarly, treatment with CTX-471 led to a sharp decline in immunosuppressive regulatory T-cells, or
Tregs, from 31% to 7%. We also observed that tumors treated with CTX-471 had an approximate two-fold reduction in the number of immunosuppressive
tumor-associated macrophages.
 

 
Figure 6. CTX-471 altered the immune composition in the tumor microenvironment

We believe that the ability of CTX-471 to transform the tumor microenvironment through the combined action of immune cell recruitment, alleviation of T-
cell exhaustion, suppression of Tregs, and reduction of tumor suppressing macrophages is what drives
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CTX-471’s antitumor activity in mouse models. We believe that CTX-471 has the potential to affect the same aspects of the immune system in cancer
patients in the clinic, which could lead to improved patient outcomes.

In addition to testing CTX-471 in the CT26 syngeneic mouse model described above, we have also tested CTX-471 as a monotherapy in multiple other
syngeneic tumor models of different histologies and have observed potent activity, including various levels of tumor eradication. CTX-471 has
demonstrated activity and led to tumor eradication in the A20 model of lymphoma, the MC38 model of colon carcinoma, and in the EMT6 model of breast
cancer. We believe that this broad biological activity across multiple tumor models of different histologies suggests that CTX-471 might benefit patients
with different tumor types.

Phase 1 clinical trial of CTX-471

We are currently conducting a Phase 1 clinical trial of CTX-471 in adult patients who have achieved three months of stable disease or better after treatment
with PD-1/PD-L1 checkpoint therapy and who have subsequently relapsed or progressed. We selected this population of patients for this trial because
multiple clinical trials and meta-analyses have shown that not all patients respond to checkpoint inhibitor therapy due to many possible reasons. By
focusing on those that did previously respond to checkpoint inhibitor therapy, we believe that this trial design enriches for patients who have tumors that
are capable of being recognized and killed by their immune systems. We believe that disease progression after the initial checkpoint inhibitor response is
likely due to an increase in immunosuppressive activity that CTX-471 has the potential to overcome.

This Phase 1 trial is an open-label multiple ascending dose, dose-escalation trial. After a period of 28 days to allow checkpoint inhibitors and other drugs to
be eliminated from the body, each patient receives CTX-471 by intravenous infusion every two weeks as monotherapy. Disease progression is measured by
CT scans every eight weeks. We collect blood samples to assess standard safety biomarkers as well as cytokines and potential pharmacodynamic
biomarkers. Baseline tumor biopsies are also collected for retrospective analyses.

The primary objective of the Phase 1a dose escalation stage of the trial was to assess the safety and tolerability of CTX-471 monotherapy at various doses.
The goal of the Phase 1b dose expansion stage is to determine an optimized dose for future clinical trials. Secondary endpoints include measures of overall
response rate and progression-free survival, among others.

Dosing strategy

In contrast to dosing strategies for other immuno-oncology antibodies, such as checkpoint inhibitors where the goal is often to deliver a dose that is capable
of fully inhibiting the receptor at all times, our dose selection for this trial is aimed at binding to only a fraction of the available CD137 receptors. Dosing of
an agonist antibody, such as CTX-471, at levels capable of binding to the majority of receptors can lead to inappropriate cell activation and downregulation
of the receptor and overall weaker activity.

Agonist antibodies typically trigger their activity through independent binding of each of their two antigen-binding domains to individual receptors on a
cell surface. This binding to both receptors at once forces the receptors into close physical proximity. This grouping of receptors that drives receptor
activation, especially when the ratio of antibody molecules to receptor molecules is relatively low. As the ratio of antibody to receptor increases, the level
of receptor activation increases up to a point above which activation may decrease due to down-regulation of the receptors. This results in a bell-shaped
activation curve in which maximal activation occurs at intermediate antibody concentrations.

We observed evidence of the importance of lower receptor occupancy while screening candidate antibodies against CD137. The antibodies with the greatest
tumor-killing activity were the ones with intermediate potency. Very high-potency antibodies had weaker antitumor activity.

Consistent with the finding of lower activity at high antibody to receptor levels, we observed that the antitumor activity of CTX-471 appeared to peak at
doses between 50 ug and 100 ug in the mouse CT26 tumor model. At the higher dose of 200 ug, the number of complete responses, four out of eight mice,
was less than that observed at 100 ug, seven out of eight mice, suggesting that the optimal
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receptor occupancy had been exceeded. This is also consistent with our observation that intermediate affinity antibodies exhibited greater antitumor activity
compared to high affinity antibodies.
 

 
Figure 7. Antitumor activity of CTX-471 is optimized at intermediate dose and decreased at the highest dose level

Our findings are consistent with those reported for an agonist antibody against OX40, another immune target in oncology. Thus, for many agonist
antibodies, it is likely that both intermediate affinities and intermediate doses will deliver optimal activity.

Phase 1 clinical trial data

We are conducting a Phase 1 trial of CTX-471 in patients with metastatic or locally advanced solid tumors whose tumors have progressed while receiving
an approved PD-1 or PD-L1 inhibitor after a period of stable disease. The design of this trial includes a dose escalation stage (Phase 1a) followed by a dose
expansion stage (Phase 1b). Our selection of doses in the Phase 1a stage of the trial was informed by multispecies pharmacokinetics and by the intent to
select doses capable of maintaining receptor occupancy between 20% and 80% in tumors.

Phase 1a - Dose Escalation

In the Phase 1a dose escalation stage, 19 patients received CTX-471 in the four dosing cohorts set forth in Figure 8 below.
 

Cohort  
Cohort 1
0.1 mg/kg   

Cohort 2
0.3 mg/kg   

Cohort 3
0.6 mg/kg   

Cohort 4
1.2 mg/kg   Total  

Enrolled   3   3   6   7   19 
 

Figure 8. The number of patients dosed with CTX-471 in the Phase 1a dose escalation stage

CTX-471 was observed to be generally well-tolerated in the Phase 1a stage of the trial. There were two SAEs determined to be treatment-related, which
included one hypoxia event that resolved with approximately one day of supplemental oxygen therapy and one immune thrombocytic purpura event that
also resolved. The dose-limiting toxicities were two events of thrombocytopenia in Cohort 4, which was expanded from three to six patients to collect
additional safety data. Based on these results, 0.6 mg/kg was determined to be the maximum tolerated dose.

While the goal of the Phase 1a stage of the trial was to evaluate the safety and tolerability of CTX-471, we also collected data from these patients to
evaluate the pharmacokinetics of CTX-471, the potential development of anti-drug antibodies of CTX-471, and to obtain certain efficacy data, based on the
objective response rate, or ORR, as per Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumors, RECIST. Patients who were enrolled in the Phase 1a stage of the
trial have been evaluated every eight weeks by imaging techniques, such as MRI or CT, until disease progression or withdrawal from the trial, in order to
collect such data.

The Phase 1a stage of the trial is now complete. None of the patients enrolled in the Phase 1a stage of the trial had a complete response or a partial response
by RECIST. The best overall response has been stable disease. Two patients with NSCLC had stable disease until progression at Weeks 25 and 41,
respectively. In addition, one patient with metastatic melanoma of mucosal origin had an approximately 24% decline in the total size of his measured
metastatic tumors (target lesions) at week 33. This patient remained on study and received CTX-471 for 49 weeks.

We have analyzed preliminary pharmacokinetic data from the trial and these data have confirmed our receptor occupancy modeling. Based on this
modeling and the correlation of the observed pharmacokinetics with our predictions, we selected 0.3 mg/Kg and 0.6 mg/Kg as the doses of the cohorts of
our Phase 1b stage of the trial. We estimate that a dose of 0.3 mg/kg would lead to a peak receptor occupancy of approximately 50% and a dose of 0.6
mg/kg would lead to a peak receptor occupancy of approximately 70%.
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Phase 1b - Dose Expansion

In September 2020, we enrolled the first patient in the Phase 1b dose expansion stage of the trial. As of February 28, 2021, 11 patients have received at
least one dose of CTX-471. Of the 11 patients treated so far, six patients have reached their first tumor evaluation at week 9, of which five had stable
disease.  Subsequently, one of those patients who has advanced small cell lung cancer had a partial response at Week 17. As of February 28, 2021, there
have been no treatment-related SAEs in the Phase 1b dose expansion stage of the trial.  This Phase 1b dose expansion stage of the trial is intended to inform
the Phase 2 recommended dose.

Subject to the results of our Phase 1 monotherapy trial of CTX-471 and the receipt of additional funding, we also plan to initiate a second Phase 1 trial of
CTX-471 in combination with trastuzumab, marketed as Herceptin® by Genentech, in Her2 positive tumors, and with cetuximab, marketed as Erbitux® by
Eli Lilly, in EGFR positive tumors.

Potential market opportunity for CTX-471

In preclinical studies, CTX-471 was associated with antitumor activity as a monotherapy in multiple syngeneic tumor models, including colon carcinoma,
lymphoma, and breast cancer. This broad biological activity suggests that CTX-471 may have benefit as a therapy for patients with different tumor types.

We seek to maximize the potential value of each of our product candidates, if any, across all indications in which it may demonstrate promising clinical
results and receives marketing approval. While we have not selected a specific target indication for CTX-471, as an example for the potential size of the
market opportunity for CTX-471 in one of those potential target indications, we have modeled the positioning of CTX-471 as a second line therapy for
advanced/metastatic NSCLC.

In the United States, there are 228,000 lung cancer patients each year, of those 80-85% have NSCLC. Patients with stage 0-2 NSCLC are treated with
surgery or a combination of surgery and chemotherapy, which are generally effective. However, some patients will progress to the later stages of the
disease, and other patients already have locally advanced or metastatic disease at the time of diagnosis. There are approximately 90,000 patients with
advanced/metastatic NSCLC per year who are in great need of pharmacological treatment.

In the 1st line setting, the majority of the advanced/metastatic NSCLC patients without defined point mutations are treated by either PD-1 blocker alone or
PD-1 blocker combination with chemotherapy, depending on PD-1 expression levels. Patients who do not respond to the 1st line settings have very limited
therapeutic options, mostly comprising chemotherapy combinations, with or without checkpoint blockers. We estimate that there are approximately 36,000
patients in this category who will progress after 1st line treatment to 2nd line setting as depicted in the diagram below.
 

 
Figure 9. Estimate of the number of treatment-eligible advanced/metastatic NSCLC patients based on NCCN guidelines and other Compass

analysis.

CTX-8371, a PD-1 x PD-L1 bispecific antibody

CTX-8371 is a bispecific antibody that binds to both PD-1 and PD-L1. Preclinical studies demonstrate that CTX-8371 has the ability to outperform PD-1,
PD-L1, and combinations of the two to activate T-cells in in vitro assays. In mouse xenografts, treatment with
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CTX-8371 led to significantly greater tumor growth control and longer survival than treatment with a PD-1 inhibitor alone, a PD-L1 inhibitor alone or the
combination of PD-1 and PD-L1 inhibitors. IND-enabling studies on CTX-8371 were initiated in August 2020.
 

 
Figure 10. CTX-8371 is a PD-1 x PD-L1 bispecific antibody

Overview of PD-1 and PD-L1 checkpoint inhibitors

PD-L1 is a surface protein that is overexpressed by over 35% of certain types of cancer, such as melanoma, hepatocellular carcinoma, colorectal cancer,
and NSCLC. Binding of PD-L1 to its receptor, PD-1, on immune T-cells leads to suppression of cytotoxic CD8+ T-cells preventing immune attack of the
tumor. Multiple inhibitors of PD-1 and PD-L1 have been approved as therapies for a broad range of tumors including melanoma, NSCLC, small cell lung
cancer, head and neck squamous cell cancer, renal cell carcinoma, bladder cancer; gastric cancer, cervical cancer; and other cancers with microsatellite
instability or mismatch repair deficiency. While PD-1/PD-L1 checkpoint therapies have resulted in remarkable clinical efficacy across multiple cancer
types, their efficacy, even in tumors with high immunogenicity, is limited to approximately 20% of patients. Nevertheless, sales of checkpoint therapies in
2019 were estimated to be $22 billion. There is no approved therapy that combines inhibition of both PD-1 and PD-L1 in the same molecule.

Discovery and preclinical activity of CTX-8371

The desire to improve the efficacy of PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors has sparked multiple attempts to create bispecific antibodies in which one antigen binding site
targets PD-1 or PD-L1 and the other targets immuno-oncology receptors such as CTLA-4 or LAG-3. In contrast to those bispecific efforts described by
others that have focused on a single pair of antigen-binding domains at a time, we have applied our StitchMabsTM technology to broadly screen for pairs of
bispecific antigen-binding domains with the highest potential to generate antitumor activity. Our efforts were enabled not only by the StitchMabsTM
technology, but also by our investment in generating a broad portfolio of selective antibodies to 40 potential immune targets across the innate and adaptive
immune system.
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We designed our combinatorial screen such that one antigen-binding domain was directed against PD-1, and the other selected from our library of
candidate antibodies. We screened these StitchMabsTM bispecific constructs in T-cell activation assays in the presence of PD-L1 expressing cells. Our
unbiased screening led us to an antibody that pairs a PD-1 binding domain and a PD-L1 binding domain. This novel bispecific antibody contributed to T-
cell activation that outperformed the activation observed in response to treatment with PD-1-only antibodies. We designated CTX-8371 as the bispecific
antibody we constructed using our common light chain antibodies having a PD-1 and PD-L1 antigen binding domains.
 

 
Figure 11. A PD-1 x PD-L1 bispecific antibody outperformed single PD-1 antibodies in a T-cell activation assay

The observation that the combination of a PD-1 and PD-L1 antibody into a bispecific antibody would be hundreds to thousands fold more potent in a T-cell
activation assay than a PD-1 antibody alone was unexpected. A simple model would suggest that inhibiting either PD-1 or PD-L1 should have
approximately equal effects in this assay and there would be no advantage to inhibiting both. Further investigation into the mechanism of CTX-8371 found
that it led to T-cell activation through four mechanisms:

 • Dual checkpoint blocker: preventing PD-L1 to PD-1 binding, thus relieving the immunosuppressive PD-1 signal;

 • Cell engager: bridging the connection between the PD-L1 expressing tumor cell and the PD-1 expressing T-cell, potentially facilitating T-cell
engagement and enhancement of effector function;

 • Downregulation of PD-1: triggering the shedding of the extracellular domain of PD-1 receptors from the surface of T-cells resulting in a
reduction in the levels of PD-1 on T-cells; and
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 • Indirect CD28 agonist: increasing the pool of free CD80 on tumor cells making it available to bind and activate the CD28 T-cell co-
stimulatory receptor, thereby, sending a positive signal to the T-cell, which enhances its activation.

 

 
Figure 12. Differentiated mechanism of action of CTX-8371 drives enhanced T-cell activation

We also found that the greater activity of CTX-8371 in our T-cell activation assay compared to PD-1 inhibition also extended to PD-L1 inhibition.
Furthermore, CTX-8371 was associated with significantly more antitumor activity in a murine B16F10 melanoma model than was monotherapy with either
a PD-1 inhibitor or a PD-L1 inhibitor or combination of both. Tumor growth in monotherapy-treated mice and in the combination PD-1 and PD-L1-treated
mice was slowed to approximately half that observed with tumors in untreated mice. In contrast, tumor growth was essentially stopped by the CTX-8371
bispecific antibody. Treatment with
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CTX-8371 resulted in improved overall survival in this model and cured three of eight mice, such that their tumors were completely eradicated.
 

 
Figure 13. Tumor growth inhibition was improved when treating mice with CTX-8371 compared to treating them with monoclonal antibodies that

inhibited either PD-1, PD-L1, or the combination of PD-1 and PD-L1
 

 
Figure 14. Dosing with CTX-8371 led to improved overall survival in a B16F10 melanoma model compared to either PD-1- or PD-L1- checkpoint

inhibitors or to the combination of both

71



 

CTX-8371 also reduced tumor growth in the syngeneic MB49 bladder cancer model and in the syngeneic EMT-6 breast cancer models which are known to
be non-responsive to checkpoint blocker treatments.
 

 
Figure 15. Dosing with CTX-8371 led to tumor growth inhibition in the syngeneic EMT-6 breast cancer model and in the syngeneic MB49 bladder

cancer model

IND-enabling studies with CTX-8371 were initiated in August 2020 with the goal of initiating its clinical testing in the second half of 2021 following
submission and acceptance of an IND.

License Agreement

We are successor to an amended and restated collaboration agreement with Adimab, LLC, or Adimab, dated February 11, 2015, as amended. This
agreement relates to our license from Adimab for certain antibodies for development and commercialization as biopharmaceutical products, including our
lead product candidate, CTX-471. We were granted an exclusive option to license antibodies under the agreement, which we exercised with respect to
CTX-471, through which we gained an exclusive license to certain Adimab patents and know-how related to CTX-471. We are required to use
commercially reasonable efforts to develop, seek marketing authorization for, launch and commercialize the licensed antibody. We are required to make
payments upon achievement of development milestones that, as of December 31, 2020, amounted to $3.5 million, of which we have already made $1.5
million in milestone payments and we have additional potential payments due in the amount of $2.0 million. In addition, we are required to pay royalties at
rates ranging in the single digits as a percentage of future net sales within a specified term from the first commercial sale.

The agreement will expire on a country-by-country basis on the expiration of the last royalty term for a product in the particular country, which commences
from the first commercial sale of such product in such country until the twelve-year anniversary of such sale, in which case the license for any licensed
antibody will automatically convert to be perpetual, irrevocable, non-exclusive and fully-paid in such country. The agreement may also be terminated by
the parties for uncured material breach by the other party, and we may also terminate the agreement upon three months prior written notice to Adimab.

Intellectual Property

Overview

We strive to protect the proprietary technology, inventions, and know-how to enhance improvements that are important to the development of our business,
including seeking, maintaining, and defending patent rights. We also rely on trade secrets and know-how relating to our proprietary technology platform,
on continuing technological innovation and on in-licensing opportunities to develop, strengthen and maintain the strength of our position in the field of
antibody therapeutics that may be important for the development of our business. We additionally may rely on regulatory protection afforded through data
exclusivity, market exclusivity and patent term extensions where available.

Our success depends in part on our ability to: obtain and maintain patent and other protections for commercially important technology, inventions and
know-how related to our business; defend and enforce our patents; preserve the confidentiality of our trade secrets; and operate without infringing the valid
enforceable patents and intellectual property rights of third parties.
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Our ability to stop third parties from making, using, selling, offering to sell, or importing our products depends in large part on the extent to which we have
rights under valid and enforceable licenses, patents, or trade secrets that cover these activities. In some cases, these rights may need to be enforced by third-
party licensors. With respect to company-owned intellectual property, we cannot be sure that patents will be granted with respect to any of our pending
patent applications or with respect to any patent applications filed by us in the future, nor can we be sure that any of our existing patents or any patents that
may be granted to us in the future will be useful in protecting our commercial products and methods of manufacturing the same. For more information,
please see “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property.”

We seek to protect our proprietary position by, among other things, filing patent applications in the United States and internationally in certain jurisdictions
where it is available. For example, we file U.S. and selected foreign patent applications related to our proprietary technology, inventions, and improvements
that are important to the development of our business. We also intend to seek patent protection, or rely upon trade secret rights, to protect other
technologies that may be used to discover and validate targets and that may be used to identify and develop novel products or improvements thereof. We
seek protection, in part, through confidentiality and proprietary information agreements.

The term of individual patents depends upon the legal term of the patents in the countries in which they are obtained. In most countries in which we file,
the patent term is 20 years from the earliest date of filing a non-provisional application which matures into a granted patent. A U.S. patent also may be
accorded a patent term adjustment, or PTA, under certain circumstances to compensate for delays in obtaining the patent caused by the U.S. Patent and
Trademark Office. In some instances, such a PTA may result in a U.S. patent term extending beyond 20 years from the earliest date of filing a non-
provisional patent application. In addition, in the U.S., the term of a U.S. patent that covers an FDA approved drug may also be eligible for patent term
extension, which permits patent term restoration as compensation for the patent term lost during the FDA regulatory review process. The Hatch Waxman
Act permits a patent term extension of up to five years beyond the expiration of the patent. The length of the patent term extension is related to the length of
time the drug is under regulatory review. Patent term extension cannot extend the remaining term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years from the date of
product approval and only one patent applicable to an approved drug may be extended. Similar provisions are available in Europe and other foreign
jurisdictions to extend the term of a patent that covers an approved drug. In the future, if and when our products receive FDA approval, we expect to apply
for patent term extensions on patents covering those products. We plan to seek patent term extensions to any of our issued patents in any jurisdiction where
these are available; however, there is no guarantee that the applicable authorities, including the FDA in the U.S., will agree with our assessment of whether
such extensions should be granted, and if granted, the length of such extensions.

Patent Protection

For all patent applications, we determine strategy for claim scope on a case-by-case basis, taking into account advice of counsel and our business model
and needs. We file patents containing claims for protection of all useful applications of our proprietary technologies and any products, as well as all new
applications and/or uses we discover for existing technologies and products, based on our assessment of their strategic value. We continuously reassess the
number and type of patent applications, as well as pending and issued patent claims to ensure that maximum coverage and value are obtained for our
processes and compositions, given existing patent office rules and regulations. Further, claims may be modified during patent prosecution to meet our
intellectual property and business needs.

Our patent estate includes patent applications with claims relating to our product candidates, methods of use and manufacturing processes, and claims for
potential future products and developments. As of February 28, 2021, we have had 74 patent applications pending in the United States and foreign
jurisdictions relating to CTX-471, CTX-8371 and other discovery and research programs. We have six patents which have issued in the United States
related to our CTX-471 program.

We own five pending patent families with six issued U.S. patents, four U.S. Utility or provisional patent applications, one Patent Cooperation Treaty, or
PCT, patent applications and 26 patent applications in foreign jurisdictions, related to our CD137 agonist antibody therapeutic platform including, but not
limited to, our CTX-471 therapeutic candidate. Patents that grant from these patent families are generally expected to start to expire in 2038, subject to
possible patent term extension.

We own two pending patent families with three U.S. Utility or provisional patent applications, one PCT patent application, and two patent applications in
foreign jurisdictions, related to our PD-1/PD-L1 bispecific antibody therapeutic platform including, but not limited to, our CTX-8371 therapeutic
candidate. Patents that grant from these patent families are generally expected to start to expire in 2039, subject to possible patent term extension.

We own, or have an ownership interest in, seven pending patent families with eight U.S. Utility or provisional patent applications and two PCT patent
applications and eight patent applications in foreign jurisdictions related to our discovery and research programs. Patents that grant from these patent
families are generally expected to start to expire in 2039, subject to possible patent term extension.
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We own four pending patent families with two U.S. Utility or provisional patent applications and two PCT patent applications related to our antibody and
display programs including, but not limited to, common light chains and mammalian display platforms. Patents that grant from these patent families are
generally expected to start to expire in 2039, subject to possible patent term extension.

Trademark Protection

We have filed for and obtained trademark protection in multiple jurisdictions for the COMPASS THERAPEUTICS word mark and logo for goods and
services. We have filed for and obtained trademark protection on the StitchMabsTM word mark in the U.S. for goods.

Trade Secret Protection

Finally, we may rely, in some circumstances, on trade secrets to protect our technology. We seek to protect our proprietary technology and processes, in
part, by entering into confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants, scientific advisors and contractors. We also seek to preserve the integrity
and confidentiality of our data and trade secrets by maintaining physical security of our premises and physical and electronic security of our information
technology systems. While we have confidence in these individuals, organizations and systems, agreements or security measures may be breached, and we
may not have adequate remedies for any breach. In addition, our trade secrets may otherwise become known or be independently discovered by
competitors. To the extent that our consultants, contractors or collaborators use intellectual property owned by others in their work for us, disputes may
arise as to the rights in related or resulting know-how and inventions. For further information, please see “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Intellectual
Property.”

Competition

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries, and the immuno-oncology subsector, are characterized by rapid evolution of technologies, fierce
competition and strong defense of intellectual property. We believe that our programs, including CTX-471, CTX-8371 and our platform technologies,
including our StitchMabsTM platform and our programs, technology, knowledge, experience and scientific resources provide us with competitive
advantages, but we also face competition from pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, academic institutions, governmental agencies and public and
private research institutions, among others. Our competitors include larger and better funded biopharmaceutical, biotechnology and therapeutics companies,
including companies focused on cancer immunotherapies, such as AbbVie, Amgen, Inc., AstraZeneca plc, Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, or BMS, Eli
Lilly, Genentech, Inc., GlaxoSmithKline PLC, Johnson & Johnson, Merck & Co., Inc., Merck KGaA, Novartis AG, Pfizer Inc., Roche Holding Ltd and
Sanofi S.A. Moreover, we may also compete with smaller or earlier-stage companies, universities and other research institutions that have developed, are
developing or may be developing current and future cancer therapeutics.

Product candidates that we successfully develop will compete with a range of therapies that are currently approved and any new therapies that may become
available in the future. Key product features that would affect our ability to effectively compete with other therapeutics include the efficacy, safety and
convenience of our products. Currently marketed oncology drugs and therapeutics range from traditional cancer therapies, including chemotherapy, to
antibody-drug conjugates, such as Genentech Inc.’s Kadcyla, to immune checkpoint inhibitors targeting CTLA-4, such as BMS’ Yervoy, and PD-1/PD-L1,
such as BMS’ Opdivo, Merck & Co.’s Keytruda and Genentech’s Tecentriq, to T cell-engager immunotherapies, such as Amgen’s Blincyto. In addition to
these marketed therapies, numerous compounds are in clinical development for the potential treatment of cancer.

If we are successful in advancing one or more of our product candidates toward registrational studies and filing a BLA or BLAs, and if we are successful at
obtaining approvals from the FDA or any other regulatory agency to market one or more of our product candidates, then the availability of reimbursement
from government and other third-party payors will also significantly affect the pricing and competitiveness of our products. Our competitors, who may be
successful at obtaining marketing approval from the FDA or other regulatory approval for their products prior to us obtaining marketing approval for our
product candidates, could result in our competitors launching their products sooner and establishing a strong market position before we are even able to
enter the market.

Sales and Marketing

We hold worldwide rights to all of our product candidates, which provide us the optionality to grow our internal pipeline independently or partner selected
rights to our product candidates in different geographies throughout the world. Subject to receiving marketing approval, we intend to maximize the value of
our product candidates by either independently planning to pursue the commercialization of our products in one or more major geographies by building an
internal sales and marketing organization, or by seeking collaborations with third parties with commercialization infrastructure.
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At the appropriate time in the future, and if one or more of our product candidates continues to advance successfully in development and enter
registrational studies, we also plan to build a marketing and sales management organization to create and implement marketing strategies for any product
candidates that we would potentially market through our own sales organization and to oversee and support our sales force. The responsibilities of such
marketing organization would include developing educational initiatives with respect to approved products and establishing relationships with researchers
and practitioners in relevant fields of medicine.

Manufacturing

We do not currently own or operate manufacturing facilities for the production of clinical quantities of our product candidates. We have relied on, and
intend to continue to rely on, qualified third-party contract manufacturers to produce our product candidates, including clinical supplies to support our
clinical trials. At the appropriate time in the product development process, we will determine whether to establish manufacturing facilities or continue to
rely on third parties to manufacture clinical quantities of any products that we may successfully develop. We expect that commercial quantities of any
compound and materials for our product candidates, if approved, will be manufactured in facilities and by processes that comply with FDA and other
regulations, which may differ from our current clinical supply manufacturers.
 

Government Regulation

Government authorities in the United States, including federal, state, and local authorities, and in other countries, extensively regulate, among other things,
the manufacturing, research and clinical development, marketing, labeling and packaging, storage, distribution, post-approval monitoring and reporting,
advertising and promotion, and export and import of biological products, such as those we are developing. In addition, some government authorities
regulate the pricing of such products. The process of obtaining regulatory approvals and the subsequent compliance with appropriate federal, state, local,
and foreign statutes and regulations require the expenditure of substantial time and financial resources.

Review and Approval for Licensing Biologics in the United States

In the United States, the FDA regulates biological products under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or FDCA, and the Public Health Service Act,
or PHSA, and their implementing regulations. FDA approval is required before any biological product can be marketed in the United States. Biological
products are also subject to other federal, state, and local statutes and regulations. If we fail to comply with applicable FDA or other requirements at any
time during the product development process, clinical testing, the approval process or after approval, we may become subject to administrative or judicial
sanctions. These sanctions could include the FDA’s refusal to approve pending applications, license suspension or revocation, withdrawal of an approval,
untitled or warning letters, product recalls, product seizures, total or partial suspension of production or distribution, injunctions, fines, civil penalties or
criminal prosecution. Any FDA enforcement action could have a material adverse effect on us.

The process required by the FDA before product candidates may be marketed in the United States generally involves the following:

 • completion of extensive nonclinical laboratory tests and nonclinical animal studies, all performed in accordance with the Good
Laboratory Practices, or GLP, regulations;

 • submission to the FDA of an investigational new drug application, or IND, which must become effective before human clinical trials
may begin and must be updated annually;

 • approval by an independent institutional review board, or IRB, or ethics committee representing each clinical site before each clinical
trial may be initiated;

 • performance of adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials in accordance with Good Clinical Practices, or GCPs, to establish the
safety and efficacy of the product candidate for each proposed indication;

 • preparation of and submission to the FDA of a biologics license application, or BLA, after completion of all pivotal clinical trials;

 • review of the product application by an FDA advisory committee, where appropriate and if applicable;

 • a determination by the FDA within 60 days of its receipt of a BLA to file the application for review; satisfactory completion of an FDA
pre-approval inspection of the manufacturing facilities where the proposed product is produced to assess compliance with current Good
Manufacturing Practices, or cGMP;

75



 

 • satisfactory completion of any FDA audits of the clinical study sites to assure compliance with GCPs, and the integrity of clinical data in
support of the BLA; and

 • FDA review and approval of a BLA for a biological product candidate that is safe, pure, and potent prior to any commercial marketing
or sale of the product in the United States.

The nonclinical and clinical testing and approval process requires substantial time, effort, and financial resources, and we cannot be certain that any
approvals for our product candidates will be granted on a timely basis, if at all.

An IND is a request for authorization from the FDA to administer an investigational biological product to humans in clinical trials. The central focus of an
IND submission is on the general investigational plan, the protocol(s) for human trials and the safety of study participants. The IND also includes results of
animal and in vitro studies assessing the toxicology, pharmacokinetics, pharmacology, and pharmacodynamic characteristics of the product; chemistry,
manufacturing and controls information; and any available human data or literature to support the use of the investigational product. An IND must become
effective before human clinical trials may begin. An IND will automatically become effective 30 days after receipt by the FDA, unless before that time the
FDA raises concerns or questions related to the proposed clinical trials. In such a case, the IND may be placed on clinical hold and the IND sponsor and the
FDA must resolve any outstanding concerns or questions before clinical trials can begin. Accordingly, submission of an IND may or may not result in the
FDA allowing clinical trials to commence. The FDA may impose a clinical hold at any time during clinical trials and may impose a partial clinical hold that
would limit trials, for example, to certain doses or for a certain length of time.

Clinical Trials

Clinical trials involve the administration of the investigational product to human subjects under the supervision of qualified investigators in accordance
with GCPs, which include the requirement that all research subjects provide their informed consent for their participation in any clinical trial. Clinical trials
are conducted under protocols detailing, among other things, the objectives of the study, the inclusion and exclusion criteria, the parameters to be used in
monitoring safety, and the efficacy criteria to be evaluated. A protocol for each clinical trial and any subsequent protocol amendments must be submitted to
the FDA as part of the IND. Additionally, approval must also be obtained from each clinical trial site’s IRB, before the trials may be initiated and the IRB
must monitor the trial until completed. There are also requirements governing the reporting of ongoing clinical trials and clinical trial results to public
registries.

The clinical investigation of a biological product is generally divided into three or four phases. Although the phases are usually conducted sequentially,
they may overlap or be combined.

Phase 1.  The investigational product is initially introduced into healthy human subjects or patients with the target disease or condition. These
studies are designed to evaluate the safety, dosage tolerance, metabolism and pharmacologic actions of the investigational product in humans, the
side effects associated with increasing doses, and if possible, to gain early evidence on effectiveness.

Phase 2.  The investigational product is administered to a limited patient population to evaluate dosage tolerance and optimal dosage, identify
possible adverse side effects and safety risks, and preliminarily evaluate efficacy.

Phase 3.  The investigational product is administered to an expanded patient population, generally at geographically dispersed clinical trial sites to
generate enough data to statistically evaluate safety, purity and potency, to evaluate the overall benefit-risk profile of the investigational product, and
to provide an adequate basis for physician labeling.

Phase 4.  In some cases, the FDA may condition approval of a BLA for a product candidate on the sponsor’s agreement to conduct additional
clinical trials after approval. In other cases, a sponsor may voluntarily conduct additional clinical trials after approval to gain more information
about the biological product. Such post-approval studies are typically referred to as Phase 4 clinical trials.

Sponsors must also report to the FDA, within certain timeframes, serious and unexpected adverse reactions, any clinically important increase in the rate of
a serious suspected adverse reaction over that listed in the protocol or investigator’s brochure, or any findings from other studies or animal or in vitro
testing that suggest a significant risk in humans exposed to the product candidate. The FDA, the IRB, or the clinical trial sponsor may suspend or terminate
a clinical trial at any time on various grounds, including a finding that the research subjects are being exposed to an unacceptable health risk. Additionally,
some clinical trials are overseen by an independent group of qualified experts organized by the clinical trial sponsor, known as a data safety monitoring
board or committee. This group provides authorization for whether or not a trial may move forward at designated check points based on access to certain
data from the trial. We may also suspend or terminate a clinical trial based on evolving business objectives or competitive climate.
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A manufacturer of an investigational biological product for a serious disease or condition is required to make available, such as by posting on its website,
its policy on evaluating and responding to requests for individual patient access to such investigational biological product. This requirement applies on the
earlier of the first initiation of a Phase 2 or Phase 3 trial of the investigational biological product or, as applicable, 15 days after the biological product
receives a designation as a breakthrough therapy or fast track product.

Submission of a BLA to the FDA

Assuming successful completion of all required testing in accordance with all applicable regulatory requirements, detailed investigational product
information is submitted to the FDA in the form of a BLA requesting approval to market the product for one or more indications. Under federal law, the
submission of most BLAs is subject to an application user fee. For fiscal year 2020, the application user fee is $2,942,965, and the sponsor of an approved
BLA is also subject to an annual program fee of $325,424 for each approved biological product on the market. These fees are typically increased annually.
Applications for orphan drug products are exempted from the BLA application fee and may be exempted from program fees, unless the application
includes an indication for other than a rare disease or condition.

A BLA must include all relevant data available from pertinent nonclinical studies and clinical trials, including negative or ambiguous results as well as
positive findings, together with detailed information relating to the product’s chemistry, manufacturing, controls, and proposed labeling, among other
things. Data can come from company-sponsored clinical trials intended to test the safety and effectiveness of a use of a product, or from a number of
alternative sources, including trials initiated by investigators. To support marketing approval, the data submitted must be sufficient in quality and quantity
to establish the safety and effectiveness of the investigational product to the satisfaction of the FDA.

The FDA conducts a preliminary review of all BLAs within the first 60 days after submission before accepting them for filing to determine whether they
are sufficiently complete to permit substantive review. The FDA may request additional information rather than accept an application for filing. Once a
BLA has been submitted, the FDA’s goal for novel biological products generally is to review the application within ten months after it accepts the
application for filing, or, if the application relates to an unmet medical need in a serious or life-threatening indication, six months after the FDA accepts the
application for filing. The review process is often significantly extended by the FDA’s requests for additional information or clarification.

Before approving a BLA, the FDA typically will inspect the facility or facilities where the product is manufactured. The FDA will not approve an
application unless it determines that the manufacturing processes and facilities are in compliance with cGMP requirements and adequate to assure
consistent production of the product within required specifications. Additionally, before approving a BLA, the FDA will typically inspect one or more
clinical sites to assure compliance with GCP.

The FDA is required to refer an application for a novel biological product to an advisory committee or explain why such referral was not made. An
advisory committee is a panel of independent experts, including clinicians and other scientific experts, that reviews, evaluates and provides a
recommendation as to whether the application should be approved and under what conditions. The FDA is not bound by the recommendations of an
advisory committee, but it considers such recommendations carefully when making decisions.

The FDA’s Decision on a BLA

After the FDA evaluates the BLA and conducts relevant inspections, it may issue an approval letter or a Complete Response Letter. An approval letter
authorizes commercial marketing of the biological product with specific prescribing information for specific indications. A Complete Response Letter
indicates that the review cycle of the application is complete and the application is not ready for approval. A Complete Response Letter will identify the
deficiencies that prevent the FDA from approving the application and may require additional clinical data or an additional Phase 3 clinical trial(s), or other
significant, expensive and time-consuming requirements related to clinical trials, nonclinical studies or manufacturing. Even if such additional information
is submitted, the FDA may ultimately decide that the BLA does not satisfy the criteria for approval and issue a denial.

The FDA could also approve the BLA with a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy, or REMS, program to mitigate risks, which could include
medication guides, physician communication plans, or elements to assure safe use, such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries and other risk
minimization tools. The FDA also may condition approval on, among other things, changes to proposed labeling, development of adequate controls and
specifications, or a commitment to conduct one or more post-market studies or clinical trials. Such post-market testing may include Phase 4 clinical trials
and surveillance to further assess and monitor the product’s safety and effectiveness after commercialization.
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New government requirements, including those resulting from new legislation, may be established, or the FDA’s policies may change, which could delay or
prevent regulatory approval of our products under development.

Expedited Review and Accelerated Approval Programs

A sponsor may seek approval of its product candidate under programs designed to accelerate FDA’s review and approval of BLAs. For example, Fast Track
Designation may be granted to a biological product intended for treatment of a serious or life-threatening disease or condition that has potential to address
unmet medical needs. The key benefits of fast track designation are more frequent interactions with the FDA during development and testing, the eligibility
for priority review, and rolling review, which is submission of portions of an application before the complete marketing application is submitted.

Based on results of the Phase 3 clinical trial(s) submitted in a BLA, the FDA may grant the BLA a priority review designation, which sets the target date
for FDA action on the application for a novel product at six months after the FDA accepts the application for filing. Priority review is granted where there
is evidence that the proposed product would be a significant improvement in the safety or effectiveness of the treatment, diagnosis, or prevention of a
serious condition. If criteria are not met for priority review, the application is subject to the standard FDA review period of ten months after FDA accepts
the application for filing. Priority review designation does not change the scientific/medical standard for approval or the quality of evidence necessary to
support approval.

Under the accelerated approval program, the FDA may approve a BLA on the basis of either a surrogate endpoint that is reasonably likely to predict
clinical benefit, or on a clinical endpoint that can be measured earlier than irreversible morbidity or mortality, that is reasonably likely to predict an effect
on irreversible morbidity or mortality or other clinical benefit, taking into account the severity, rarity, or prevalence of the condition and the availability or
lack of alternative treatments. Post-marketing trials or completion of ongoing trials after marketing approval are generally required to verify the biological
product’s clinical benefit in relationship to the surrogate endpoint or ultimate outcome in relationship to the clinical benefit.

In addition, a sponsor may seek FDA designation of its product candidate as a breakthrough therapy if the biological product is intended, alone or in
combination with one or more other drugs, to treat a serious or life- threatening disease or condition and preliminary clinical evidence indicates that the
biological product may demonstrate substantial improvement over existing therapies on one or more clinically significant endpoints, such as substantial
treatment effects observed early in clinical development. The benefits of breakthrough therapy designation include the same benefits as a Fast Track
designation, in addition to intensive guidance from FDA to ensure an efficient development program.

Post-Approval Requirements

Biological products manufactured or distributed pursuant to FDA approvals are subject to pervasive and continuing regulation by the FDA, including,
among other things, requirements relating to recordkeeping, periodic reporting, product sampling and distribution, advertising and promotion and reporting
of adverse experiences with the product. After approval, most changes to the approved product, such as adding new indications or other labeling claims, are
subject to prior FDA review and approval. Biological product manufacturers are subject to periodic unannounced inspections by the FDA and state
agencies for compliance with cGMP requirements. Changes to the manufacturing process are strictly regulated, and, depending on the significance of the
change, may require prior FDA approval before being implemented. FDA regulations also require investigation and correction of any deviations from
cGMP and impose reporting and documentation requirements upon us and any third-party manufacturers that we may decide to use. Accordingly,
manufacturers must continue to expend time, money and effort in the area of production and quality control to maintain compliance with cGMP and other
aspects of regulatory compliance.

We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on third parties for the production of clinical quantities of our product candidates, and expect to rely in the future on
third parties for the production of commercial quantities. Future FDA and state inspections may identify compliance issues at our facilities or at the
facilities of our contract manufacturers that may disrupt production, or distribution, or may require substantial resources to correct. In addition, discovery of
previously unknown problems with a product or the failure to comply with applicable requirements may result in restrictions on a product, manufacturer or
holder of an approved BLA, including withdrawal or recall of the product from the market or other voluntary, FDA-initiated or judicial action that could
delay or prohibit further marketing.

The FDA may suspend or revoke product license approvals if compliance with regulatory requirements and standards is not maintained or if problems
occur after the product reaches the market. Later discovery of previously unknown problems with a product, including adverse events of unanticipated
severity or frequency, or with manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may result in revisions to the approved labeling
to add new safety information; imposition of post-market studies or clinical trials to assess new safety risks; or imposition of distribution restrictions or
other restrictions under a REMS program. FDA has authority to require post-market studies, in certain circumstances, on reduced effectiveness of a
biological product and FDA may
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require labeling changes related to new reduced effectiveness information. Other potential consequences of a failure to maintain regulatory compliance
include, among other things:

• restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of the product, complete withdrawal of the product from the market or product
recalls;

• fines, untitled or warning letters or holds on post-approval clinical trials;

• refusal of the FDA to approve pending BLAs or supplements to approved BLAs;

• product seizure or detention, or refusal to permit the import or export of products; or

• injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

The FDA strictly regulates marketing, labeling, advertising, and promotion of products that are placed on the market. Biological products may be promoted
only for the approved indications and in accordance with the provisions of the approved label. The FDA and other agencies actively enforce the laws and
regulations prohibiting the promotion of off-label uses, and a company that is found to have improperly promoted off-label uses may be subject to
significant liability.

Pediatric Trials and Exclusivity

A sponsor who is planning to submit a marketing application for a biological product that includes a new active ingredient, new indication, new dosage
form, new dosing regimen or new route of administration must submit an initial Pediatric Study Plan, or PSP, within sixty days of an end of Phase 2
meeting or as may be agreed between the sponsor and FDA. The initial PSP must include an outline of the pediatric study or studies that the sponsor plans
to conduct, including study objectives and design, age groups, relevant endpoints and statistical approach, or a justification for not including such detailed
information, and any request for a deferral of pediatric assessments or a full or partial waiver of the requirement to provide data from pediatric studies
along with supporting information. Generally, development program candidates designated as orphan drugs are exempt from the above requirements. FDA
and the sponsor must reach agreement on the PSP. A sponsor can submit amendments to an agreed upon initial PSP at any time if changes to the pediatric
plan need to be considered based on data collected from nonclinical studies, early phase clinical trials, and/or other clinical development programs.

Pediatric exclusivity is another type of non-patent exclusivity in the United States and, if granted, provides for the attachment of an additional six months
of marketing protection to the term of any existing regulatory exclusivity, including the five-year and three-year non-patent and orphan exclusivity. This
six-month exclusivity may be granted if a BLA sponsor submits pediatric data that fairly respond to a written request from the FDA for such data. The data
do not need to show the product to be effective in the pediatric population studied; rather, if the clinical trial is deemed to fairly respond to the FDA’s
request, the additional protection is granted. If reports of FDA-requested pediatric trials are submitted to and accepted by the FDA within the statutory time
limits, whatever statutory or regulatory periods of exclusivity or patent protection covering the product are extended by six months. This is not a patent
term extension, but it effectively extends the regulatory period during which the FDA cannot accept or approve another application relying on the BLA
sponsor’s data.

Patent Term Restoration

Depending upon the timing, duration, and specifics of the FDA approval of the use of our product candidates, some of our U.S. patents may be eligible for
limited patent term extension under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, commonly referred to as the Hatch-Waxman
Amendments. The Hatch- Waxman Amendments permit a patent restoration term of up to five years as compensation for patent term lost during product
development and the FDA regulatory review process. However, patent term restoration cannot extend the remaining term of a patent beyond a total of 14
years from the product’s approval date. The patent term restoration period is generally one-half the time between the effective date of an IND and the
submission date of a BLA, plus the time between the submission date and the approval of that application. Only one patent applicable to an approved
product is eligible for the extension and the application for the extension must be submitted prior to the expiration of the patent and within 60 days of the
product’s approval. The U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, in consultation with the FDA, reviews and approves the application for any patent term
extension or restoration. In the future, we may apply for restoration of patent term for one of our currently owned or licensed patents to add patent life
beyond its current expiration date, depending on the expected length of the clinical trials and other factors involved in the filing of the relevant BLA.

79



 

Biosimilars and Exclusivity

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, or Affordable Care Act, signed into law on March 23, 2010, includes a subtitle called the Biologics Price
Competition and Innovation Act of 2009, or BPCI Act, which created an abbreviated approval pathway for biological products shown to be similar to, or
interchangeable with, an FDA-licensed reference biological product. This amendment to the PHSA attempts to minimize duplicative testing. Biosimilarity,
which requires that there be no clinically meaningful differences between the proposed biological product and the reference product in terms of safety,
purity, and potency, can be shown through analytical studies, animal studies, and a clinical trial or trials. Interchangeability requires that a product is
biosimilar to the reference product and the product must demonstrate that it can be expected to produce the same clinical results as the reference product
and, for products administered multiple times, the biologic and the reference biologic may be switched after one has been previously administered without
increasing safety risks or risks of diminished efficacy relative to exclusive use of the reference biologic.

A reference biologic is granted twelve years of exclusivity from the time of first licensure of the reference product.

European Union/Rest of World Government Regulation

In addition to regulations in the United States, we will be subject to a variety of regulations in other jurisdictions governing, among other things, clinical
trials and any commercial sales and distribution of our products. The cost of establishing a regulatory compliance system for numerous varying
jurisdictions can be very significant. Although many of the issues discussed above with respect to the United States apply similarly in the context of the
European Union and in other jurisdictions, the approval process varies between countries and jurisdictions and can involve additional product testing and
additional administrative review periods. The time required to obtain approval in other countries and jurisdictions might differ from and be longer than that
required to obtain FDA approval. Regulatory approval in one country or jurisdiction does not ensure regulatory approval in another, but a failure or delay in
obtaining regulatory approval in one country or jurisdiction may negatively impact the regulatory process in others.

Whether or not we obtain FDA approval for a product, we must obtain the requisite approvals from regulatory authorities in foreign countries prior to the
commencement of clinical trials or marketing of the product in those countries. Certain countries outside of the United States have a similar process that
requires the submission of a clinical trial application much like the IND prior to the commencement of human clinical trials. In the European Union, for
example, a clinical trial authorization application, or CTA, must be submitted for each clinical protocol to each country’s national health authority and an
independent ethics committee, much like the FDA and IRB, respectively. Once the CTA is accepted in accordance with a country’s requirements, the
clinical trial may proceed.

The requirements and process governing the conduct of clinical trials vary from country to country. In all cases, the clinical trials are conducted in
accordance with GCP, the applicable regulatory requirements, and the ethical principles that have their origin in the Declaration of Helsinki.

To obtain regulatory approval of an investigational medicinal product under European Union regulatory systems, we must submit a marketing authorization
application. The content of the BLA filed in the United States is similar to that required in the European Union, with the exception of, among other things,
country-specific document requirements.

For other countries outside of the European Union, such as countries in Eastern Europe, Latin America or Asia, the requirements governing product
licensing, pricing, and reimbursement vary from country to country.

Countries that are part of the European Union, as well as countries outside of the European Union, have their own governing bodies, requirements, and
processes with respect to the approval of biological products. If we fail to comply with applicable foreign regulatory requirements, we may be subject to,
among other things, fines, suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approvals, product recalls, seizure of products, operating restrictions and criminal
prosecution.

Authorization Procedures in the European Union

Medicines can be authorized in the European Union by using either the centralized authorization procedure or national authorization procedures.

Centralized procedure.  The European Medicines Agency, or EMA, implemented the centralized procedure for the approval of human medicines to
facilitate marketing authorizations that are valid throughout the European Economic Area, or EEA, which is comprised of the 28 member states of the
European Union plus Norway, Iceland, and Lichtenstein. This procedure results in a single marketing authorization issued by the EMA that is valid across
the EEA. The centralized procedure is compulsory for human medicines that are: derived from biotechnology processes, such as genetic engineering,
contain a new active substance indicated for the treatment of
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certain diseases, such as HIV/AIDS, cancer, diabetes, neurodegenerative disorders or autoimmune diseases and other immune dysfunctions, and officially
designated orphan medicines.

For medicines that do not fall within these categories, an applicant has the option of submitting an application for a centralized marketing authorization to
the European Commission following a favorable opinion by the EMA, as long as the medicine concerned is a significant therapeutic, scientific or technical
innovation, or if its authorization would be in the interest of public health.

National authorization procedures.  There are also two other possible routes to authorize medicinal products in several European Union countries, which
are available for investigational medicinal products that fall outside the scope of the centralized procedure:

Decentralized procedure.  Using the decentralized procedure, an applicant may apply for simultaneous authorization in more than one European Union
country of medicinal products that have not yet been authorized in any European Union country and that do not fall within the mandatory scope of the
centralized procedure.

Mutual recognition procedure.  In the mutual recognition procedure, a medicine is first authorized in one European Union Member State, in accordance
with the national procedures of that country. Following this, further marketing authorizations can be sought from other European Union countries in a
procedure whereby the countries concerned agree to recognize the validity of the original, national marketing authorization.

In some cases, a Pediatric Investigation Plan, or PIP, or a request for waiver or deferral, is required for submission prior to submitting a marketing
authorization application. A PIP describes, among other things, proposed pediatric trials and their timing relative to clinical trials in adults.

New Chemical Entity Exclusivity

In the European Union, new chemical entities, sometimes referred to as new active substances, qualify for eight years of data exclusivity upon marketing
authorization and an additional two years of market exclusivity. This data exclusivity, if granted, prevents regulatory authorities in the European Union
from referencing the innovator’s data to assess a generic (abbreviated) application for eight years, after which generic marketing authorization can be
submitted, and the innovator’s data may be referenced, but not approved for two years. The overall ten-year period will be extended to a maximum of
eleven years if, during the first eight years of those ten years, the marketing authorization holder obtains an authorization for one or more new therapeutic
indications which, during the scientific evaluation prior to their authorization, are held to bring a significant clinical benefit in comparison with existing
therapies.

Accelerated Review

Under the centralized procedure in the European Union, the maximum timeframe for the evaluation of a marketing authorization application is 210 days
(excluding clock stops, when additional written or oral information is to be provided by the applicant in response to questions asked by the EMA’s
Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use, or CHMP). Accelerated evaluation might be granted by the CHMP in exceptional cases, when a
medicinal product is expected to be of a major public health interest, particularly from the point of view of therapeutic innovation. In this circumstance,
EMA ensures that the opinion of the CHMP is given within 150 days, excluding clock stops.

Pharmaceutical Coverage, Pricing and Reimbursement

Significant uncertainty exists as to the coverage and reimbursement status of any products for which we may obtain regulatory approval. In the United
States and markets in other countries, sales of any products for which we may receive regulatory approval for commercial sale will depend in part on the
availability of coverage and reimbursement for our products from third-party payors, such as government healthcare programs (e.g., Medicare, Medicaid),
managed care providers, private health insurers, health maintenance organizations, and other organizations. These third-party payors decide which
medications they will pay for and will establish reimbursement levels. The availability of coverage and extent of reimbursement by governmental and other
third-party payors is essential for most patients to be able to afford treatments such as antibody-based therapies.

In the United States, the principal decisions about reimbursement for new medicines are typically made by the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services,
or CMS, an agency within the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, or HHS. CMS decides whether and to what extent our products will be
covered and reimbursed under Medicare and private payors tend to follow CMS to a substantial degree. Factors payors consider in determining
reimbursement are based on whether the product is:

• a covered benefit under its health plan;
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• safe, effective and medically necessary;

• appropriate for the specific patient;

• cost-effective; and

• neither experimental nor investigational.

Our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates will depend in part on the extent to which coverage and adequate reimbursement for these
products and related treatments will be available from third-party payors. Moreover, a payor’s decision to provide coverage for a drug product does not
imply that an adequate reimbursement rate will be approved.

No uniform policy of coverage and reimbursement for drug products exists among third-party payors. Therefore, coverage and reimbursement for drug
products can differ significantly from payor to payor. The process for determining whether a payor will provide coverage for a product may be separate
from the process for setting the reimbursement rate that the payor will pay for the product. One payor’s determination to provide coverage for a product
does not assure that other payors will also provide coverage and reimbursement for the product, and the level of coverage and reimbursement can differ
significantly from payor to payor. Third-party payors may also limit coverage to specific products on an approved list, or formulary, which might not
include all of the FDA-approved products for a particular indication.

Further, third-party payors are increasingly challenging the price and examining the medical necessity and cost- effectiveness of medical products and
services, in addition to their safety and efficacy. In order to secure coverage and reimbursement for any product that might be approved for sale, we may
need to conduct expensive pharmacoeconomic studies in order to demonstrate the medical necessity and cost-effectiveness of our products, in addition to
the costs required to obtain FDA or comparable regulatory approvals. Additionally, we may also need to provide discounts to purchasers, private health
plans or government healthcare programs. Our product candidates may nonetheless not be considered medically necessary or cost-effective. If third-party
payors do not consider a product to be cost-effective compared to other available therapies, they may not cover the product after approval as a benefit under
their plans or, if they do, the level of payment may not be sufficient to allow a company to sell its products at a profit. A decision by a third-party payor not
to cover a product could reduce physician utilization once the product is approved and have a material adverse effect on sales, our operations and financial
condition.

In some foreign countries, the proposed pricing for a drug must be approved before it may be lawfully marketed. The requirements governing drug pricing
vary widely from country to country. For example, in the European Union Member States can restrict the range of medicinal products for which their
national health insurance systems provide reimbursement and they can control the prices of medicinal products for human use. To obtain reimbursement or
pricing approval, some of these countries may require the completion of clinical trials that compare the cost effectiveness of a particular product candidate
to currently available therapies. A Member State may approve a specific price for the medicinal product or it may instead adopt a system of direct or
indirect controls on the profitability of the company placing the medicinal product on the market. Approaches between Member States are diverging. For
example, in France, effective market access will be supported by agreements with hospitals and products may be reimbursed by the Social Security Fund.
The price of medicines is negotiated with the Economic Committee for Health Products, or CEPS. There can be no assurance that any country that has
price controls or reimbursement limitations for pharmaceutical products will allow favorable reimbursement and pricing arrangements for any of our
product candidates. Historically, products launched in the European Union do not follow price structures of the United States and generally prices tend to
be significantly lower.

Current and future healthcare reform legislation

In the United States and in some foreign jurisdictions, there have been, and likely will continue to be, a number of legislative and regulatory changes and
proposed changes regarding the healthcare system directed at broadening the availability of healthcare, improving the quality of healthcare, and containing
or lowering the cost of healthcare. For example, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education
Reconciliation Act, collectively, the Affordable Care Act, or ACA, among other things, subjects biological products to potential competition by lower-cost
biosimilars, expands the types of entities eligible for the 340B drug discount program, addresses a new methodology by which rebates owed by
manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program are calculated for drugs that are inhaled, infused, instilled, implanted or injected, increases rebates
for drugs sold to Medicaid programs owed by manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program and extends the rebate program to individuals
enrolled in Medicaid managed care organizations, establishes annual fees and taxes on manufacturers of certain branded prescription drugs, and created a
mandatory discount program for certain Medicare Part D beneficiaries in which manufacturers must agree to offer 50% (increased to 70% pursuant to the
Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018, or BBA, effective as of January 2019) point-of-sale discounts off negotiated prices of applicable brand drugs to eligible
beneficiaries during their coverage gap period, as a condition for the manufacturer’s outpatient drugs to be covered under Medicare Part D.
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Since its enactment, there have been numerous judicial, administrative, executive, and legislative challenges to certain aspects of the ACA, and we expect
there will be additional challenges and amendments to the ACA in the future. Various portions of the ACA are currently undergoing legal and constitutional
challenges in the United States Supreme Court; the previous Trump administration issued various Executive Orders which eliminated cost sharing subsidies
and various provisions that would impose a fiscal burden on states or a cost, fee, tax, penalty or regulatory burden on individuals, healthcare providers,
health insurers, or manufacturers of pharmaceuticals or medical devices; and Congress has introduced several pieces of legislation aimed at significantly
revising or repealing the ACA. It is unclear whether the ACA will be overturned, repealed, replaced, or further amended. We cannot predict what affect
further changes to the ACA would have on our business.

Other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted in the United States since the ACA was enacted. For example, on August 2, 2011, the Budget
Control Act of 2011 among other things, created measures for spending reductions by Congress. Specifically, the Joint Select Committee on Deficit
Reduction was created to recommend to Congress proposals in spending reductions. The Joint Select Committee on Deficit Reduction did not achieve a
targeted deficit reduction of at least $1.2 trillion for the years 2012 through 2021, thereby triggering the legislation’s automatic reduction to several
government programs. This includes aggregate reductions to Medicare payments to providers of up to 2% per fiscal year, and due to subsequent legislative
amendments, will stay in effect through 2030 unless additional Congressional action is taken. However, under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic
Security Act, or CARES Act, the 2% Medicare sequestration reductions will be suspended from May 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020 due to the
COVID-19 pandemic. The American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, or the ATRA, among other things, reduced Medicare payments to several providers and
increased the statute of limitations period for the government to recover overpayments to providers from three to five years. Additionally, in December
2018, CMS published a final rule permitting further collections and payments to and from certain ACA qualified health plans and health insurance issuers
under the Affordable Care Act risk adjustment program in response to the outcome of a federal district court litigation regarding the method CMS uses to
determine this risk adjustment. Since then, the ACA risk adjustment program payment parameters have been updated annually.

Moreover, payment methodologies may be subject to changes in healthcare legislation and regulatory initiatives. For example, CMS may develop new
payment and delivery models, such as bundled payment models. Recently, there has been heightened governmental scrutiny over the manner in which
manufacturers set prices for their marketed products. Such scrutiny has resulted in several recent U.S. Congressional inquiries and proposed and enacted
federal and state legislation designed to, among other things, bring more transparency to drug pricing, review the relationship between pricing and
manufacturer patient programs, reduce the cost of drugs under Medicare and reform government program reimbursement methodologies for drug products.
For example, at the federal level, the previous Trump administration’s budget proposal for fiscal year 2021 includes a $135 billion allowance to support
legislative proposals seeking to reduce drug prices, increase competition, lower out-of-pocket drug costs for patients, and increase patient access to lower-
cost generic and biosimilar drugs. On March 10, 2020, the previous Trump administration sent “principles” for drug pricing to Congress, calling for
legislation that would, among other things, cap Medicare Part D beneficiary out-of-pocket pharmacy expenses, provide an option to cap Medicare Part D
beneficiary monthly out-of-pocket expenses, and place limits on pharmaceutical price increases. Additionally, the previous Trump administration
previously released a “Blueprint” to lower drug prices and reduce out of pocket costs of drugs that contained proposals to increase manufacturer
competition, increase the negotiating power of certain federal healthcare programs, incentivize manufacturers to lower the list price of their products and
reduce the out-of-pocket costs of drug products paid by consumers. HHS has solicited feedback on some of these measures and has implemented others
under its existing authority. For example, in May 2019, CMS issued a final rule to allow Medicare Advantage Plans the option of using step therapy, a type
of prior authorization, for Part B drugs beginning January 1, 2020. This final rule codified CMS’s policy change that became effective as of January 1,
2019. Although a number of these, and other measures may require additional authorization to become effective, Congress has indicated that they will
continue to seek new legislative and/or administrative measures to control drug costs.

On July 24, 2020 and September 13, 2020, then-President Trump announced several executive orders related to prescription drug pricing that seek to
implement several of the administration's proposals. In response, the FDA released a final rule on September 24, 2020, which went into effect on
November 30, 2020, providing guidance for states to build and submit importation plans for drugs from Canada. Further, on November 20, 2020, CMS
issued an Interim Final Rule implementing the Most Favored Nation (“MFN”) Model under which Medicare Part B reimbursement rates will be calculated
for certain drugs and biologicals based on the lowest price drug manufacturers receive in Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development
countries with a similar gross domestic product per capita. The MFN Model regulations mandate participation by identified Part B providers and will apply
in all U.S. states and territories for a seven-year period beginning January 1, 2021 and ending December 31, 2027. On December 28, 2020, a judge in the
U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California granted a preliminary injunction prohibiting CMS from implementing the MFN rule.

At the state level, legislatures have increasingly passed legislation and implemented regulations designed to control pharmaceutical product pricing,
including price or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts, restrictions on certain product access and marketing cost disclosure and transparency
measures, and, in some cases, designed to encourage importation from other countries and bulk purchasing.
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On May 30, 2018, the Right to Try Act, was signed into law. The law, among other things, provides a federal framework for certain patients to access
certain investigational new drug products that have completed a Phase 1 clinical trial and that are undergoing investigation for FDA approval. Under
certain circumstances, eligible patients can seek treatment without enrolling in clinical trials and without obtaining FDA permission under the FDA
expanded access program. There is no obligation for a drug manufacturer to make its drug products available to eligible patients as a result of the Right to
Try Act.

Other Healthcare Laws and Compliance Requirements

Healthcare providers, physicians, and third-party payors will play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription of any products for which we
obtain marketing approval. Our business operations and any current or future arrangements with third-party payors, healthcare providers and physicians
may expose us to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations that may constrain the business or financial arrangements
and relationships through which we develop, market, sell and distribute any drugs for which we obtain marketing approval. In the United States, these laws
include, among others:

 • the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, persons and entities from knowingly and willfully soliciting,
receiving, offering or paying remuneration (including any kickback, bribe, or certain rebates), directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in
cash or in kind, to induce or reward, or in return for, either the referral of an individual for, or for the purchase, lease, order or
recommendation of, or arranging for, an item, good, facility or service for which payment may be made under a federal healthcare program
such as Medicare and Medicaid. The term remuneration has been interpreted broadly to include anything of value. The federal Anti-Kickback
Statute has been interpreted to apply to arrangements between manufacturers on one hand and prescribers, purchasers, and formulary
managers on the other. A person or entity need not have actual knowledge of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute or specific intent to violate it
in order to have committed a violation. Violations are subject to significant civil and criminal fines and penalties for each violation, plus up to
three times the remuneration involved, imprisonment, and exclusion from government healthcare programs. In addition, a violation of the
federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the civil False Claims Act, or FCA;

 • federal civil and criminal false claims laws, including the FCA, and civil monetary penalty laws, which prohibit, among other things,
individuals or entities from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, claims for payment or approval from Medicare, Medicaid, or
other third-party payors, that are false, fictitious or fraudulent; knowingly making, using, or causing to be made or used, a false statement or
record material to a false or fraudulent claim or obligation to pay or transmit money or property to the federal government; or knowingly
concealing or knowingly and improperly avoiding or decreasing an obligation to pay money to the federal government. Manufacturers can be
held liable under the FCA even when they do not submit claims directly to government payors if they are deemed to “cause” the submission
of false or fraudulent claims. The FCA also permits a private individual acting as a “whistleblower” to bring qui tam actions on behalf of the
federal government alleging violations of the FCA and to share in any monetary recovery. When an entity is determined to have violated the
FCA, the government may impose civil fines and penalties for each false claim, plus treble damages, and exclude the entity from participation
in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare programs;

 • the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which created additional criminal and civil liability for
knowingly and willfully executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme, to defraud any healthcare benefit program or obtain, by means of false
or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, any of the money or property owned by, or under the custody or control of, any
healthcare benefit program, regardless of the payor (e.g., public or private) and knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up
by any trick or device a material fact or making any materially false statements in connection with the delivery of, or payment for, healthcare
benefits, items or services relating to healthcare matters. Similar to the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, a person or entity can be found guilty
of violating HIPAA without actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it;

 • the federal Physician Payment Sunshine Act, created under the ACA and its implementing regulations, which requires drug, device, medical
supply, and biologics manufacturers to disclose payments under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program (with
certain exceptions) to report annually to HHS information related to payments or other transfers of value made to physicians (defined to
include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors) and teaching hospitals, as well as ownership and investment interests
held by physicians and their immediate family members. Effective January 1, 2022, these reporting obligations will extend to include
transfers of value made to certain non-physician providers such as physician assistants and nurse practitioners;

 • HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology and Clinical Health Act of 2009, or HITECH, and its implementing regulations,
which imposes, among other things, certain requirements relating to the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health
information. Among other things, HITECH makes HIPAA’s privacy and
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 security standards directly applicable to “business associates,” those independent contractors or agents of covered entities that create, receive,
maintain, transmit or obtain protected health information in connection with providing a service on behalf of a covered entity. HITECH also
increased the civil and criminal penalties that may be imposed against covered entities, business associates and possibly other persons, and
gave state attorneys general new authority to file civil actions for damages or injunctions in federal courts to enforce the federal HIPAA laws
and seek attorney’s fees and costs associated with pursuing federal civil actions; and

 • analogous state and foreign law equivalents of each of the above U.S. federal laws, such as anti- kickback and false claims laws, which may
apply to items or services reimbursed by any third-party payor, including commercial insurers or patients; state and local marketing and/or
transparency laws applicable to manufacturers that may be broader in scope than the federal requirements; state laws that require the
reporting of information related to drug pricing; state laws that require drug manufacturers to report information related to payments and
other transfers of value to physicians and other healthcare providers or marketing expenditures and pricing information; state and local laws
that require the licensure of sales representatives; state laws that require biopharmaceutical companies to comply with the biopharmaceutical
industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government; state and local
laws that require the registration of pharmaceutical sales representatives; data privacy and security laws and regulations in foreign
jurisdictions that may be more stringent than those in the United States (such as the European Union, which adopted the General Data
Protection Regulation, which became effective in May 2018); and state and foreign laws governing the privacy and security of health
information in certain circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and often are not pre-empted by HIPAA, thus
complicating compliance efforts.

The scope and enforcement of each of these laws is uncertain and subject to rapid change in the current environment of healthcare reform, especially in
light of the lack of applicable precedent and regulations. Federal and state enforcement bodies have recently increased their scrutiny of interactions between
healthcare companies and healthcare providers, which has led to a number of investigations, prosecutions, convictions and settlements in the healthcare
industry. It is possible that governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices do not comply with current or future statutes, regulations or
case law involving applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. If our operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws
described above or any other governmental regulations that apply to us, we may be subject to administrative, civil, and criminal penalties, exclusion from
participation in government healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, imprisonment, damages, fines, disgorgement, reputational harm, the
curtailment or restructuring of our operations, and additional oversight and reporting obligations if we become subject to a corporate integrity agreement or
similar settlement to resolve allegations of non-compliance with these laws and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations, any of which could
adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our results of operations. If any of the physicians or other healthcare providers or entities with
whom we expect to do business is found to be not in compliance with applicable laws, they may be subject to similar actions, penalties and sanctions.
Ensuring business arrangements comply with applicable healthcare laws, as well as responding to possible investigations by government authorities, can be
time- and resource-consuming and can divert a company’s attention from its business.

We are also subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or FCPA, which prohibits improper payments or offers of payments to foreign governments
and their officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business and requires companies to maintain accurate books and records and a system of internal
accounting controls. Safeguards we implement to discourage improper payments or offers of payments by our employees, consultants, and others may be
ineffective, and violations of the FCPA and similar laws may result in severe criminal or civil sanctions, or other liabilities or proceedings against us, any of
which would likely harm our reputation, business, financial condition and result of operations.

In the event we decide to conduct future clinical trials in the European Union, we may be subject to additional privacy restrictions. The collection, use,
storage, disclosure, transfer, or other processing of personal data regarding individuals in the European Economic Area, or EEA, including personal health
data, is subject to the EU General Data Protection Regulation, or GDPR, which became effective on May 25, 2018. The GDPR is wide-ranging in scope
and imposes numerous requirements on companies that process personal data, including requirements relating to processing health and other sensitive data,
obtaining consent of the individuals to whom the personal data relates, providing information to individuals regarding data processing activities,
implementing safeguards to protect the security and confidentiality of personal data, providing notification of data breaches, and taking certain measures
when engaging third-party processors. The GDPR also imposes strict rules on the transfer of personal data to countries outside the EEA, including the
United States, and permits data protection authorities to impose large penalties for violations of the GDPR, including potential fines of up to €20 million or
4% of annual global revenues, whichever is greater. The GDPR also confers a private right of action on data subjects and consumer associations to lodge
complaints with supervisory authorities, seek judicial remedies, and obtain compensation for damages resulting from violations of the GDPR. In addition,
the GDPR includes restrictions on cross-border data transfers. The GDPR may increase our responsibility and liability in relation to personal data that we
process where such processing is subject to the GDPR, and we may be required to put in place additional mechanisms to ensure compliance with the
GDPR, including as implemented by individual countries. Compliance with the GDPR will be a rigorous and time-intensive process that may increase
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our cost of doing business or require us to change our business practices, and despite those efforts, there is a risk that we may be subject to fines and
penalties, litigation, and reputational harm in connection with our European activities. Further, the United Kingdom’s decision to leave the European
Union, often referred to as Brexit, has created uncertainty with regard to data protection regulation in the United Kingdom. In particular, it is unclear how
data transfers to and from the United Kingdom will be regulated now that the United Kingdom has left the European Union.

Employees and Human Capital

As of December 31, 2020, we had 31 employees, of which all were full-time employees, 19 were primarily engaged in research and development activities
and 13 hold M.D. or Ph.D. degrees. None of our employees is represented by labor unions or covered by collective bargaining agreements. We consider our
relationship with our employees to be good.
Our human capital resources objectives include, as applicable, identifying, recruiting, retaining, incentivizing and integrating our existing and new
employees, advisors and consultants. The principal purposes of our equity and cash incentive plans are to attract, retain and reward personnel through the
granting of stock-based and cash-based compensation awards, in order to increase shareholder value and the success of our company by motivating such
individuals to perform to the best of their abilities and achieve our objectives.

As an emerging company operating in a competitive industry, much of our success is rooted in the diversity of our teams and our commitment to inclusion.
We value diversity at all levels and continue to focus on extending our diversity and inclusion initiatives across our entire workforce, from working with
managers to develop strategies for building diverse teams to promoting the advancement of leaders from different backgrounds.

Facilities

Our corporate headquarters is located at 80 Guest Street, Boston, Massachusetts, and consists of 19,112 square feet of office space and laboratory space
pursuant to a sublease agreement that expires in May 2025. We believe that these facilities are adequate for our current needs and that suitable additional or
substitute space will be available in the future if needed.

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may become involved in litigation or other legal proceedings as part of our ordinary course of business. We are not currently a party
to any litigation or legal proceedings that, in the opinion of our management, are likely to have a material adverse effect on our business.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated as Olivia Ventures, Inc. in the State of Delaware on March 20, 2018. On June 17, 2020, a wholly-owned subsidiary of ours merged
with and into Compass Therapeutics, a private limited liability company formed in 2014. Following the Merger, Compass Therapeutics was the surviving
entity and became our wholly-owned subsidiary, and all of the outstanding common and preferred membership interests of Compass Therapeutics were
converted into shares of our common stock. On June 17, 2020, we changed our name to Compass Therapeutics, Inc. As a result of the Merger, we acquired
the business of Compass Therapeutics and we will continue the existing business operations of Compass Therapeutics as a public reporting company under
the name Compass Therapeutics, Inc.

Our principal executive offices are located at 80 Guest Street, Suite 601, Boston, Massachusetts 02135, and our telephone number is (617) 500-8099.

Available Information

Our website address is www.compasstherapeutics.com. Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-
K and any amendments to such reports are filed with the SEC. We are subject to the informational requirements of the Exchange Act and file or furnish
reports, proxy statements, and other information with the SEC. Such reports and other information filed by us with the SEC will be available free of charge
on our website at www.compasstherapeutics.com when such reports are available on the SEC’s website. The SEC maintains a website that contains reports,
proxy and information statements, and other information that issuers file electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov.

The contents of the websites referred to above are not incorporated into this filing. Further, our references to the URLs for these websites are intended to be
inactive textual references only.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Unless otherwise stated or the context otherwise indicates, references to the “Company”, “we”, “our”, “us” or similar terms refer to Compass
Therapeutics, Inc. (formerly named Olivia Ventures, Inc.) together with its wholly-owned subsidiaries, including Compass Therapeutics LLC, which we
refer to as Compass Therapeutics.

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our consolidated financial
statements and the related notes and other financial information included in this prospectus. Some of the information contained in this discussion and
analysis or set forth elsewhere in this prospectus, including information with respect to our plans and strategy for our business, includes forward-looking
statements that involve risks and uncertainties as described under the heading “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” elsewhere in this
prospectus. You should review the disclosure under the heading “Risk Factors” in this prospectus for a discussion of important factors that could cause
actual results to differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and
analysis.

 

Overview

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company developing proprietary antibody therapeutics intended to engage the immune system to treat both solid
tumors and hematological malignancies. Our immuno-oncology product candidates include a clinical-stage monoclonal antibody targeting solid tumors, a
novel bispecific targeting PD-1 and PD-L1, and a portfolio of bispecific and monoclonal antibodies at various stages of pre-clinical development. These
product candidates are designed to address three critical components required for an effective immune response to cancer: induction of a potent innate
immune response; activation of the adaptive immune system; and alleviation of immunosuppressive mechanisms used by tumors to evade immune
surveillance and activation. We plan to advance our product candidates through clinical development, either as standalone therapies or in combination with
existing therapies as long as their continued development is supported by clinical and nonclinical data.

Financial Overview

Since our inception, we have devoted substantially all of our efforts to organizing and staffing our company, business planning, raising capital, research and
development activities, building our intellectual property portfolio and providing general and administrative support for these operations. To date, we have
funded our operations to date primarily with proceeds from private placements of preferred and common equity and borrowings under the 2018 loan and
security agreement with Pacific Western Bank, or 2018 Credit Facility. Through December 31, 2020, we had received gross proceeds of $192.5 million
from the sale of equity securities, including $60.5 million in gross proceeds from the sale of our common stock in the Private Placement (as defined below),
and $15.0 million under the 2018 Credit Facility.

We have incurred significant operating losses since inception. We have not generated any revenue since our inception and do not expect to generate any
revenue from the sale of products in the near future, if at all. Our ability to generate product revenue sufficient to achieve profitability will depend heavily
on the successful development and eventual commercialization of our therapies and any future product candidates. Our net losses were $29.5 million and
$34.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and as of December 31, 2020, we had an accumulated deficit of $151.4
million. We expect to continue to incur significant expenses for at least the next several years as we advance through clinical development, develop
additional product candidates and seek regulatory approval of any product candidates that complete clinical development. In addition, if we obtain
marketing approval for any product candidates, we expect to incur significant commercialization expenses related to product manufacturing, marketing,
sales and distribution. We may also incur expenses in connection with the in-licensing or acquisition of additional product candidates. Furthermore, we
expect to incur additional costs associated with operating as a public company, including significant legal, accounting, investor relations, compliance and
other expenses that we did not incur as a private company.

As a result, we will need substantial additional funding to support our continuing operations and pursue our growth strategy. Until such time as we can
generate significant revenue from product sales, if ever, we expect to finance our operations through equity and debt financings, or other capital sources,
which may include collaborations with other companies or other strategic transactions. As of December 31, 2020, we had $47.1 million in cash and cash
equivalents. Based on our research and development plans, we expect that these cash resources will enable us to fund our operating expenses and capital
expenditures requirements into the second quarter of 2022. We may be unable to raise additional funds or enter into such other agreements or arrangements
when needed on favorable terms, or at all. If we fail to raise capital or enter into such agreements as and when needed, we may have to significantly delay,
reduce or eliminate the development and commercialization of one or more of our product candidates or delay our pursuit of potential in-licenses or
acquisitions.
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Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with product development, we are unable to predict the timing or amount of increased expenses
or when or if we will be able to achieve or maintain profitability. Even if we are able to generate product sales, we may not become profitable. If we fail to
become profitable or are unable to sustain profitability on a continuing basis, then we may be unable to continue our operations at planned levels and be
forced to reduce or terminate our operations. Our financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this
uncertainty.

Listing on the OTCQB Market

On March 4, 2021, shares of our common stock were cleared for trading on the OTCQB Venture Market in the United States under the symbol “CMPX”
and began trading on March 5, 2021.

Reverse Merger

We were originally incorporated as Olivia Ventures, Inc. (“Olivia”) in the State of Delaware on March 20, 2018. Prior to the Merger (as defined below),
Olivia was a “shell company” (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).

On June 17, 2020, we completed a merger (the “Merger”) pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization (the “Merger Agreement”), by
and among us, Compass Acquisition LLC and Compass Therapeutics, and, as a result, Compass Therapeutics became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. Additionally, certain of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, each, a Blocker Merger Sub, merged with and into the applicable blocker entity, or the
Blockers, in transactions which we refer to as the Blocker Mergers.

At the effective time of the Merger and the applicable effective time of each Blocker Merger, collectively, the Effective Time, an aggregate of 31,627,139
shares of its common stock were issued to holders of common membership interests of Compass Therapeutics (including common membership interests
issued upon the conversion of preferred membership interests) and 7,428,217 shares of its common stock were issued to the holders of equity interests of
the Blockers. The issuances of shares of our common stock to the security holders of Compass Therapeutics and the Blockers are collectively referred to as
the Share Conversion.

In addition, 2,930,836 shares of our common stock were reserved for issuance under our 2020 Stock Option and Incentive Plan. Immediately prior to the
Effective Time, an aggregate of 4,000,000 of the 5,000,000 shares of our common stock held by pre-Merger stockholders of Olivia Ventures, Inc. were
forfeited and surrendered for cancellation, or the Stock Forfeiture.

The Merger and the Blocker Mergers were treated as a recapitalization and reverse acquisition by us for financial reporting purposes. Compass
Therapeutics is considered the acquirer for accounting purposes, and the historical financial statements of Olivia before the Merger have been replaced with
the historical financial statements of Compass Therapeutics in this and future filings with the SEC. The Merger is intended to be treated as a tax-free
reorganization under Section 368(a) of the Code.

The following discussion highlights Compass Therapeutics, Inc.’s consolidated results of operations and the principal factors that have affected our
financial condition as well as our liquidity and capital resources for the periods described, and provides information that management believes is relevant
for an assessment and understanding of the consolidated balance sheets and the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss presented
herein. The following discussion and analysis are based on our consolidated financial statements contained in this prospectus, which we have prepared in
accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles. You should read this discussion and analysis together with such consolidated
financial statements and the related notes thereto.

Private Placement Offering

On June 19, 2020, we sold 12,096,442 shares of our common stock pursuant to the Private Placement offering of our common stock at a purchase price of
$5.00 per share. The aggregate gross proceeds from the Private Placement were approximately $60.5 million (before deducting placement agent fees and
other expenses in connection with the Private Placement).

In connection with the Private Placement, we agreed to pay the placement agents, Raymond James & Associates, Inc., B. Riley FBR, Inc. and Katalyst
Securities LLC and other legal and accounting private placement costs of $6.3 million, for net proceeds of $54.2 million.

The Private Placement was exempt from registration under Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated by the SEC
thereunder. The common stock in the Private Placement was sold to “accredited investors”, as defined in Regulation D, and was conducted on a
“reasonable best efforts” basis.

88



 

COVID-19 Update

In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus, COVID-19, was reported to have surfaced in Wuhan, China. As of February 2021, COVID-19 has spread
to Europe, the United States and many other countries, and has been declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization. In an effort to contain the
spread of COVID-19, the United States, Europe and Asia have implemented severe travel restrictions, social distancing requirements, stay-at-home or
shelter-in-place orders and have delayed the commencement of non-COVID-19-related clinical trials, among other restrictions. As a result, the COVID-19
pandemic has presented a substantial public health and economic challenge around the world and is affecting our employees, communities and business
operations, as well as contributing to significant volatility and negative pressure on the U.S. economy and in financial markets. The full extent to which the
COVID-19 pandemic will directly or indirectly impact our business, results of operations and financial condition will depend on future developments that
are highly uncertain and cannot be accurately predicted, including new information that may emerge concerning COVID-19, the actions taken to contain it
or mitigate its impact, and the economic impact on local, regional, national and international markets.

We have been carefully monitoring the COVID-19 pandemic and its potential impact on our business and have taken important steps to help ensure the
safety of our employees and their families and to reduce the spread of COVID-19 community-wide. We are ensuring that essential staffing levels at our
operations remain in place, including maintaining key personnel in our laboratory facilities. We have implemented stringent safety measures designed to
create a safe and clean environment for our employees as we continue to comply with applicable federal, state and local guidelines instituted in response to
the COVID-19 pandemic.

To date, we have been able to continue to pursue our Phase 1 clinical trial without significant delays or major difficulties despite the COVID-19 pandemic.
Nevertheless, we could experience some temporary delays or disruptions due to the COVID-19 pandemic, including limited or reduced patient access to
trial investigators, hospitals and trial sites, delayed initiation of new clinical trial sites and limited on-site personnel support at various trial sites, which
could adversely impact our development plans, including the initiation of planned clinical trials and our ability to conduct ongoing clinical trials. We also
expect that COVID-19 precautions may directly or indirectly impact (i) our employees and business operations or personnel at third-party suppliers and
other vendors in the U.S. and other countries, (ii) the availability, cost or supply of materials, and (iii) the timeline for our ongoing clinical trial and
potential future trials. We are continuing to assess the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our current and future business and operations,
including our expenses and clinical trials, as well as on our industry and the healthcare system.

Components of Results of Operations

Research and development

Research and development expenses consist primarily of costs incurred in connection with the development of our product candidates, CTX-471 and CTX-
8371, as well as unrelated preclinical and discovery program expenses. We expense research and development costs as incurred. These expenses include:

 • employee-related expenses, including salaries, related benefits and equity-based compensation expense, for employees engaged in research
and development functions;

 • Contract Research Organizations (“CROs”) that are primarily engaged to support the clinical development of our product candidates;

 • Contract Manufacturing Organizations (“CMOs”) that are primarily engaged to provide drug substance and drug product for our clinical
trials, research and development programs, as well as investigative sites and consultants that conduct our clinical trials, nonclinical studies
and other scientific development services;

 • the cost of acquiring and manufacturing nonclinical and clinical trial materials, including manufacturing registration and validation batches;

 • costs related to compliance with quality and regulatory requirements; and

 • payments made under third-party licensing agreements.

Advance payments that we make for goods or services to be received in the future for use in research and development activities are recorded as prepaid
expenses. Such amounts are recognized as an expense as the goods are delivered or the related services are performed, or until it is no longer expected that
the goods will be delivered or the services rendered.
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Product candidates in later stages of clinical development generally have higher development costs than those in earlier stages of clinical development,
primarily due to the increased size and duration of later-stage clinical trials. We expect that our research and development expenses will increase
substantially in connection with our planned clinical development activities in the future. At this time, we cannot accurately estimate or know the nature,
timing and costs of the efforts that will be necessary to complete the clinical development of any future product candidates.

Our clinical development costs may vary significantly based on factors such as:

 • per patient trial costs;

 • the number of trials required for approval;

 • the number of sites included in the trials;

 • the location where the trials are conducted;

 • the length of time required to enroll eligible patients;

 • the number of patients that participate in the trials;

 • the number of doses that patients receive;

 • the drop-out or discontinuation rates of patients;

 • potential additional safety monitoring requested by regulatory agencies;

 • the duration of patient participation in the trials and follow-up;

 • the cost and timing of manufacturing our product candidates;

 • the phase of development of our product candidates; and

 • the efficacy and safety profile of our product candidates.

The successful development and commercialization of product candidates is highly uncertain. This is due to the numerous risks and uncertainties associated
with product development and commercialization, including the following:

 • the timing and progress of nonclinical and clinical development activities;

 • the number and scope of nonclinical and clinical programs we decide to pursue;

 • raising necessary additional funds;

 • the progress of the development efforts of parties with whom we may enter into collaboration arrangements;

 • our ability to maintain our current development program and to establish new ones;

 • our ability to establish new licensing or collaboration arrangements;

 • the successful initiation and completion of clinical trials with safety, tolerability and efficacy profiles that are satisfactory to the FDA or any
comparable foreign regulatory authority;

 • the receipt and related terms of regulatory approvals from applicable regulatory authorities;

 • the availability of drug substance and drug product for use in production of our product candidate;
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 • establishing and maintaining agreements with third-party manufacturers for clinical supply for our clinical trials and commercial
manufacturing, if our product candidates are approved;

 • our ability to obtain and maintain patents, trade secret protection and regulatory exclusivity, both in the United States and internationally;

 • our ability to protect our rights in our intellectual property portfolio;

 • the commercialization of our product candidate, if and when approved;

 • obtaining and maintaining third-party insurance coverage and adequate reimbursement;

 • the acceptance of our product candidate, if approved, by patients, the medical community and third-party payors;

 • competition with other products;

 • the impact of any business interruptions to our operations, including the timing and enrollment of patients in our planned clinical trials, or to
those of our manufacturers, suppliers, or other vendors resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic or similar public health crisis; and

 • a continued acceptable safety profile of our therapies following approval.

A change in the outcome of any of these variables with respect to the development of our product candidates could significantly change the costs and
timing associated with the development of that product candidate. We may never succeed in obtaining regulatory approval for any of our product
candidates.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related costs for personnel in executive, finance, corporate and business development,
and administrative functions. General and administrative expenses also include legal fees relating to patent and corporate matters; professional fees for
accounting, auditing, tax and administrative consulting services; insurance costs; administrative travel expenses; marketing expenses and other operating
costs.

We anticipate that our general and administrative expenses will increase in the future as we increase our headcount to support our business operations. We
also anticipate that we will incur increased accounting, audit, legal, regulatory, compliance and director and officer insurance costs, as well as investor and
public relations expenses associated with being a public company.

Interest expense

Interest expense consists primarily of cash interest under our 2018 Credit Facility that we entered into in March 2018 and the related non-cash interest
attributable to the amortization of deferred financing costs incurred in connection with this facility.

Other income (expense)

Other income (expense) consists of the change in fair value of derivative liability, realized loss on sale of furniture and equipment and interest income
received on our cash equivalents.

Our 2018 Credit Facility includes contingent interest rate reset features and a contingent feature to pay a success fee upon the occurrence of certain
liquidity events as defined in the credit agreement. These features had been bifurcated from the 2018 Credit Facility, recorded at their estimated fair values
and re-measured at each reporting period until they were exercised, expire, or otherwise settled. The success fee was settled in its entirety in June 2020 in
connection with the Merger.

Income taxes

Compass Therapeutics, a Delaware limited liability company and the business that was acquired in the Merger, is treated as a partnership for income tax
reporting purposes and therefore, federal and state income taxes are the responsibility of its individual members. As such, no federal or state income taxes
related to the limited liability company are recorded in our condensed consolidated financial statements. The wholly-owned subsidiary of Compass
Therapeutics, Compass Therapeutics Advisors Inc., is organized as a
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C corporation and is subject to federal and state income taxes. All such taxes have been recorded in our consolidated financial statements. The Company
recorded a deferred income tax asset of $6.6 million primarily related to a net operating loss carryforward and research and development tax credit
carryforward. The asset has a corresponding full deferred income tax valuation allowance. Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, if a corporation undergoes an ownership change (generally defined as a greater than 50% change (by value) in the ownership of its equity over a
three year period), the corporation’s ability to use its pre-change net operating loss carryforwards and certain other pre-change tax attributes to offset its
post-change income may be limited. We may have experienced such ownership changes in the past, and we may experience ownership changes in the
future as a result of shifts in our stock ownership, some of which are outside our control. See Note 15 to our financial statements appearing elsewhere in
this prospectus.

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

The following table summarizes the results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively:
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2020   2019   Change  

  (000's)  
Operating expenses:    

Research and development  $ 14,904  $ 22,449  $ (7,545)
General and administrative   12,908   11,603   1,305 

Total operating expenses   27,812   34,052   (6,240)
Loss from operations   (27,812)   (34,052)   6,240 

Other income (expense):             
Interest expense   (908)   (1,228)   320 
Other income (expense), net   (748)   627   (1,375)

Total other expense   (1,656)   (601)   (1,055)
Loss before income tax expense   (29,468)   (34,653)   5,185 

Income tax expense   (32)   (91)   59 
Net loss  $ (29,500)  $ (34,744)  $ 5,244 

 
Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses decreased by $7.5 million from $22.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 to $14.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2020. This decrease was primarily attributable to a reduction in our research and development personnel and related expenses, and the
completion of our preclinical efforts for our lead product candidate, CTX-471. We initiated efforts to reduce our research and development workforce in
April 2019 which resulted in a decrease in salaries and related benefits of $3.2 million. In addition, the transition of CTX-471 to the clinic and the
completion of pre-clinical studies and filing of our IND in 2019 resulted in research and development expenses decreasing by $4.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2020, of which $1.5 million was due to a milestone payment we made under our collaboration agreement with Adimab LLC in 2019
while no such payments were made in 2020. Other research and development expenses decreased by $0.3 million. The decrease was partially offset by $0.5
million in increased manufacturing fees resulting from initiating a manufacturing campaign for our product candidate CTX-8371.

We track supplies, outsourced development, outsourced personnel costs and other external research and development costs of specific programs. We do not
track our internal labor or facility costs on a program-by-program basis. Research and development expenses are summarized by program in the table
below:
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2020   2019  
  (000's)  

CTX-471  $ 3,102  $ 5,587 
CTX-8371   1,487   34 
NKp30 cell engagement platform   108   849 
Other research and development expenses   10,207   15,979 
Total research and development expenses  $ 14,904  $ 22,449 
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We recently decided to deprioritize our development efforts for our NKp30 innate cell engager platform.
 

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by $1.3 million from $11.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 to $12.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2020. The increase was primarily attributable to the issuance of stock options which resulted in an increase in stock-based
compensation expense of $2.9 million, as well as an increase in legal and professional fees of $1.6 million associated with transitioning to operating as a
public company. These increases were partially offset by a decrease in salaries and related benefits of $2.3 million related to reduced headcount and we
began allocating employee benefits to research and development according to headcount in 2020. In addition, the increases were offset by decreased legal
costs associated with our intellectual property of $0.7 million and decreased facilities costs of $0.2 million. The reduced headcount was the result of efforts
we initiated in April 2019 which resulted in a decrease in salaries and related benefits. We anticipate that our general and administrative expenses will
continue to increase in future periods as we expand our operations to support our research and development efforts and operate as a public company.

Interest expense

Interest expense was $0.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to $1.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2019. Pursuant
to our 2018 Credit Facility, we began making principal payments in April 2020, reducing the average outstanding balance of our debt in the second quarter
of 2020.

Other income (expense)

Interest income decreased by $0.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to 2019 and was primarily attributable lower interest rates
on our cash and cash equivalents. We recognized an increase in our derivative liability of $0.4 million. The increase in fair value of the derivative liability
was attributable to a liquidity event occurring whereby a success fee payment became payable pursuant to our 2018 Credit Facility. This fee was paid in
June 2020 following the Merger. There was a realized loss of $0.3 million from the sale of equipment in conjunction with our move to a new location.

Income tax expense

During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, we recognized income tax expense of $32 thousand and $91 thousand, respectively, which were
attributable to the services provided by a wholly-owned subsidiary of Compass Therapeutics, prior to the closing of the Merger.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception, we have not generated any revenue from any product sales or any other sources, and we have incurred significant operating losses. We
have not yet commercialized any products and we do not expect to generate revenue from sales of products for several years, if at all. To date, we have
funded our operations to date primarily with proceeds from private placements of preferred and common equity and borrowings under the 2018 Credit
Facility. Through December 31, 2020, we had received gross proceeds of $192.5 million from the sale of equity securities, including $60.5 million from the
sale of our common stock in the Private Placement (as described above). In addition, we received $15.0 million in term loan borrowings under the 2018
Credit Facility, of which $9.3 million was outstanding as of December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, we had cash and cash equivalents of $47.1
million.

Indebtedness

In March 2018, we entered into the 2018 Credit Facility with Pacific Western Bank which matures on March 1, 2022 and consists of $15.0 million in term
loans. The term loans bear interest at the greater of (i) 6.25% and (ii) the prime rate plus an applicable margin of 2.0%. On December 31, 2020, the interest
rate was 6.25%. In an event of default, as defined in the agreement, the interest rate applicable to borrowings would increase by 5.0%. We made interest-
only payments through March 31, 2020, and beginning in April 2020, we began to make equal monthly principal payments of $625 thousand, which we are
required to be made through March 31, 2022. The 2018 Credit Facility allows us to prepay the outstanding principal at any time, subject to a 0.5%
prepayment charge on the then-outstanding principal amount. As of December 31, 2020, $9.3 million was outstanding. The 2018 Credit Facility included a
success fee of $1.1 million to the lender which was paid upon completion of the Merger. See additional details of the 2018 Credit Facility in Note 7 to our
financial statements appearing elsewhere in this prospectus.
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Funding Requirements

Our primary use of cash is to fund operating expenses, primarily research and development expenditures. Cash used to fund operating expenses is impacted
by the timing of when we pay these expenses, as reflected in the change in our outstanding accounts payable, accrued expenses and prepaid expenses.
Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with research, development and commercialization of pharmaceutical products, we are unable
to estimate the exact amount of our operating capital requirements. Our future funding requirements will depend on many factors, including, but not limited
to:

 • the scope, timing, progress and results of discovery, preclinical development, laboratory testing and clinical trials for our product candidates;

 • the costs of manufacturing our product candidates for clinical trials and in preparation for marketing approval and commercialization;

 • the extent to which we enter into collaborations or other arrangements with additional third parties in order to further develop our product
candidates;

 • the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and enforcing our intellectual property rights and defending
intellectual property-related claims;

 • the costs and fees associated with the discovery, acquisition or in-license of additional product candidates or technologies;

 • our ability to establish additional collaborations on favorable terms, if at all;

 • the costs required to scale up our clinical, regulatory and manufacturing capabilities;

 • the costs of future commercialization activities, if any, including establishing sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution capabilities,
for any of our product candidates for which we receive marketing approval; and

 • revenue, if any, received from commercial sales of our product candidates, should any of our product candidates receive marketing approval.

We will need additional funds to meet operational needs and capital requirements for clinical trials, other research and development expenditures, and
business development activities. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with the development and commercialization of our product
candidates, we are unable to estimate the amounts of increased capital outlays and operating expenditures associated with our current and anticipated
clinical studies.

Cash Flows

The following table shows a summary of our cash flows for the periods indicated:
 

  Year ended December 31,  
  2020   2019  
  (000's)  
Cash used in operating activities  $ (26,803)  $ (31,741)
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities   38   (466)
Cash provided by financing activities   48,538   — 
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash  $ 21,773  $ (32,207)

 
Operating Activities

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we used $26.8 million of cash in operating activities, resulting from our net loss of $29.5 million and the
change in operating assets and liabilities of $4.6 million, offset by non-cash charges of $7.3 million. Our non-cash charges were comprised of depreciation
and amortization of $2.4 million, loss on disposal of equipment of $0.3 million, share-based compensation expense of $4.0 million, non-cash interest
expense of $90 thousand, and a change in fair value of our derivative liability of $0.5 million. The change in our operating assets was primarily related to
an increase in prepaid manufacturing expenses, the settlement of a derivative liability and a decrease in our accrued expenses due to the timing in which we
pay our vendors.
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During the year ended December 31, 2019, we used $31.7 million of cash in operating activities, resulting from net loss of $34.7 million and the change in
operating assets and liabilities of $0.3 million, offset by non-cash charges of $3.3 million. Our non-cash charges were comprised of depreciation and
amortization of $2.1 million, unit-based compensation expense of $0.9 million, a change in fair value of our derivative liability of $0.1 million and non-
cash interest expense of $0.1 million. The change in our operating assets was primarily related to the decrease in our accounts payable offset by the
decrease in prepaid expenses and the increase in accrued expenses.

Investing Activities

During the year ended December 31, 2020, cash provided by investing activities was $38 thousand attributed to the sale of equipment for which we
received $0.1 million, offset by $0.1 million in purchases of equipment. During the year ended December 31, 2019, cash used in investing activities was
$0.5 million and is for the purchase of property and equipment.

Financing Activities

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we received net cash proceeds of $48.5 million from financing activities. This was primarily due to the closing
of a Private Placement in June 2020, which resulted in net proceeds of $54.2 million that were partially offset by $5.6 million in payments under the 2018
Credit Facility. We had no financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2019.

Future Funding Requirements

We expect our expenses to increase substantially in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as we advance our lead product candidate into the
expansion stage of our Phase 1 trial and our second product candidate to IND-enabling studies. The timing and amount of our operating expenditures will
depend largely on:

 • the initiation, progress, timing, costs and results of clinical trials for our product candidate or any future product candidates we may develop;

 • the initiation, progress, timing, costs and results of nonclinical studies for our product candidates or any future product candidates we may
develop;

 • our ability to maintain our relationships with key collaborators;

 • the outcome, timing and cost of seeking and obtaining regulatory approvals from the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities,
including the potential for such authorities to require that we perform more nonclinical studies or clinical trials than those that we currently
expect or change their requirements on studies that had previously been agreed to;

 • the cost to establish, maintain, expand, enforce and defend the scope of our intellectual property portfolio, including the amount and timing of
any payments we may be required to make, or that we may receive, in connection with licensing, preparing, filing, prosecuting, defending
and enforcing any patents or other intellectual property rights;

 • the effect of competing technological and market developments;

 • the costs of continuing to grow our business, including hiring key personnel and maintain or acquiring operating space;

 • market acceptance of any approved product candidates, including product pricing, as well as product coverage and the adequacy of
reimbursement by third-party payors;

 • the cost of acquiring, licensing or investing in additional businesses, products, product candidates and technologies;

 • the cost and timing of selecting, auditing and potentially validating a manufacturing site for commercial-scale manufacturing;

 • the cost of establishing sales, marketing and distribution capabilities for any product candidates for which we may receive regulatory
approval and that we determine to commercialize; and
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 • our need to implement additional internal systems and infrastructure, including financial and reporting systems.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2020 will enable us to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure
requirements into the second quarter of 2022. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could exhaust our available
capital resources sooner than we expect. We expect that we will require additional funding to complete the clinical development of CTX-471, initiate
clinical development of CTX-8371, commercialize our product candidates, if we receive regulatory approval, and pursue in-licenses or acquisitions of other
product candidates. If we receive regulatory approval for CTX-471 and CTX-8371 or other product candidates, we expect to incur significant
commercialization expenses related to product manufacturing, sales, marketing and distribution, depending on where we choose to commercialize our
product candidates.

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenue, we expect to finance our cash needs through a combination of equity and debt
financings, collaborations, strategic alliances, and marketing, distribution or licensing arrangements with third parties. To the extent that we raise additional
capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, our shareholders’ ownership interests may be materially diluted, and the terms of such
securities could include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect your rights as a common stockholder. Debt financing and preferred equity
financing, if available, may involve agreements that include restrictive covenants that limit our ability to take specified actions, such as incurring additional
debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends. If we raise funds through collaborations, strategic alliances or marketing, distribution or licensing
arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or product
candidates or grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us. If we are unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt financings or other
arrangements when needed, we may be required to delay, reduce or eliminate our product development or future commercialization efforts, or grant rights
to develop and market product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2020 and the effects that such obligations are expected to have on our
liquidity and cash flows in future periods:
 

  Payments due by Period (000's)(4)  

  Total   
Less than

1 year   
1 to 3
years   

3 to 5
years   

More than
5 years  

Principal and interest payments on long-term debt(1)  $ 9,771  $ 7,876  $ 1,895  $ —  $ — 
Operating lease commitments(2)   6,065   1,440   2,658   1,967   — 
Manufacturing commitments(3)   2,195   2,195   —   —   — 

Total  $ 18,031  $ 11,511  $ 4,553  $ 1,967  $ — 
 
(1) Interest payable reflects the rate in effect as of December 31, 2020. The interest rate on borrowings under the 2018 Credit Facility is variable and

resets monthly.
(2) Reflects payments due for our leases of office and laboratory space in Cambridge, Massachusetts under an operating lease agreement that expired in

January 2021 and in Boston, Massachusetts under an operating lease agreement that expires in May 2025.
(3) Amounts in the table reflect the non-cancelable purchase commitments under an agreement with an external CMO, which we have engaged to

manufacture preclinical and clinical trial materials.
(4) This table does not include (i) any milestone payments that are not deemed probable under license agreements as the timing and likelihood of such

payments are not known with certainty, (ii) any royalty payments to third parties as the amounts, timing and likelihood of such payments are not
known, and (iii) contracts that are entered into in the ordinary course of business that are not material in the aggregate in any period presented above.

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, or GAAP. The
preparation of our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amount of
revenue and expenses during the reporting period. We base our estimates on historical experience, known trends and events, and various other factors that
we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. Our actual results may differ
from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

96



 

While our significant accounting policies are described in more detail in Note 3 to our financial statements appearing elsewhere in this prospectus, we
believe that the following accounting policies are the most critical to the judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial
statements.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses consist primarily of costs incurred in connection with the development of our product candidates. We expense research
and development costs as incurred.

At the end of each reporting period, we compare payments made to third-party service providers to the estimated progress toward completion of the
applicable research or development objectives. Such estimates are subject to change as additional information becomes available. Depending on the timing
of payments to the service providers and the progress that we estimate has been made as a result of the service provided, we may record net prepaid or
accrued expenses relating to these costs. As of December 31, 2020, we have not made any material adjustments to our prior estimates of accrued research
and development expenses.

Valuation of Derivative Liability

Our derivative liability is comprised of the contingent interest rate reset features and a contingent feature to pay a success fee upon the occurrence of
certain liquidity events under the 2018 Credit Facility. At issuance and at each reporting period, we are required to estimate the fair value of the derivative
liability using a probability-weighted expected return method. This method requires judgment when estimating the timing and probability of future events,
such as a change in control event, future liquidity events, and repayment of our debt obligation under the 2018 Credit Facility. We then apply a risk-
adjusted discount rate reflecting the expected risk profile for each of the potential settlement scenarios and relating timing. Due to the nature of and inputs
in the model used to assess the fair value of the future tranche rights, it is not abnormal to experience significant fluctuations during each remeasurement
period. The contingent success fee derivative was settled at the time of the Merger in June 2020.

Stock Awards and Unit-Based Compensation

The following table summarizes stock awards and unit-based compensation expense:
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2020   2019  
  (000's)  
Research and development  $ 605  $ 383 
General and administrative   3,411   532 

Total unit-based compensation  $ 4,016  $ 915 

See Notes 3 and 9 to our financial statements appearing elsewhere in this prospectus for additional stock compensation information.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We did not have during the periods presented, and we do not currently have, any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in the rules and regulations of
the SEC.

Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

A description of recently issued accounting pronouncements that may potentially impact our financial position and results of operations is disclosed in Note
3 to our financial statements appearing in this Annual Report.
JOBS Act

In April 2012, the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act, was enacted. Under Section 107(b) of the JOBS Act, an “emerging
growth company” can delay the adoption of new or revised accounting standards until such time as those standards would apply to private companies. We
have made the election to delay the adoption of such accounting standards as provided in the JOBS Act. There are other exemptions and reduced reporting
requirements provided by the JOBS Act that we are currently evaluating. For example, as an “emerging growth company”, we are exempt from Sections
14A(a) and (b) of the Exchange Act that would otherwise require us to (i) submit certain executive compensation matters to stockholder advisory votes,
such as “say-on-pay”, “say-on-frequency”, and “golden parachutes”; and (ii) disclose certain executive compensation related items such as the correlation
between executive compensation and performance and comparisons of our Chief Executive Officer’s compensation to our median

97



 
employee compensation. We also intend to rely on an exemption from the rule requiring us to provide an auditor’s attestation report on our internal controls
over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. We will continue to remain an “emerging growth company” until the earliest
of the following: (i) the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the date of the first sale of our common stock pursuant to an effective
registration statement; (ii) the last day of the fiscal year in which our total annual gross revenue is equal to or more than $1.07 billion; (iii) the date on
which we have issued more than $1 billion in nonconvertible debt during the previous three years; or (iv) the date on which we are deemed to be a large
accelerated filer under the rules of the SEC.
 
Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

As of the Effective Time for the Merger, (i) Raich Ende Malter & Co. LLP, or REM, was dismissed as our independent registered public accounting firm,
and (ii) our board of directors engaged CohnReznick LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm to audit the Company’s financial statements
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.

REM’s audit report to our financial statements for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2018 and 2019 did not contain an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of
opinion and was not qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles.

During the fiscal years ended March 31, 2018 and 2019 and the subsequent interim period through the date of REM’s dismissal, there were no
disagreements with REM on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure or auditing scope or procedure, which
disagreements, if not resolved to the satisfaction of REM, would have caused it to make reference to the subject matter thereof in connection with its report.

During the fiscal years ended March 31, 2018 and 2019 and the subsequent interim period through the date of REM’s dismissal, neither the Company nor
anyone acting on its behalf consulted CohnReznick LLP regarding the application of accounting principles to a specified transaction, either completed or
proposed, or the type of audit opinion that might be rendered on the Company’s financial statements.

We have provided REM with a copy of this registration statement prior to the filing hereof and have requested that REM furnish to us a letter addressed to
the SEC stating whether REM agrees with the statements made herein. REM has furnished such letter, which is filed as Exhibit 16.1 hereto, as required by
Item 304(a)(3) of Regulation S-K.
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DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, PROMOTERS AND CONTROL PERSONS

The following table sets forth the names and certain information regarding each of our directors and executive officers as of February 28, 2021:
 
Name

 
Age

 
Position(s)

 
Executive Officers   
Thomas J. Schuetz, M.D., Ph.D. 60 Chief Executive Officer, President and Director
Vered Bisker-Leib, Ph.D., MBA 49 President & Chief Operating Officer
Non-Employee Directors   
Phil Ferneau, MBA, J.D.(1)(2) 59 Director
Carl L. Gordon, Ph.D., CFA(2) 56 Director
Brett Kaplan, M.D.(1) 47 Director
Steven Squinto, Ph.D.(3) 64 Director
Julie Sunderland, MBA(1)(3) 47 Director
(1) Member of audit committee.
(2) Member of compensation committee.
(3) Member of nominating and corporate governance committee.

Executive Officers

Thomas J. Schuetz, M.D., Ph.D., has served as our Chief Executive Officer since the closing of the Merger, and prior to that time served as Chief
Executive Officer of Compass Therapeutics since 2014. He has over 20 years of experience in oncology, biopharmaceutical drug development and life
science venture investing. Dr. Schuetz co-founded Compass Therapeutics in 2014 following conceptual discussions while he was a venture partner at
OrbiMed Advisors LLC. As a physician-scientist and serial entrepreneur, he aspired to create an antibody therapeutic company based on novel biology,
protein engineering and key medical insights gathered throughout his career. While at OrbiMed, Dr. Schuetz co-founded Audentes Therapeutics, now a
publicly traded biotechnology company where he remains a director. Also at OrbiMed, he participated in the investments in Enobia Pharma, Relypsa and
Arteaus Therapeutics, and served as a director at each of those companies. Enobia was acquired by Alexion Pharmaceuticals in 2011, Relypsa was acquired
by Galencia in 2016 and Arteaus was acquired by Eli Lilly in 2014. Dr. Schuetz has multiple years of clinical strategy, development and operations
experience including roles as chief medical officer of Therion Biologics Corporation, a cancer vaccine company, and as the vice president of clinical affairs
at Transkaryotic Therapies, a company acquired by Shire. Dr. Schuetz completed his medical training at Massachusetts General Hospital, where he served
as the chief medical resident, and completed a medical oncology fellowship at the Dana-Farber Cancer Institute. Dr. Schuetz holds a B.S. in chemistry from
Xavier University, an M.D. from Harvard Medical School and a Ph.D. in genetics from Harvard University. He is board certified in medical oncology. We
believe that based on Dr. Schuetz's knowledge of our company, industry and business and his service as Compass's Chief Executive Officer, Dr. Schuetz is
qualified to serve on our board of directors.

Vered Bisker-Leib, Ph.D., MBA, has served as our Chief Operating Officer since the closing of the Merger, and in August 2020, she was promoted to the
role of President and Chief Operating Officer. Dr. Bisker-Leib joined Compass Therapeutics in 2017 as its chief business officer and was promoted to Chief
Operating Officer in January 2020. In her current role, Dr. Bisker-Leib leads a team that spearheads finance, corporate development, strategy, operations,
legal affairs and public and investor relations. Dr. Bisker-Leib is also a member of the board of directors of Ayala Pharmaceuticals. Prior to Compass, Dr.
Bisker-Leib served as an executive-in-residence with Atlas Venture, where she provided business guidance to seed-stage companies. Previously, Dr. Bisker-
Leib was the chief business officer of Cydan, a biotech accelerator, where she co-founded biotech companies focused on therapies addressing rare diseases.
Before joining Cydan, Dr. Bisker-Leib was a member of Bristol-Myers Squibb’s strategic transactions group where she assumed roles of increasing
responsibility across five therapeutic areas, most recently as an executive director and global head of business development for the cardiovascular and
metabolic franchises. Dr. Bisker-Leib earned her Ph.D. in chemical engineering and M.B.A. from University of Massachusetts, Amherst, where she was a
Lois Pope M.B.A. Scholar. She has a B.Sc. in chemical engineering from the Israel Institute of Technology in Haifa.

 

Board Composition

Non-Employee Directors

Phil Ferneau, MBA, J.D., has served as a member of our board of directors since the closing of the Merger, and prior to that time served as a member of
the board of directors of Compass Therapeutics since 2015. Mr. Ferneau is co-founder and Managing Partner of Borealis Ventures, a venture capital firm
focused on healthcare opportunities. He currently leads Borealis’ investments in Adimab,
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Amagma Therapeutics, Avitide, Evox Therapeutics, Orbit Discovery, Ovation.io, Teckro and T-Cypher Bio. Mr. Ferneau was also responsible for the firm’s
prior investments in Avedro (IPO, then acquired by Glaukos: GKOS), GlycoFi (acquired by Merck & Co.), M2S (acquired by AIG Altaris Health Partners),
and Vets First Choice (now Covetrus: CVET). Mr. Ferneau received an A.B. degree from Dartmouth College, a J.D. from the University of Virginia School
of Law and an M.B.A. (with High Distinction) from the Tuck School of Business at Dartmouth. We believe that Mr. Ferneau is qualified to serve on our
board of directors based on his extensive investment experience.

Carl L. Gordon, Ph.D., CFA, has served as a member of our board of directors since the closing of the Merger, and prior to that time served as a member
of the board of directors of Compass Therapeutics since 2015. Dr. Gordon is a founding member, Managing Partner, and Co-Head of Global Private Equity
at OrbiMed Advisors LLC, an investment firm. Dr. Gordon currently serves on the boards of directors of Adicet Bio, Inc., Keros Therapeutics Inc., Kinnate
Biopharma, Inc., ORIC Pharmaceuticals Inc., and Prevail Therapeutics, Inc., as well as several private companies. Dr. Gordon previously served on the
boards of directors of several companies, including Alector Inc., Arsanis, Inc. (which merged with X4 Pharmaceuticals, Inc.), ARMO Biosciences, Inc.,
Intellia Therapeutics, Inc., Passage Bio Inc., Selecta Biosciences, Inc., SpringWorks Therapeutics, Inc., and Turning Point Therapeutics, Inc. Dr. Gordon
received a B.A. in Chemistry from Harvard College, a Ph.D. in Molecular Biology from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, and was a Fellow at
The Rockefeller University. We believe that Dr. Gordon is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to his scientific expertise, extensive business
experience, and experience in venture capital and the life science industry.

Brett Kaplan, M.D., has served as a member of our board of directors since September 2020. Dr. Kaplan is the Chief Financial Officer of Prevail
Therapeutics, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Eli Lilly, a clinical-stage gene therapy biotechnology company, focused on neurodegenerative disorders. Dr.
Kaplan joined Prevail in 2018, which has raised $175 million in equity financing, including the company’s $125 million IPO. From August 2010 to
November 2018, Dr. Kaplan worked at Evercore, an investment bank, where he most recently served as Managing Director. At Evercore, he was involved
in numerous strategic and financing transactions, including advising Bristol-Myers Squibb on its acquisitions of Celgene and Amylin and Takeda on its
acquisitions of Shire and of Ariad, and the merger of Akebia and Keryx. Prior to Evercore, Dr. Kaplan was an Equity Research Analyst at Cowen and
Company, an investment bank, from 2007 to 2010. Previously, Dr. Kaplan served as Director of Corporate Development at Cubist Pharmaceuticals, a
pharmaceutical company acquired by Merck & Co., Inc. in 2014, Manager of Strategic Medical Marketing at Biopure Corporation, and Manager of
Corporate Development and Strategy at Eli Lilly and Company. Dr. Kaplan received an M.B.B.Ch. and an M.B.A. from the University of Witwatersrand.

Steven Squinto, Ph.D., has served as a member of our board of directors since the closing of the Merger, and prior to that time served as a member of the
board of directors of Compass Therapeutics since 2015. Dr. Squinto is an executive partner with OrbiMed Advisors LLC and has over twenty-five years of
biotechnology industry experience. Dr. Squinto was a co-founder of Alexion Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and served as its executive vice president and chief
global operations officer. Prior to 2013, he was Alexion’s global head of research and development. From 1988 to 1992, Dr. Squinto held various positions
at Regeneron Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Prior to Regeneron, he held a joint academic position at both the Tulane University and LSU Medical Schools. He is a
recipient of numerous honors and awards from academic and professional organizations for his scientific work. Dr. Squinto currently serves on the board of
directors of SpringWorks Therapeutics, Inc. and Passage Bio. Dr. Squinto previously served on the boards of directors of Arvinas, Inc. and Audentes
Therapeutics, Inc. Dr. Squinto received his B.A. in chemistry and Ph.D. in biochemistry and biophysics from Loyola University of Chicago. We believe
that Dr. Squinto is qualified to serve as a director based on his industry experience, including his operational experience in drug discovery and
development, and service on multiple company boards.
 

Julie Sunderland, MBA, has served as a member of our board of directors since the closing of the Merger, and prior to that time served as a member of the
board of directors of Compass Therapeutics since 2019. Ms. Sunderland is the co-founder of and a managing partner at Biomatics Capital Partners. Prior to
founding Biomatics in 2016, Ms. Sunderland was director of program-related investments for the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation. In that role, she led the
foundation’s $1.5 billion strategic investment pool, funded 50 investments, including 30 in healthcare, and built a team of 10 investment professionals. Ms.
Sunderland also chaired Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation’s investment committee, which reviews all program-related investments. Prior to that role, she
advised foundations, development finance institutions and governments on venture capital, SME financing and technical assistance programs. She also sits
on the board of directors for several of Biomatics’ portfolio companies including Aledade, eGenesis, GuideTx and Verana Health. Ms. Sunderland holds a
B.A. from Harvard University, an M.B.A. from Wharton Business School and an M.A. from Johns Hopkins School of Advanced International Studies. We
believe that Ms. Sunderland is qualified to serve as a director based on her industry experience and service on multiple company boards.

Director Independence

Our board of directors has determined that all members of the board of directors except Thomas J. Schuetz are independent directors, including for
purposes of the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules and the federal securities laws and regulations. Thomas J. Schuetz is not an independent director under these
rules because he is an executive officer of our company. In making such independence
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determination, our board of directors considered the relationships that each non-employee director has with us and all other facts and circumstances that
our board of directors deemed relevant in determining their independence, including the beneficial ownership of our capital stock by each non-employee
director. In considering the independence of the directors listed above, our board of directors considered the association of our directors with the holders of
more than 5% of our common stock. The composition and functioning of our board of directors and each of our committees will comply with applicable
Nasdaq requirements and the rules and regulations of the SEC. There are no family relationships among any of our directors and executive officers.

Staggered Board of Directors

In accordance with the terms of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, our board of directors will be divided into three staggered classes of
directors as follows:

 • Class I directors will be Julie Sunderland and Brett Kaplan;

 • Class II directors will be Phil Ferneau and Carl L. Gordon; and

 • Class III directors will be Thomas J. Schuetz and Steven Squinto.

At each annual meeting of the stockholders, a class of directors will be elected for a three-year term to succeed the directors of the same class whose terms
are then expiring. The terms of the directors will expire upon the election and qualification of successor directors at the annual meeting of stockholders to
be held during the years 2021 for Class I directors, 2022 for Class II directors and 2023 for Class III directors.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that the number of directors will be fixed from time to time
by a resolution of a majority vote of the directors then in office.

The division of our board of directors into three classes with staggered three-year terms may delay or prevent stockholder efforts to effect a change of our
management or a change in control.

Role of Board in Risk Oversight Process

We have established a role of the chairperson of the board, which is held by Carl L. Gordon, and we plan to keep this role separated from the role of Chief
Executive Officer. We believe that separating these positions allows our Chief Executive Officer to focus on our day-to-day business, while the chairperson
of the board will lead the board of directors in its fundamental role of providing advice to, and independent oversight of, management. Our board of
directors recognizes the time, effort and energy that the Chief Executive Officer is required to devote to his position in the current business environment, as
well as the commitment required to serve as chairperson of the board, particularly as the board of directors’ oversight responsibilities continue to grow.

Risk is inherent with every business, and how well a business manages risk can ultimately determine its success. We face a number of risks, including risks
relating to our financial condition, development and commercialization activities, operations, strategic direction and intellectual property, as more fully
discussed in the section entitled “Risk Factors” appearing elsewhere in this prospectus. Management is responsible for the day-to-day management of risks
we face, while our board of directors, as a whole and through its committees, has responsibility for the oversight of risk management. In its risk oversight
role, our board of directors has the responsibility to satisfy itself that the risk management processes designed and implemented by management are
adequate and functioning as designed.

The role of the board of directors in overseeing risk management is conducted primarily through the committees of the board of directors, as disclosed in
the descriptions of each of the committees below and in the charters of each of the committees. The full board of directors (or the appropriate board
committee in the case of risks that are under the purview of a particular committee) discusses with management our major risk exposures, their potential
impact on us, and the steps we take to manage them. When a board committee is responsible for evaluating and overseeing the management of a particular
risk or risks, the chairperson of the relevant committee reports on the discussion to the full board of directors during the committee reports portion of the
next board meeting. This enables the board of directors and its committees to coordinate the risk oversight role, particularly with respect to risk
interrelationships.

Board Committees

Our board of directors has established an audit committee, a compensation committee and a nominating and corporate governance committee, each of
which operates pursuant to a charter adopted by our board of directors. The composition and functioning of all of
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our committees complies with all applicable requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and SEC rules and regulations, and will comply with the Nasdaq
Marketplace Rules.

Audit Committee

Phil Ferneau, Brett Kaplan and Julie Sunderland serve on the audit committee, which is chaired by Brett Kaplan. Our board of directors has determined that
Phil Ferneau, Brett Kaplan and Julie Sunderland are “independent” for audit committee purposes as that term is defined under SEC and Nasdaq
Marketplace Rules, and each has sufficient knowledge in financial and auditing matters to serve on the audit committee. Our board of directors has
designated Brett Kaplan as an “audit committee financial expert”, as defined under the applicable rules of the SEC. The audit committee’s responsibilities
include:

 • appointing, approving the compensation of, and assessing the independence of our independent registered public accounting firm;

 • pre-approving auditing and permissible non-audit services, and the terms of such services, to be provided by our independent registered
public accounting firm;

 • reviewing the overall audit plan with our independent registered public accounting firm and members of management responsible for
preparing our financial statements;

 • reviewing and discussing with management and our independent registered public accounting firm our annual and quarterly financial
statements and related disclosures as well as critical accounting policies and practices used by us;

 

 • coordinating the oversight and reviewing the adequacy of our internal control over financial reporting;

 • establishing policies and procedures for the receipt and retention of accounting-related complaints and concerns;

 • recommending, based upon the audit committee’s review and discussions with management and our independent registered public
accounting firm, whether our audited financial statements will be included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K;

 • monitoring the integrity of our financial statements and our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements as they relate to our
financial statements and accounting matters;

 • preparing the audit committee report required by SEC rules to be included in our annual proxy statement;

 • reviewing all related person transactions for potential conflict of interest situations and making recommendations to our board of directors
regarding all such transactions; and

 • reviewing earnings releases.

Compensation Committee

Phil Ferneau and Carl L. Gordon serve on the compensation committee, which is chaired by Carl L. Gordon. Our board of directors has determined that
each member of the compensation committee is “independent” as defined under the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules. The compensation committee’s
responsibilities include:

 • annually reviewing and approving the corporate goals and objectives to be considered in determining the compensation of our Chief
Executive Officer;

 • evaluating the performance of our Chief Executive Officer in light of such corporate goals and objectives and based on such evaluation: (i)
recommending to the board of directors the cash compensation of our Chief Executive Officer and (ii) reviewing and recommending to the
independent directors on the board of directors regarding grants and awards to our Chief Executive Officer under equity-based plans;

 • reviewing and approving the cash compensation of our other executive officers;

 • reviewing and establishing our overall management compensation, philosophy and policy;

 • overseeing and administering our compensation and similar plans;

 • evaluating and assessing potential and current compensation advisors in accordance with the independence standards identified in the
Nasdaq Marketplace Rules;

 • reviewing and approving our policies and procedures for the grant of equity-based awards;

 • reviewing and recommending to the board of directors the compensation of our directors;
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 • preparing the compensation committee report required by SEC rules, if and when required, to be included in our annual proxy statement;
and

 • reviewing and approving the retention, termination or compensation of any consulting firm or outside advisor to assist in the evaluation of
compensation matters.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

Steven Squinto and Julie Sunderland serve on the nominating and corporate governance committee, which is chaired by Steven Squinto. Our board of
directors has determined that each member of the nominating and corporate governance committee is “independent” under the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules.

The nominating and corporate governance committee’s responsibilities include:

 • establishing procedures for identifying and evaluating board of director candidates, including nominees recommended by stockholders;

 • reviewing the composition of the board of directors to ensure that it is composed of members containing the appropriate skills and expertise
to advise us;;

 • reviewing the composition of the board of directors to ensure that it is composed of members containing the appropriate skills and expertise
to advise us;

 • identifying individuals qualified to become members of the board of directors;

 • recommending to the board of directors the persons to be nominated for election as directors and to each of the board’s committees;

 • periodically reviewing and reassessing the adequacy of the code of business conduct and ethics and the corporate governance guidelines;
and

 • overseeing the evaluation of our board of directors and management.

Our board of directors may, from time to time, establish other committees.

 

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

None of the members of our compensation committee has at any time during the prior three years been one of our officers or employees. None of our
executive officers currently serves, or in the past fiscal year has served, as a member of the board of directors or compensation committee of any entity that
has one or more executive officers serving on our board of directors or compensation committee.

Board Diversity

Our nominating and corporate governance committee is responsible for reviewing with the board of directors, on an annual basis, the appropriate
characteristics, skills and experience required for the board of directors as a whole and for its individual members. In evaluating the suitability of individual
candidates (both new candidates and current members), the nominating and corporate governance committee, in recommending candidates for election, and
the board of directors, in approving (and, in the case of vacancies, appointing) such candidates, will take into account many factors, including the
following:

 • personal and professional integrity;

 • ethics and values;

 • experience in corporate management, such as serving as an officer or former officer of a publicly held company;

 • experience in the industries in which we compete;

 • experience as a director or executive officer of another publicly held company;

 • diversity of expertise and experience in substantive matters pertaining to our business relative to other board members;

 • conflicts of interest; and

 • practical and mature business judgment.
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Our board of directors evaluates each individual in the context of the board of directors as a whole, with the objective of assembling a group that can best
maximize the success of the business and represent stockholder interests through the exercise of sound judgment using its diversity of experience in these
various areas.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted a code of business conduct and ethics that applies to all of our employees, officers and directors, including those officers responsible for
financial reporting. We intend to make available our code of business conduct and ethics on our website at https://www.compasstherapeutics.com/. We
expect that any amendments to the code, or any waivers of its requirements, will be disclosed on our website. The reference to our web address does not
constitute incorporation by reference of the information contained at, or available through, our website.

Limitation on Liability and Indemnification Matters

Our certificate of incorporation contains, and our amended and restated certificate of incorporation will contain, provisions that limit the liability of our
directors for monetary damages to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. Consequently, our directors will not be personally liable to us or our
stockholders for monetary damages for any breach of fiduciary duties as directors, except liability for:

 • any breach of the director’s duty of loyalty to us or our stockholders;

 • any act or omission not in good faith or that involves intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law;
 

 • unlawful payments of dividends or unlawful stock repurchases or redemptions as provided in Section 174 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law, or the DGCL; or

 • any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws provide, and our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws will
provide, that we are required to indemnify our directors and officers, in each case to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. Our bylaws also provide
that we are obligated to advance expenses incurred by a director or officer in advance of the final disposition of any action or proceeding, and permit us to
secure insurance on behalf of any officer, director, employee or other agent for any liability arising out of his, her or its actions in that capacity regardless of
whether we would otherwise be permitted to indemnify him, her or it under Delaware law.

In addition to the indemnification required in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws (and, upon their effectiveness, our amended and restated
certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws), we have entered or intend to enter into indemnification agreements with each of our
directors, officers and certain other employees. These agreements will provide for the indemnification of our directors, officers and certain other employees
for all reasonable expenses and liabilities incurred in connection with any action or proceeding brought against them by reason of the fact that they are or
were our agents. We believe that these provisions in our certificate of incorporation, bylaws, amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended
and restated bylaws and indemnification agreements are necessary to attract and retain qualified persons as directors and officers. This description of the
limitation of liability and indemnification provisions of our certificate of incorporation, bylaws, amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended
and restated bylaws and indemnification agreements is qualified in its entirety by reference to these documents, each of which is attached as an exhibit to
this prospectus.

The limitation on liability and the indemnification provisions in our certificate of incorporation, bylaws, amended and restated certificate of incorporation
and amended and restated bylaws may discourage stockholders from bringing a lawsuit against directors for breach of their fiduciary duties. They may also
reduce the likelihood of derivative litigation against directors and officers, even though an action, if successful, might benefit us and our stockholders. A
stockholder’s investment may be harmed to the extent we pay the costs of settlement and damage awards against directors and officers pursuant to these
indemnification provisions. Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to our directors, officers and
controlling persons pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, we have been advised that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against
public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. There is no pending litigation or proceeding naming any of our directors,
officers or employees as to which indemnification is being sought, nor are we aware of any pending or threatened litigation that may result in claims for
indemnification by any director, officer or employee.
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Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings

None of our directors or executive officers has been involved in any of the following events during the past 10 years:

 • any bankruptcy petition filed by or against any business of which such person was a general partner or executive officer either at the time of
the bankruptcy or within two years prior to that time;

 • any conviction in a criminal proceeding or being subject to a pending criminal proceeding (excluding traffic violations and other minor
offences);

 • being subject to any order, judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any court of competent jurisdiction,
permanently or temporarily enjoining, barring, suspending or otherwise limiting his or her involvement in any type of business, securities or
banking activities; or

 

 • being found by a court of competent jurisdiction (in a civil action), the SEC or the Commodity Futures Trading Commission to have
violated a federal or state securities or commodities law, and the judgment has not been reversed, suspended, or vacated.

Non-Employee Director Compensation

Compass Therapeutics became our wholly-owned subsidiary upon the closing of the Merger on June 17, 2020. The following summarizes the
compensation earned by the non-employee directors of the Company and Compass Therapeutics for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020. Other than
as set forth in the table below, we did not pay any compensation, make any additional equity awards or non-equity awards to, or pay any other
compensation to any of the non-employee members of our board of directors for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020. Directors who also serve as
employees received no additional compensation for their service as directors.

Director Compensation Table
 

Name  
Fees Earned or
Paid in Cash ($)   

Option
Awards ($)(1)   Total ($)  

Steven Tregay(3)   12,500    —    12,500  
Stephen Squinto(2)   45,000    102,032    147,032  
Brett Kaplan(2)   25,000    212,616    237,616  
Carl Gordon   —    —    —  
Phil Ferneau   —    —    —  
Timothy Anderson(3)   —    —    —  
Stephen Knight(3)   —    —    —  
Julie Sunderland   —    —    —  

 

(1) The amounts represent the fair value of the option awards as of the grant date as computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, not including
any estimates of forfeitures. The assumptions used in calculating the grant date fair value of the stock awards reported in the Option Awards column
are set forth in Note 9 to our financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020 contained elsewhere in this prospectus. Note that the
amounts reported in this column reflect the accounting cost for these stock awards, and do not correspond to the actual economic value that may be
received by the named executive officers from the awards.

(2) As of December 31, 2020, Dr. Squinto held 611 unvested shares of restricted stock. As of December 31, 2020, Drs. Squinto and Kaplan held
unvested options to purchase 12,500 and 56,250 shares of common stock, respectively.

(3) Dr. Tregay, Mr. Anderson and Dr. Knight resigned during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compass Therapeutics became our wholly-owned subsidiary upon the closing of the Merger on June 17, 2020, and its senior management became our
senior management. The following summarizes the compensation earned by the executive officers of the Company and Compass Therapeutics named in
“—Summary Compensation Table” below (referred to herein as our “named executive officers”) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.

This section also discusses the material elements of our executive compensation policies and decisions and important factors relevant to an analysis of these
policies and decisions. It provides qualitative information regarding the manner and context in which compensation is awarded to and earned by our named
executive officers and is intended to place in perspective the information presented in the following tables and the corresponding narrative.

Overview

Historically, our executive compensation program has reflected our growth and corporate goals. To date, the compensation of the named executive officers
has consisted of a combination of base salary, annual cash bonus, and long-term equity incentive compensation in the form of incentive units (which were
converted to shares of restricted stock at the time of the Merger), stock options and other employee benefits generally available to the company’s
employees.

Our named executive officers for the year ended December 31, 2020 were as follows:

 • Thomas J. Schuetz, M.D., Ph.D., Chief Executive Officer; and

 • Vered Bisker-Leib, Ph.D., MBA, President and Chief Operating Officer.

Compensation Decisions

Compensation decisions are primarily recommended by the compensation committee and approved by the board. The compensation committee meets at
least annually to discuss the progress of the company toward its strategic and business goals, and performance of the executive management of the
company. In addition, the compensation committee determines and approves the compensation of the executive officers, including the named executive
officers. The compensation committee also meets periodically on an ad hoc basis to address miscellaneous compensation matters.

Elements of Executive Compensation

Base Salaries. Base salaries for the named executive officers are determined annually by the board of directors or compensation committee, based on the
scope of each officer’s responsibilities along with his or her respective experience and contributions during the prior year. When reviewing base salaries,
the board of directors takes factors into account such as each officer’s experience and individual performance, the company’s performance as a whole, data
from surveys of compensation paid by comparable companies, and general industry conditions, but does not assign any specific weighting to any factor.
During fiscal year 2020, Dr. Schuetz, elected to receive compensation in the form of equity in lieu of cash compensation in the form of base salary and
bonus. Dr. Schuetz’ base salary reported in the table below was paid to Dr. Schuetz to cover his portion of the Company’s group medical insurance
costs.  Dr. Schuetz will continue to receive equity in lieu of cash compensation for fiscal year 2021.  In early 2020, Dr. Bisker-Leib was promoted to Chief
Operating Officer, and in connection with such promotion, her base salary was increased from $325,000 to $360,000.  In August 2020, Dr. Bisker-Leib was
promoted to President and Chief Operating Officer, and in January 2021, Dr. Bisker-Leib’s salary was increased from $360,000 to $400,000 and her target
bonus was increased from 33% to 40% of her base salary.

Annual Cash Bonuses. All of our named executive officers participate in the Compass Therapeutics, Inc. annual cash bonus program, which promotes and
rewards the executives for the achievement of key strategic and business goals. For 2020, the compensation committee assessed the performance of each of
the executive officers and considered the Company’s achievement of pre-determined strategic and business goals. Accordingly, Dr. Bisker-Leib received a
discretionary cash bonus based on her performance in 2020 equal to $160,000, which was 133% of her target bonus for 2020. As noted above, Dr. Schuetz
elected to receive his bonus in additional equity.
 

Equity Awards. The board of directors believes that equity grants provide executives with a strong link to the company’s long-term performance, create an
ownership culture and help to align the interests of executive officers and the company’s equityholders. Accordingly, the compensation committee
periodically reviews the equity incentive compensation of the named executive officers and from time to time may grant equity incentive awards to them.
In 2020, the board of directors granted options to purchase an aggregate of 750,000 and 600,000 shares of common stock to Dr. Schuetz and Dr. Bisker-
Leib, respectively. In February 2021, the board of
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directors granted options to purchase an aggregate of 700,000 and 400,000 shares of common stock to Dr. Schuetz and Dr. Bisker-Leib, respectively.

Other Benefits. The named executive officers are eligible for additional benefits, such as participation in our 401(k) plan, life insurance and health benefits
that are generally available to all employees.

Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth information regarding compensation awarded to, earned by or paid to each of the named executive officers for the periods
ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
 
Name and Principal Position  Year  Salary($)   Bonus($) (1)   

STOCK
Awards($) (2)   

OPTION
Awards($) (2)   Total($)  

Thomas J. Schuetz, M.D., Ph.D.  2020   4,000   —   —   2,552,793   2,556,793 
Chief Executive Officer                       

  2019   400,000   —   973,843   —   1,373,843 
Vered Bisker-Leib, Ph.D., MBA  2020   360,000   160,000   —   2,051,579   2,571,579 

President and Chief Operating Officer                       
  2019   325,000   160,875   569,159       1,055,034

 

 
(1) The amounts represent the fair value of the stock and option awards as of the grant date as computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, not

including any estimates of forfeitures. The assumptions used in calculating the grant date fair value of the stock awards reported in the Stock Awards
and Option Awards columns are set forth in Note 9 to our financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020 contained elsewhere in this
prospectus. Note that the amounts reported in this column reflect the accounting cost for these stock awards, and do not correspond to the actual
economic value that may be received by the named executive officers from the awards.

 

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

The following table sets forth information concerning outstanding equity awards for each of the named executive officers as of December 31, 2020:
 

    Stock Awards   Option Awards  

Name and Principal Position  

Vesting
Commencement

Date  

Number
of

Securities
That

Have Not
Vested

(#)   

Market
Value of

Securities
That Have

Not
Vested
($)(2)   

Number
of

Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)
Exercisable   

Number
of

Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)

Unexercisable   

Option
Exercise

Price   

Option
Expiration

Date  
Thomas J. Schuetz, M.D., Ph.D.  2/22/2018(1)  53,909   269,545   —   —   —   — 
Chief Executive Officer  7/3/2019(3)  173,212   866,060   —   —   —   — 
  12/20/2019(1)  220,019   1,100,095   —   —   —   — 
  8/6/2020(4)  —   —   291,668   208,332  $ 5.00   47,701 
  12/22/2020(4)  —   —   125,000   125,000  $ 5.00   47,839 
Vered Bisker-Leib, Ph.D., MBA  12/1/2017(1)  31,420   157,100   —   —   —   — 
President and Chief Operating Officer  7/3/2019(3)  83,513   417,565   —   —   —   — 
  12/20/2019(1)  146,679   733,395   —   —   —   — 
  8/6/2020(5)  —   —   265,000   335,000  $ 5.00   47,701

 

 

(1) Unless otherwise noted below, all restricted stock awards follow a standard vesting schedule which provides for 25% of the vesting on the first
anniversary of the vesting commencement date and the balance of the shares vesting in equal monthly installments on the last day of each of the next
36 one-month periods.

(2) As of December 31, 2020, the company was not publicly traded, and thus information related to the market value of securities that have not yet
vested cannot be provided. Therefore, we have assumed a fair market value of $5.00 per share, which is the share price paid by outside investors in
our private placement transaction that closed in June 2020.

(3) The total shares of restricted stock vest in equal monthly installments following the vesting commencement date on the last day of each of the next
48 one-month periods.
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(4) 50% of these option awards become exercisable on the date of grant and the balance become exercisable in equal monthly installments over the next

24 months.  
(5) 33% of these option awards become exercisable on the date of grant and the balance become exercisable in equal monthly installments over the next

24 months.
 

Employment Arrangements with our Named Executive Officers

Thomas J. Schuetz, M.D., Ph.D.

Dr. Schuetz, our Chief Executive Officer and co-founder, has been employed by the Company and Compass Therapeutics since June of 2014. Dr. Schuetz
does not have an employment agreement or an employment letter with Compass.

 

Vered Bisker-Leib, Ph.D., MBA
 
On November 8, 2017, Compass Therapeutics entered into an offer letter with Dr. Bisker-Leib for the position of Chief Business Officer. The offer letter
provides for her at-will employment and sets forth her initial base salary and bonus target, initial equity award, and eligibility for the company’s benefit
plans generally. Effective January 1, 2020, Dr. Bisker-Leib was promoted to Chief Operating Officer pursuant to a promotion letter, and her base salary was
increased from $325,000 to $360,000. In connection with this promotion, she received a salary increase and an additional equity award. The offer letter and
promotion letter remain in place with Compass Therapeutics, which became our wholly owned subsidiary following the Merger. Effective August 6, 2021,
Dr. Bisker-Leib was promoted to the role of President and Chief Operating Officer, and effective January 1, 2021, Dr. Bisker-Leib’s annual salary was
increased from $360,000 to $400,000 and her target bonus was increased from 33% to 40% of her annual base salary.

Employee Benefit Plans

2020 Stock Option and Incentive Plan

Our 2020 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, or the 2020 Plan, was adopted by our board of directors and approved by our stockholders on June 17, 2020.
The 2020 Plan will allow the compensation committee to make equity-based incentive awards to our officers, employees, directors and other key persons,
including consultants.

Authorized Shares. We initially reserved 2,930,836 shares of our common stock for the issuance of awards under the 2020 Plan, or the Initial Limit. The
2020 Plan provides that the number of shares reserved and available for issuance under the 2020 Plan will automatically increase each January 1, beginning
on January 1, 2021, by the lesser of (i) 4% of the outstanding number of shares of our common stock on the immediately preceding December 31 or (ii)
such number of shares as determined by the plan administrator no later than the immediately preceding December 31. As a result of this increase, of
January 1, 2021, we have 5,015,523 shares of our common stock reserved for the issuance of awards under the 2020 Plan. This number will be subject to
adjustment in the event of a stock split, stock dividend or other change in our capitalization. The shares we issue under the 2020 Plan will be authorized but
unissued shares or shares that we reacquire. The shares of common stock underlying any awards that are forfeited, cancelled, held back upon exercise or
settlement of an award to satisfy the exercise price or tax withholding, reacquired by us prior to vesting, satisfied without the issuance of stock, expire or
are otherwise terminated, other than by exercise, under the 2020 Plan will be added back to the shares of common stock available for issuance under the
2020 Plan. The maximum number of shares of common stock that may be issued as incentive stock options in any one calendar year period may not exceed
the Initial Limit cumulatively increased on January 1, 2021 and on each January 1 thereafter by the lesser of 4% of the number of outstanding shares of
common stock as of the immediately preceding December 31, or 2,930,836 shares.

Non-Employee Director Limit. The 2020 Plan contains a limitation whereby the value of all awards under the 2020 Plan and all other cash compensation
paid by us to any non-employee director may not exceed $500,000.

Administration. The 2020 Plan will be administered by our compensation committee. Our compensation committee will have full power to select, from
among the individuals eligible for awards, the individuals to whom awards will be granted, to make any combination of awards to participants, and to
determine the specific terms and conditions of each award, subject to the provisions of the 2020 Plan. The plan administrator is specifically authorized to
exercise its discretion to reduce the exercise price of outstanding stock options and stock appreciation rights or effect the repricing of such awards through
cancellation and re-grants.

Eligibility. Persons eligible to participate in the 2020 Plan will be those employees, non-employee directors and consultants, as selected from time to time
by our compensation committee in its discretion.
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Options. The 2020 Plan permits the granting of both options to purchase common stock intended to qualify as incentive stock options under Section 422 of
the Code and options that do not so qualify. The option exercise price of each option will be determined by our compensation committee but may not be
less than 100% of the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant unless the option is granted (i) pursuant to a transaction described in, and
in a manner consistent with, Section 424(a) of the Code or (ii) to individuals who are not subject to U.S. income tax. The term of each option will be fixed
by our compensation committee and may not exceed 10 years from the date of grant. Our compensation committee will determine at what time or times
each option may be exercised.

Stock Appreciation Rights. Our compensation committee may award stock appreciation rights subject to such conditions and restrictions as it may
determine. Stock appreciation rights entitle the recipient to shares of common stock, or cash, equal to the value of the appreciation in our stock price over
the exercise price. The exercise price may not be less than 100% of the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant. The term of each stock
appreciation right will be fixed by our compensation committee and may not exceed 10 years from the date of grant. Our compensation committee will
determine at what time or times each stock appreciation right may be exercised.

Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units. Our compensation committee may award restricted shares of common stock and restricted stock units to
participants subject to such conditions and restrictions as it may determine. These conditions and restrictions may include the achievement of certain
performance goals and/or continued employment or other service relationship with us through a specified vesting period.

Unrestricted Stock Awards. Our compensation committee may grant shares of common stock that are free from any restrictions under the 2020 Plan.
Unrestricted stock may be granted to participants in recognition of past services or for other valid consideration and may be issued in lieu of cash
compensation due to such participant.

Dividend Equivalent Rights. Our compensation committee may grant dividend equivalent rights to participants that entitle the recipient to receive credits
for dividends that would be paid if the recipient had held a specified number of shares of common stock.

Cash-Based Awards. Our compensation committee may grant cash bonuses under the 2020 Plan to participants, subject to the achievement of certain
performance goals.

Sale Event. The 2020 Plan provides that upon the effectiveness of a “sale event,” as defined in the 2020 Plan, an acquirer or successor entity may assume,
continue or substitute for the outstanding awards under the 2020 Plan. To the extent that awards granted under the 2020 Plan are not assumed or continued
or substituted by the successor entity, the 2020 Plan and all awards granted under the 2020 Plan shall terminate. In such case, except as may be otherwise
provided in the relevant award agreement, all options and stock appreciation rights with time-based vesting, conditions or restrictions that are not
exercisable immediately prior to the sale event will become fully exercisable as of the sale event, all other awards with time-based vesting, conditions or
restrictions will become fully vested and nonforfeitable as of the sale event, and all awards with conditions and restrictions relating to the attainment of
performance goals may become vested and nonforfeitable in connection with the sale event in the plan administrator’s discretion or to the extent specified
in the relevant award agreement. In the event of such termination, individuals holding options and stock appreciation rights will be permitted to exercise
such options and stock appreciation rights (to the extent exercisable) within a specified time period, as determined by the compensation committee, prior to
the sale event. In addition, in connection with the termination of the 2020 Plan upon a sale event, we may make or provide for a cash payment to
participants holding vested and exercisable options and stock appreciation rights equal to the difference between the per share cash consideration payable to
stockholders in the sale event and the exercise price of the options or stock appreciation rights; provided, that any options or stock appreciation rights with
exercise prices equal to or greater than such per share cash consideration will be cancelled for no consideration. We may also make or provide for a
payment, in cash or in kind, to the participants holding other awards in an amount equal to the per share cash consideration payable to stockholders in the
sale event multiplied by the number of vested shares of common stock under such awards.

Amendment. Our board of directors may amend or discontinue the 2020 Plan and our compensation committee can amend or cancel outstanding awards for
purposes of satisfying changes in law or any other lawful purpose, but no such action may adversely and materially affect rights under an award without the
holder’s consent. Certain amendments to the 2020 Plan or the terms of outstanding options or stock appreciation rights will require the approval of our
stockholders.

No awards may be granted under the 2020 Plan after the date that is 10 years from the date on which the 2020 Plan became effective.

As of February 28, 2021, we have granted options to purchase an aggregate of 3,251,386 shares of common stock under the 2020 Plan.
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Senior Executive Cash Incentive Bonus Plan

On June 17, 2020, our board of directors adopted the Senior Executive Cash Incentive Bonus Plan, or the Bonus Plan, which became effective following
the Merger. The Bonus Plan is administered by our compensation committee. The Bonus Plan provides for cash bonus payments based upon the attainment
of performance targets established by our compensation committee. The payment targets will be related to financial and operational measures or objectives
with respect to our company, or corporate performance goals, as well as individual performance objectives.

Our compensation committee may select corporate performance goals from among the following: developmental, publication, clinical or regulatory
milestones and results; cash flow (including, but not limited to, operating cash flow and free cash flow); revenue; corporate revenue; earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization; net income (loss) (either before or after interest, taxes, depreciation and/or amortization); changes in the
market price of our common stock; economic value-added; acquisitions, licenses or strategic transactions; financing or other capital raising transactions;
operating income (loss); return on capital, assets, equity, or investment; stockholder returns; return on sales; total shareholder return; gross or net profit
levels; productivity; expense efficiency; margins; operating efficiency; customer satisfaction; working capital; earnings (loss) per share of our common
stock; bookings, new bookings or renewals; sales or market shares; number of prescriptions or prescribing physicians; coverage decisions; leadership
development, employee retention, and recruiting and other human resources matters; operating income and/or net annual recurring revenue, any of which
may be (i) measured in absolute terms or compared to any incremental increase, (ii) measured in terms of growth, (iii) compared to another company or
companies or to results of a peer group, (iv) measured against the market as a whole and/or as compared to applicable market indices and/or (v) measured
on a pre-tax or post-tax basis (if applicable).

Each executive officer who is selected to participate in the Bonus Plan will have a target bonus opportunity set for each performance period. The bonus
formulas will be adopted in each performance period by the compensation committee and communicated to each executive. The corporate performance
goals will be calculated in accordance with our financial statements, GAAP, or under a methodology established by our compensation committee at the
beginning of the performance period and which is consistently applied with respect to a corporate performance goal in the relevant performance period.
The compensation committee will measure the corporate performance goals after our financial reports for the applicable performance period have been
published or such other appropriate time as the compensation committee determines. If the corporate performance goals and individual performance
objectives are met, payments will be made as soon as practicable following the end of each performance period. Subject to the rights contained in any
agreement between the executive officer and us, an executive officer must be employed by us on the bonus payment date to be eligible to receive a bonus
payment. The Bonus Plan also permits the compensation committee to approve additional bonuses to executive officers in its sole discretion and provides
the compensation committee with discretion to adjust the size of the award as it deems appropriate.

 

Retirement Plan

We offer a 401(k) plan to eligible employees, including our named executive officers. In accordance with this plan, all eligible employees may contribute a
percentage of compensation up to a maximum of the statutory limits per year. As of December 31, 2019, we did not make contributions to the plan. We
implemented a 4% matching contribution as of January 1, 2020, as well as a discretionary match. We intend for the 401(k) plan to qualify, depending on the
employee’s election, under Section 401(a) of the Code, so that contributions by employees, and income earned on those contributions, are not taxable to
employees until withdrawn from the 401(k) plan.

Indemnification of Officers and Directors

We have agreed to indemnify our directors and executive officers in certain circumstances. See “Directors, Executive Officers, Promoters and Control
Persons—Limitation on Liability and Indemnification Matters”.
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

SEC rules require us to disclose any transaction or currently proposed transaction in which we were a participant and in which any related person has or
will have a direct or indirect material interest involving the lesser of $120,000 or 1% of the average of our total assets as of the end of last two completed
fiscal years, which are referred to as related party transactions. A related person is any executive officer, director, nominee for director or holder of 5% or
more of our common stock, or an immediate family member of any of those persons. The descriptions set forth above under the captions “The Merger and
Related Transactions—Merger Agreement”, “—the Private Placement”, “—Registration Rights”, “—2020 Stock Option and Incentive Plan”, “Executive
Compensation—Employment and Related Agreements” and “Non-Employee Director Compensation” and below under “Description of Securities” are
incorporated herein by reference.

The following is a description of related party transactions since January 1, 2018 in which any of our directors, executive officers or holders of more than
5% of the pre-Merger equity capital of Compass Therapeutics, or an affiliate or immediate family member thereof, had or will have a direct or indirect
material interest, other than compensation and other arrangements that are described in the section titled “Executive Compensation”. The following
description is historical and has not been adjusted to give effect to the Merger.

Sales and Purchases of Securities

Sales of Series A-5 Preferred Units

In June 2018, Compass Therapeutics issued an aggregate of 44,739,689 Series A-5 preferred units to accredited investors at a price per unit of $1.10 for
aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $49.2 million. The table below sets forth the number of Series A-5 preferred units sold to our directors,
executive officers or holders of more than 5% of the pre-Merger share capital of Compass Therapeutics, or an affiliate or immediate family member
thereof. Each Series A-5 preferred unit of Compass Therapeutics was converted into approximately 0.85 shares of our common stock, in connection with
the Merger.
 

   

Purchasers
Series A-5

Preferred Units
 

Aggregate
Purchase Price

 
Thomas J. Schuetz 447,397 $492,137
OrbiMed Private Investments V- KA LP 5,225,596 $5,748,156
Anderson Entities(1) 3,149,674 $3,464,641
F-Prime Entities(2) 1,776,165 $1,953,781
Cowen Healthcare Investments Entities(3) 10,451,192 $11,496,311
Borealis Ventures Entities(4) 1,046,909 $1,151,600
Rivendell Investments 2016-6 LLC 10,451,192 $11,496,311

(1) Consists of (i) 724,783 Series A-5 preferred units owned by GTP AW Fund I LLC, (ii) 1,811,957 Series A-5 preferred units owned by GTP AW
Fund II LLC, and (iii) 612,934 Series A-5 preferred units owned by Ulysses Consolidated LLC. See footnote 2 to the beneficial ownership table in
the section “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” for a description of the affiliation of the Anderson entities.

(2) Consists of (i) 657,673 Series A-5 preferred units owned by F-Prime Capital Partners HC International Fund IV LP, and (ii) 1,118,492 Series A-5
preferred units owned by F-Prime Capital Partners HC Cambridge Fund IV LP. See footnote 3 to the beneficial ownership table in the section
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” for a description of the affiliation of the F-Prime entities.

(3) Consists of (i) 2,787,283 Series A-5 preferred units owned by Cowen Private Investments LP and (ii) 7,663,909 Series A-5 preferred units owned by
CHI II Holdco LP. See footnote 4 to the beneficial ownership table in the section “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management” for a description of the affiliation of the Cowen Healthcare Investments entities.

(4) Consists of 1,046,909 Series A-5 preferred units owned by Borealis Granite Fund, L.P. See footnote 5 to the beneficial ownership table in the section
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” for a description of the affiliation of the Borealis Ventures entities.

Participation in the Private Placement

Certain of our existing institutional investors, including investors affiliated with certain of our directors, have purchased an aggregate of 7.1 million shares
of our common stock in the Private Placement, for an aggregate gross purchase price of $35.5 million. Such purchases were made on the same terms as the
shares that were sold to other investors in the Private Placement and not pursuant to any pre-existing contractual rights or obligations.
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Indemnification Agreements and Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance

We have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our directors and executive officers. These agreements, among other things, require us to
indemnify each director and executive officer to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law, including indemnification of expenses, such as attorneys’
fees, judgments, fines and settlement amounts incurred by the director or executive officer in any action or proceeding, including any action or proceeding
by or in right of us, arising out of the person’s services as a director or executive officer.

Employment Agreements and Offer Letters

At the parent company level, we do not have employment agreements with Thomas J. Schuetz, our Chief Executive Officer, and Vered Bisker-Leib, our
Chief Operating Officer.
 

On November 8, 2017, our subsidiary, Compass Therapeutics, entered into an offer letter with Dr. Bisker-Leib for the position of Chief Business Officer.
The offer letter provides for her at-will employment and sets forth her initial base salary and bonus target, initial equity award, and eligibility for the
company’s benefit plans generally. Effective January 1, 2020, Dr. Bisker-Leib was promoted to Chief Operating Officer pursuant to a promotion letter. In
connection with this promotion, she received a salary increase and an additional equity award. The offer letter and promotion letter remain in place with
Compass Therapeutics, which became our wholly owned subsidiary following the Merger. Effective August 6, 2021, Dr. Bisker-Leib was promoted to
President and Chief Operating Officer, and effective January 1, 2021, Dr. Bisker-Leib’s annual salary was increased to $400,000.

Compass Therapeutics does not have an offer letter or employment agreement with Dr. Schuetz.

Other Transactions

We have granted equity awards to our executive officers. For a description of these equity awards granted to such individuals, see the section titled
“Executive Compensation”. We have also granted equity awards to certain members of the board of directors. For a description of these equity awards, see
the section titled “Non-Employee Director Compensation”.

Policies and Procedures for Related-Person Transactions

Our board of directors has adopted a written related-person transaction policy, to be effective upon the consummation of the Merger, setting forth the
policies and procedures for the review and approval or ratification of related-person transactions. This policy will cover, with certain exceptions set forth in
Item 404 of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act, any transaction, arrangement or relationship, or any series of similar transactions, arrangements or
relationships in which we were or are to be a participant, where the amount involved exceeds $120,000 and a related person had or will have a direct or
indirect material interest, including, without limitation, purchases of goods or services by or from the related person or entities in which the related person
has a material interest, indebtedness, guarantees of indebtedness and employment by us of a related person. In reviewing and approving any such
transactions, our audit committee is tasked to consider all relevant facts and circumstances, including, but not limited to, whether the transaction is on terms
comparable to those that could be obtained in an arm’s-length transaction and the extent of the related person’s interest in the transaction. All of the
transactions described in this section occurred prior to the adoption of this policy.
 

USE OF PROCEEDS

We are filing the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part to permit holders of the shares of common stock described in the section
entitled “Selling Stockholders” to resell such shares. We will not receive any proceeds from the resale of any shares offered by this prospectus by the
selling stockholders.
 

DIVIDEND POLICY

We currently intend to retain future earnings, if any, to maintain and expand our operations. We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common
stock and we do not intend to pay any cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future. In addition, our 2018 Credit Facility contains, and
any future debt financing arrangement we enter into may contain, terms prohibiting or limiting the amount of dividends that may be declared or paid on our
common stock. Any future determination related to our dividend policy will be made at the discretion of our board of directors in light of conditions then-
existing, including factors such as our results of operations, financial condition and requirements, business conditions and covenants under any applicable
contractual arrangements.
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DETERMINATION OF OFFERING PRICE

On March 4, 2021, shares of our common stock were cleared for trading on the OTCQB Venture Market in the United States under the symbol “CMPX”
and began trading on March 5, 2021. The selling stockholders may sell all or a portion of their shares through public or private transactions at prevailing
market prices or at privately negotiated prices.

Except to the extent that we are involved in an underwritten secondary offering of common stock, if any, by the selling stockholders, all shares being
offered pursuant to this prospectus will be sold by the selling stockholders without our involvement.
 

MARKET INFORMATION FOR OUR COMMON STOCK

On March 4, 2021, shares of our common stock were cleared for trading on the OTCQB Venture Market in the United States under the symbol “CMPX”
and began trading on March 5, 2021.

As of February 25, 2021, there were approximately 220 stockholders of record of our common stock. The actual number of stockholders is greater than this
number of record holders and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners but whose shares are held in street name by brokers and other nominees.
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth information relating to the beneficial ownership of our common stock, as of February 28, 2021 by:

 • each person, or group of affiliated persons, known by us to beneficially own more than 5% of outstanding shares of common stock;

 • each of our directors;

 • each of our named executive officers; and

 • all of our directors and executive officers as a group.

The number of shares beneficially owned by each entity, person, director or executive officer is determined in accordance with SEC rules, and the
information is not necessarily indicative of beneficial ownership for any other purpose. Under such rules, beneficial ownership includes any shares over
which the individual has sole or shared voting power or investment power as well as any shares that the individual has the right to acquire within 60 days of
February 28, 2021 through the exercise of any stock option, warrants or other rights. Except as otherwise indicated, and subject to applicable community
property laws, the persons named in the table have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of common stock held by such person.

The percentage of shares beneficially owned is computed on the basis of 52,112,143 shares of common stock outstanding as of February 28, 2021. Shares
of common stock that a person has the right to acquire within 60 days of February 28, 2021, if any, are deemed outstanding for purposes of computing the
percentage ownership of the person holding such rights, but are not deemed outstanding for purposes of computing the percentage ownership of any other
person, except with respect to the percentage ownership of all directors and executive officers as a group. Unless otherwise indicated below, the address for
each beneficial owner is c/o Compass Therapeutics, Inc., 80 Guest Street, Suite 601, Boston, MA 02135.
 

   

Name of Beneficial Owner
 

Number of
Shares

Beneficially
Owned

 

Percentage
of

Shares
beneficially

Owned
 

Greater than 5% Stockholders:   
OrbiMed Private Investments V-KA, LP(1) 12,714,404 24.4%
Anderson Entities(2) 5,290,270 10.2%
Cowen Healthcare Investments Entities(3) 3,181,684 6.1%
Consonance Entities(4) 3,000,000 5.8%
Borealis Ventures Entities(5) 2,749,256 5.3%
F-Prime Capital Partners Healthcare Fund IV LP(6) 4,122,414 7.9%

Named Executive Officers and Directors:   
Thomas J. Schuetz, MD, Ph.D.(7) 5,004,632 9.5%
Vered Bisker-Leib, Ph.D., MBA(8) 845,401 1.6%
Phil Ferneau, MBA, J.D.(5) 400,280 *
Carl L. Gordon, Ph.D., CFA(1) 12,714,404 24.4%
Brett Kaplan, M.D.(9) 8,750 *  
Steven Squinto, Ph.D.(1)(10) 54,540 *
Julie Sunderland, MBA(11) 2,502,025 4.8%
All current directors and executive officers as a group (7 persons) 21,857,867 40.7%

 

* Indicates beneficial ownership of less than 1% of the total outstanding common stock.
(1) Consists of shares of common stock owned directly by OrbiMed Private Investments V-KA, LP, or OPI V. OrbiMed Capital GP V LLC, or GP V, is

the general partner of OPI V. OrbiMed Advisors LLC, or OrbiMed, is the managing member of GP V. By virtue of such relationships, GP V and
OrbiMed may be deemed to have voting and investment power over the shares held by OPI V and as a result may be deemed to have beneficial
ownership of such shares. OrbiMed exercises voting and investment power through a management committee comprised of Carl L. Gordon, Sven H.
Borho, and Jonathan T. Silverstein, each of whom disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by OPI V. Each of Carl L. Gordon, a member of
OrbiMed, and Stephen Squinto, an executive partner of OrbiMed, is a member of our Board. Each of GP V, OrbiMed, Dr. Gordon and Dr. Squinto
disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by OPI V, except to the extent of its or his pecuniary interest therein, if any. The address for the
OrbiMed entities is c/o OrbiMed Advisors LLC, 601 Lexington Avenue, 54th Floor, New York, New York 10022.
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(2) Consists of (i) 2,054,398 shares of common stock held of record by Errik Anderson, (ii) 1,080,331 shares of common stock held of record by

Ulysses Consolidated, LLC, (iii) 110,000 shares of common stock held of record by Ulysses Diversified Holdings LLC, (iv) 1,661,899 shares of
common stock held of record by GTP AW Fund I, LLC, and (v) 383,642 shares of common stock held of record by GTP AW Fund II, LLC. Mr.
Anderson exercises sole voting and investment power of the securities held by the entities described above in clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) and shared
voting and investment power of the securities held by the entities described above in clauses (iv) and (v). Mr. Anderson disclaims beneficial
ownership of the shares held by such entities, except to the extent of any actual pecuniary interest. The address for Mr. Anderson and his affiliated
entities is 44 South Main Street, 3rd Fl, Hanover, NH 03755.

(3) Consists of (i) 590,159 shares of common stock held of record by Cowen Private Investments LP, or CPI, (ii) 2,416,797 shares of common stock
held of record by Cowen Healthcare Investments II LP, or CHI II, and (iii) 174,728 shares of common stock held of record by CHI EF II LP, or CHI
EF. CHI Advisors LLC, the investment adviser of CPI, CHI II and CHI EF has voting and investment power with respect to the shares held by each
of CPI and CHI II. The address for CPI, CHI II and CHI EF is c/o CHI Advisors LLC, 599 Lexington Avenue, 19th Floor, New York, New York
10022.

(4) Consists of (i) 1,000,000 shares of common stock owned directly by Consonance Capital Master Account L.P., or Consonance Master, (ii) 626,211
shares of common stock owned directly by P Consonance Opportunities Ltd., or P Consonance, and (iii) 1,373,789 shares of common stock owned
directly by Consonance Capital Opportunity Master Fund, LP, or Consonance Opportunity Master. Consonance Capital Management LP, or the
Capital Management Adviser, is the investment adviser of Consonance Master and Consonance Opportunity Master, and pursuant to investment
advisory agreements, the Capital Management Adviser exercises voting and investment power over the common stock held by Consonance Master
and Consonance Opportunity Master. Consonance Capital Opportunity Fund Management LP, or the Capital Opportunity Adviser, is the investment
adviser of P Consonance, and pursuant to an investment advisory agreement, the Capital Opportunity Adviser exercises voting and investment
power over the common stock held by P Consonance. Consonance Capman GP LLC, or Capman, is the general partner of the Capital Management
Adviser and the Capital Opportunity Advisor and Mitchell Blutt, as the Manager & Member of Capman and Chief Executive Officer of the Capital
Management Adviser and the Capital Opportunity Advisor, may be deemed to control Capman, the Capital Management Adviser and the Capital
Opportunity Advisor. Mr. Blutt, as the Manager & Member of Capman, may be deemed to control Capman. Each of Capman and Mr. Blutt may be
deemed to beneficially own these common stock. The address for Consonance Master, P Consonance, Consonance Opportunity Master, the Capital
Management Adviser, the Capital Opportunity Advisor, Capman and Mr. Blutt is 1370 Avenue of the America, Floor 33, New York, New York
10019.

(5) Consists of (i) 2,348,976 shares of common stock owned directly by Borealis Granite Fund, L.P. and (ii) 400,280 shares of common stock owned
directly by Vox Health Fund, L.P. Borealis Capital Partners III, LLC is the general partner of Borealis Granite Fund, L.P. Borealis Capital Partners
IV, LLC is the general partner of Vox Health Fund, L.P. Phil Ferneau, a member of our board of directors, is a managing partner of Borealis
Ventures. Voting and investment decisions with respect to the securities held by Borealis Granite Fund, L.P. are made by a committee of three or
more individuals, none of whom individually has the power to direct such decisions. Mr. Ferneau holds a majority ownership interest in Borealis
Capital Partners IV, LLC and is the designated manager with voting and investment power over the shares held by Vox Health Fund, L.P. Mr.
Ferneau disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by Borealis Granite Fund, L.P., except to the extent of any actual pecuniary interest. The
address for Borealis Granite Fund, L.P. and Vox Health Fund, L.P. is 10 Allen Street, Hanover, New Hampshire 03755.

(6) Consists of shares of common stock held of record by F-Prime Capital Partners Healthcare Fund IV LP, or F-Prime Healthcare Fund. F-Prime
Capital Partners Healthcare Advisors Fund IV LP, or F-Prime Advisors IV, is the general partner of F-Prime Healthcare Fund. F-Prime Advisors IV
is solely managed by Impresa Management LLC, the managing member of its general partner and its investment manager. Impresa Management
LLC is owned, directly or indirectly, by various shareholders and employees of FMR LLC. Each of the entities listed above expressly disclaims
beneficial ownership of the shares listed above except to the extent of any pecuniary interest therein. The address of these entities is 245 Summer
Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02210.

(7) Consists (i) 4,109,426 shares of common stock; (ii) options to purchase 479,165 shares of common stock that are exercisable within 60 days of
February 28, 2021 and (iii) 416,041 shares of unvested restricted stock over which Dr. Schuetz has voting power.

(8) Consists of (i) 270,562 shares of common stock; (ii) options to purchase 332,000 shares of common stock that are exercisable within 60 days of
February 28, 2021 and (iii) 242,839 shares of unvested restricted stock over which Dr. Bisker-Leib has voting power.

(9) Consists of options to purchase shares of common stock that are exercisable within 60 days of February 28, 2021.
(10) Consists of (i) 34,016 shares of common stock; (i) options to purchase 20,000 shares of common stock that are exercisable within 60 days of

February 28, 2021 and (iii) 524 shares of unvested restricted stock over which Dr. Squinto has voting power.
(11) Consists of 2,502,025 shares of common stock owned directly by Biomatics Capital Partners, LP. Julie Sunderland, a member of our board of

directors, is the co-founder of and a managing partner at Biomatics Capital Partners, and exercises shared voting and investment power of the
securities held by Biomatics Capital Partners, LP. The address for Biomatics Capital Partners, LP is 245 Main St., Cambridge, Massachusetts 02142.
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SELLING STOCKHOLDERS

This prospectus covers the resale by the selling stockholders identified below of 52,112,143 shares of common stock. The selling stockholders acquired our
securities in connection with the Merger and the Private Placement, or were pre-Merger stockholders of our predecessor, Olivia Ventures, Inc. The
registration of the common stock of the selling stockholders through this prospectus constitutes a secondary offering and is not an offering by or on behalf
of the Company. We will not receive any proceeds from the resale of the common stock by the selling stockholders.

Except as disclosed in the footnotes below, none of the selling stockholders has been an officer or director of ours or any of our predecessors or affiliates
within the past three years. Except as disclosed in the footnotes below, no selling stockholder had a material relationship with the company or any of its
affiliates within the last three years.

The following table and the accompanying footnotes are based in part on information supplied to us by the selling stockholders. The table and footnotes
assume that the selling stockholders will sell all of the shares listed. However, because the selling stockholders may sell all or some of their shares under
this prospectus from time to time, or in another permitted manner, we cannot assure you as to the actual number of shares that will be sold by the selling
stockholders or that will be held by the selling stockholders after completion of any sales. We do not know how long the selling stockholders will hold the
shares before selling them.

The inclusion of any shares in this table does not constitute an admission of beneficial ownership by the persons named below.
 

 

Shares
Owned

Before the
Private

Placement
 

Shares
Being

Offered(1)(2)
 

Shares
Owned After
the Private

Placement(%)(1)(2)
 

Name of Selling Stockholders    
Abhishek Chiyyeadu 272 272 *
Adam Groff 6,225 6,225 *
Alexandria Venture Investments, LLC 756,540 756,540 *
Altium Growth Fund, LP 800,000 800,000 *
Amanda Oliphant 4,685 4,685 *
Amy Heinl 3,147 3,147 *
Andrea Moore 42,612 42,612 *
Andrew Arno 10,000 10,000 *
Angeli Parvi, Inc. 48,209 48,209 *
Anitha Somanchi 1,222 1,222 *
Arda-e-viraf Minocherhomjee 10,000 10,000 *
Autumn Ruiz 1,425 1,425 *
Barrett DiPaolo 2,500 2,500 *
Beata Bobrowicz 2,307 2,307 *
BEMAP Master Fund LTD 487,805 487,805 *
Benjamin Paul Weisbrod Trust 12/20/2011 25,000 25,000 *
Benjamin Wolf 3,582 3,582 *
Beth White 3,156 3,156 *
Bing Gong 78,425 78,425 *
BioBrit, LLC 150,572 150,572 *
Biomatics Capital Partners, LP(3) 2,502,025 2,502,025 *
BMV Direct II LP 1,505,738 1,505,738 *
Borealis Granite Fund, L.P. (Borealis)(4) 2,348,976 2,348,976 *
Brian Eliot Peierls 22,000 22,000 *
Brio Capital Master Fund Ltd. 60,000 60,000 *
Brooke McLaughlin 150,528 150,528 *
Bryan O’Neill Barnett 10,000 10,000 *
Burke Badenhop 3,156 3,156 *
Caitlin Goshert 849 849 *
Carsten Schwarting 20,000 20,000 *
Cheer Land Investments Group Limited 200,000 200,000 *
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Shares
Owned

Before the
Private

Placement
 

Shares
Being

Offered(1)(2)
 

Shares
Owned After
the Private

Placement(%)(1)(2)
 

Cheuk Leung 6,183 6,183 *
CHI EF II LP 174,728 174,728 *
Clayton A. Struve 20,000 20,000 *
Consonance Capital Opportunity Master Fund, LP 1,373,789 1,373,789 *
Consonance Capital Master Account L.P. 1,000,000 1,000,000 *
Cowen Healthcare Investments II LP 2,416,797 2,416,797 *
Cowen Private Investments LP 590,159 590,159 *
CVI Investments, Inc.(5) 400,000 400,000 *
Dalton Markrush 560 560 *
Damon Banks 24,829 24,829 *
Dana Gilmore 608 608 *
Daniel & Stephanie Mushin, JTWROS 40,000 40,000 *
Daniel Bessette 8,876 8,876 *
Daniel Goldman 14,178 14,178 *
David and Karen Blanz 20,000 20,000 *
David Hafler 8,378 8,378 *
David Weisburd 6,000 6,000 *
Deeb Salem 12,241 12,241 *
Denise Marie Anderson 10,000 10,000 *
Dennis Saadeh 10,000 10,000 *
Diana Albu 15,707 15,707 *
Dianne Kaligian 3,822 3,822 *
Doyeob Kim 7,096 7,096 *
E. Jeffrey Peierls 32,000 32,000 *
Edmund W. Hafner 3,736 3,736 *
Elizabeth DerGarabedian 20,553 20,553 *
Elizabeth Roberts 8,779 8,779 *
Emily Cantor 392 392 *
Empery Asset Master, LTD(6) 196,525 196,525 *
Empery Tax Efficient III, LP(7) 46,546 46,546 *
Empery Tax Efficient, LP(8) 56,929 56,929 *
Eran Cohen 7,000 7,000 *
Eric Fosselman 5,000 5,000 *
Ernest J. & Michele M. Mattei, JTWROS 7,000 7,000 *
Errik Anderson 2,054,398 2,054,398 *
Faruk Abdullah & Tasneem Manjra 2016 Trust dated Dec 28, 2016 5,000 5,000 *
Feng Zhao 2,283 2,283 *
Four Tree Trust, dated March 20, 2015 41,000 41,000 *
F-Prime Capital Partners Healthcare Fund IV LP 4,122,414 4,122,414 *
Monashee Pure Alpha SPV I LP 219,512 219,512 *
Monashee Solitario Fund LP 292,683 292,683 *
Garritt Blanz and Ryan Marks-Blanz Revocable Trust 10,000 10,000 *
Geoffrey Williams 15,000 15,000 *
Gregory P. Cimino, II 5,600 5,600 *
Grigorios Zarbis-Papastoitsis 59,975 59,975 *
GTP AW Fund I LLC 1,661,899 1,661,899 *
GTP AW Fund II LLC 383,642 383,642 *
GTP-COMP 020, a series of SAX Capital Series Fund V, LP 4,837 4,837 *
GV 2014 LP 192,794 192,794 *
Hans Thomas 10,000 10,000 *
Helen Sabzevari 101,250 101,250 *
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Owned After
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Ian Chia 34,678 34,678 *
Ian Jacobs(9) 80,000 80,000 *
Ilario & Barbara J. Licul, JTWROS 10,000 10,000 *
Jack & Elizabeth Weingarten 3,112 3,112 *
Jai Vekeria 261 261 *
James Coughlin 2,000 2,000 *
Jamie Schafer 659 659 *
Jason Kong 2,154 2,154 *
Jason Lajoie 3,729 3,729 *
Jebediah Ledell 20,553 20,553 *
Jeffrey M. Josef 20,000 20,000 *
Jennifer Watkins-Yoon 24,920 24,920 *
Jeremy L. Katz 54,000 54,000 *
John Platts 10,000 10,000 *
John Thomas Easterly 10,000 10,000 *
Jonathan Schechter 10,000 10,000 *
Jose Conejo-Garcia 5,061 5,061 *
Jose Gonzalo 10,374 10,374 *
Joseph Reda 20,000 20,000 *
Joseph Tumang 4,122 4,122 *
Josh Schwimmer 9,617 9,617 *
Jupiter Trustees Limited as Trustee of the Ramrakhi Trust 50,000 50,000 *
Kyle Schneider 18,000 18,000 *
Larry Dillaha 30,000 30,000 *
LASF—Compass Therapeutics 2016, LLC 24,273 24,273 *
Lee J. Seidler Revocable Trust dtd 4.12.1990 20,000 20,000 *
Liffey Trust / Daniel Mahoney 2,000 2,000 *
Limulus Venture Partners III Limited Partnership 1,400,000 1,400,000 *
Madhavan Rangaswami 1,000 1,000 *
Marco and Stephanie Garcia 20,000 20,000 *
Marguerite Butler 3,122 3,122 *
Mark A. Altheim 50,000 50,000 *
Mark Tompkins(10) 910,000 910,000 *
Matthew Wolf 1,600 1,600 *
McLean T. Wilson Gift Trust 10,000 10,000 *
Michael A.Silverman 20,000 20,000 *
Michael J. Matheiu 15,000 15,000 *
Michael Ophir 2,817 2,817 *
Michael Schmidt 55,665 55,665 *
Michael Shelp 1,208 1,208 *
Monia Draghi 4,864 4,864 *
Nancy Franklin 10,000 10,000 *
Neal Schilling 12,949 12,949 *
Ned Dybvig 1,868 1,868 *
Nelly Alexandrova-Kuklin 39,114 39,114 *
Nora Zizlsperger 12,162 12,162 *
Oliver Dolan 8,747 8,747 *
OrbiMed Private Investments V—KA, LP(11) 12,714,404 12,714,404 *
P Consonance Opportunities Ltd. 626,211 626,211 *
Palash V. Misra 5,000 5,000 *
Pamela Carroll 13,887 13,887 *
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Patrick McBrien 8,000 8,000 *
Paul Wu 4,932 4,932 *
Pearl Bakhru 3,684 3,684 *
Pia Muyot 589 589 *
Piotr Bobrowicz 310,902 310,902 *
Puru Nanjappa 2,242 2,242 *
Qing Yu 708 708 *
Rachel McCrory 3,200 3,200 *
Rachel Rennard 17,198 17,198 *
Ramnik J Xavier 6,578 6,578 *
Richard Gonda 10,000 10,000 *
Richard Jay Farber 15,000 15,000 *
Rivendell Investments 2016-6 LLC 2,502,025 2,502,025 *
Rizwanullah Hameed 2,500 2,500 *
Robert G. Maxon 5,000 5,000 *
Robert Glassman 3,000 3,000 *
Robert Kramer 4,889 4,889 *
Robert Tighe 33,577 33,577 *
Roberts Trust 8,714 8,714 *
Ruturaj Jadhav 1,173 1,173 *
Ryan and Virginia Jones 1,557 1,557 *
Samuel Perry 50,243 50,243 *
Sanmit Adhikari 356 356 *
Sara Halmos 11,893 11,893 *
Sara Rossetti 59,676 59,676 *
Sarah Rose Weisbrod Trust 12/20/2011 25,000 25,000 *
Satterfield Vintage Investments, L.P. 80,000 80,000 *
Sichenzia Ross Ference LLP 7,500 7,500 *
Seth Staples 2,120 2,120 *
Sharad Sharma 2,464 2,464 *
Shirisha Amatya 690 690 *
Shruthi Ramkumar 817 817 *
Simon Metenou 17,962 17,962 *
Srividya Subramanian 6,792 6,792 *
Stephanie Gaerlan 1,833 1,833 *
Stephen Hamilton 76,773 76,773 *
Stephen Renaud 10,000 10,000 *
Stephen Squinto(12) 34,540 34,540 *
Steven D. Alper 4,000 4,000 *
Steven Tregay 334,190 334,190 *
Steven Tregay 2016 Family Trust u/a dtd. October 13, 2016 46,183 46,183 *
The Daniella Reichstetter Revocable Trust, dated May 23, 2014 2,000 2,000 *
The Peierls Bypass Trust 4,000 4,000 *
The Peierls Foundation, Inc. 150,000 150,000 *
The Smith Living Trust, Dtd. October 18, 2013 1,557 1,557 *
Thomas Daly 628 628 *
Thomas J. Schuetz(13) 4,525,467 4,525,467 *
Tim Dybvig 934 934 *
Timothy Tyler Berry 5,000 5,000 *
Uciane Scarlett 4,864 4,864 *
UD E.F. Peierls for Brian E. Peierls 8,600 8,600 *
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UD E.F. Peierls for E. Jeffrey Peierls 8,600 8,600 *
UD E.S. Peierls for E.F. Peierls et al. 6,000 6,000 *
UD Ethel F. Peierls Charitable Lead Trust 15,000 15,000 *
UD J.N. Peierls for Brian Eliot Peierls 10,800 10,800 *
UD J.N. Peierls for E. Jeffrey Peierls 10,800 10,800 *
Ugur Eskiocak 8,599 8,599 *
Ulysses Consolidated, LLC 1,080,331 1,080,331 *
Ulysses Diversified Holdings, LLC 110,000 110,000 *
UW E.S. Peierls for Brian E. Peierls—Accumulation 7,800 7,800 *
UW E.S. Peierls for E. Jeffrey Peierls—Accumulation 5,200 5,200 *
UW J.N. Peierls for Brian E. Peierls 9,600 9,600 *
UW J.N. Peierls for E. Jeffrey Peierls 9,600 9,600 *
Vered Bisker-Leib(14) 513,401 513,401 *
Vijay Kuchroo 8,378 8,378 *
Vox Health Fund, L.P.(4) 400,280 400,280 *
Wendy and Daniel Gutkin 20,000 20,000 *
William F. Carson IV 3,015 3,015 *
William McConaughy 3,653 3,653 *
Willis Welch 6,000 6,000 *
Wilson Guzman 3,340 3,340 *
Xianzhe Wang 14,271 14,271 *
Xin Kai 2,483 2,483 *
Yan Qin 4,889 4,889 *
Yin Ling Wong 1,149 1,149 *
Zachary Frye 4,034 4,034 *
Zhiqian Liu 12,585 12,585 *
 

* Less than 1%
(1) Applicable percentage ownership is based on 52,112,143 shares of our common stock outstanding as of February 28, 2021.
(2) Assumes the sale of all shares offered in this prospectus.
(3) Julie Sunderland, a member of our Board, is the co-founder of and a managing partner at Biomatics Capital Partners, LP, and exercises shared voting

and investment power of the securities held by Biomatics Capital Partners, LP.
(4) Borealis Capital Partners III, LLC is the general partner of Borealis Granite Fund, L.P. Borealis Capital Partners IV, LLC is the general partner of

Vox Health Fund, L.P. Phil Ferneau, a member of our Board, is a managing partner of Borealis Ventures. Voting and investment decisions with
respect to the securities held by Borealis Granite Fund, L.P. are made by a committee of three or more individuals, none of whom individually has
the power to direct such decisions. Mr. Ferneau holds a majority ownership interest in Borealis Capital Partners IV, LLC and is the designated
manager with voting and investment power over the shares held by Vox Health Fund, L.P. Mr. Ferneau disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares
held by Borealis Granite Fund, L.P., except to the extent of any actual pecuniary interest.

(5) Heights Capital Management, Inc., the authorized agent of CVI International, Inc. (“CVI”), has discretionary authority to vote and dispose of the
shares held by CVI and may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of these shares. Martin Kobinger, in his capacity as Investment Manager of
Heights Capital Management, Inc., may also be deemed to have investment discretion and voting power over the shares held by CVI. Mr. Kobinger
disclaims any such beneficial ownership of the shares. CVI is affiliated with one or more FINRA members. CVI purchased the shares being
registered hereunder in the ordinary course of business and at the time of purchase, had no agreements or understandings, directly or indirectly, with
any other person to distribute such shares.

(6) Empery Asset Management LP, the authorized agent of Empery Asset Master Ltd (“EAM”), has discretionary authority to vote and dispose of the
shares held by EAM and may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of these shares. Martin Hoe and Ryan Lane, in their capacity as investment
managers of Empery Asset Management LP, may also be deemed to have investment discretion and voting power over the shares held by EAM.
EAM, Mr. Hoe and Mr. Lane each disclaim any beneficial ownership of these shares.

(7) Empery Asset Management LP, the authorized agent of Empery Tax Efficient III, LP (“ETE III”), has discretionary authority to vote and dispose of
the shares held by ETE III and may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of these shares. Martin Hoe and

121



 
Ryan Lane, in their capacity as investment managers of Empery Asset Management LP, may also be deemed to have investment discretion and
voting power over the shares held by ETE III. ETE III, Mr. Hoe and Mr. Lane each disclaim any beneficial ownership of these shares.

(8) Empery Asset Management LP, the authorized agent of Empery Tax Efficient, LP (“ETE”), has discretionary authority to vote and dispose of the
shares held by ETE and may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of these shares. Martin Hoe and Ryan Lane, in their capacity as investment
managers of Empery Asset Management LP, may also be deemed to have investment discretion and voting power over the shares held by ETE. ETE,
Mr. Hoe and Mr. Lane each disclaim any beneficial ownership of these shares.

(9) Ian Jacobs is a former director and officer of Olivia Ventures, Inc., our predecessor.
(10) Mark Tompkins is a former director and officer of Olivia Ventures, Inc., our predecessor.
(11) OrbiMed Capital GP V LLC, or GP V, is the general partner of OrbiMed Private Investments V-KA, LP, or OPI V. OrbiMed Advisors LLC, or

OrbiMed, is the managing member of GP V. By virtue of such relationships, GP V and OrbiMed may be deemed to have voting and investment
power over the shares held by OPI V and as a result may be deemed to have beneficial ownership of such shares. OrbiMed exercises voting and
investment power through a management committee comprised of Carl L. Gordon, Sven H. Borho, and Jonathan T. Silverstein, each of whom
disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by OPI V. Each of Carl L. Gordon, a member of OrbiMed, and Stephen Squinto, an executive
partner of OrbiMed, is a member of our Board. Each of GP V, OrbiMed, Dr. Gordon and Dr. Squinto disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares
held by OPI V, except to the extent of its or his pecuniary interest therein, if any.

(12) Dr. Squinto is a member of our Board. Includes 524 shares of unvested restricted stock over which Dr. Squinto has voting power.
(13) Thomas J. Schuetz is our Chief Executive Officer and a member of our Board. Includes 416,041 shares of unvested restricted stock over which Dr.

Schuetz has voting power.
(14) Vered Bisker-Leib is our Chief Operating Officer. Includes 242,839 shares of unvested restricted stock over which Dr. Bisker-Leib has voting power.
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PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

The selling stockholders, which as used herein includes donees, pledgees, transferees or other successors-in-interest selling shares of common stock or
interests in shares of common stock received after the date of this prospectus from a selling stockholder as a gift, pledge, partnership distribution or other
transfer, may, from time to time, sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any or all of their shares of common stock or interests in shares of common stock on
any stock exchange, market or trading facility on which the shares are traded or in private transactions. These dispositions may be at fixed prices, at
prevailing market prices at the time of sale, at prices related to the prevailing market price, at varying prices determined at the time of sale, or at negotiated
prices.

The selling stockholders may use any one or more of the following methods when disposing of shares or interests therein:

 • ordinary brokerage transactions and transactions in which the broker-dealer solicits purchasers;

 • block trades in which the broker-dealer will attempt to sell the shares as agent, but may position and resell a portion of the block as
principal to facilitate the transaction;

 • purchases by a broker-dealer as principal and resale by the broker-dealer for its account;

 • an exchange distribution in accordance with the rules of the applicable exchange;

 • privately negotiated transactions;

 • short sales;

 • through the writing or settlement of options or other hedging transactions, whether through an options exchange or otherwise;

 • broker-dealers may agree with the selling stockholders to sell a specified number of such shares at a stipulated price per share;

 • a combination of any such methods of sale; and

 • any other method permitted pursuant to applicable law.

The selling stockholders may, from time to time, pledge or grant a security interest in some or all of the shares of common stock owned by them and, if
they default in the performance of their secured obligations, the pledgees or secured parties may offer and sell the shares of common stock, from time to
time, under this prospectus, or under an amendment to this prospectus under Rule 424(b)(3) or other applicable provision of the Securities Act amending
the list of selling stockholders to include the pledgee, transferee or other successors in interest as selling stockholders under this prospectus. The selling
stockholders also may transfer the shares of common stock in other circumstances, in which case the transferees, pledgees or other successors in interest
will be the selling beneficial owners for purposes of this prospectus.

In connection with the sale of our common stock or interests therein, the selling stockholders may enter into hedging transactions with broker-dealers or
other financial institutions, which may in turn engage in short sales of the common stock in the course of hedging the positions they assume. The selling
stockholders may also sell shares of our common stock short and deliver these securities to close out their short positions, or loan or pledge the common
stock to broker-dealers that in turn may sell these securities. The selling stockholders may also enter into options or other transactions with broker-dealers
or other financial institutions or the creation of one or more derivative securities which require the delivery to such broker-dealer or other financial
institution of shares offered by this prospectus, which shares such broker-dealer or other financial institution may resell pursuant to this prospectus (as
supplemented or amended to reflect such transaction).

The aggregate proceeds to the selling stockholders from the sale of the common stock offered by them will be the purchase price of the common stock less
discounts or commissions, if any. Each of the selling stockholders reserves the right to accept and, together with their agents from time to time, to reject, in
whole or in part, any proposed purchase of common stock to be made directly or through agents. We will not receive any of the proceeds from this offering.

The selling stockholders and any underwriters, broker-dealers or agents that are involved in selling the common stock or interests therein may be deemed to
be “underwriters” within the meaning of Section 2(a)(11) of the Securities Act. In such event, any commissions received by such broker-dealers or agents
and any profit on the resale of the shares purchased by them may be deemed to be underwriting commissions or discounts under the Securities Act. Each
selling stockholder in the Private Placement has informed us that it does not have any agreement or understanding, directly or indirectly, with any person to
distribute the common stock. If a selling stockholder is deemed to be an “underwriter” within the meaning of the Securities Act, it will be subject to the
prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act.
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To the extent required, the shares of our common stock to be sold, the names of the selling stockholders, the respective purchase prices and public offering
prices, the names of any agents, dealer or underwriter, any applicable commissions or discounts with respect to a particular offer will be set forth in an
accompanying prospectus supplement or, if appropriate, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement that includes this prospectus.

In order to comply with the securities laws of some states, if applicable, the common stock may be sold in these jurisdictions only through registered or
licensed brokers or dealers. In addition, in some states the common stock may not be sold unless it has been registered or qualified for sale or an exemption
from registration or qualification requirements is available and is complied with.

We have advised the selling stockholders that the anti-manipulation rules of Regulation M under the Exchange Act may apply to sales of shares in the
market and to the activities of the selling stockholders and their affiliates. In addition, we will make copies of this prospectus (as it may be supplemented or
amended from time to time) available to the selling stockholders for the purpose of satisfying the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act.
The selling stockholders may indemnify any broker-dealer that participates in transactions involving the sale of the shares against certain liabilities,
including liabilities arising under the Securities Act.

We have agreed to indemnify the selling stockholders against liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act and state securities laws, relating to
the registration of the shares offered by this prospectus.

We have agreed with the selling stockholders to keep this registration statement of which this prospectus constitutes a part effective for five years from the
date it is declared effective by the SEC or until the date on which all of the shares required to be registered by us have been transferred other than to certain
enumerated permitted assignees under the Registration Rights Agreement. See the section of this prospectus captioned “Shares Eligible for Future Sale—
Registration Rights.”
 

DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

We have authorized capital stock consisting of 300,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock,
par value $0.0001 per share. Except as otherwise provided in the certificate of designation of any series of preferred stock we may issue, the number of
authorized shares of common stock or preferred stock may from time to time be increased or decreased (but not below the number of shares of such class
outstanding) by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority in voting power of the outstanding shares of our capital stock.

As of February 28, 2021, we had 52,112,143 shares of common stock issued and outstanding, and no shares of preferred stock issued and outstanding.
Unless stated otherwise, the following discussion summarizes the term and provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our
amended and restated bylaws.

Common Stock

The holders of outstanding shares of common stock are entitled to receive dividends out of assets or funds legally available for the payment of dividends at
such times and in such amounts as the board of directors from time to time may determine. Holders of common stock are entitled to one vote for each share
held on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders. There is no cumulative voting of the election of directors then standing for election. The common
stock is not entitled to pre-emptive rights and is not subject to conversion or redemption. Upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our company, the
assets legally available for distribution to stockholders are distributable ratably among the holders of the common stock after payment of liquidation
preferences, if any, on any outstanding payment of other claims of creditors. Each outstanding share of common stock is duly and validly issued, fully paid
and non-assessable.

Preferred Stock

Shares of preferred stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series, each of which will have such distinctive designation or title as may be
determined by our board of directors prior to the issuance of any shares thereof. Preferred stock will have such voting powers, full or limited, or no voting
powers, and such preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights and such qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, as shall
be stated in such resolution or resolutions providing for the issue of such class or series of preferred stock as may be adopted from time to time by the board
of directors prior to the issuance of any shares thereof.

While we do not currently have any plans for the issuance of additional preferred stock, the issuance of such preferred stock could adversely affect the
rights of the holders of common stock and, therefore, reduce the value of the common stock. It is not possible to
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state the actual effect of the issuance of any shares of preferred stock on the rights of holders of the common stock until the board of directors determines
the specific rights of the holders of the preferred stock; however, these effects may include:

 • Restricting dividends on the common stock;

 • Diluting the voting power of the common stock;

 • Impairing the liquidation rights of the common stock; or

 • Delaying or preventing a change in control of our company without further action by the stockholders.

Other than in connection with shares of preferred stock, which preferred stock is not currently designated nor contemplated by us, and the division of our
board of directors into three classes with staggered three-year terms, we do not believe that any provision of our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation or amended and restated bylaws would delay, defer or prevent a change in control.

 

Other Convertible Securities

As of the date hereof, other than the securities described above and the options to purchase common stock issued under our 2020 Plan as described under
“—2020 Stock Option and Incentive Plan,” we do not have any outstanding convertible securities.

Anti-Takeover Effects of Provisions of our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, our Amended and Restated Bylaws and Delaware
Law

Some provisions of Delaware law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that could
make the following transactions more difficult: (i) acquisition of us by means of a tender offer (ii) acquisition of us by means of a proxy contest or
otherwise, or (iii) removal of our incumbent officers and directors. It is possible that these provisions could make it more difficult to accomplish or could
deter transactions that stockholders may otherwise consider to be in their best interest or in our best interests, including transactions that might result in a
premium over the price of our common stock.

These provisions, summarized below, are expected to discourage coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids. These provisions are also
designed to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of us to first negotiate with our board of directors. We believe that the benefits of increased
protection of our potential ability to negotiate with the proponent of an unfriendly or unsolicited proposal to acquire or restructure us outweigh the
disadvantages of discouraging these proposals because negotiation of these proposals could result in an improvement of their terms.

Delaware Anti-Takeover Statute

We are subject to Section 203 of the DGCL, which prohibits a person deemed an “interested stockholder” from engaging in a “business combination” with
a publicly held Delaware corporation for three years following the date such person becomes an interested stockholder unless the business combination is,
or the transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder was, approved in a prescribed manner or another prescribed exception applies.
Generally, an “interested stockholder” is a person who, together with affiliates and associates, owns, or within three years prior to the determination of
interested stockholder status did own, 15% or more of a corporation’s voting stock. Generally, a “business combination” includes a merger, asset or stock
sale, or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the interested stockholder. The existence of this provision may have an anti-takeover effect with
respect to transactions not approved in advance by the board of directors, such as discouraging takeover attempts that might result in a premium over the
price of our common stock.

Undesignated Preferred Stock

The ability to authorize undesignated preferred stock makes it possible for our board of directors to issue preferred stock with voting or other rights or
preferences that could impede the success of any attempt to change control of our company. These and other provisions may have the effect of deterring
hostile takeovers or delaying changes in control or management of our company.

Special Stockholder Meetings

Our amended and restated bylaws provide that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by a majority of our board of directors then in office.
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Requirements for Advance Notification of Stockholder Nominations and Proposals

Our amended and restated bylaws establish advance notice procedures with respect to stockholder proposals and the nomination of candidates for election
as directors, other than nominations made by or at the direction of the board of directors or a committee of the board of directors.

 

Elimination of Stockholder Action by Written Consent

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation will eliminates the right of stockholders to act by written consent without a meeting.

Classified Board; Election and Removal of Directors

Our board of directors is divided into three classes. The directors in each class will serve for a three-year term, one class being elected each year by our
stockholders, with staggered three-year terms. Only one class of directors will be elected at each annual meeting of our stockholders, with the other classes
continuing for the remainder of their respective three-year terms. Because our stockholders do not have cumulative voting rights, our stockholders holding
a majority of the shares of our common stock outstanding will be able to elect all of our directors. In addition, our directors may not be removed without
cause, and removal of our directors for cause will require a supermajority (66 2/3%) stockholder vote. For more information on the classified board of
directors, see the section titled “Management—Board Composition”. This system of electing and removing directors may tend to discourage a third party
from making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us, because it generally makes it more difficult for stockholders to replace a
majority of the directors.

Choice of Forum

Our amended and restated bylaws provide that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware shall be the sole and exclusive forum for any state law
claims for: (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of our company, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by
any of our directors or officers to the company or our stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim against our company arising pursuant to any provision
of the DGCL or our certificate of incorporation or bylaws, (iv) any action to interpret, apply, enforce, or determine the validity of our certificate of
incorporation or bylaws, or (v) any action asserting a claim against our company governed by the internal affairs doctrine. This exclusive forum provision
will not apply to any causes of action arising under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive
jurisdiction. Unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternate forum, the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts is the sole
and exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act, as our principal executive office is located
Cambridge, Massachusetts. Although our amended and restated bylaws contain the choice of forum provision described above, it is possible that a court
could rule that such provisions are inapplicable for a particular claim or action or that such provisions are unenforceable.

Amendment of Charter and Bylaw Provisions

The amendment of any of the above provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, except for the
provision making it possible for our board of directors to issue convertible preferred stock, would require a supermajority (66 2/3% and majority of the
minority, if applicable) stockholder vote.

The provisions of the DGCL, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws could have the effect of discouraging
others from attempting hostile takeovers and, as a consequence, they may also inhibit temporary fluctuations in the price of our common stock that often
result from actual or rumored hostile takeover attempts. These provisions may also have the effect of preventing changes in our management. It is possible
that these provisions could make it more difficult to accomplish transactions that stockholders may otherwise deem to be in their best interests.

Limitations of Liability and Indemnification Matters

For a discussion of liability and indemnification, see the section titled “Directors, Executive Officers, Promoters and Control Persons—Limitation on
Liability and Indemnification Matters”.

 

Transfer Agent

We have appointed American Stock Transfer & Trust Company to serve as transfer agent and registrar for our common stock.
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SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE

Prior to the Merger, there has been a limited public market for our common stock. Future sales of our common stock, including shares issued upon the
exercise of options or warrants that we may issue, in the public market after the Merger, or the perception that those sales may occur, could cause the
prevailing price for our common stock to fall or impair our ability to raise equity capital in the future. As described below, only a limited number of shares
of our common stock will be available for sale in the public market for a period of several months after consummation of the Merger due to contractual and
legal restrictions on resale described below. Future sales of our common stock in the public market either before (to the extent permitted) or after
restrictions lapse, or the perception that those sales may occur, could adversely affect the prevailing price of our common stock at such time and our ability
to raise equity capital at a time and price we deem appropriate.

As of February 28, 2021, we had 52,112,143 shares of common stock outstanding, of which our directors and executive officers beneficially own an
aggregate of 22,329,730 shares. Of those outstanding shares, no shares of common stock are freely tradable, without restriction, as of the date of this
registration statement. No shares issued in connection with the Merger or the Private Placement can be publicly sold under Rule 144 under the Securities
Act until 12 months from June 23, 2020, the filing date of our Current Report on Form 8-K reflecting our status as a non-shell company.

Lock-up Agreements

Our officers and directors and our stockholders have agreed that, subject to certain exceptions, they will not, for a period commencing on the closing date
of the Merger and ending on the earlier of (i) nine months following such date or (ii) the listing of our common stock on Nasdaq or the NYSE, dispose of,
or enter into any swap, hedge or similar arrangement regarding, any shares of common stock or securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable
for shares of common stock. The lock-up restriction does not apply to shares of common stock purchased or to be purchased in the Private Placement and
shares of common stock acquired in the open market following the Private Placement.

Sale of Restricted Shares

Of the 52,151,798 shares of common stock outstanding upon completion of the Merger and the Private Placement, 52,112,143 shares are “restricted
securities” as such term is defined in Rule 144 (the difference of 39,655 shares of common stock were forfeited in connection with employee departures).
These restricted securities were issued and sold by us, or will be issued and sold by us, in private transactions and are eligible for public sale only if
registered under the Securities Act or if they qualify for an exemption from registration under the Securities Act, including the exemptions provided by
Rule 144 or Rule 701, which rules are summarized below.

Rule 144

Pursuant to Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act, sales of the securities of a former shell company, such as us, under that rule are not permitted
(i) until at least 12 months have elapsed from June 23, 2020, the filing date of our Current Report on Form 8-K, reflecting our status as a non-shell
company, and (ii) unless at the time of a proposed sale, we are subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act and have
filed all reports and other materials required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, as applicable, during the preceding 12 months, other
than Current Reports on Form 8-K. We intend to register such shares for sale under the Securities Act, but are currently a “voluntary filer” and are not
subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act. As a result, unless we register such shares for sale under the
Securities Act, most of our stockholders will be forced to hold their shares of our common stock for at least that 12-month period before they are eligible to
sell those shares, and even after that 12-month period, sales may not be made under Rule 144 unless we and the selling stockholders are in compliance with
other requirements of Rule 144.
 

In general, Rule 144 provides that (i) any of our non-affiliates that has held restricted common stock for at least 12 months is thereafter entitled to sell its
restricted stock freely and without restriction, provided that we remain compliant and current with our SEC reporting obligations, and (ii) any of our
affiliates, which includes our directors, executive officers and other person in control of us, that has held restricted common stock for at least 12 months is
thereafter entitled to sell its restricted stock subject to the following restrictions: (a) we are compliant and current with our SEC reporting obligations, (b)
certain manner of sale provisions are satisfied, (c) a Form 144 is filed with the SEC, and (d) certain volume limitations are satisfied, which limit the sale of
shares within any three-month period to a number of shares that does not exceed 1% of the total number of outstanding shares or, if our common stock is
then listed or quoted for trading on a national securities exchange, then the greater of 1% of the total number of outstanding shares and the average weekly
trading volume of our common stock during the four calendar weeks preceding the filing of the Form 144 with respect to the sale. A person who has ceased
to be an affiliate at least three months immediately preceding the sale and who has owned such shares of common stock for at least one year is entitled to
sell the shares under Rule 144 without regard to any of the limitations described above.
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Regulation S

Regulation S under the Securities Act provides that shares owned by any person may be sold without registration in the U.S., provided that the sale is
effected in an offshore transaction and no directed selling efforts are made in the U.S. (as these terms are defined in Regulation S), subject to certain other
conditions. In general, this means that our shares of common stock may be sold in some other manner outside the United States without requiring
registration in the United States.

Rule 701

In general, under Rule 701 as currently in effect, any of our employees, directors, officers, consultants or advisors who acquired common stock from us in
connection with a written compensatory stock or option plan or other written agreement, in compliance with Rule 701 under the Securities Act, before the
effective date of the Merger (to the extent such common stock is not subject to a lock-up agreement) is entitled to rely on Rule 701 to resell such shares
beginning 90 days after we become subject to the public company reporting requirements of the Exchange Act in reliance on Rule 144, but without
compliance with the holding period requirements contained in Rule 144. Accordingly, subject to any applicable lock-up agreements, beginning 90 days
after we become subject to the public company reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, under Rule 701 persons who are not our “affiliates,” as defined
in Rule 144, may resell those shares without complying with the minimum holding period or public information requirements of Rule 144, and persons
who are our “affiliates” may resell those shares without compliance with Rule 144’s minimum holding period requirements (subject to the terms of the
lock-up agreements described above, if applicable).

Registration Rights

In connection with the Merger and the Private Placement, we entered into a registration rights agreement, pursuant to which we agreed to file, subject to
customary exceptions, the initial registration statement with the SEC, together with additional filings needed to maintain the effectiveness of the initial
registration statement, covering (i) 39,055,356 shares of common stock issued as a result of the Share Conversion, (ii) 12,096,442 shares of common stock
issued in the Private Placement, and (iii) 1,000,000 shares of our common stock held by the stockholders of Olivia Ventures, Inc. prior to the Merger. Such
shares of common stock are referred to collectively as the Registrable Shares. The initial registration statement was declared effective by the SEC on
September 25, 2020.  

Subject to customary exceptions, if (i) we fail to maintain the effectiveness of the registration statement, (ii) the holders of Registrable Shares cannot use
the registration statement to resell the Registrable Shares for a period of more than 15 consecutive trading days (except for suspension of the use of the
Registration Statement during certain blackout periods), or (iii) following the listing or inclusion for quotation on the OTC Markets Group, the Nasdaq
Stock Market, or Nasdaq, the New York Stock Exchange, or the NYSE, or the NYSE American, trading of our common stock is suspended or halted for
more than three full, consecutive trading days, we will make payments to each holder of Registrable Shares as monetary penalties at a rate equal to 12% per
annum of the total value of Registrable Shares held or purchased by such holder and affected during the period, based on the Sale Price, provided that the
maximum amount of monetary penalties paid by us will not exceed 5% of such total value.

We must use commercially reasonable efforts to keep the registration statement or a successor registration statement effective for five years from the date it
is declared effective by the SEC, or until the date on which all Registrable Shares have been transferred other than to certain enumerated permitted
assignees under the Registration Rights Agreement. Subject to certain requirements, holders of Registrable Securities also have the right to demand that we
effect secondary underwritten offerings or block trades.

We will pay all expenses in connection with the registration obligations provided in the Registration Rights Agreement, including, without limitation, all
registration, filing, and stock exchange fees, printing expenses, all fees and expenses of complying with applicable securities laws, the fees and
disbursements of our counsel and of our independent accountants, and the reasonable fees and disbursements of a single counsel to the holders of the
Registrable Securities, not to exceed $35,000. Each holder will be responsible for its own sales commissions, if any, transfer taxes and the expenses of any
other attorney or advisor such holder decides to employ.

All descriptions of the Registration Rights Agreement herein are qualified in their entirety by reference to the text thereof filed as an exhibit hereto.

Stock Plans

On January 8, 2021, we filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-8 covering the shares of common stock that are outstanding or reserved for
issuance under the 2020 Plan. Accordingly, shares registered under our Form S-8 registration statement are available for sale in the open market, subject to
Rule 144 volume limitations and the lock-up agreements described above, if applicable.
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LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the shares of our common stock being offered by this prospectus will be passed upon for us by Goodwin Procter LLP, Boston,
Massachusetts.

EXPERTS

Our financial statements as of, and for each of the years, in the two-year period ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, have been included herein and in the
registration statement in reliance upon the report of CohnReznick LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, appearing elsewhere herein, and
upon the authority of said firm as experts in accounting and auditing.
 

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We have filed with the SEC this registration statement on Form S-1 under the Securities Act with respect to the shares of common stock being offered by
this prospectus. This prospectus, which constitutes a part of this registration statement, does not contain all of the information in this registration statement
and its exhibits. For further information with respect to us and the common stock offered by this prospectus, you should refer to this registration statement
and the exhibits filed as part of this document. Statements contained in this prospectus as to the contents of any contract or any other document referred to
are not necessarily complete, and in each instance, we refer you to the copy of the contract or other document filed as an exhibit to this registration
statement. Each of these statements is qualified in all respects by this reference.

We are subject to the informational requirements of the Exchange Act and file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information
with the SEC. You can read our SEC filings, including this registration statement, over the Internet on the SEC’s website at http://www.sec.gov. You may
also request a copy of these filings, at no cost, by writing or telephoning us at: 80 Guest Street, Suite 601, Boston, MA 02135, (617) 500-8099.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 
 
 
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Compass Therapeutics, Inc.
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Compass Therapeutics, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2020
and 2019, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows
for the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations
and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
 
Basis for Opinion
 
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) ("PCAOB") and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not
required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
 
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.
 
 
 
/s/ CohnReznick LLP
 
We have served as the Company’s auditor since March 2020.
 
Hartford, Connecticut
March 5, 2021
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Compass Therapeutics, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except par value per share data)

 
  December 31,  
  2020   2019  
         

Assets         
Current assets:         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 47,076  $ 25,303 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   3,126   935 

Total current assets   50,202   26,238 
Property and equipment, net   1,126   3,751 
Restricted cash   263   263 
Other assets   320   129 

Total assets  $ 51,911  $ 30,381 
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)         
Current liabilities:         

Accounts payable  $ 1,061  $ 629 
Accrued expenses   1,571   3,122 
Current portion of long-term debt   7,467   5,576 
Derivative liability related to loan   —   494 

Total current liabilities   10,099   9,821 
Long-term debt, net of current portion   1,867   9,293 

Total liabilities   11,966   19,114 
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 11)         
Convertible preferred stock - 207,164 authorized, issued, and outstanding
    as of December 31, 2019.  No shares authorized, issued, and outstanding
    as of December 31, 2020.   —   129,870 
Stockholders' equity (deficit):         

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value: 10,000 shares authorized;
no shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.   —   — 
Common stock, $0.0001 par value: 300,000 shares authorized; 52,117 and 9,073 shares issued at
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively; 51,221 and 7,034 shares outstanding at December 31,
2020 and 2019, respectively.  5  1 

Additional paid-in-capital   191,348   3,304 
Accumulated deficit   (151,408)   (121,908)

Total stockholders' equity (deficit)   39,945   (118,603)
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity (deficit)  $ 51,911  $ 30,381 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Compass Therapeutics, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands, except per share data)

 
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2020   2019  

Operating expenses:         
Research and development  $ 14,904  $ 22,449 
General and administrative   12,908   11,603 

Total operating expenses   27,812   34,052 
Loss from operations   (27,812)   (34,052)

Other income (expense):         
Interest expense   (908)   (1,228)
Other income (expense), net   (748)   627 

Total other expense   (1,656)   (601)
Loss before income tax expense   (29,468)   (34,653)

Income tax expense   (32)   (91)
Net loss  $ (29,500)  $ (34,744)

Net loss per share - basic and diluted  $ (0.96)  $ (5.19)
Basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding   30,776   6,691 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Compass Therapeutics, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

(In thousands)
 

  Convertible Preferred Stock   Common Stock   
Additional

Paid-in   Accumulated  
Total

Stockholders'  
  Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount   Capital   Deficit   Equity (Deficit) 

Balance at January 1, 2019   207,164  $ 129,870   6,355  $ 1  $ 2,389  $ (87,164)  $ (84,774)
Vesting of share-based awards   —   —   679   —   —   —   — 
Share-based compensation expense   —   —   —   —   915   —   915 
Net loss   —   —   —   —   —   (34,744)   (34,744)
Balance at December 31, 2019   207,164  $ 129,870   7,034  $ 1  $ 3,304  $ (121,908)  $ (118,603)
 
 

  Convertible Preferred Stock   Common Stock   
Additional

Paid-in   Accumulated  
Total

Stockholders'  
  Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount   Capital   Deficit   Equity (Deficit) 

Balance at January 1, 2020   207,164  $ 129,870   7,034  $ 1  $ 3,304  $ (121,908)  $ (118,603)
Common shares issued to former shareholders of Olivia
Ventures Inc.   —   —   1,000   —   —   —   — 
Conversion of Compass Therapeutics LLC preferred
shares into common shares upon consummation of the
reverse merger   (207,164)   (129,870)   30,630   3   129,867   —   129,870 
Common shares issued in private placement, net of
issuance costs of $6.3 million   —   —   12,096   1   54,230   —   54,231 
Payment to non-participating Compass Therapeutics
LLC members upon consummation of Merger   —   —   (13)   —   (69)   —   (69)
Vesting of share-based awards   —   —   474   —   —   —   — 
Stock-based compensation   —   —   —   —   4,016   —   4,016 
Net loss   —   —   —   —   —   (29,500)   (29,500)
Balance at December 31, 2020   —  $ —   51,221  $ 5  $ 191,348  $ (151,408)  $ 39,945 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
 

 

F-5



 
 

Compass Therapeutics, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2020   2019  

Cash flows from operating activities:         
Net loss  $ (29,500)  $ (34,744)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating
   activities:         

Depreciation and amortization   2,404   2,120 
Loss on disposal of equipment   281   — 
Noncash interest expense   90   116 
Share-based compensation   4,016   915 
Change in fair value of derivative liability   556   104 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   (2,191)   435 
Other long-term assets   (290)   (56)
Accounts payable   432   (1,101)
Accrued expenses   (1,551)   509 
Deferred rent   —   (39)
Settlement of derivative liability   (1,050)   — 

Net cash used in operating activities   (26,803)   (31,741)
Cash flows from investing activities:         
Purchases of property and equipment   (106)   (466)
Proceeds from sale of equipment   144   — 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities   38   (466)
Cash flows from financing activities:         
Proceeds from issuance of common stock   60,482   — 
Issuance costs from issuance of common stock   (6,319)   — 
Repayment of borrowings under loan   (5,625)   — 

Net cash provided by financing activities   48,538   — 
Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   21,773   (32,207)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year   25,566   57,773 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year  $ 47,339  $ 25,566 
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information         
Cash paid for interest  $ 854  $ 1,115 
Supplemental disclosure of financing activities         
Conversion of preferred units  $ 129,870  $ — 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Compass Therapeutics, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

 

1. Formation and Business of the Company

Compass Therapeutics, Inc. (“Compass” or the “Company”) is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company developing proprietary antibody
therapeutics intended to engage the immune system to treat both solid tumors and hematological malignancies. The Company’s immuno-oncology
product candidates include a clinical-stage monoclonal antibody and a portfolio of bispecific antibodies. The Company was incorporated as Olivia
Ventures, Inc. (“Olivia”) in the State of Delaware on March 20, 2018. Prior to the Merger (as defined below), Olivia was a “shell company” (as
defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). References to Compass or the Company herein include Compass
Therapeutics, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries.

On June 17, 2020, the Company’s Board of Directors and the Company’s pre-Merger (defined below) stockholders approved an amended and
restated certificate of incorporation, which, among other things, increased authorized capital stock from 50,000,000 shares of common stock par
value $0.0001 and 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share, to 300,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.0001 per
share, and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share.

On June 17, 2020, the Company completed a merger (the “Merger”) of its wholly-owned subsidiary, Compass Therapeutics LLC, pursuant to an
Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization (the “Merger Agreement”), by and among Olivia Ventures, Inc., Compass Acquisition LLC,
Compass Therapeutics LLC, and as a result, Compass Therapeutics LLC became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Additionally, certain
of the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries (each, a “Blocker Merger Sub”) merged with and into the applicable blocker entity (“Blockers”) in
transactions that are referred to as “Blocker Mergers.”

At the effective time of the Merger and the applicable effective time of each Blocker Merger, (collectively, the “Effective Time”), an aggregate of
31,627,139 shares of the Company’s common stock were issued to holders of common membership interests of Compass Therapeutics LLC
(including common membership interests issued upon the conversion of preferred membership interests) and 7,428,217 shares of its common stock
were issued to the holders of equity interests of the Blockers. The issuances of shares of the Company’s common stock to the security holders of
Compass Therapeutics LLC and the Blockers are collectively referred to as the Share Conversion.

In addition, 2,930,836 shares of the Company’s common stock were reserved for issuance under the Company’s 2020 Stock Option and Incentive
Plan. Immediately prior to the Effective Time, an aggregate of 4,000,000 of the 5,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock held by pre-
Merger stockholders of Olivia Ventures, Inc. were forfeited and surrendered for cancellation. No fractional shares of the Company’s common stock
were issued in connection with the Merger, and holders of membership interests of Compass Therapeutics LLC received cash in lieu thereof.

The Merger and the Blocker Mergers were treated as a recapitalization and reverse acquisition for financial reporting purposes. Compass
Therapeutics LLC is considered the acquirer for accounting purposes, and the Company’s historical financial statements before the Merger have
been replaced with the historical financial statements of Compass Therapeutics LLC in filings with the SEC subsequent to the Merger. As a result,
the vested and outstanding common membership interests of Compass Therapeutics LLC have been presented as outstanding shares of the
Company’s common stock for all periods presented. All outstanding preferred membership interests of Compass Therapeutics LLC are presented
as convertible preferred stock for all periods and until such interests were converted into shares of the Company’s common stock at the time of the
Merger.

On June 19, 2020, the Company completed a private placement (“Private Placement”) and sold 12,096,442 shares of its common stock at a
purchase price of $5.00 per share and received net proceeds of $54.2 million, after associated offering costs.   

The Company is subject to risks and uncertainties common to companies in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries. There can be no
assurance that the Company’s research and development will be successfully completed, that adequate protection for the Company’s technology
will be obtained, that any products developed will obtain necessary government regulatory approval or that any approved products will be
commercially viable. The Company operates in an environment of rapid change in technology and substantial competition from pharmaceutical
and biotechnology companies. In addition, the Company is dependent upon the services of its employees and consultants.
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2. Liquidity, Uncertainties and Going Concern

The Company has evaluated whether there are conditions and events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about its ability to
continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the consolidated financial statements are issued.

Since its inception, the Company has funded its operations primarily with proceeds from the sale of its equity securities and borrowings under the
2018 Credit Facility. The Company has incurred recurring losses since its inception and had an accumulated deficit of $151.4 million on December
31, 2020.  The Company expects to continue to generate operating losses for the foreseeable future. The Company expects that its cash and cash
equivalents will be sufficient to fund its operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements into the second quarter of 2022. The future
viability of the Company beyond that point is dependent on its ability to raise additional capital to finance its operations.

The Company is subject to risks common to early stage companies in the biotechnology industry including, but not limited to: having a limited
operating history and no products approved for commercial sale; having a history of significant losses; its need to obtain additional financing;
dependence on its ability to advance its current and future product candidates through clinical trials, marketing approval and commercialization;
the lengthy and expensive nature and uncertain outcomes of the clinical development process; the lengthy, time consuming and unpredictable
nature of the regulatory approval process; the results of preclinical studies and early stage clinical trials that may not be predictive of future results;
dependence on its key personnel; risks related to patent protection and the Company’s pending patent applications; dependence on third party
collaborators for the discovery, development and commercialization of current and future product candidates; and significant competition from
other biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies. Even if the Company’s development efforts are successful, it is uncertain when, if ever, the
Company will realize significant revenue from product sales.

Due to the evolving and uncertain global impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, we cannot precisely determine or quantify the impact this pandemic
will have on our business operations in the future. We have been carefully monitoring the COVID-19 pandemic and its potential impact on our
business and have taken important steps to help ensure the safety of our employees and their families and to reduce the spread of COVID-19
community-wide. We are continuing to assess the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our current and future business and operations,
including our expenses and clinical trials, as well as on our industry and the healthcare system. To date, we have been able to continue to pursue
our Phase 1 clinical trial without significant delays or major difficulties despite the COVID-19 pandemic.

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars and have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). Any reference in these notes to applicable guidance is meant to refer to the
authoritative GAAP as found in the Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) and as amended by Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) of the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”).

In June 2020, the Company completed the Merger, as discussed in Note 1. Upon the closing of the Merger, the common and convertible preferred
units of Compass Therapeutics LLC were converted into the Company’s common stock. The Company effected a 0.15-for-one stock conversion
ratio for its issued and outstanding convertible preferred units. Common units were converted using the same ratio after factoring in the relevant
strike price of each grant. Subsequent to the Merger, there were no common or convertible preferred units outstanding. All of the share and per
share information presented in the accompanying financial statements has been adjusted to reflect the stock split on a retroactive basis for all
periods and as of all dates presented.

Upon the closing of the Merger, the Company’s certificate of incorporation was amended and restated to provide for 10 million authorized shares
of preferred stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share and 300 million authorized shares of common stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share.

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Compass Therapeutics, Inc., and its wholly-owned subsidiaries,
including Compass Therapeutics LLC and Compass Therapeutics Advisors Inc. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated
in consolidation.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts
of expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates and assumptions reflected in these financial statements include, but are not limited
to, the accrual of research and development expenses, the valuation of the embedded derivative, the valuation of common stock and estimates
associated with stock-based awards. Estimates are periodically reviewed in light of changes in circumstances, facts and experience. Actual results
could differ from those estimates. Changes in estimates are recorded prospectively in the period that they become known.

Segment Information

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise for which separate and discrete information is available for evaluation by the chief
operating decision-maker in deciding how to allocate resources and assess performance. The Company has one operating segment. The Company’s
chief operating decision-maker, its chief executive officer, manages the Company’s operations on a consolidated basis for the purpose of allocating
resources. All of the Company’s long-lived assets are held in the United States.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into cash with original maturities of three months or less from the
date of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include cash held in banks and amounts held in money market funds. Cash
equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates market value. Cash equivalents consisted of money market funds of $43.6 million and $22.8
million on December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Restricted Cash

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company was required to maintain a separate cash balance of $0.2 million to collateralize corporate credit
cards with a bank, which was classified as restricted cash on the consolidated balance sheets as a non-current asset.

In connection with the Company’s lease agreement entered into July 2016 (see Note 11), the Company is required to maintain a letter of credit of
$0.1 million for the benefit of the landlord. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the underlying cash balance securing this letter of credit was
classified as restricted cash on the consolidated balance sheets as a non-current asset.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents and restricted
cash. The Company maintains its cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash with financial institutions that management believes to be of high-
credit quality. The Company has not experienced any losses related to its cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization are recorded using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets as follows:

 
Asset Classification  Estimated Useful Life
Equipment  5 years
Furniture and fixtures  7 years
Software  5 years
Leasehold improvements

 
Lesser of estimated useful life or lease

term
 

Estimated useful lives are periodically assessed to determine if changes are appropriate. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as
incurred. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost of these assets and related accumulated depreciation or amortization are
eliminated from the consolidated balance sheet and any resulting gains or losses are included in the consolidated statement of operations in the
period of disposal. Costs for capital assets not yet placed into service are capitalized as construction-in-progress and depreciated once placed into
service. Assets held under capital leases are stated at
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the lesser of the present value of future minimum lease payments or the fair value of the leased asset at the inception of the lease. Amortization of
assets held under capital leases is computed using the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the period of
the related lease.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets consist of property and equipment. Long-lived assets to be held and used are tested for recoverability whenever events or
changes in business circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be fully recoverable. Factors that the Company considers
in deciding when to perform an impairment review include significant underperformance of the business in relation to expectations, significant
negative industry or economic trends and significant changes or planned changes in the use of the assets. If an impairment review is performed to
evaluate a long-lived asset group for recoverability, the Company compares forecasts of undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use
and eventual disposition of the long-lived asset group to its carrying value. An impairment loss would be recognized in the consolidated statements
of operations when estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from the use of an asset group are less than its carrying amount.
The impairment loss would be based on the excess of the carrying value of the impaired asset group over its fair value, determined based on
discounted cash flows. The Company did not record any impairment losses on long-lived assets during the year ended December 31, 2020 and
2019.

Fair Value Measurements

Certain assets and liabilities of the Company are carried at fair value under GAAP. Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be
received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of
observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value are to be classified and disclosed
in one of the following three levels of the fair value hierarchy, of which the first two are considered observable and the last is considered
unobservable:

 • Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

 • Level 2 – Observable inputs (other than Level 1 quoted prices), such as quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities,
quoted prices in markets that are not active for identical or similar assets and liabilities, or other inputs that are observable or can be
corroborated by observable market data.

 • Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to determining the fair value of the
assets or liabilities, including pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques.

To the extent that the valuation is based on models or inputs that are less observable or unobservable in the market, the determination of fair value
requires more judgment. Accordingly, the degree of judgment exercised by the Company in determining fair value is greatest for instruments
categorized in Level 3. A financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to
the fair value measurement.

An entity may choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value at specified election dates. Subsequent unrealized
gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected are reported in earnings.

The Company’s cash equivalents are carried at fair value according to the fair value hierarchy described above and were determined based on
Level 1 measurements (see Note 4). The Company’s restricted cash is carried at fair value according to the fair value hierarchy described above
and were determined based on Level 2 measurements (see Note 4). The carrying values of other current assets and accounts payable approximate
their fair value due to the short‑term nature of these assets and liabilities. The carrying values of the Company’s loan approximated its fair value as
of December 31, 2020 and 2019 due to its variable interest rate. The fair value of the loan related embedded derivative (see Note 4) was
determined based on Level 3 measurements.

Research and Development Costs

Costs associated with internal research and development and external research and development services, including drug development and
preclinical studies, are expensed as incurred. Research and development expenses include costs for salaries, employee benefits, subcontractors,
facility-related expenses, depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation, third-party license fees, laboratory supplies, and external costs
of outside vendors engaged to conduct discovery, preclinical and
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clinical development activities and clinical trials as well as to manufacture clinical trial materials, and other costs. The Company recognizes
external research and development costs based on an evaluation of the progress to completion of specific tasks using information provided to the
Company by its service providers.

Nonrefundable advance payments for goods or services to be received in the future for use in research and development activities are recorded as
prepaid expenses. Such prepaid expenses are recognized as an expense when the goods have been delivered or the related services have been
performed, or when it is no longer expected that the goods will be delivered, or the services rendered.

Costs associated with licenses of technology acquired as part of collaborative arrangements are expensed as incurred and are generally included in
research and development expense in the consolidated statements of operations if it is determined the license has no alternative future use.

Accrued Research and Development Expenses

The Company has entered into various research and development and other agreements with commercial firms, researchers, universities and others
for provisions of goods and services. These agreements are generally cancelable, and the related costs are recorded as research and development
expenses as incurred. The Company records accruals for estimated ongoing research and development costs. When evaluating the adequacy of the
accrued liabilities, the Company analyzes progress of the studies or clinical trials, including the phase or completion of events, invoices received
and contracted costs. Significant judgments and estimates are made in determining the accrued balances at the end of any reporting period. Actual
results could differ materially from the Company’s estimates. The Company’s historical accrual estimates have not been materially different from
the actual costs.

Debt Issuance Costs

Debt issuance costs consist of payments made to secure commitments under certain debt financing arrangements. These amounts are recognized as
interest expense over the period of the financing arrangement using the effective interest method. If the financing arrangement is canceled or
forfeited, or if the utility of the arrangement to the Company is otherwise compromised, these costs are recognized as interest expense immediately.

The Company’s consolidated financial statements present debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability as a direct reduction from the
carrying amount of that debt liability.

Patent Costs

All patent-related costs incurred in connection with filing and prosecuting patent applications are expensed as incurred due to the uncertainty about
the recovery of the expenditure. Amounts incurred are classified as general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of
operations.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes the grant‑date fair value of stock‑based awards issued to employees and nonemployee board members as compensation
expense on a straight‑line basis over the service period of the award. The Company uses the Black‑Scholes option pricing model to determine the
grant‑date fair value of stock options and adjusts expense for forfeitures in the periods they occur.

The fair value of each equity award was determined by the Company on the date of grant and by using the methods and assumptions discussed
below. Certain of these inputs are subjective and generally require judgment to determine.

Stock price: See below.

Expected term: The expected term of the equity award represents the weighted average period the award is expected to be outstanding. The
Company uses the simplified method for estimating the expected term as provided by the Securities and Exchange Commission. The simplified
method calculates the expected term as the average time to vesting and the contractual life of the award.
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Expected volatility – Due to the Company’s limited operating history and lack of Company-specific historical or implied volatility, the expected
volatility assumption was determined by examining the historical volatilities of a group of industry peers whose share prices are publicly available.

Risk-free interest rate – The risk-free rate assumption is based on U.S. Treasury instruments, the terms of which were consistent with the expected
term of the Company’s equity award.

Expected dividend – The Company has not paid and does not intend to pay dividends.

Stock Price - Prior to the Merger

The Company issued Class A and Class C common units to various employees, directors and consultants. The units constituted “profits interests”
for tax purposes and were accounted for as share-based payment arrangements. Upon consummation of the Merger, all outstanding vested units
were converted into shares of common stock and all outstanding unvested units were converted into shares of restricted stock that continue to vest
over the remaining term of the original award.

The estimated fair value was determined by our board of directors as of the date of each stock award, with input from management, considering our
most recently available third-party valuation, and our board of directors’ assessment of additional objective and subjective factors that it believed
were relevant and which may have changed from the date of the most recent valuation through the date of the grant. These third-party valuations
were performed in accordance with the guidance outlined in the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants’ Accounting and Valuation
Guide, Valuation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation. In addition to considering the results of these third-party
valuations, our board of directors considered various objective and subjective factors to determine the fair value of our stock awards as of each
grant date, including:

 • the prices at which we sold preferred membership interests and the superior rights and preferences of the preferred membership interests
relative to our membership interests at the time of each grant;

 • the progress of our commercialization efforts;

 • the progress of our research and development programs, including the status and results of preclinical studies for our product
candidates;

 • our stage of development and our business strategy;

 • external market conditions affecting the medical device industry and trends within the medical device industry;

 • our financial position, including cash on hand, and our historical and forecasted performance and operating results;

 • the lack of an active public market for our common and preferred membership interests;

 • the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, such as an initial public offering, or IPO, reverse merger, or sale of our Company in light of
prevailing market conditions; and

 • the analysis of IPOs and the market performance of similar companies in the biopharmaceutical industry.

In determining the estimated fair value, our board of directors considered the subjective factors discussed above in conjunction with the most
recent valuations of our membership interests that were prepared by an independent third party.

Stock Price - Subsequent to the Merger

A public trading market for the Company’s common stock was not established between the closing of the Merger and December 31, 2020. For the
valuation of the Company’s common stock at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2020, the Company used $5.00 per share, which is the share
price paid by outside investors in the Company’s Private Placement that closed in June 2020.

Upon establishing a public market for the Company’s securities, the stock price of the Company’s common stock used to value equity awards will
be based on the closing price of the Company’s common stock as reported on the date of the grant.
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Net Loss per Share

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during each period.
Diluted loss per share includes the effect, if any, from the potential exercise or conversion of securities, such as convertible preferred stock, stock
options, unvested restricted stock and common stock warrants that would result in the issuance of incremental shares of common stock. In
computing the basic and diluted net loss per share, the weighted average number of shares remains the same for both calculations due to the fact
that when a net loss exists, dilutive shares are not included in the calculation as the impact is anti-dilutive.

The following potentially dilutive securities outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 have been excluded from the computation of diluted
weighted average shares outstanding, as they would be anti-dilutive:

 
  December 31,  
  2020   2019  
  (000's)  

Convertible preferred stock   —   30,630 
Stock options   2,159   — 
Nonvested restricted stock   896   1,917 
Common unit warrants   —   3,114 

Total   3,055   35,661 
 
Income Taxes
 
Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their
respective tax bases, operating losses and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected
to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in operations in the period that includes the enactment date. Deferred income tax assets
are reduced, as necessary, by a valuation allowance when management determines it is more likely than not that some or all of the tax benefits will
not be realized.

 
The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. Federal jurisdiction and in various states. The Company has tax net operating loss carryforwards
that are subject to examination for a number of years beyond the year in which they were generated for tax purposes. Since a portion of these net
operating loss carryforwards may be utilized in the future, many of these net operating loss carryforwards will remain subject to examination.
Prior to the Merger, Compass Therapeutics LLC elected to be treated as a partnership for income tax reporting purposes and therefore, federal and
Massachusetts and any other state income taxes are the responsibility of the individual members. As such, no federal or state income taxes related
to the LLC are recorded in the consolidated financial statements. The Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Compass Therapeutics Advisors Inc.,
is organized as a C-corporation and is subject to federal and state income taxes. All such taxes have been recorded in the consolidated financial
statements.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016 02, Leases, which requires a lessee to record a right of use asset and a corresponding lease
liability on the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than 12 months. The standard continues to have two types of leases for income
statement recognition purposes: operating leases and finance leases. Operating leases result in the recognition of a single lease expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term, similar to the treatment for operating leases under the old standard. Finance leases result in an accelerated
expense similar to the accounting for capital leases under the old standard. The new standard also contains amended guidance regarding the
identification of embedded leases in service contracts and the identification of lease and non-lease components of an arrangement. The Company
adopted the new standard on January 1, 2021, using a modified retrospective approach and as a result did not adjust prior periods. Adoption of the
standard resulted in the recording of $5.1 million of operating lease ROU assets and operating lease liabilities, but did not have a material impact
on the Company’s net income or cash flows.
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018‑13, Disclosure Framework—Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value
Measurements, which changes the fair value measurement disclosure requirements of ASC Topic 820. The goal of the ASU is to improve the
effectiveness of ASC Topic 820’s disclosure requirements. The Company adopted this guidance on January 1, 2020 and was not material to its
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes ("ASU 2019-12"),
which is intended to simplify the accounting for income taxes. ASU 2019-12 removes certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740 and
also clarifies and amends existing guidance to improve consistent application. The new standard will be effective beginning January 1, 2022. The
Company does not expect the adoption of ASU 2019-12 to have a material impact on its financial position and results of operations upon
adoption.  

4. Fair Value Measurements

The following tables present information about the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
and indicate the level of the fair value hierarchy utilized to determine such fair values:

 
 Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2020 Using (000's):  
 Quoted           
 Prices           
 in Active  Significant        
 Markets for  Other  Significant     
 Identical  Observable  Unobservable     
 Assets  Inputs  Inputs     
 (Level 1)  (Level 2)  (Level 3)  Fair Value  

Assets             
Cash equivalents - money market funds $ 43,631 $ — $ — $ 43,631 

Total assets $ 43,631 $ — $ — $ 43,631 
 

 Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2019 Using (000's):  
 Quoted           
 Prices           
 in Active  Significant        
 Markets for  Other  Significant     
 Identical  Observable  Unobservable     
 Assets  Inputs  Inputs     
 (Level 1)  (Level 2)  (Level 3)  Fair Value  

Assets             
Cash equivalents - money market funds $ 22,784 $ — $ — $ 22,784 

Total assets $ 22,784 $ — $ — $ 22,784 
Liabilities             
Derivative liability related to loan $ — $ — $ 494 $ 494 

Total liabilities $ — $ — $ 494 $ 494 
 

Valuation of Derivative Liability

The Company’s derivative liability was comprised of the contingent interest rate reset features and a contingent feature to pay a success fee upon
the occurrence of certain liquidity events, each of which met the definition of a derivative instrument, which terms are included in the loan and
security agreement (see Note 7). The Company classified these instruments as a liability on the consolidated balance sheet because these features
were not clearly and closely related to its host instrument and met the definition of a derivative. The derivative liability was initially recorded at
fair value upon issuance of the loan and was being subsequently remeasured to fair value at each reporting date. Changes in the fair value of the
derivative liability were recognized as a component of other income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of operations. The success fee
was paid in full following the closing of the Merger in June 2020.
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The fair value of the derivative liability recognized was determined based on significant inputs not observable in the market, which represents a
Level 3 measurement within the fair value hierarchy. The fair value of the derivative liability was determined using the probability-weighted
expected return method, which considered as inputs the type, timing and probability of occurrence of a change-of-control event, the future equity
financing and cash settlement of the loans; the potential amount of the payment under each of these potential settlement scenarios; and the risk-
adjusted discount rate reflecting the expected risk profile for each of the potential settlement scenarios.

The following table provides a roll forward of the aggregate fair values of the Company’s derivative liability:
 

  
Derivative
Liability  

  (000"s)  
Balance at January 1, 2019  $ 390 

Change in fair value  104 
Balance at December 31, 2019   494 

Change in fair value  556 
Payment of success fee   (1,050)

Balance at December 31, 2020  $ — 
 
5. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following:
 

  December 31,  
  2020   2019  
  (000's)  

Equipment  $ 5,356  $ 7,230 
Furniture and fixtures   629   629 
Leasehold improvements   896   896 
Software   180   669 
Assets not yet placed in service   —   230 

Total property and equipment–at cost   7,061   9,654 
Less: Accumulated depreciation   (5,935)   (5,903)

Property and equipment, net  $ 1,126  $ 3,751 
 

Total depreciation and amortization expense for year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, was $2.4 million and $2.1 million, respectively.

6. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following:
 

  December 31,  
  2020   2019  
  (000's)  

Compensation and benefits  $ 976  $ 1,759 
Research and development expenses   212   249 
Legal and professional fees   326   417 
Use taxes   —   554 
Other   57   143 

Total accrued expenses  $ 1,571  $ 3,122 
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7. Debt

The aggregate principal amount of debt outstanding consisted of the following:
 

  December 31,  
  2020   2019  
  (000's)  

Current portion of debt  $ 7,500  $ 5,625 
Less: unamortized debt discount   (33)   (49)
Current portion of debt, net of debt discount  $ 7,467  $ 5,576 
Long-term debt, net of current portion  $ 1,875  $ 9,375 
Less: unamortized debt discount   (8)   (82)
Long-term debt, net of current portion  $ 1,867  $ 9,293 

 
The Company entered into a loan and security agreement (“2018 Credit Facility”) with Pacific Western Bank, Inc. (“PWB”), and received $15.0
million debt proceeds in 2018. The loans bear interest at the greater of (i) 6.25% and (ii) the prime rate plus an applicable margin of 2.0%. The
interest rate was 6.25% at December 31, 2020. In an event of default, as defined in the agreement, the interest rate applicable to borrowings would
be increased by 5.0%. The Company made interest-only payments through March 31, 2020. Beginning in April 2020, the Company is obligated to
make equal monthly principal payments of $625,000 through March 31, 2022 when the note matures.  The 2018 Credit Facility allows for
prepayment of the outstanding principal at any time, subject to a prepayment charge that is dependent on the prepayment date.

The 2018 Credit Facility contained provisions whereby the Company was obligated to pay a success fee of $1.1 million upon the achievement of
certain liquidity events. Upon consummation of the Merger, the Company success fee payment became due and was paid in its entirety in June
2020.

The 2018 Credit Facility contains a negative pledge on the Company’s intellectual property and also contains customary indemnification
obligations and customary events of default, including, among other things, (i) non‑payment, (ii) breach of warranty, (iii) non‑performance of
covenants and obligations, (iv) default on other indebtedness, (v) judgments, (iv) change of control, (vii) bankruptcy and insolvency, (viii)
impairment of security, (ix) key permit events, (x) key person event, (xi) regulatory matters, (xii) and key contracts. In addition, the Company must
maintain a minimum cash balance of $6.0 million beginning in April 2020.  

The borrowings are collateralized by substantially all of the Company’s assets, excluding intellectual property, and contain affirmative and negative
covenants including restrictions on the Company’s ability to incur additional indebtedness, pay dividends, encumber its property, or engage in
certain fundamental business transactions, such as mergers or acquisitions of other businesses. The Company was in compliance with its loan
covenants as of December 31, 2020.

The Company recognized interest expense of $0.9 million and $1.2 million during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.  

As of December 31, 2020, the aggregate minimum future principal payments due in connection with the 2018 Credit Facility, as amended, are as
follows:

 
Year Ending December 31,  (000's)  
2021  $ 7,500 
2022   1,875 
  $ 9,375 

 
8. Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

Convertible Preferred Stock

In connection with the Merger, as discussed in Note 1, the Company issued 30.6 million shares of its common stock to holders of convertible
preferred interests of Compass Therapeutics LLC. No convertible preferred securities were outstanding as of December 31, 2020.  
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As of December 31, 2019, convertible preferred stock consisted of the following shares outstanding:
 

  

Shares
Issued and

Outstanding  
Preferred Stock  (000's)  

Series A-1   64,705 
Series A-2   36,783 
Series A-3   23,467 
Series A-4   15,253 
Series A4B   22,216 
Series A-5   44,740 

   207,164 
 

Common Stock

In connection with the Merger, as discussed in Note 1, the Company issued 1 million shares of common stock to the former shareholders of Olivia
Ventures Inc. The Company paid $0.1 million to several nonaccredited investors of Compass Therapeutics LLC in lieu of issuing shares.  In
addition, 2.9 million shares of the Company’s common stock were reserved for issuance under the 2020 Stock Option and Incentive Plan.

The Company sold 12 million shares of its common stock pursuant to the closing of a Private Placement offering at a purchase price of $5.00 per
share in June 2020.

9. Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was classified in the consolidated statements of operations as
follows:

 
  

Year Ended
December 31,  

  2020   2019  
  (000's)  

Research and development  $ 605  $ 383 
General and administrative   3,411   532 
Total  $ 4,016  $ 915 

Restricted Stock

Prior to the Merger, Compass Therapeutics LLC maintained an incentive pool of unit-based awards that were granted to board members,
employees and consultants and accounted for as unit-based compensation. Upon consummation of the Merger, all outstanding vested profits
interests units were converted into shares of the Company’s common stock. Unvested units were converted into restricted shares of the Company’s
common stock and will continue to vest under the same terms as the original profits interests.

A summary of the Company’s restricted share activity during the year ended December 31, 2020 is as follows:
 

Weighted Average
Grant Date
Fair Value  Shares (000's)   

Estimated
Fair Value
Per Share  

Unvested, January 1, 2020   2,039  $ 2.04 
Granted   1  $ 2.34 
Vested   (474)  $ 1.66 
Forfeited or canceled   (670)  $ 1.75 
Unvested, December 31, 2020   896  $ 2.46 

 
The weighted-average grant-date fair value for unvested restricted stock as of December 31, 2020 was $2.46 per share. No restricted share awards
have been granted following the Merger. As of December 31, 2020, remaining unrecognized
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compensation cost related to unvested restricted stock awards to be recognized in future periods totaled $1.6 million, which is expected to be
recognized over a weighted average period of 1.8 years.

The fair value of each restricted stock award was estimated on the date of grant using the weighted average assumptions in the table below:
 

  
Year Ended

December 31,  
  2020   2019  

Expected term (in years)   6.0   6.0 
Risk-free rate   0.36%  1.61% - 2.43% 
Expected volatility   140%  65% - 85% 

 
Stock Options

In June 2020, the Company’s board of directors adopted the 2020 Plan and reserved 2.9 million shares of common stock for issuance under this
plan. The 2020 Plan provides that the number of shares reserved and available for issuance under the 2020 Plan will automatically increase each
January 1, beginning on January 1, 2021, by the lesser of (i) 4% of the outstanding number of shares of our common stock on the immediately
preceding December 31 or (ii) such number of shares as determined by the plan administrator no later than the immediately preceding December
31. As of December 31, 2020, 772 thousand shares remain available for future grant.

The 2020 Plan authorizes the board of directors or a committee of the board to grant incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options and
restricted stock awards to eligible officers, employees, consultants and directors of the Company. Options generally vest over a period of four years
and have a contractual life of ten years from the date of grant.

The following table summarizes the stock option activity for the 2020 Plan:
 

  

Number of
Nonvested

Options (000's)   

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price
Per Share   

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Life (in years)  
Outstanding at January 1, 2020   —  $ —     
Granted   2,175  $ 5.00     
Exercise   -  $ —     
Forfeited/cancelled   (16)  $ 5.00     
Outstanding at December 31, 2020   2,159  $ 5.00   9.69 
Vested at December 31, 2020   890  $ 5.00   9.65 

 
For the year ended December 31, 2020, the weighted average grant date fair value for options granted was $3.44. The aggregate intrinsic value for
options vested and outstanding as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020 was de minimis. As of December 31, 2020, the unrecognized
compensation cost related to outstanding options was $4.3 million, expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 2.5
years.

The weighted average assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options granted to
employees and directors during the year ended December 31, 2020 were as follows:

 
Expected term (in years)  5.28 - 6.11
Risk-free rate  0.21% - 0.51%
Expected volatility  85% - 86%
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10. License, Research and Collaboration Agreements

Collaboration Agreements

Adimab Agreement

The Company entered into a collaboration agreement with Adimab, LLC on October 16, 2014. The agreement also includes provisions for
payment of royalties at rates ranging in the single digits as a percentage of future net sales within a specified term from the first commercial sale.
There were no milestone payments made during the year ended December 31, 2020. The Company made milestone payments of $1.5 million in
research and development during the year ended December 31, 2019, upon filing an IND for its product candidates associated with this license and
first dosing of patient. As of December 31, 2020, future potential milestone payments in connection with this agreement amounted to $2.0 million.

Other Research Agreements

FUJIFILM Diosynth Biotechnologies Agreement

The Company entered into a scope of work (“SOW”) under a master services agreement with FUJIFILM Diosynth Biotechnologies on July 20,
2020. The Company made cash payments of $2.6 million and recorded $0.9 million in research and development expense during the year ended
December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, future payments in connection with this SOW amounted to $2.2 million.

Other Licenses and Research Agreements

From time to time, the Company enters into license agreements with academic and healthcare institutions to in-license certain intellectual property
rights and know-how relevant to its programs. As part of the consideration related to these license agreements, the Company made cash payments
of $0.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2020.

The Company recorded research and development expense related to research agreements of $0.3 million and $0.4 million during the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. In addition, the Company also committed to make certain clinical and regulatory milestone payments in
the aggregate of $80 thousand associated with certain in-licensed technologies.
 

11. Commitments and Contingencies
 

Operating Leases

The Company leases laboratory, office and vivarium space in Cambridge, MA which expires January 31, 2021. The Company executed a sublease
for laboratory and office space in Boston, MA effective in December 2020 with rent beginning in January 2021. The lease expires May 19, 2025.
Rental expense was $2.0 million and $1.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The future minimum rental payments under the leases as of December 31, 2020 are as follows:
 

  Amount  
Year Ending December 31,  (000's)  
2021  $ 1,440 
2022   1,312 
2023   1,345 
2024   1,379 
2025   589 
  $ 6,065 

 
Additional commitments include a 2018 Credit Facility (Note 7) and collaboration agreements (Note 10).
 

12. Related Parties and Related-Party Transactions
 

On October 16, 2014, the Company entered into a collaboration agreement with Adimab, LLC. The Company’s co-founder and former chief
operation officer has a direct ownership interest in Adimab, LLC and beneficially owns more than 5% of the Company’s common stock. The
Company recorded $1.5 in connection with this agreement during year ended December 31, 2019 and no expenses in 2020.
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13. Other Income (Expense)

Other income and expense consisted of the following:
 

  December 31,  
  2020   2019  
  (000's)  

Interest income  $ 88  $ 743 
Change in fair value of derivative liability   (556)   (104)
Realized foreign exchange loss   1   (12)
Realized loss on disposal of equipment   (281)   0 

Total other income (expenses)  $ (748)  $ 627 
 
14. Defined Contribution Plan
 

The Company has a 401(k) defined contribution plan (the “401(k) Plan”) for substantially all of its employees. Eligible employees may make pre-
tax or post-tax (Roth) contributions to the 401(k) Plan up to statutory limits. Since January 1, 2020, the Company has been matching employee
contributions to the plan up to 4% of salary.
 

15. Income Taxes
 
Subsequent to the Merger, the Company is organized as a Delaware corporation, treated as a c-corporation for federal and state income taxes. Its
wholly-owned subsidiaries are included in the consolidated corporate tax return. The Company has net operating losses, therefore does not have
any current tax liability for the period after the Merger. The Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Compass Therapeutics Advisors Inc., was
subject to federal and state income taxes prior to the Merger. Current income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 reflects
pre-Merger activity.
 
Income tax expense is summarized as follows:

  
Year Ended

December 31,  
  2020   2019  
Current  (000's)  
Federal  $ 22  $ 61 
State   10   30 
Total  $ 32  $ 91 
         
Deferred         
Federal  $ —  $ — 
State   —   — 

Total income tax expense  $ 32  $ 91 
 
The effective tax rate of our provision for income taxes differs from the federal statutory rate for the periods presented as follows:

  December 31,  
  2020   2019  
Statutory rate   21.0%   21.0%
Income not subject to federal corporate income tax   -8.0%   -22.9%
State taxes   6.4%   6.3%
Nondeductible expenses   -0.5%   -0.1%
Change in valuation allowance   -19.0%   -4.6%
Total   -0.1%   -0.3%

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on
differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be
in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the
amount expected to be realized. In determining the need for a valuation allowance, management reviews both positive and negative evidence,
including current and historical results of operations,

F-20



 
future income projections and the overall prospects of our business. Based upon management’s assessment of all available evidence, the Company
believes that it is more-likely-than-not that the deferred tax assets will not be realizable, and therefore, a valuation allowance has been established.
The valuation allowance for deferred tax assets was approximately $6.6 million and $1.5 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
As of December 31, 2020, the Company has U.S. net operating loss carryforwards (“NOLs”) of approximately $14.4 million and research and
development credit carryforwards (“R&D credits”) of approximately $2.0 million. For income tax purposes, these NOLs and R&D credits will
expire in various amounts through 2030. NOLs generated after 2017 do not expire.  The Tax Reform Act of 1986 contains provisions which limit
the ability to utilize net operating loss carryforwards and R&D credit carryforwards in the case of certain events including significant changes in
ownership interests. The Merger may have resulted in a “change in ownership” as defined by IRC Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended. Accordingly, a substantial portion of the R&D Credit carryforwards may be subject to annual limitations in reducing any future
year’s tax.  The Company did not generate any NOLs until after the Merger therefore these limitations do not apply.

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets are as follows:
  December 31,  

  2020   2019  
Deferred tax assets  (000's)  
Net operating loss carryforwards  $ 3,938  $ — 
Research and development credits   2,038   1,511 
Noncash compensation   609   — 
Other   50   — 
Deferred tax asset   6,635   1,511 
         
Less valuation allowance   (6,635)   (1,511)
Net deferred tax assets  $ —  $ — 
 

 
16. Subsequent Events
 

The Company performed a review of events subsequent to the balance sheet date through the date the financial statements were issued and
determined that there were no such events requiring recognition or disclosure in the financial statements.
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PART II

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN THE PROSPECTUS

Item 13. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution.

The following table sets forth the estimated fees and expenses payable by us in connection with the offering of the securities being registered.
 

  
SEC registration fee $33,846.52
Accounting fees and expenses $10,000.00
Legal fees and expenses $1,355,000.00
Placement agent, printing and miscellaneous expenses $30,000.00

 
 

Total $1,428,846.52
 

 

Item 14. Indemnification of Directors and Officers.

We are incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware. Section 145 of the DGCL provides that a Delaware corporation may indemnify any persons
who were, are, or are threatened to be made, parties to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal,
administrative or investigative (other than an action by or in the right of such corporation), by reason of the fact that such person is or was an officer,
director, employee or agent of such corporation, or is or was serving at the request of such corporation as an officer, director, employee or agent of another
corporation or enterprise. The indemnity may include expenses (including attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and
reasonably incurred by such person in connection with such action, suit or proceeding, provided that such person acted in good faith and in a manner he or
she reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the corporation’s best interests and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable
cause to believe that his or her conduct was illegal. A Delaware corporation may indemnify any persons who were, are, or are threatened to be made, a
party to any threatened, pending or completed action or suit by or in the right of the corporation by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director,
officer, employee or agent of such corporation, or is or was serving at the request of such corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another
corporation or enterprise. The indemnity may include expenses (including attorneys’ fees) actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection
with the defense or settlement of such action or suit provided such person acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in or not
opposed to the corporation’s best interests except that no indemnification is permitted without judicial approval if the officer or director is adjudged to be
liable to the corporation. Where an officer or director is successful on the merits or otherwise in the defense of any action referred to above, the corporation
must indemnify him or her against the expenses (including attorneys’ fees) actually and reasonably incurred.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL, a director shall not be personally liable to
us or our stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director. Our amended and restated bylaws provide that we shall indemnify
and hold harmless our directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, except that we will not be required to indemnify or hold
harmless any director or officer in connection with any proceeding initiated by such person unless the proceeding was authorized by our board of directors.
Under our amended and restated bylaws, such rights shall not be exclusive of any other rights acquired by directors and officers, including by agreement.

Our amended and restated bylaws provide that we will pay expenses to any director or officer prior to the final disposition of the proceeding; provided,
however, that such advancements shall be made only upon receipt of an undertaking by such director or officer to repay all amounts advanced if it should
be ultimately determined that such director or officer is not entitled to indemnification under the amended and restated bylaws of or otherwise.

Section 174 of the DGCL provides, among other things, that a director who willfully or negligently approves of an unlawful payment of dividends or an
unlawful stock purchase or redemption may be held liable for such actions. A director who was either absent when the unlawful actions were approved, or
dissented at the time, may avoid liability by causing his or her dissent to such actions to be entered in the books containing minutes of the meetings of the
board of directors at the time such action occurred or immediately after such absent director receives notice of the unlawful acts.

In addition to the indemnification obligations required by our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, we have
entered into indemnification agreements with each of our directors and officers. These agreements provide for the indemnification of our directors and
executive officers for all reasonable expenses and liabilities incurred in connection with any action or proceeding brought or threatened to be brought
against them by reason of the fact that they are or were our agents.
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As a condition to the Merger, we also entered into a Pre-Merger Indemnity Agreement with our former officers and directors, pursuant to which we agreed
to indemnify such former officers and directors for actions taken by them in their official capacities relating to the consideration, approval and
consummation of the Merger and certain related transactions.

We expect to obtain general liability insurance that covers certain liabilities of our directors and officers arising out of claims based on acts or omissions in
their capacities as directors or officers, including liabilities under the Securities Act. Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities
Act may be permitted to directors, officers or persons controlling the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, we have been informed that in the
opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is therefore unenforceable.

The above provisions may discourage stockholders from bringing a lawsuit against our directors for breach of their fiduciary duty. The provisions may also
have the effect of reducing the likelihood of derivative litigation against directors and officers, even though such an action, if successful, might otherwise
benefit us and our stockholders. Furthermore, a stockholder’s investment may be adversely affected to the extent we pay the costs of settlement and damage
awards against directors and officers pursuant to these indemnification provisions. We believe that these amended and restated certificate of incorporation
provisions, amended and restated bylaw provisions, indemnification agreements and the insurance are necessary to attract and retain qualified persons as
directors and officers.

At present, there is no pending litigation or proceeding involving any of our directors or officers where indemnification will be required or permitted. We
are not aware of any threatened litigation or proceedings that might result in a claim for such indemnification.

Item 15. Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

Sales of Unregistered Securities of Compass Therapeutics, Inc.

Set forth below is information regarding shares of our common stock issued within the past three years that were not registered under the Securities Act:

 • On June 17, 2020, pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, all of the common membership interests of Compass Therapeutics
(including common membership interests issued upon the conversion of preferred membership interests) held by accredited investors were
converted into an aggregate of 39,055,356 shares of our common stock. These transactions were exempt from registration under Section
4(a)(2) of the Securities Act as not involving any public offering or Regulation D promulgated thereunder. None of the securities were sold
through an underwriter and, accordingly, there were no underwriting discounts or commissions involved.

 • On June 19, 2020, in connection with the initial closing of the Private Placement, we issued an aggregate of 12,096,442 shares of common
stock at a price of $5.00 per share for aggregate gross consideration of approximately $60.5 million (before deducting placement agent fees
and total expenses of approximately $6.3 million) to 110 accredited investors.

 

The transactions described in paragraphs A, B and C were exempt from registration under Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act (or Rule 506 of Regulation
D) as not involving any public offering.

Sales of Unregistered Securities of Compass Therapeutics LLC

Set forth below is information regarding securities of Compass Therapeutics sold or issued from January 1, 2017 through immediately prior to the
consummation of the Merger that were not registered under the Securities Act. The following description is historical and has not been adjusted to give
effect to the Merger:

 (A) In July 2017 and December 2017, Compass Therapeutics issued an aggregate of 22,216,583 Series A-4B preferred membership interests to
accredited investors at a price per unit of $0.9834 for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $21.8 million.

 (B) In June 2018, Compass Therapeutics issued an aggregate of 44,739,689 Series A-5 preferred membership interests to accredited investors at
a price per unit of $1.10 for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $49.2 million.

 (C) Compass Therapeutics issued an aggregate of 21,511,739 incentive units to directors, officers, employees and consultants in connection
with the provision of services to Compass Therapeutics.

The transactions described under (A) and (B) above were exempt from registration under Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act (or Rule 506 of Regulation
D) as not involving any public offering. The grants of incentive units described under (C) above were deemed to be exempt from registration under the
Securities Act in reliance on Rule 701 of the Securities Act as offers and sales of securities under compensatory benefit plans and contracts relating to
compensation in compliance with Rule 701.
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Each of the recipients of securities in any transaction exempt from registration either received or had adequate access, through employment, business or
other relationships, to information about the Company and Compass Therapeutics. None of the securities described in this Item 15 were sold through an
underwriter and, accordingly, there were no underwriting discounts or commissions involved.

 Item 16. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a)    Exhibits

The exhibit index attached hereto is incorporated herein by reference.

(b)    Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules have been omitted because the information required to be set forth in the schedules is either not applicable or is included in our financial
statements or notes to those financial statements.

Item 17. Undertakings.

(a)    The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:

(1)    To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement:

(i)    to include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act;

(ii)    to reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most recent post-
effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in the
registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of
securities offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum
offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in
volume and price represent no more than a 20 percent change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the “Calculation of
Registration Fee” table in the effective registration statement; and

(iii)    to include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or
any material change to such information in the registration statement.

(2)    That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new
registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona
fide offering thereof.

(3)    To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the
termination of the offering.

(4)    That, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securities Act to any purchaser:

(i)    Each prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) as part of the registration statement relating to an offering, other than registration
statements relying on Rule 430B or other than prospectuses filed in reliance on Rule 430A, shall be deemed to be part of and included in
the registration statement as of the date it is first used after effectiveness. Provided, however, that no statement made in a registration
statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference
into the registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of contract of sale
prior to such first use, supersede or modify any statement that was made in the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the
registration statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such date of first use.

(b)    Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the
registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against
public policy as expressed in the Act and is, therefore unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the
payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action,
suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in
the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such
indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

 
Exhibit

 
Description

 
  

    2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated June 17, 2020, by and among the Olivia Ventures, Inc., Compass Acquisition LLC, Compass
Therapeutics LLC, BBV International Compass Inc., Biomatics—Compass, Inc., CHI II Blocker LLC, OrbiMed Private Investments V
—KA (Blocker), Inc., Eight Roads Investments, Biomatics Capital Partners, L.P., Cowen Healthcare Investments II LP, CHI EF II LP,
and OrbiMed Private Investments V—KA (Feeder), LP (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on June 23, 2020)

  

    3.1 Certificate of Merger relating to the merger of Compass Acquisition LLC with and into Compass Therapeutics LLC, filed with the
Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on 17, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on June 23, 2020)

  

    3.2 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on June 23, 2020)

  

    3.3 Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June
23, 2020)

  

   4.1 Specimen Certificate for Common Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed
October 19, 2020)

  
    5.1† Opinion of Goodwin Procter LLP

  

  10.1* 2020 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on June 23, 2020)

  

  10.2* 2020 Senior Executive Cash Incentive Bonus Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on June 23, 2020)

  

  10.3* Offer letter, dated November 8, 2017, between Vered Bisker-Leib and Compass Therapeutics LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 23, 2020)

  

  10.4* Form of Indemnification Agreement (directors) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on June 23, 2020)

  

  10.5* Form of Indemnification Agreement (executive officers) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on June 23, 2020)

  

  10.6* Form of Pre-Merger Indemnification Agreement (directors and executive officers) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 23, 2020)

  

  10.7 Registration Rights Agreement, dated June 19, 2020, by and among Compass Therapeutics, Inc. and the parties thereto (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 23, 2020)

  

  10.8 Subscription Agreement, dated June 19, 2020, by and between Compass Therapeutics, Inc. and the investors party thereto (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 23, 2020)

  

  10.9** Amended and Restated Collaboration Agreement, dated February 11, 2015, by and between Adimab LLC and Kairos Biologics
Foundation LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 23, 2020)

  

  10.10 Loan and Security Agreement, dated March 30, 2018, by and between Pacific Western Bank, Inc., Compass Therapeutics, LLC and
Compass Therapeutics Advisors, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on June 23, 2020)

  

  10.11 First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated September 26, 2018, by and between Pacific Western Bank, Inc., Compass
Therapeutics, LLC and Compass Therapeutics Advisors, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Current Report on Form
8-K filed with the SEC on June 23, 2020)

  

  10.12 Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated March 8, 2019, by and between Pacific Western Bank, Inc., Compass
Therapeutics, LLC and Compass Therapeutics Advisors, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Current Report on Form
8-K filed with the SEC on June 23, 2020)
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Exhibit

 
Description

 
  10.13 Third Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated October 29, 2019, by and between Pacific Western Bank, Inc., Compass

Therapeutics, LLC and Compass Therapeutics Advisors, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Current Report on Form
8-K filed with the SEC on June 23, 2020)

  

  10.14 Sublease Agreement, dated July 29, 2016, by and between Horizon Discovery, Inc. and Compass Therapeutics, LLC (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 23, 2020)

  

  10.15 Sublease Modification Agreement, dated January 17, 2018, by and between Horizon Discovery, Inc. and Compass Therapeutics, LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 23, 2020)

  
  10.16 Sublease Agreement, effective as of December 1, 2020, by and between Roche Diagnostic Operations, Inc. and Compass Therapeutics,

Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 5, 2021)
  

  16.1† Letter from Raich Ende Malter & Co. LLP as to the change in certifying accountant, dated as of March 5, 2021
 

  21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June
23, 2020)

  

  23.1† Consent of CohnReznick LLP, independent registered public accounting firm
  

  23.2† Consent of Goodwin Procter LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1)
  

  24.1 Power of Attorney (incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed August 11, 2020)
  

 

* Indicates a management contract or any compensatory plan, contract or arrangement.
** Portions of this exhibit (indicated by asterisks) have been omitted in accordance with the rules of the SEC.
† Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, the registrant has duly caused this Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Boston, Commonwealth of Massachusetts, on March 5, 2021.
 

  
Compass Therapeutics, Inc.
  

By: /s/ Thomas J. Schuetz
  Thomas J. Schuetz

 Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, this Amendment No. 1 has been signed by the following persons in the capacities indicated on the date
indicated:
 
   

SIGNATURE
 

TITLE
 

DATE
 

   

/s/ Thomas J. Schuetz
 Thomas J. Schuetz

Chief Executive Officer and Director
(principal executive officer)

March 5, 2021

   

/s/ Vered Bisker-Leib
 Vered Bisker-Leib

President and Chief Operating Officer
(principal financial and accounting officer)

March 5, 2021

   

*
 Phil Ferneau

 

Director
March 5, 2021

   

 
 Brett Kaplan

 

Director
March 5, 2021

   

*
 Carl L. Gordon

Director and Chairman of the Board of Directors
March 5, 2021

   

*
 Steven Squinto

Director
March 5, 2021

   

*
 Julie Sunderland

Director
March 5, 2021

 
 
 

*By: /s/ Thomas J. Schuetz
 Thomas J. Schuetz

Attorney-in-fact
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Exhibit 5.1
 

 Goodwin Procter LLP
100 Northern Avenue
Boston, MA 02210
goodwinlaw.com
+1 617 570 1000

 
March 5, 2021
 
 
Compass Therapeutics, Inc.
80 Guest St.
Suite 601
Boston, Massachusetts 02135
 

Re: Securities Registered under Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form S-1
 
Ladies and Gentlemen:
 

We have acted as counsel to you in connection with your filing of a Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (as amended or supplemented, the “Registration Statement”) pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act”), relating to the registration by Compass Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the
“Company”) of up to 52,112,143 shares (the “Shares”) of the Company’s Common Stock, $0.0001 par value per share, to be sold
by the selling stockholders listed in the Registration Statement under “Selling Stockholders”.

 
We have reviewed such documents and made such examination of law as we have deemed appropriate to give the

opinions set forth below. We have relied, without independent verification, on certificates of public officials and, as to matters of
fact material to the opinions set forth below, on certificates of officers of the Company.

 
The opinion set forth below is limited to the Delaware General Corporation Law.
 
Based on the foregoing, we are of the opinion that the Shares have been duly authorized and validly issued and are fully

paid and non-assessable.
 
We hereby consent to the inclusion of this opinion as Exhibit 5.1 to the Registration Statement and to the references to

our firm under the caption “Legal Matters” in the Registration Statement.  In giving our consent, we do not admit that we are in
the category of persons whose consent is required under Section 7 of the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder.

 
Very truly yours,
 
/s/ Goodwin Procter LLP
 
GOODWIN PROCTER LLP

 

 



Exhibit 16.1
March 5, 2021
 
 
Securities and Exchange Commission
100 F Street NE
Washington, D.C. 20549
 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen:
 
We have read the section under the heading “Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure”
included in the Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Form S-1 of Compass Therapeutics, Inc., to be filed on or about March 5, 2021, and
agree with the statements contained therein as they relate to our firm. We have no basis to agree or disagree with other statements of the
registrant contained therein.
 
 
Respectfully submitted,
 
/s/ Raich Ende Malter & Co. LLP
 
Melville, New York
 
 



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the inclusion in the Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement No. 333-244353 on Form S-1 of Compass Therapeutics,
Inc. of our report dated March 5, 2021 on our audits of the consolidated financial statements of Compass Therapeutics, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2020 and 2019 and for the years then ended. We also consent to the reference to our firm under the heading “Experts.”

/s/ CohnReznick LLP

Hartford, Connecticut
March 5, 2021
 


